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Mr. Li Wenxiong has been appointed as Co-Chairman and Non-Executive
Director, and a member of each of the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee with effect from 23 September 2022.

Mr. Cheng Chung Hing has been re-designated from Chairman to Co-
Chairman and continues to serve as Executive Director with effect from 23
September 2022.

Mr. Wan Hongtao has been appointed as Executive Director and the Group's
Vice President with effect from 16 June 2022.

Mr. Qin Wenzhong has been appointed as Executive Director and the
Group's Financial Controller with effect from 16 June 2022.

Mr. Lei Ming resigned as Non-Executive Director with effect from 10 August
2022.

Ms. Shen Lifeng has been appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director
since 16 June 2022, then has been re-designated to Non-Executive Director,
and ceased to serve as a member of each of the Nomination Committee
and the Remuneration Committee but remains to be a member of the Audit
Committee of the Company from 6 January 2023.

Ms. Li Aihua has been appointed as Non-Executive Director from 16 May
2023.

Ms. Deng Jin has been appointed as Non-Executive Director from 16 May
2023.

Ms. Zee Helen has been appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director
and a member of each of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee with effect from 6 January 2023.

Dr. Li Xu has been appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director and
a member of each of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee with effect from 16 May 2023.
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Corporate Information (Continued)
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Registered Office
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15 Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Share Registrar

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong

Listing Information

Share Listing

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
Stock code: 1668

Senior Notes Listing

The Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited

The Company'’s 9% senior notes due April 2024
(ISIN: XS2085883119)

The Company’s 9% senior notes due June 2024
(ISIN: X52120092882)

The Company’s 9% senior notes due July 2024
(ISIN: XS1720216388)

The Company’s 9% senior notes due October 2024
(ISIN: XS2238030162)

The Company’s 9% senior notes due December 2024
(ISIN: XS2227909640)

Website

www.chinasouthcity.com

Investor Relations
Telephone: (852) 3188-3111

Fax: (852) 3188-1323
Email: ir@chinasouthcity.com
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China South City has its eight projects
layout highly adhered to important national
strategies such as “Greater Bay Area”, the
“Belt and Road” initiative and “Yangtze
River Economic Belt”.
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PROJECT OVERVIEW
HEBR

Shenzhen ;&3

China South City Shenzhen

China South City Shenzhen (“CSC Shenzhen”), situated at the Pinghu
Logistics Base in Longgang District, Shenzhen, is the Group's first project.
Shenzhen City, one of the four first-tier cities in China, is located at
the heart of the Greater Bay Area amid an extensive transportation
network with about 17.66 million permanent resident population that
was announced in May 2022. The total Gross Domestic Product (“GDP")
in 2022 increased by about 6.7% compared with 2021, achieving high
growth. The growth rate is the fastest among the four major first-tier
cities in China with economic volume ranking the fifth among Asian cities.

Located in the northeast of Shenzhen, Longgang District recorded a
regional GDP year-on-year growth of 3.0% to RMB475.9 billion in
2022, ranking the second in the city. With the local government further
developing Longgang District as an innovation centre in the east of
Shenzhen, its ancillary infrastructure such as logistics, healthcare and
education will continue to advance, bringing more convenience to
merchants of CSC Shenzhen. Shenzhen Metro line 10 passing through
CSC Shenzhen — Huanancheng Station (£ g % Ui ) put into service in
August 2020. Huanancheng Station is located inside CSC Shenzhen. The
distance from Futian Checkpoint Station (“#&FH R =u4") to Huanancheng
Station is about 26 kilometres (“km”) and the journey time is about 45
minutes. The infrastructure will generate more business opportunities and
uplift visitor flow for CSC Shenzhen.

In September 2021, Shenzhen Longgang Wanda Plaza, the country’s first
fourth generation Wanda Plaza grandly opened in CSC Shenzhen. Since
its opening, Longgang Wanda Plaza has maintained a high foot traffic.
The new shopping experience at Wanda Plaza featuring tourism, culture,
social interaction and lifestyle created synergies with CSC Shenzhen'’s
original market and customer base, as well as its well-established offerings
for industries wholesale, warehousing and logistics, e-commerce, and
living facilities. As a result, this further stimulated the vitality of the project
site and drove passenger flow. Transportation around the project has also
been improving. CSC Shenzhen is only 2.6 km away from the Pinghu
Railway Station. The Metro Line 10 passing through CSC Shenzhen
has also been opened to traffic, together with a dedicated station of
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Project Overview (Continued)
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a The Fourth-generation Wanda Plaza in CSC Shenzhen
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Qianlong Logistics
v ZEUR

“Huanancheng Station”, which will generate more business opportunities
and uplift visitor flow for CSC Shenzhen.

The project is located at the Pinghu Logistics Park in Longgang District
of Shenzhen, covering a site area of approximately 1.06 million square
metres (“sg.m.”). As at 31 March 2023, CSC Shenzhen had acquired
of gross floor area (“GFA") of land approximately 2.71 million sgq.m.,
of which construction of approximately 2.39 million sq.m. completed,
including trade centres, residential ancillary, multi-purpose commercial
properties, logistics park, hotels, etc. At the same time, the Group has
entered into a strategic cooperation agreement with Urban Planning &
Design Institute of Shenzhen, a subsidiary of SZCDG, and will officially
starting the substantive planning of the first phase of the urban renewal
project of CSC Shenzhen.

Positioned as a modern large-scale integrated logistics and trading
platform to serve the Greater Bay Area, CSC Shenzhen covers a wide
spectrum of product range, including textile and clothing, leather and
accessories, electronic parts, printing, paper products and packaging,
metals and chemicals, plastic materials, hotel supplies, tea and teaware,
cross-border products, e-commerce, outlets, home furnishing, child
education, produce and flower market, etc., on its trade centre premises,
complementary with various facilities and services on site, such as
banking and finance, hotels and restaurants, governmental bodies,
leisure and entertainment. In July 2022, leading tenants in the industry
was introduced to open in CSC Shenzhen Park Phase | Market to build a
multi-category resource gathering and trading centre for hotel supplies
and a one-stop procurement centre for high-quality hotel supplies. In
addition, CSC Shenzhen provides micro-credit service for on-site small-
and-medium-sized enterprises (“SMEs"”), assisting them in resolving
financing difficulties for business development. As a unit of the “Market
Procurement Trade Pilot Scheme”, CSC Shenzhen continues to provide a
convenient customs clearance environment for small and micro enterprises
tenants engaged in export trade. At the same time, together with the
national e-commerce base platform and the additional auxiliary facilities
of Heung Kong Furniture and Wanda, CSC Shenzhen further builds a
regional consumption centre and industrial centre, driving the economic
development and overall improvement of the northeastern Shenzhen.
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Project Overview (Continued)
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China South City Nanning

China South City Nanning (“CSC Nanning”) is located at Jiangnan District
of Nanning, the capital of the Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, a
critical gateway between China and the Association of Southeast Asian
Nations (“ASEAN") countries. The project is easily accessible by railway
stations, highways and an international airport. The Metro Line 6 passing
through CSC Nanning is under planning, which would set up the “Sanjin
Station”, “Huanancheng West Station”, “Huanancheng East Station” in
the Park that are expected to be completed in 2028. Strategically located
in close proximity to Southeast Asia and enjoying the advantage of a tariff
waiver on cross-border trade activities within the China-ASEAN Free Trade
Area, CSC Nanning endeavors to serve as a key hub for cross-border trade
catering to the demand from the Northern Bay Region and Southeast Asia.

As a Key Project of the Autonomous Region as well as Nanning Municipal
Key Logistics Infrastructure Project, CSC Nanning has been named as
"China-ASEAN Plaza”, “China-ASEAN Digital Trade Hub”, “New Western
Land-Sea Corridor Digital Trade Hub”, and “National AAA Class Tourist
Attraction”.
a floor area of over 50,000 sg. m.,

AETM, Guangxi's first member-oriented hypermarket with
is located in CSC Nanning and has
a stable passenger flow. While improving the service facilities of CSC
Nanning, it also added the new growth driver to the CSC market. At the
same time, CSC Nanning is also actively focusing on industrial upgrading,
and has reached a milestone by successfully introducing sports industry
projects.
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Project Overview (Continued)
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CSC Nanning has a total planned net land area of approximately 1.83  FIZEEm AR B FEMEIEL 1838 F 7K

million sq.m. and a total planned GFA of approximately 4.88 million — BIZELEE41488&E F 5K » #£20234F3A318
sq.m.. As at 31 March 2023, CSC Nanning had a total planned GFA of  FZEEZEm O IES AR 2R EAMEN2488 F K
approximately 2.48 million sq.m. of land acquired, of which construction £ - WE KL 1958 F 5 KER  BREARKS
of approximately 1.95 million sq.m. completed, including trade centres, A/ E%E - ZUEERLAE - WRE - @REF
residential ancillary, multi-purpose commercial properties, logistics park, — /» * AFEERHELN/NE

o

1B 2

P S

exhibition centre, public facilities like primary school, etc.

CSC Nanning is now in operation, and covers industries including textile ~ FEEEHDIKRALE - BRXHPOTRENEE
and clothing, small commodities, ASEAN products, home furnishing, EEBEHERE - /\BH  REER  REXRS
tea and teaware, e-commerce, groceries, automobile and motorcycle — ZXEZ \,E\ BEFHE HERm - AEARRRER
parts and outlets, etc., on its trade centre premises. Through organizing 5% - BBRBFE - RBBESKTE - RAUL
a series of expositions, such as the China ASEAN Expo and Light &% ﬁﬁ% RIIEL/EEFEITIERE ARIIRARIER
Industrial Exhibition, Folk Culture Trading Festival cum Expo, traffic ~ EIARE - Hh - BEFEREEHNRmESS LA
flow to the project as well as regional brand recognition of the project B —1668E5EL R MEEAE RAIRE « (KE
were enhanced. In addition, the commercial complex, 1668 Square, a ~ MEINFK  BA TERERMLGAEHERM -
commercial complex project launched by CSC Nanning, recorded great

operating performance, so as to satisfy demands on entertainment,

leisure and shopping within the community. This, at the same time, could

enhance the overall commercial attributes on the project.

II China South City Holdings Limited ZREHIERAR A T 9
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Project Overview (Continued)
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China South City Nanchang

China South City Nanchang (“CSC Nanchang”) is located at Honggutan
New District of Nanchang, the capital of Jiangxi Province. Situated at the
transportation hub for the Yangtze River Delta and Pearl River Delta, the
project is readily accessible to suppliers, manufacturers and merchants via
major highways, the largest port on the Gan River and a complete freight
network which includes a cargo marshal yard, a container terminus and
an international airport, coupled with Nanchang West Railway Station
— a principal high-speed rail station just 1.2 km away. CSC Nanchang is
also adjacent to the new provincial government office. As a new business
centre of Nanchang, Honggutan New District is becoming more influential
in administrative, commercial and cultural aspects day by day. In addition,
the gradual completion of local amenities is driving visitor traffic and
generating business opportunities, laying a solid foundation for the
development of CSC Nanchang.

CSC Nanchang has a total planned land area of approximately 2.61
million sq.m. and a total planned GFA of approximately 6.87 million
sg.m.. As at 31 March 2023, CSC Nanchang had a total planned GFA
of approximately 4.79 million sq.m. of land acquired, of which the
construction of approximately 2.40 million sq.m. completed, including
trade centres, residential ancillary, logistics park, public facilities like
primary school, etc. CSC Nanchang is now in operation, and covers
industries including building and decoration materials, small commodities,
textile and clothing, leather and accessories, healthy and green products,
outlets, etc., on its trade centre premises.

As a Provincial Key Project and the first E-commerce Demonstration

Base in Jiangxi Province and state-level University Students’ E-commerce
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Project Overview (Continued)
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a Trade Centre Plaza No. 1 and No. 5 and Residential Ancillary
(Jiulongfu, Longxiangyuan) in CSC Nanchang
S ERMMN 15 KRR S ESMNEERE (LR  ER&LE)

-

Business Incubator in Nanchang, a great number of e-commerce
enterprises have moved in the project since its establishment. CSC
Nanchang collaborated with local tertiary institutes to seamlessly connect
e-commerce startups and manufacturers, by proactively integrated
resources of wholesale markets and e-commerce and eventually assisted
on-site SMEs in business transform and upgrade. An area of nearly
30,000 sqg.m. influencer livestreaming base has been set up to provide
one-stop services covering from anchor training, operation management
to film and television productions. CSC Nanchang introduced a Veteran
Entrepreneurship Base targeting new consumption experiences such as
beauty, automobiles, and science and technology experience halls to
assist merchants in the project site to better develop e-commerce services
and nurture startups. In August 2021, “Nanchang University Students
E-commerce Entrepreneurship Base” of CSC Nanchang was named by the
Ministry of Commerce as a new “National E-commerce Demonstration
Base”, which further enhanced the effect of industrial scale and brand
influence. In addition, CSC Nanchang focuses on the two national level
industrial bases of “National E-commerce Demonstration Base” and
“National Entrepreneurship Incubation Demonstration Base”, focusing on
quality and improving services. In April 2022, Jiangxi Tea Industry Trading
Service Centre was stationed, realizing a new business formats and new
consumption breakthroughs.

In addition, CSC Nanchang has engaged in the “Nanchang High Speed
Rail CBD Project” for the development of an ecosystem economy with
quality service industry in Jiangxi. The project was planned to cover
“seven attributes in one city”: teenage education, business headquarters,
commercial shopping complexes, business and cultural tourism and talent
acquisition. It is built to be the central business district (“CBD") and high-
speed rail trading and logistics hub of Jiangxi upon completion.
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Project Overview (Continued)
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China South City Xi'an

China South City Xi‘an (“CSC Xi'an") is located at the Xi’an International
Trade and Logistics Park in Xi‘an, the capital of Shaanxi Province. As a
local key project, the Xi'an International Trade and Logistics Park is an
open economic pilot zone and a core area for modern service industry,
aiming to become the largest international transit hub and logistics
distribution centre along the Silk Road Economic Belt and an important
strategic platform for the “Belt and Road” initiative. In addition, the Xi'an
International Trade and Logistics Park is one of the three largest clusters
of China (Shaanxi) Pilot Free Trade Zone. Benefiting from such geographic
advantages, CSC Xi‘an is highly accessible via the Xi’an City Expressway
and Beijing-Kunming Expressway, Lianyungang-Khorgos Expressway,
Shaanxi-Shanghai Expressway, Baotou-Maoming Expressway and other
national highways, forming an intricate spider network which opens to
all directions. Besides, the strategic location of CSC Xi‘an is connected
to a railway container terminal and the largest bonded area in the north
western region of China, along with two metro lines that cross the project
site. Metro line 3, which passes through CSC Xi‘an, has commenced
operation. In addition, the new stadium to host the 14th National Games
of the People’s Republic of China in 2021 was completed nearby CSC
Xi‘an, and the metro line 14 connected to the venue was commissioned
at the end of June 2021. Such infrastructure will generate more business
opportunities and visitor flow for the Xi‘an International Trade and
Logistics Park and thus further enhance the value of CSC Xi‘an.
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Project Overview (Continued)
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4 Hardware and Building Materials Commodity Trade Centre, Hardware Materials and
!\/Iachmery Products Ti de Cemre and Reswde tial Ancillary (Huayu Condormmum) in CSC Xi'an
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Hardware Materials and Machinery Products Trade
Cemre and 1668 New Times Square in CSC Xi‘an
ELRERHNACEER ST 0K 1668HAES -

CSC Xi'an has a total planned land area of approximately 10.00 million
sg.m. and the total planned GFA of approximately 17.50 million sq.m.. As
at 31 March 2023, CSC Xi'an had a total planned GFA of approximately
4.17 million sgq.m. of land acquired, of which the construction of
approximately 2.41 million sq.m. completed, including trade centres,
logistics park, supporting facilities, etc.

CSC Xi'an is now in operation, and covers industries including hardware
materials and machinery products, curtains and fabrics, textile and
clothing, leather and fur, automobile and motorcycle parts, building
and decoration materials, 1668 New Times Square, outlets, cross-border
e-commerce, Central Asia and ASEAN product exhibition centre, etc., on
its trade centre premises, of which the commercial complex, 1668 New
Times Square, was included in Shaanxi Provincial Key Project in 2019
and 2020. Leveraging its geographical advantage in the starting point of
the Silk Road Economic Belt, CSC Xi'an is actively poised to capture the
immense opportunities arising from the “Belt and Road” initiative.
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Project Overview (Continued)
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China South City Harbin

Located at the Daowai District of Harbin, the capital of Heilongjiang
Province, and enjoying geographical advantages of Northeast China,
China South City Harbin ("CSC Harbin”), is the cross-border trade hub
among Northeast Asian Countries. Being the Provincial No. 1 Investment
Promotion Project, together with its proximity to the China-Russia border
and merely couple-of-kilometre away from the Xinxiangfang North station
(Harbin-Mudanjiang High Speed Rail), CSC Harbin actively integrate
bilateral trade resources for the development of regional economy and
trade with its superiority of geographical location and coverage of local
industries. It has organized the 6th China-Russia Expo, so as to develop an
economy and trade logistic gateway to Russia and form a trading platform
in Northeast Asia Economic Circle. In September 2021, the China South
City Middle School project in CSC Harbin held the topping out ceremony
and is expected to go into service in 2023. The infrastructure construction
and education conditions around the CSC Harbin will be further improved,
and it will also drive various demands in surrounding living facilities in the
project site.

\\¥\
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Project Overview (Continued)
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CSC Harbin has a total planned land area of approximately 10.00 million
sg.m. and the total planned GFA of approximately 12.00 million sq.m.. As
at 31 March 2023, CSC Harbin had a total planned GFA of approximately
5.78 million sq.m. of land acquired, of which the constructions of
approximately 1.91 million sq.m. completed, including trade centres,
residential ancillary, logistics park, supporting facilities, etc.

CSC Harbin is now in operation, and covers industries including hardware
and building materials, chemicals, machinery products, automobile and
motorcycle parts, green food, small commodities, hotel supplies, leather
and fur, outlets, e-commerce, etc., on its trade centre premises. The
seed market of the Heilongjiang Academy of Agricultural Sciences in the
project site operates well. While building a one-stop agricultural material
industrial park, it actively promotes digitalization in the project site ad
part of the effort to promote rural revitalization. On 16 June 2022, the
first New Energy Electric Vehicle Order Fair was held in CSC Harbin Trade
Centre Plaza No. 1. It will gather resources from manufacturers, agents,
and dealers to provide consumers with benefits and help merchants
expand sales channels.
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Project Overview (Continued)
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China South City Zhengzhou

China South City Zhengzhou (“CSC Zhengzhou”) is located in Zhengzhou,
the capital of Henan Province, and adjacent to the Airport Economy
Zone (“AEZ") of Zhengzhou, which is the only state-level AEZ with a
complete network containing an international airport, highspeed train,
intercity train, metro and highway, to act as an integrated transport
hub as a whole to provide seamless connectivity. The project is highly
accessible and enjoys extensive transportation links — it is a mere 16 km
away from Zhengzhou Xinzheng International Airport and a couple of
kilometres away from the Beijing-Guangzhou Railway Freight Station and
Beijing-Hong Kong-Macau Highway. The metro south line 2 across CSC
Zhengzhou with three stations is currently in full operation. In addition,
there are several exits from the Beijing-Hong Kong-Macao Highway,
the Airport Highway, and the City Beltway to the surroundings of CSC
Zhengzhou; in particular, there are two exits in merely 3 km area of the
project site, which will generate more business opportunities and visitor
flow for CSC Zhengzhou.

CSC Zhengzhou has a total planned net land area of approximately 7.00
million sq.m., and total planned GFA of approximately 12.00 million
sg.m.. As at 31 March 2023, CSC Zhengzhou had a total planned GFA
of approximately 10.19 million sq.m. of land acquired, of which the
construction of approximately 5.21 million sq.m. completed, including
trade centres, residential ancillary, logistics park, public facilities like park,

etc.
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Project Overview (Continued)
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a China South City Holdings No. 1 Primary Schoo
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CSC Zhengzhou is now in operation, and covers industries including

building materials, small commodities, hardware materials and machinery
products, home furnishing, automobile and motorcycle parts, non-
staple food, outlets, e-commerce, etc., on its trade centre premises.
On 7 September 2022, a total of 845 shops in the 10th district of CSC
Zhengzhou ushered in a grand delivery. The one-stop delivery is adopted
this time, it is currently a boutique pavilion with the most complete
facilities in the professional market in CSC Zhengzhou. It is also an
upgraded version of the building materials area. It will form the largest
building materials and home furnishing professional market cluster in
central China and even the Country. In addition, by successfully holding
CSC Zhengzhou Central Region (Spring/Autumn) Building Materials,
Hardware and Home Furnishing Fairs for nine times in five consecutive
years, and by creating the clusters for professional markets in the project,
CSC Zhengzhou has developed into an influential trade and logistics
centre in central China. CSC Zhengzhou will speed up the development
of residential ancillary and commercial facilities, in order to meet the local
demands.

“Provincial
, and “Priority Relocation Site for
Wholesale Markets of Zhengzhou City Centre”. In response to the local
policy to support innovation and entrepreneurship, CSC Zhengzhou is also
actively promoting emerging industries, specially the e-commerce industry

CSC Zhengzhou was elected to be “Provincial Key Project”,
Key Investment Promotion Project”

base. CSC Zhengzhou has gradually become a “Provincial E-commerce
Demonstration Base” since 2016,
Demonstration Base” and “Provincial Innovation Model Bases for Micro

“Provincial Cross-border E-Commerce

and Small Enterprises”.
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Project Overview (Continued)
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China South City Hefei

China South City Hefei (“CSC Hefei"”) is located at Anhui Feixi Economic
Development Zone of Hefei, the capital of Anhui Province. Anhui Feixi
Economic Development Zone of Hefei is a core area for municipal
development — Hefei “1331 Project”, and was elected to be “Anhui
Provincial Key Investment Project”, “Anhui Provincial Dispatch Project”
and “Anhui Provincial 861 Construction Project”. As Hefei city plays its
role as the political, economic, cultural and financial centre at the heart of
Eastern China, CSC Hefei benefits from the advantageous geographical
location equipped with well developed infrastructure: a planned
transportation system of railways, highways and river transportation
across China. The metro south line 4 across CSC Hefei has been under
construction in October 2020 and is expected to open to the traffic in
2024.

CSC Hefei has a total planned net land area of approximately 10.00
million sgq.m. with a total planned GFA of approximately 12.00 million
sg.m.. As at 31 March 2023, CSC Hefei had a total planned GFA
of approximately 5.99 million sq.m. of land acquired, of which the
construction of approximately 3.68 million sq.m. completed, including
trade centre, residential ancillary, logistics park, public facilities like
secondary school, etc.
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Project Overview (Continued)
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a Birdview of CSC Hefei
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CSC Hefei is now in operation, and covers industries including automobile
and motorcycle parts, hardware materials and machinery products,
building and decoration materials, textile and clothing, hotel supplies,
outlets, small commodities, non-staple food, etc., on its trade centre
premises, combining various functions, such as trading, logistics and
distribution, production display and promotion, information exchange and
innovation, industry cluster, training base for education industry, featured
tours and comprehensive supporting facilities for urbanization as a whole.
On 19 October 2022, a resumption ceremony was held for CSC Hefei
1668 Huashangli Jingpin 6D project, integrating the resource advantages
of state-owned enterprises, and cooperating with China Construction
Fifth Bureau to create a competitive project.

As Hefei further plays its role as the political, economic, cultural and
financial centre at the heart of Eastern China, CSC Hefei aims to capture
the opportunities arising from the area and is dedicated to cultivating
industries like education, an expanding industry that focuses on
training services, and have already recruited educational institutions of
approximately 300,000 sg.m. with staff and students over 30,000. This
would bring about education related business and huge visitor flow, and
in turn simulate advancement and become the core large-scale integrated
logistics and trade centre in the region.
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Project Overview (Continued)
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China South City Chongqing

China South City Chongging (“CSC Chongging”) is strategically located at
Banan District of Chongging, the only direct-administered municipality in
midwestern China, as well as the essential location seamlessly connecting
both ”Belt and Road” initiative and “Yangtze River Economic Belt”.
CSC Chonggqing is also the Group's first project in direct-administered
municipality. The project is highly accessible to the city centre and other
regions given its highway network strategic location in the Chongging
Highway Logistics Base, the state-level giant transportation infrastructure
in the western region. Such location is also the starting point of national
strategies of “The New International Land-sea Trade Corridor” and
"Chongqing-ASEAN International Logistics Channel”.

Under the background where the government has put great efforts to
promote the development of Chengdu-Chongging Economic Circle and
the expansion and upgrade of Chongqging High-tech Zone, Chongging
has shifted its focus towards the development of the western area of
the city, making CSC Chongging which is located at the prime area of
Western Chongging a new hot spot for development with huge potential
for future development. In addition, coupled with the growing maturity of
business in Banan district, the groundwork of transportation infrastructure
and commercial environment was laid for the project. According to
the municipal plan, the main line of Yugian Expressway expansion
has been fully opened to traffic in December 2021 as a part of the
comprehensive transportation system in Banan District, thus improving the
interconnection in the area where CSC Chonggqing is located and boosting
the regional economy with accelerated construction works. Following
Chongging government’s announcement that the development of new
town in the core Southern District, where CSC Chongging is located, it is
expected the regional growth potential will be on the rise.
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Project Overview (Continued)
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+ Banan Huafu (Yundi and Mingyu Pavilion) in CSC Chongging
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CSC Chongging has a total planned net land area of approximately
5.90 million sg.m. with a total GFA of approximately 13.10 million
sg.m.. As at 31 March 2023, CSC Chongging had a total planned GFA
of approximately 6.50 million sq.m. of land acquired, of which the
construction of approximately 2.52 million sg.m. completed, including
trade centres, residential properties, logistics park, public facilities like
primary and secondary schools, etc.

CSC Chongging is now in operation, and covers industries such as small
commodities, hardware materials and machinery products, hotel supplies,
building and decoration materials, textiles and clothing, automobile and
motorcycle parts, lightings and lamps, outlets, metals, cultural tourism,
etc., on its trade centre premises, providing a tremendous momentum for
the development of commercial logistics and trading industry in Southwest
Region. Four functional areas of CSC Chongging include exhibition and
trading area, central park commercial and leisure area, facilities for living
area and logistics and warehousing.

There are Southwest University CSC Primary School and CSC Junior High
School established on CSC Chongging to cope with the on-site demand
in course of development. With the opening of the schools, apart from
attracting the flow of people to CSC Chongging, it drives the need
of various facilities for living, which in turn further accelerates pace of
development on the project.
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FY2022/23 MAJOR EVENTS

2022/23;!7##%

MAY »
APRIL » On 17 May 2022, the stock delivery ceremony of SZCDG's strategic
shareholding in China South City was successfully held, and SZCDG
The Bank of Shanghai Shenzhen Branch granted officially became the single largest shareholder of China South City.
RMB4 billion credit facility to China South City to 202258178 « HEEHEE AR EERBEER S EEH R
support China South City in further expanding T BERERTFARATEEGNE —SANRE -

and strengthening commercial logistics and such
real industries.
EEBITRYID TR TERMARKAETE
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22 ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23 43R \ \N



JULY »
The 2022 China E-Commerce Industry Alliance Innovation AUGUST »
Development and Cross-border E-Commerce Summit was held at
the eight project sites of China South City.
2022 EFRBEXH BN EREABHEHHREELE
REEERW /) \ M F TR -

At the opening ceremony of the 11th Wuzhou Industrial
Development Forum and the 6th Shenzhen International
Brand Week organized by the Federation of Shenzhen
Industries, CSC Shenzhen has successfully been included in
the list of “Shenzhen Top Brand” for six consecutive years.
ERY TG SERNET—EANIEERRIEZEE
NERYIBEERDEAREN E o RIIERPES R FK
NEE RN ME MR BE -
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AUGUST »

SZCDG acquired a 50% equity interest in
First Asia Pacific Group, a subsidiary of
China South City, for approximately
RMB1.257 billion. With the support of the
“Keepwell Deed” actively provided by
SZCDG, China South City successfully
extended the offshore US dollar bonds.
REREZEAOARE1257E T EER
WA T 8 — T KEBS0%ARE - =
BRI [ E | BT -
M BIRETTIRIMERER

ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23 3

SEPTEMBER »»
China South City E-Commerce Industrial Park was recognized as one
of the “Top Ten” national e-commerce demonstration bases for its
outstanding performance in comprehensive assessment.
LENETRHRELRRAFERARE  RERRETHER
SEM [HE] 2—-

"Digitalization Helps Intelligent Construction of Industry and City”
Salon was successfully held in China South City
Continuing to practice the concept of “stabilizing business, helping
business, supporting business, and making business rich”, China
South City cooperated with merchants at the project sites to jointly
launch a series of activities of China South City Courtesy Season.
(B N ERE B @ER ] D Em BT
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NOVEMBER »

The SZCDG and China South City signed a
comprehensive cooperation agreement and the
launch ceremony of CSC Nanchang, CSC
Zhengzhou and CSC Nanning project cooperation
was successfully held in Nanchang, and the China
South City's “Seven Projects in Three Cities” was first
launched.
FEZERERRZARBRESFZOERS - EIN
- EMEERWIER A ERMEEAEEEEMSRT
ErW [ =WAIEE | RKEmME) -

MARCH »

China South City signed syndicated loans of RMB6 billion with 11 banks
including Bank of China, Construction Bank, Bank of Communications,
and Industrial and Commercial Bank of China. China South City
welcomed a number of well-known international investment
institutions to organize site visit.
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DECEMBER »

Shenzhen Shenji No. 1 Industrial Park Investment Operation
Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of SZCDG, subscribed for about
69.35% of CSC Xi'an for RMBS5 billion, further accelerating
the pace of integrated development.
FegiE T R)ImAESREXRRIREELAR LA
AANRBESOBITRIBALERMNAI69.35% B - E£—F
INRELS B R A K

FEBRUARY »
China South City E-Commerce Industrial Park successfully
passed the certification of Guangdong Provincial

Cross-border E-commerce Industrial Park (Leading Type),
becoming the only industrial park in Guangdong Province to
receive this honor.
EURETFEBEXRIEMBRAEREERENEXE
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MR

(in HK$'000 F&7T)

/‘ Revenue
WA

2023

4,052,262
2022 9,615,923
2021 10,786,212
2020 9,465,944

2019 9,896,142

g
R —
&0 BHE AL RE
2023 699,984
2022 760,200
2021 2,415,498
2020
2019 3,250,962
\-
-~
EERE
2023 42,685,002
2022 45,089,972
2021 41,296,550
2020 34,882,520
2019 36,149,827
\-
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Financial Highlights (Continued)

MBEHE(E)

For the year ended 31 March Change
BZE3A31HLEE 2023 2022 2iE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
(Restated)
(Fe&E51)
Continuing operation FHBISE 5
Revenue WA 4,052,262 9,615,923 -57.9%
Among which, recurring EHrp o FREERA
income 1,679,487 2,262,445 -25.8%
Gross profit margin EAES 20.2% 29.6% -9.4p.p.
9.4EB D E
(Loss)/profit for the year from REFELCEEB 2 N/A
continuing operations RNEFE(ER),/FE (1,555,306) 676,564 A
Profit for the year from a REDRIEREEB 2
discontinued operation REZFH 2,254,801 82,560 2,631.1%
Profit attributable to owners B RARHEAE AEIGFE
of the parent 699,984 760,200 -7.9%
Basic earnings per Share RENEGATHEBEAZ
attributable to the owners of EXRGRKRER]
the parent
— For profit for the year —REERHE HK6.34 cents3&1l HK9.39 centsi&1ll -32.5%
Asset-liability ratio BEAGBE 62.6% 63.8% -1.2p.p.
2B D E
Weighted average financing cost  JI#EF g1 E B A 8.1% 9.0% -0.9p.p.
-0.9EE D
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CHAIRMEN'’S STATEMENT
ERE®|E

Looking back on the past year, the global economy suffered from the
impact of the pandemic, the Federal Reserve continued to raise interest
rates while tightening monetary policy, resulting in a significant economic
slowdown. Besides, the Chinese economy suffered from shrinking
demand, increasingly cautious domestic consumption sentiment, sluggish
social financing intentions, declining investment confidence in the capital
market and weakening market expectations for the economic outlook.
The future economic outlook is highly uncertain due to a combination of
negative factors.

Despite the challenging operating environment, the Group and Shenzhen
SEZ Construction and Development Group Co., Ltd. (“SZCDG") completed
the equity transfer in May 2022, making SZCDG the single largest
shareholder of the Group, holding 29.28% equity interest in the Group.
After its equity investment, SZCDG has facilitated the Group in improving
its financing capability on several occasions. In March 2023, with the
facilitation of SZCDG, the Group successfully entered into a syndicated
loan contract for RMB6 billion working capital with Bank of China, China
Construction Bank, Bank of Communications, Industrial and Commercial
Bank of China, Bank of Jiangsu, Shanghai Pudong Development Bank,
China CITIC Bank, Ping An Bank, Bank of Hangzhou, China Minsheng
Bank and China Everbright Bank for a loan period of three years at an
interest rate of only 4.7% per annum. The loan was the largest single
financing for the China South City Group since its establishment, which
significantly optimized the Group's debt structure and effectively reduced
financing costs. In addition, in July 2022, SZCDG acquired 50% equity
interest in Shenzhen First Asia Pacific Property Management Company
Limited (“First Asia Pacific Group”), a subsidiary of the Group, at a cash
consideration of RMB1,257 million, which not only strengthened the
strategic cooperation between both parties but also improved the Group’s
cash flow; in the same month, with the active support from SZCDG, the
Group successfully completed the rollover of five senior notes with an
aggregate amount of US$1,565.5 million.

In addition, a subsidiary of SZCDG took the lead in establishing an equity
investment fund with a total size of RMB11 billion during the year to
provide financial support to the high-quality development projects of
China South City Group, revitalize the land resources of China South
City Group, and explore new business growth opportunities focusing on
industrial upgrading of the parks, development and operation of park
facilities, logistics and cold chain, etc. In December 2022, as the first
step of this plan, the Group entered into an investment agreement with
Shenzhen Shenji No. 1 Industrial Park Investment and Operation Co., Ltd.,
a subsidiary of SZCDG, for the acquisition of 69.35% equity interest in
CSC Xi‘an at a cash consideration of RMB5 billion to inject new impetus
to the sustainable development of the project and provide additional
liquidity for the Group.
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Chairmen’s Statement (Continued)

ERHRE(E)

During the Reporting Period, the Group further deepened its cooperation
with SZCDG, made full efforts to promote investment and development,
and took the initiative to fulfill its social responsibility of “ensuring delivery
of properties and stabilizing people’s livelihood”. SZCDG reached a
comprehensive synergistic cooperation with China South City, and the
“Seven Projects in Three Cities” of CSC Nanchang, CSC Zhengzhou
and CSC Nanning were successfully launched to provide support for the
development projects under construction of China South City and fully
ensure normal construction and operation.

In terms of management coordination with SZCDG, the Group has
successfully completed the Board restructuring and SZCDG has
recommended the candidates for one Co-Chairman and Non-Executive
Director, one Executive Director and Vice President, one Executive
Director and Financial Controller, three Non-Executive Directors, and
one Independent Non-Executive Director. Upon completion of the Board
restructuring, SZCDG now controls more than half of non-independent
Directors. By recommending senior management with extensive
management experience to the Group, the strength of the Group's
management team has been further strengthened, further enhancing and
optimizing the management standards.

Furthermore, the Group planned to promote the development of the
CSC Shenzhen phase | market urban renewal project in the near future
to accelerate industrial transformation and upgrading and explore new
models for new industrial parks. The project is located in Longgang
District, Shenzhen, with a site area of approximately 430,000 sg.m. and
a GFA of approximately 450,000 sg.m. for the existing buildings. It is
expected that the GFA will be significantly increased upon completion of
the urban renewal project. This project will supplement the Group’s cash
flow and provide growth momentum to the business performance in the
future.

Review of Operations

As a leading developer and operator of large-scale integrated logistics and
trade centres in China, the Group has kept abreast of market changes,
continuously improved its operations, and continuously promoted
transformation and upgrading. During the Reporting Period, our revenue
decreased as compared to last year due to delay in construction works
and market downturn affected by the pandemic. At present, all the
projects to be delivered by the Group have resumed normal operation,
and the Group will continue to increase its sales efforts in the future. With
the financial pressure relieved, the investment and development division
steadily advanced construction works and made every effort to complete
the delivery with required quality and quantity on schedule, so as to
stabilize the development fundamentals of the Group.

BEMAREEEFREZENSFE— IR 25
AR ERE - TBREEREMFRRE  BRE]
M EEE  FEREFRFFMENEZEBRAE
ME BN BmEEERI =NEER RIS &
EMMAEERBERBREXS  2EREEFERE

o

EREFREENEERRIE  ARECKRDTRE
EZENE  FREZCKHER —BBEIERIFNT
BT —RBTESERALE  —BRTESRUB
HBE ZRIFNTER  UR—EFEIIENTEEFA
B TREFSRAEER  FREEERKEABB ¥
HPEBYEREMN - BERBABLYEERLRNS
REEABEREH  AEENEEEKENFHE
—SHE - BIRKFIFEE - FRIEL -

AN - AR [ A B R B HEAE R I FE B I — HA T A
MRFHIAE O - IREXERTR  RERMET
EEERFER - ZEBLREAYITRERER - HRmE
MRABEFTTAK  BIREEYRERMBARASEF T
Ko FEEHRTTE IR B EAIR - REEER g KRR

Fteo WHEBRAEER/AEEHARDR  ARKHLA
EEWRIERE S

EEOE
ERPRELNALGAMRNERR ST O
BMERR  AREERMSEL - THRARRE

EKF - FEHEEITIR - MEHAN - DRBEEH
TREH  mETTEFE  WAREFAMELD -
BREEMAGXNIREERIRELR  2BAEE
REBINAHESNE - REKRREESENFE
BRNBERT - BSHETIZRR - 2N AIRENE
REARETHRNT  BESEHRELSE -

II China South City Holdings Limited ZERHIZRER A A

29




30

Chairmen’s Statement (Continued)

ERHRE(E)

The business management division of China South City manages the
leasing business of approximately 6.9 million sq.m. of self-owned
properties in eight China South City projects and continues to introduce
high-quality businesses and tenants. In April 2023, CSC Shenzhen
successfully introduced the Zhongyi Pharmaceutical Technology Industrial
Park project to further expand the layout of emerging industries such
as pharmaceutical and healthcare; in June 2023, CSC Zhengzhou
completed the signing of a large investment project of over 160,000
sg.m. In addition, China South City actively organized large-scale events
and exhibitions in different places to boost the industrial development
of the parks and facilitate merchants’ market expansion and prosperous
development. In particular, CSC Zhengzhou launched the one-month
New Year Goods Festival campaign from December 2022 to January
2023, which has driven a significant increase in sales for merchants in the
park. In May 2023, the Spring Building Materials and Hardware Fair was
attended by 585 exhibitors, attracted over 60,000 visitors, and achieved
on-site sales and intended orders of more than RMB200 million in total.
In March 2023, CSC Nanning successfully held the sixth Curtain Ordering
Session event; in the same month, CSC Nanchang held the Spring High-
quality Shopping Festival with a surge in customer flow and sales in the
park.

For digital development of the parks, with the continuous development
of new generation information technology such as big data and cloud
computing, China South City has accelerated the improvement of
intelligent hardware infrastructure and intelligent systems in line with the
trend of the times. The Company aims to realize the data and internet-
based management of the project sites through the integration and
connection of “Internet of Things + Internet” following the concept of
"Data-Driven and Active Service”, thereby shifting the development focus
from basic services to commercial operations. In addition, the Group
has built a one-stop cross-border trading service platform to provide
market procurement and trading services, cross-border finance and tax
compliance services, and cross-border supply chain logistics services to
cross-border trading enterprises in the parks. Data in many fields such
as smart elevator, energy consumption of the project sites, intelligent
customer service, smart parking, passenger flow analysis, online leasing
and merchant information can be accessed at the service platform of
smart industrial parks in China South City. With the connection of more
resources, the Group will vigorously enhance the commercial operation
and service capability of China South City to provide the best value-added
services to park residents and merchants.
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Chairmen’s Statement (Continued)

ERHRE(E)

As the property service provider of industrial parks of China South City,
First Asia Pacific Group has established a leading property management
service system among the peers in China, leveraging on the continuous
development and expansion of China South City projects across China.
As mentioned above, SZCDG acquired a 50% equity interest in First Asia
Pacific Group in 2022 at a cash consideration of RMB1,257 million to
strengthen the strategic cooperation between both parties, in the future,
First Asia Pacific Group will continue to actively participate in tenders of
the property management service projects of SZCDG. In order to better
serve the customers, First Asia Pacific Group, together with Jieshun
Intelligent Parking, an associate of SZCDG, successfully promoted the
intelligent construction in the industrial parks in Shenzhen, laying a solid
foundation for digital management in the future. First Asia Pacific Group
will continue to increase its efforts in developing property information
systems and gradually complete incremental digital construction; promote
quality and efficiency enhancement of digital applications, strengthen
information communication, enhance staff empowerment, continuously
enhance service quality and gradually improve owners’ satisfaction. To
protect the personal and property safety of the customers, First Asia
Pacific Group has held many fire drills nationwide to eliminate safety
hazards. In addition, SZCDG has introduced resources to help expand
the management scale of Shenzhen First Asia Pacific Group and facilitate
the cooperation with Pengcheng Intelligent Sharing and Intellifusion in
parking management, intelligent park operation and management, and
service quality improvement of China South City, realizing the synergistic
development of state-owned and private enterprises. During the year, First
Asia Pacific Group ranked 38th among the top 100 in China in the “2023
China’s Top 100 Property Service Enterprises” organized by Beijing China
Index Academy, and was also awarded the title of “2023 China’s Leading
Enterprise of Special Property Services — Service Provider of Integrated

Commercial Park”.
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Chairmen’s Statement (Continued)

ERHRE(E)

Financial Management

During the Year, the Group remained prudent in its financial management
to maintain multi-channel financing for better cash management and debt
structure. The Group’s weighted average financing cost decreased from
last financial year 9.0% to 8.1%, interest bearing liability also decreased
from last financial year HK$35,980 million to HK$32,830 million. During
the reporting period, the Group signed RMB6 billion working capital
syndicated loans with 11 banks, and completed amendments to the
terms of five senior notes totaling US$1,565.5 million and was granted a
number of domestic long-term bank loans issued by various banks. Such
loans shall significantly extend the loan terms and increase the flexibility of
working capital. On top of the repayment of the original loans, it allows
the Group to acquire additional liquidity by making full use of property

valuation.

Looking forward to the next financial year, the Group will maintain and
extend its prudent and sound financial management strategy as well as
flexible and smooth financing channels in both domestic and offshore
capital markets with the aim of achieving steady growth under healthy
financial structure thereby creating greater value for shareholders.

Results and Dividends

During the Year, revenue decreased 57.9% to HK$4,052.3 million
(FY2021/22: HK$9,615.9 million), with recurring income decreased 25.8%
to HK$1,679.5 million (FY2021/22: HK$2,262.4 million).

Net profit attributable to owners of the parent was HK$700.0 million
(FY2021/22: HK$760.2 million). Basic earnings per share was HK6.34
cents (FY2021/22: HK9.39 cents). The Board recommend the payment of
a final dividend of HK2.0 cents per share for FY2022/23 (FY2021/22: Nil).
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Chairmen’s Statement (Continued)

ERHRE(E)

Future Prospects

The past year has been filled with challenges. While we anticipate that the
domestic economy will gradually recover with the adjustment of domestic
pandemic prevention policies, we should still recognize that the economy
is undergoing a phase of structural adjustment and may face difficulties in
the near future. Therefore, we should be cautious in our optimism about
the economic prospects for the coming year. As the industry undergoes
a period of transformation marked by both challenges and opportunities,
the Group will pursue a development strategy that emphasizes steady
progress, continue to fulfill our corporate social responsibility and leverage
the advantages of China South City to contribute to social development.
At the same time, we will seek integrated development with SZCDG, seize
opportunities, build up our strength to achieve goal of high-quality and
sustainable development and maximize benefits for our shareholders.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, we would like to express our sincere
gratitude to our shareholders, customers and business partners who have
always shown their concern, support and trust in the Group. We would
also like to extend our heartfelt thanks to all staff who have worked hard

in the past year.

LI Wenxiong and CHENG Chung Hing
Co-Chairmen
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE D

Business Review XBERE
Investment and Development Division RERBERIR
Project Investment and Development and Land bank HEREMBR L IBHE

The investment and development division mainly focuses on project
investment, development and construction. In the financial year under
review, the construction progress was delayed to a certain extent
due to the impact of the pandemic. However, with the adjustment of
the pandemic control policies and the easing of the Group's financial
pressure with the support of SZCDG, the Group is steadily advancing the
construction works and is fully committed to delivering the properties with
the required quality and quantity on schedule.

Adapting a unique and flexible business model, the Group intends to
retain commercial properties including logistics and warehousing facilities
and hotels as well as certain trade centre units for self-use or long-term
leasing purposes in order to generate stable recurring income and achieve
asset appreciation. The remaining trade centre units and residential
properties will be listed for sale by the Group to generate cash flow for
development. The Group's current land bank is mainly for residential and

commercial purposes.
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CSC Shenzhen IRINZERG I 923,100 1,469,200 248,800 66,200

CSC Nanchang EEES=E 1,408,500 992,400 710,700 1,682,800

CSC Nanning [Eea=p 695,100 1,258,000 154,800 372,100

CSC Xi'an PR 1,735,300 677,200 761,500 995,000

CSC Harbin MBI 728,300 1,185,900 881,500 2,980,400

CSC Zhengzhou EB)N ZE FE I 3,183,200 2,026,800 2,111,200 2,871,000

CSC Hefei aiEEmN 2,451,800 1,224,400 641,200 1,675,600

CSC Chongging EEERWN 1,068,800 1,448,100 312,700 3,672,200

Total st 12,194,100 10,282,000 5,822,400 14,315,300
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEEN W R (&)

Notes: PEE -

(1) Represents the GFA for which the construction of all various types (1) HREXETRERNSEAYENZETE  BIEFHE

of buildings had been completed, including properties held for sales, HEWE - B - ZVEEEME BEREDAED
warehouses, multi-purpose commercial properties, hotels and trade centres EmR S0 UEERME -

held for rental purpose as well as self-use properties.

(2)  Represents the remaining GFA after deducting the completed properties and ~ (2) HRENKBERIVENEEFYEEZNEBETIBNA
properties under development from the total planned GFA for acquired land. B EEETERREE o

Business Management Division HEEE

The Business Management team is dedicated to the lease management of FEEEBEEBEBRB IR AEBNEFEE L6908 F 5
approximately 6.9 million sq.m. of the Group's self-owned projects, and KW EEE - AW AT ELAEECEHEMED
also provides support to individual owners of the Group’s sold commercial — /NEFRESHF @ #HEENEL - TERG - X548
properties by offering professional operation and management services, ElBEERTST L SEAHETL  HEHR - &
with business scope covering trade centres, comprehensive business =+ JBJE « ZINAEMESIEIYE - BHPIWEIZLE
centres, commercial blocks, residential properties, hotels, multi-functional ~ HEFHEME - ELERE -

properties, etc. Our goal is to help merchants expand their markets and

develop their businesses.

During the Reporting Period, the Business Management Division further — $R&EHIR @ B8 £ B — I FHBEE E MR K
improved its investment promotion, operation and service quality, ¥ E®[BE « K | BS  TERENRAER
implemented the concept of “stabilizing and supporting business”, and & ° 202248 A  EYEREHEE N FRRY T £
strengthened its brand influence and recognition in the industry. In August & zFARINEIL @R | 2 EBFEEE - 2022997 © ¥/
2022, CSC Shenzhen was awarded the title of “Shenzhen Famous Brand” B FHEBEEXREGATERERL - REHERE
by the Federation of Shenzhen Industries for the sixth consecutive year. B /REIEM[ +{E |2 — ° 20239F2 8 » ErEF)
In September 2022, China South City E-Commerce Industrial Park was BBEREEREREEXRERE (SIBR)RT  KEE
recognized as one of the “Top Ten” national e-commerce demonstration ~ HE&M—EHHKEMEEEE -

bases for its outstanding performance in comprehensive assessment. In

February 2023, China South City successfully passed the certification for

Guangdong Province Cross-border E-commerce Industrial Park (Leading

Category), becoming the only industrial park in Guangdong Province to

gain this award.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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First Asia Pacific Group

As the property service provider of the industrial parks of China
South City, First Asia Pacific Group implements a diversified property
management model to ensure a stable source of income and sustainable
development in the future. Residential facilities, shopping malls, wholesale
markets, as well as conference and exhibition are developed to create
synergy, and business is tuned and optimized according to local market
demands. After years of development, First Asia Pacific Group has gained
National First-Class Property Management Qualification. It was one of the
few integrated property management enterprises capable of managing
both trade centre premises and residential properties in China.

During the Reporting Period, SZCDG acquired 50% equity interest in First
Asia Pacific Group, and First Asia Pacific Group has become a subsidiary
of SZCDG. Through the introduction of property resources of state-
owned enterprises, the management scale of First Asia Pacific Group has
been further expanded. As at 31 March 2023, First Asia Pacific Group
and SZCDG have agreed to cooperate on projects with a total GFA of
approximately 0.17 million sg.m. In the future, First Asia Pacific Group will
actively participate in tenders of property management service projects of
SZCDG. Currently, First Asia Pacific Group manages 104 projects with a
GFA under management of over 21 million sg.m.

During the Reporting Period, First Asia Pacific Group won various awards.
In December 2022, First Asia Pacific Group was awarded the “2022
Guangdong Property Service Enterprise with Comprehensive Development
Capability” and “2022 Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area
Property Service Brand” by Guangdong Property Management Industry
Association. In February 2023, First Asia Pacific Group was awarded
the certificate of “2022 Excellent Enterprise” by the Shenzhen Property
Management Association. In the same month, Jiangxi Asia Pacific was
recognized as a “four-star” labeled enterprise by the Nanchang Property
Management Association, and Chongqing Asia Pacific was recognized
as an advanced unit of 2022 by the Banan District Property Management
Association.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Outlet Operations

Huasheng Outlet, a subsidiary of the Group, is specialized in outlet
development and operation, and increasingly enhances its commercial
value through professional and effective commercial asset management.
Huasheng Outlet actively organized marketing activities and held the
"Spring (Autumn and Winter) Carnival” campaign series, and the main
theme of “luxury products + discounts” became a consumption trend
again. It also actively tried new online marketing models such as Douyin
group purchase, thus achieving customer inflow and performance
growth. During the Reporting Period, Huasheng Outlet strengthened
brand presence with a total operation area of approximately 0.34 million
sg.m. In addition, Huasheng Outlet actively expanded outward and seek
asset-light method to export projects to expand the market share of the
Huasheng Outlet brand.

The pandemic caused a wide range of economic impacts, and our business
was also affected to a certain extent during the Reporting Period. With
the adjustment of the pandemic control policies, we expect the business
performance of Huasheng Outlet to improve in the coming financial
year. In fact, from 1 January 2023 to 31 May 2023, Huasheng Outlet has
recorded a 92% year-on-year growth in gross merchandise volume (GMV).

Logistics and Warehousing Services

Qianlong Logistics, a subsidiary of the Group, is an integrated modern
logistics enterprise. Qianlong Logistics has established three business
platforms with the “park operation platform” as the foundation,
“warehousing service platform” as the core and “collection and
distribution platform” as the main operation body to provide customers
with comprehensive logistics solutions covering the whole supply chain. As
a professional operator of e-commerce, logistics and information industrial
parks, Qianlong Logistics has vigorously expanded its comprehensive
third-party logistics services of warehousing and distribution, vigorously
developed logistics resources in the Greater Bay Area and Yangtze River
Delta, built standardized and modernized e-commerce logistics industrial
parks that are already in operation adopting various technical means and
applications such as big data, artificial intelligence, automated equipment,
visualization, sensors etc., striving to transform and upgrade itself to
intelligent and digital modern logistics in all aspects. In the previous
financial year, in order to reduce the pressure on the Group’s liquidity,
the Group completed the disposal of certain assets of three logistics parks
in Xi'an, Zhengzhou and Hefei, contributing significant cash flow to the
Group. In the future, we will explore suitable opportunities to invest in
new logistics parks with available cash flow.
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Exhibitions and Events

During the Reporting Period, the Group secured various resources and
successfully held a number of large-scale exhibitions and events to help
merchants operate, increase customer flow and boost consumption in
the industrial parks while actively implementing pandemic prevention
requirements.

In July 2022, hosted by China South City Group and China South City
E-Commerce Industry Alliance, the “2022 China E-Commerce Industry
Alliance Live Conference on Innovative Development and Cross-border
E-Commerce Policy Explanation” was held simultaneously in eight cities
covered by China South City. Through this event, eight cities were
connected together and empowered cross-border e-commerce to help
solve the pain points of the industry.

In September 2022, in order to further promote business and boost
the real economy, CSC Shenzhen, CSC Nanchang, CSC Hefei and CSC
Chongging joined hands with partners to continuously implement the
concept of “stabilizing, assisting, supporting and benefiting business”,
and launched the China South City Rewards Season campaign together
with the merchants in the industrial parks. The campaign spanned from
September to 20 October 2022 and featured a number of events such as
merchants recruitment conference, contract signing, innovation and start-

up service platform, shop sales, merchant evaluation and social dinner.

In September 2022, the “Digital Transformation of Industrial Parks with
the Support of New Generation Information Technology — Intelligent
Development of Industries and Cities through Digitalization” campaign
was successfully held in CSC Shenzhen, sponsored by Shenzhen Science
and Technology Association, organized by Shenzhen Information Industry
Association and Shenzhen Industrial Internet Alliance, and co-organized
by China South City E-Commerce Industry Alliance.

In January 2023, the New Year Goods Festival was launched in various
places covered by China South City, including Shenzhen, Zhengzhou,
Chongging, Hefei and Harbin. As a continuation of the New Year Branded
Goods Festival of China South City Group, it maintained the characteristics
of “Happy City — Chinese New Year"” as always, which helped merchants
increase their trading volume while enhancing the popularity and
customer flow of the market.
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In May 2023, the CSC Zhengzhou Furniture and Building Materials Fair
cum Central China (Spring) Building Materials and Hardware Exhibition
was grandly opened. The exhibition covered an area of nearly 40,000
sg.m. and had a total of approximately 1,500 standard booths. On that
day, more than 10,000 people attended the exhibition, including agents,
wholesalers, distributors and other professional buyers in the building
materials, hardware, electrical and machinery industries from different
places.

In addition, China South City also held various marketing campaigns
and small-scale exhibitions across its various projects based on local
characteristics and holiday trends to enliven market popularity and drive
up consumption. In view of the adjustments to the pandemic control
policies, we expect to hold more events in the coming financial year to
provide greater support to our park merchants.

Financial Review

The main objective of the Group’s financial management is to pursue
long-run sustainable growth while maintaining financial health through a
strong and stable capital base.

The Group proactively adjusts its business development strategies, the
pace of land acquisition and other capital expenditures in concurrence
with its cash flows from operating and financing activities, in order to
maintain liquidity while uphold growth momentum.

The Group actively manages its financing structure through various
financing channels, from onshore and offshore bank loans to different
interbank and capital market instruments, in order to achieve an optimal
capital structure and maturity profile. As at 31 March 2023, the total
interest-bearing debts of the Group were HK$32,830.8 million (31
March 2022: HK$35,975.4 million). The gearing ratio was 71.0% (31
March 2022: 69.4%). Furthermore, as at 31 March 2023, cash and bank
balances were HK$2,525.1 million (31 March 2022: HK$4,681.1 million).
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Comparing with the last fiscal year, the revenue of the Group decreased
by 57.9% to HK$4,052.3 million (FY2021/22: HK$9,615.9 million).
Net profit attributable to owners of the parent decreased by 7.9% to
HK$700.0 million (FY2021/22: HK$760.2 million) and the basic earnings
per share decreased to HK6.34 cents (FY2021/22: HK9.39 cents). The
decrease in net profit attributable to owners of the parent and basic
earnings per share are mainly due to (i) less sales and delivery of properties
and decline in average selling price of properties delivered during the
Year, resulting in the decrease in the gross profit margin and (ii) increase

in the provision for inventory impairment.

Revenue

Revenue for the Year decreased by 57.9% to HK$4,052.3 million
(FY2021/22: HK$9,615.9 million) comparing with last fiscal year. The
decrease was mainly attributable to less sales and delivery of properties
during the Year.

BAFHRFELE  AEERAFEHNRARMD
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FY2022/23 FY2021/22 Change

2022/23 2021722
MBREE MHFE Big
HK$'000 HK$'000 %
FET FHET %

Sales of properties and finance ¥ E RV ERAERA
lease income 2,372,775 7,353,478 -67.7
Recurring income B A 1,679,487 2,262,445 -25.8
Property leasing income YEHAEKLA 775,809 911,596 -14.9
Other recurring revenue HiFa 1t A 903,678 1,350,849 -33.1
4,052,262 9,615,923 -57.9
Sales of Properties and Finance Lease income HEVERREHERA

Revenue from sales of properties decreased by 65.0% to HK$2,372.8
million (FY2021/22: HK$6,773.6 million), due to the delay of the
constructions under the impact of the epidemic, the sales and delivery of
properties were decreased during the Year.

No finance lease income was derived from the leasing of office buildings
during the year (FY2021/22: HK$579.9 million) whereas the revenue
of last year was primarily attributable to finance lease income on office
building at CSC Shenzhen.
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Property Leasing and Management Service Income

The Group intends to retain certain of the trade centre units for self-use or
rental purposes. Meanwhile, the Group also provide property management
services for its trade centres, shops and residential properties delivered
and in use. Given the diversity of its property types and industries in China
South City projects, the Group’s business management division continued
to provide diversified leasing services, to cater the needs of different
property types and industries across respective projects in this Year. During
the Year, the Group dispose of 50% equity interest in First Asia Pacific
Group which engages in the provision of property management services
of China South City projects. Since then, the disposal was classified as a
discontinued operation, and the related property management service
income is therefore not included in the Year. Property leasing income will
become an important component of the recurring income of the Group
in the long run. CSC Shenzhen, being the more mature project in the
Group's portfolio, contributed a substantial part of the property leasing
income. During the Year, property leasing income of the Group decreased
by 14.9% to HK$775.8 million (FY2021/22: HK$911.6 million) comparing
to last fiscal year.

Other Recurring Revenue

Other recurring revenue decreased by 33.1% to HK$903.7 million
(FY2021/22: HK$1,350.8 million). As part of the asset has been sold last
year, revenue from logistics and warehousing services decreased 38.6%
to HK$267.8 million (FY2021/22: HK$436.3 million) during the Year. Due
to the continuous and direct impact of the epidemic, the revenue from
outlet operations decreased 17.5% to HK$296.0 million (FY2021/22:
HK$358.7 million), which in turn affected the growth rate in the Group’s

overall recurring income.
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Cost of Sales

The Group's cost of sales mainly includes construction costs, borrowing
costs and land costs of properties sold and properties sold under finance
lease, and operating costs of recurring business. During the Year, the
cost of sales decreased by 52.2% to HK$3,232.2 million (FY2021/22:
HK$6,768.3 million). The decrease in cost of sales was in line with due to
the decrease of total recognised sales during the Year.

Gross Profit

Gross profit decreased by 71.2% to HK$820.0 million (FY2021/22:
HK$2,847.6 million) during the Year. Gross profit margin decreased to
20.2% (FY2021/22: 29.6%), which was mainly due to the decrease in
average selling price of properties sold and increase of construction cost.

Other Income and Gains, Net

During the Year, other income decreased by 45.8% to HK$159.5 million
(FY2021/22: HK$294.4 million), which was mainly attributable to the
decrease in interest income and government grants. In addition, during
the Year, other gains/(losses) turned to the losses of HK$19.8 million from
the gains of HK$804.2 million, which was mainly attributable to the gains
on land resumption last year.

Fair Value Gains on Investment Properties
The fair value gains on investment properties was HK$151.6 million
(FY2021/22: HK$148.2 million). During the Year, the fair value gain

mainly comes from logistics and warehousing assets.

For each of the interim and annual financial reporting date, the Group
appoints an independent professional qualified valuer to determine the
fair value of our investment properties. The change in fair value of our
investment properties may be affected by a variety of internal and external
factors, such as rental area, rental rate, market prices of comparable
properties.
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Selling and Distribution Expenses

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses decreased by 40.8% to
HK$218.7 million (FY2021/22: HK$369.2 million). The decrease was
mainly attributable to the number of properties delivered decreased,
resulting in a decrease in related selling expenses, the implementation of
effective cost control measures over marketing activities on the sales of
properties during the Year, and certain property sales are directly sold by
the Group to end customers rather than through intermediaries.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses decreased by 13.8% to HK$846.7 million
(FY2021/22: HK$982.8 million), due to actions taken by the Group to
streamline human resource and the effective control of administrative
costs.

Other Expenses

Other expenses increased by 96.5% to HK$871.7 million (FY2021/22:
HK$443.5 million), which was mainly attributable to the impairment of
trade receivables, properties held for sales and financial assets included
in prepayments, other receivables and other assets and other long-term
receivables.

Finance Costs

Finance costs decreased by 2.3% to HK$769.4 million (FY2021/22:
HK$787.8 million). The Group's weighted average financing cost
decreased 10 8.1% as at 31 March 2023 (31 March 2022: 9.0%).

The average financing cost of bank and other borrowings and senior
notes are 7.6% and 9.0% respectively as at 31 March 2023 (31 March
2022: 8.2% and 10.5%).

Tax

Income tax reported a credit of HK$3.9 million (FY2021/22: expenses of
HK$834.7 million), which was due to (1) less properties delivered during
the Year, resulting in a decrease in related profits and (2) the reversal of
LAT, due to the finalisation of tax returns with the local tax bureau and
property development expenditures adjustment arising from settlement of
construction fee.
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Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group finances its development and operations primarily through
internally generated funds, bank and other borrowings, and the issuance
of different types of bonds and notes on the onshore and offshore
market, which includes but not limited to senior notes, short-term notes,
medium-term notes, corporate bonds and domestic company bonds. The
Group will continue to explore different financing means and to extend its

financing channels.

Cash and Bank Balances

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had HK$2,525.1 million cash and bank
balances (31 March 2022: HK$4,681.1 million). The Group’s cash and
bank balances were primarily denominated in Renminbi, HK dollars and
US dollars.

Borrowing and Charges on the Group’s Assets

As at 31 March 2023, the total interest-bearing debts of the Group was
HK$32,830.8 million (31 March 2022: HK$35,975.4 million). The details
of borrowings and charges on the Group'’s assets are set out below.

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings

The Group had aggregated interest-bearing bank and other borrowings of
HK$21,279.2 million as at 31 March 2023 (31 March 2022: HK$21,083.6
million), of which HK$11,862.9 million is repayable within one year or
on demand, HK$1,725.3 million will be repayable in the second year,
HK$2,617.0 million will be repayable in the third to fifth years and
HK$5,074.0 million will be repayable after five years. As at 31 March
2023, the Group's interest-bearing bank and other borrowings of
approximately HK$21,080.7 million were secured by certain buildings,
investment properties, properties under development, properties held
for finance lease, properties held for sales and bank deposits with a total
carrying value of approximately HK$57,114.2 million.

All interest-bearing bank and other borrowings of the Group were
denominated in HK dollars, Renminbi and US dollars with interest rates
range from 2.80% to 15.00% (31 March 2022: 3.75% to 15.00%) per

annum.
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Issuance of Notes
Senior Notes

During the Year, the Company has obtained the consent from the
note holders that the maturity dates of 11.5% senior notes due 2022,
10.875% senior notes due 2022, 7.25% senior notes due 2022, 10.75%
senior notes due 2023 and 11.95% senior notes due 2023 (collectively
referred as “Senior Notes”) are extended for further twenty months and
their corresponding new maturity date are 12 April 2024, 26 June 2024,
20 July 2024, 11 December 2024 and 9 October 2024 respectively. The

interest rates of all Senior Notes were revised to 9%.

Details of movement are set out below:

REBZBT

BEEE

REFEA RARENEEZEFEARELI1.5%
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2023F EIHARE R ZIE 2 11.95% 2023F ZIHARE
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December February and 2020 and
2019 and June 2020 November January 2021

January 2020 10.875% 2017  10.75% senior March 2021

11.5% senior senior notes 7.25% senior notes due  11.95% senior

notes due due notes due 2023 notes due

2022 2022 2022 (9.0% senior 2023

(9.0% senior (9.0% senior (9.0% senior notes due (9.0% senior

notes due notes due notes due December notes due

Issued Date April 2024) June 2024) July 2024) 2024)  October 2024)
2020F9A K

20195128 K% 202028 Kk 20175118 2021%1A8 20214348
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2024F4REI8  2024F6REIH 202457REH 2024F12RFH 2024F10AEH

BTAE ZEBEEER) ZEBEER) ZBEER) ZBEER) ZBEER)

ISIN XS2085883119  XS2120092882 XS1720216388  XS2227909640 XS2238030162

Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 US$'000 Us$'000

T=r T=x F=r FET T=r

Issued nominal value BITHE 350,000 350,000 300,000 370,000 225,000

As at 1 April 2022 20229418 348,000 346,000 276,500 370,000 225,000

Repayment upon maturity B HiREE R (41,760) (24,220) (13,825) (9,250) (11,250)

As at 31 March 2023 M2023F3H31H 306,240 321,780 262,675 360,750 213,750

All of the notes above are listed and traded on the Singapore Stock

Exchange.

BB RBEF KBS SAETREER
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEEN W R (&)

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying value of senior notes were
HK$11,551.6 million (31 March 2022: HK$12,295.2 million). The senior
notes are jointly guaranteed by certain subsidiaries and part of the senior
notes are secured by pledges of share of certain subsidiaries.

Medium-Term Notes

In April 2019, China South International Industrial Materials City
(Shenzhen) Company Limited (“China South International”) issued the
first tranche of the medium-term notes of 2019 with a total principal
amount of RMB600 million with a maximum maturity period of 3 years
and at an interest rate of 8.5% per annum. The amount was fully settled
in April 2022.

Domestic Company Bonds

In August 2019, China South International issued the first and second
tranche of the domestic company bonds of 2019 with an aggregate
principal amount of RMB1.4 billion with a maximum maturity period of 3
years and at an interest rate of 8% per annum. In July 2021, the principal
amount of RMB12 million of domestic company bonds were sold back to
China South International and then the outstanding principal balance of
RMB1.388 billion was fully settled in August 2022.

Gearing Ratio
The Group's gearing ratio (net debt divided by total equity) was 71.0% as
at 31 March 2023, and 69.4% as at 31 March 2022.

Net Current Assets and Current Ratio

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had net current assets of HK$11,499.8
million (31 March 2022: HK$6,426.6 million) and a current ratio of 1.28
(31 March 2022: 1.12).

\\¥\
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEEN W R (&)

Contingent Liabilities

The Group has provided guarantees mainly with respect to banking
facilities granted by certain banks in connection with mortgage loans
made by purchasers of the Group’s trade centres and residential
properties, and bank loans made by lessees of the Group’s residential and
commercial properties. The guarantees granted to purchasers of trade
centres and residential properties will be released when the purchasers
obtain building ownership certificates, which will then be pledged to the
banks. For leased residential and commercial properties, the guarantees
will be released accordingly when the lessees repaid the loan. Further
details to the above and other matters will be set out in notes to the
financial statements.

Commitments

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had future capital expenditure
contracted but not yet provided for amounting to HK$9,808.4 million (31
March 2022: HK$13,512.5 million).

Acquisition and Disposal of Subsidiary and
Associated Companies

Except for the disposal of 50% equity interest in First Asia Pacific Group
announced on 18 July 2022 and 28 July 2022 and the deemed disposal
of approximately 69.35% equity interest in Xi'an China South City Co.,
Ltd. announced on 18 December 2022, the Group had no material
acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and associated companies during
the Reporting Period.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group conducts its business primarily in Renminbi. The income and
bank deposits of the Group were substantially denominated in Renminbi
to meet the Group’s development and operation needs in the PRC. Other
than the bank deposits, bank borrowings and senior notes denominated
in foreign currency, the Group does not have any other material exposure
to foreign exchange risk.

The Group continues to adopt a proactive approach to closely monitor
the foreign currency market and explore the domestic capital market for
financing opportunities. Other hedging arrangements will be made if such
need arises.

HAREE
FEFBTEREZZPOREEYEERERITAIL
B ERA R EEEREEYEAEARRITAIL
EIRITERRHER - RTFERVERSRERIS
FHEPT AR - W EIRER T IRITAR AR EﬁE
EEERPENEMS - BRENVABAEEERE
HRIERERR tAJ:&Eﬁﬂ%EE’U}E*iEﬁ’Iqu%Y q,ﬁ%
HRMER -

HIE

R2023F3A318 » AEEMEFTHERFREED
RIRE R 458 598.0841E8 L (202263 A31H
135125184 7T) ©

WERHENBRARARBEDNT

BRIA202257 A18 A 202247 A28 A A HEE —
K‘iSO%HQTE&EAZOZZEQE18E|’“¢‘:%ﬁﬂfﬁ
TR EE AR A RH69.35% BN - REER
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EAIEA ©
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEEN W R (&)

Economic, Commercial and Other Risks

The Group may be exposed to the risk of negative developments in
national and regional economies, property and financial markets. It may
result in reductions in sales and selling prices of the properties, rental
rates and occupancy rates of properties, and demand for ancillary services
and facilities it provides. It may also result in recession, inflation, deflation
and currency fluctuations as well as restrictions in the availability of
credit, increases in financing and other operating costs. The development
of the Group’s projects may subject to market risks as it usually takes
time to complete. Though the Group appoints quality partners for the
development of its projects, it may still be subject to associated risk of the
quality and safety of the products and services provided to the Group.
The Group may also be subject to a number of regulatory environments
in the territories in which it operates. Changes in the regulatory approach
to such matters as ownership of assets and businesses, regulations
related to development and operations, exchange controls, tax rules and
employment legislation may impact the business of the Group. Changes
in the political environment in such territories may also affect the business
of the Group. The management of the Group will keep abreast of the
environment and policy changes and make the necessary adjustments
in response to such changes, if any. Further steps taken by the Group
to manage the financial risk will be set out in notes to the financial
statements.

Land for Projects and Restriction on Sales

The Group enters into project agreements with local governments prior
to the development of all projects in order to outline the long-term
blueprints of relevant projects. These agreements generally set out the
size and use of lands and the related development plans. However, the
actual acquisition of lands, land area and terms and conditions of such
acquisition are subject to the relevant regulations and local governments’
requirements, the Group’s development plans and the results of the
relevant public tender, auction and listing. Since the development of each
of these projects may last for more than ten years, the Group and the
local government may discuss to adjust the details of these agreements to
align with the actual needs of developments.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEEN W R (&)

The pace of the land acquisition and project development depends on the
progress of the Group’s planning, as well as the procedural formalities
as determined by the local government departments. As the procedures
and requirements set by different local governments vary, the Group may
adjust the development of each project according to relevant conditions.
In view of its substantial land bank and flexibility in project planning, the
Group believes such circumstances will not have material impact on its
development as a whole.

Pursuant to certain project and land related contracts and documents,
some of the land acquired by the Group may have sales restrictions on
properties built on it. According to the Group's business model, the Group
intends to hold certain trade centres and commercial facilities for leasing
and self-use, the related sales restrictions will not have significant impact
on the Group.

Human Resources

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had a workforce of 2,686 employees.
The Group aims to recruit, retain and develop competent individuals
who are committed to the Group’s long-term success and growth.
Remunerations and other benefits of employees are reviewed annually
in response to both market conditions and trends, and are based on
qualifications, experience, responsibilities and performance. In addition
to basic salaries and other staff benefits, discretionary bonuses and
share options may be awarded to employees who display outstanding
performance and contributions to the Group.
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PROJECT PORTFOLIO

HBAS

Completed Properties held for sale/finance lease

ERTHEHE RMEHENFREME

Approx.
Group's land area Approx. GFA
Project Location Interest (sq.m.)  Description (sg.m.)
BT HEE BARERR
EE bk rEEES (F5X) RA )
China South City Shenzhen  No. 1 Hua Nan Main Road, 100% 1,023,500  Phase | trade centres 1,100
Y Pinghu, Longgang District, —BRHP0
Shenzhen, China
BRI Im e R T Phase Il residential facilities 300
ERRBR —HRERERNE
Logistics zone commercial and other 300
ancillary facilities
MiRERER kA MEERE
- Office tower
- PR
China South City Nanchang ~ No. 1 Huanan Avenue, 100% 1,807,800  Phase | trade centres 169,800
E=Ed) Honggutan New District, — 8RS
Nanchang City,
Jiangxi Province, China Phase | residential facilities 2,400
PEIIAEEETAAENR —BEERES
ERAEH
China South City Nanning No. 56 Shajing Avenue, 100% 890,000  Phase | trade centres 357,700
HEERR Jiangnan District, —HR G50
Nanning City, Guangxi
Zhuang Autonomous Region, Phase | residential facilities 1,600
China —HEERERE
FEEEA R AREED
TEED I RES6
China South City Xi'an No. 8 Port Avenue, Xi'an 100% 1,926,000  Phase | trade centres 44,900
FRERE, International Trade and Logistics —HRG% 0
Park, Xi'an City,
Shaanxi Province, Phase | multi purpose properties 5,100
China — BB
FEREEALT
AR ERERE
N Ly
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Project Portfolio (Continued)

HEAS (&)

Completed Properties held for sale/finance lease

BRTHEHE REREWE

Approx.
Group's land area Approx. GFA
Project Location Interest (sq.m.)  Description (sg.m.)
BT HEE BARERR
ER ok rEEES (F5K) REA (FHXK)
China South City Harbin Tuanjie Town, Daowai District, 100% 2,386,700  Phase | trade centres 642,300
MEEERN Harbin City, —HR S0
Heilongjiang Province, China
PEREIEREAMEING Phase | multi purpose properties 1,700
BER —HEEemE
China South City Zhengzhou  Longhu Town, Xinzheng City, 100% 3,684,200  Phase | trade centres 641,200
B JNEERTI Zhengzhou City, Henan Province, —HBRS%0
China
GBI Phase | residential facilities 11,500
L ~ B ERER
China South City Hefei Fanhua Avenue, Taohua Industrial 100% 2,450,100  Phase | trade centres 15,700
CLET] Park, Feixi County of Hefei City, —HR SR
Anhui Province, China
FEZBEAETEARIELEE
ZERE
China South City Chongging ~ No. 1 Dongcheng Avenue, 100% 2,751,400  Phase | trade centres 391,000
EREREY Nanpeng, Banan District, —HRHH 0
Chongging Municipality, China
THEEMERE Phase | residential facilities 156,200

MYREAB %

—HEERERT
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Project Portfolio (Continued)

HEAS (&)

REMRE

Investment Properties

Group's Approx. GFA
Project Location Interest  Description (sq.m.)  Lease Term
BHRERR
L e E@EE AE (F5%)  2HOFH
China South City Shenzhen ~ No. 1 Hua Nan Main Road, 100%  Phase | trade centres 167,100 Medium Term Lease
IR Pinghu, Longgang District, —BRAPL IR
Shenzhen, China
LAY B Phase I commercial and other
FHAE-F ancilary facilities
—HEE R AMRER
- Business centres 22,400 Medium Term Lease
- BBRD iR
- Hotel properties 31,800 Medium Term Lease
- EEmE ik
Phase Il trade centres 446,400 Medium Term Lease
ZEBRHHD hHRN
Phase Ill trade centres 304,800  Medium Term Lease
RS0 RN
- Warehouse 135,600  Medium Term Lease
-Rf# RERY
China South City Nanchang ~ No. 1 Huanan Avenue, 100%  Phase | trade centres 247,000  Medium Term Lease
HEEMR Honggutan New District, —HR 50 R
Nanchang City, Jiangxi Province,
China
PEIREEETAARNE
ERRE-%
China South City Nanning  No. 56 Shajing Avenue, 100%  Phase | trade centres and offices 554,100 Medium Term Lease
HEERY Jiangnan District, Nanning City, —HRSPLAETE R
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous
Region, China
HEERLREREEN
LR ED HKIES6%
China South City Xi'an No. 8 Port Avenue, Xi‘an 100%  Phase | trade centres 363,700 Medium Term Lease

iyl

International Trade and Logistics
Park, Xi'an City,

Shaanxi Province,

China

MERELEERT
ERERERR

BHARESS

—BRE5P0

AR
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Project Portfolio (Continued)

HEAS (&)

Investment Properties REME
Group's Approx. GFA
Project Location Interest  Description (sq.m.)  Lease Term
BOREER
ER e E@EE AE (FAK) RNOEH
China South City Harbin Tuanjie Town, Daowai District, 100%  Phase | trade centres and multi 447,800 Medium Term Lease
BREERA Harbin City, purpose properties thER4)
Heilongjiang Province, —BRSROAS ARNE
China
MEZRIERRETENE
B
China South City Zhengzhou  Longhu Town, Xinzheng City, 100%  Phase | trade centres 838,700  Medium Term Lease
B Zhengzhou City, Henan Province, —HR R R
China
REA eI TS T
i
China South City Hefei Fanhua Avenue, Taohua Industrial 100%  Phase | trade centres and 1,064,100 Medium Term Lease
AEEEN Park, Feixi County of Hefei City, warehouse RERY
Anhui Province, China —BRAPLNEH
MELRESETEEEIEE
EEIN
China South City Chongging  No. 1 Dongcheng Avenue, 100%  Phase | trade centres 493,800 Medium Term Lease
BEERY Nanpeng, Banan District, —HRZP0 ik

Chongging Municipality, China
hEEETCER
CEZ LN
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Project Portfolio (Continued)

HEAS (&)

Properties under Development — with Land Use

Rights Certificates

BRETYR - ARtEARERS

Properties Estimated
Approx.land  Total Planned under completion
Group's areal GFA? Development calendar
Project/Location Interest (sq.m.) (squm.)  Description (sq.m.) Stage of completion year’
Bats REe
HEY  BEERY RAE it
BE /1Y A5ERS (FAX) (FA%)  RE (FAX) THER BIEEY
1. China South City Shenzhen 100% 1,023,500 2,707300  a. Trade centres, warehouse and other 248,800 Foundation work and 2023-2024
Mgy ancilary facilties superstructure in progress
No. 1 Hua Nan Main Road, Pinghu RERL - RRREMEER S HETRRFETREH
Longgang District, Shenzhen, China
HERImERR TS b. Remaining portions - Planning -
EAE BN HElm
2. China South City Nanchang 100% 1,807,800 4794400 a. Trade centres, residential, commercial, 710,700 Foundation work and 2023-2024
BEEEY warehouse and other ancilary faltes superstructure in progress
No. 1 Huanan Avente, Remb- F BE ARREMEE HETRRFETREH
Honggutan New District, B
Nanchang City, Jiangxi Province,
China b. Remaining portions - Planning -
EIREEETIARKE BN HElm
AR
3. China South City Nanning 100% 890,000 2,480,000 a. Trade centres, warehouse and other 154,800 Foundation work and 2023-2024
HEEEY ancllary facilties superstructure in progress
No. 56 Shajing Avenue, Jiangnan REML - BRREMEER S WETRREETRENH
District, Nanning City, Guangxi
Zhuang Autonomous Region, China b. Remaining portions - Planning -
HEEELRE AREED A HEl
HIEEY RN L3
4. China South City Xi'an 100% 1,926,000 4169,000  a. Trade centres, commercial, warehouse and 761,500 Foundation work and 2023-2024
fife 2] other ancillary facities superstructure in progress
No. 8 Port Avenue, X'an International REML - BE ARREMEERE HETER FETRENY
Trade and Logistics Park, Xi'an City,
Shaanxi Province, China b. Remaining portions - Planning -
HEREEERTERER AR ) HEl
BHAESH
5. China South City Harbin 100% 2,386,700 5,776,100  a. Trade centres, residential, commercial, 881,500 Foundation work and 2023-2024

REEERY

Tuanjie Town, Daowai District,
Harbin City, Heilongjiang Province,
China

R A RAE TR REEA

hotels, warehouse and other ancillary
facllities

2ol % BE - BE ARRE
HEERE

. Remaining portions

BT

superstructure in progress
HWETER FETRERD

Planning

it
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Project Portfolio (Continued)

HEAS (&)

Properties under Development — with Land Use

Rights Certificates

BREDYE - AELHERARERS

Properties Estimated
Approx.land  Total Planned under completion
Group's area! GFA? Development calendar
Project/Location Interest (sq.m.) (squm.)  Description (sq.m.) Stage of completion year?
B L RE
R BEERY RAE it
B /1Y% A5ERS (FAX) (FA%)  RE (FAX) THER BIEEY
6. China South City Zhengzhou 100% 3,684,200 10,192,200 a. Trade centres, residential, commercial, 2,111,200 Foundation work and 2023-2024
BMNEmn warehouse and other ancilary faclties superstructure in progress
Longhu Town, Xinzheng City, Reml - E BE ARRELEE WETRR LETRERT
Zhengzhou City, Henan Province, B
China
PEEEPNmTEn b. Remaining portions - Planning 2023-2024
Ei S5 e
1. China South City Hefei 100% 2,450,100 5993000 . Trade centres, commercial, warehouse and 641,200 Foundation work and 2023-2024
SREmH other ancillay facilties superstructure in progress
Fanhua Avenue, Taohua Industrial R % RERERRERR HWETRREETREH
Park, Feixi County of Hefei City,
Anhui Province, China b. Remaining portions - Planning -
HERHESETER N5 RE
WET$RZENE
8. China South City Chongging 100% 2,751,400 6,501,800  a. Trade centres, residential, commercial, 312,700 Foundation work and 2023-2024

ERERY

No. 1 Dongcheng Avenue, Nanpeng,
Banan District, Chongging
Municipality, China
TEBENCHRRYRIAE T

warehouse and other ancillary facilities
2eel - e B eRRAMEE

Rt

. Remaining portions

BTEn

superstructure in progress
HETRREETRETS

Planning -

G

Notes:

(1) Represents the land area acquired by the Group as at 31 March 2023.
(2) Represents the planned GFA for the land acquired including completed
properties and properties under development. The actual GFA to be built

may vary subsequently according to needs of the Group.

(3) Represents the estimated time for completing the first phase of the project.
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FIVE YEARS’ FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EFEMBERE

Summary of Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

RABRRNE
For the year ended 31 March
BZE3ANALEE
2023 2022* 2021% 2020* 2019*
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THET THET FAT FAET
RESULTS ES
CONTINUING OPERATIONS RHESEER
Revenue WA 4,052,262 9,615,923 10,786,212 9,465,944 9,896,182
Gross Profit E7 820,035 2,847,639 4,766,129 4,438,176 4,354,739
(Loss)/profit before tax from REFECE LR TR
continuing operations (B#8)/HE (1,559,162) 1,511,302 3,299,849 4,431,119 5,308,068
Income tax credit/(expenses) FistimaE /(%) 3,856 (834,738) (957,361) (1,823,668) (2,082,520)
(Loss)/profit for the year from REFBLEEB AT
continuing operations [ (E18),/FE (1,555,306) 676,564 2,342,488 2,607,451 3,225,548
DISCONTINUED OPERATION BRLEEER
Profit for the year from RECRIEEESL L
a discontinued operation KEETE 2,254,801 82,560 72,641 20,697 17,566
Profit for the year AREFFIH 699,495 759,124 2,415,129 2,628,148 3,243,114
Attributable to: THIEH S
Owners of the parent BRRIEEA 699,984 760,200 2,415,498 2,633,141 3,250,962
Non-controlling interests IR (489) (1,076) (369) (4,993) (7,848)
Earnings per share attributable ~ BERFATLER
to ordinary equity holders BEEEEAZ
of the parent SREF
Basic AR HK6.34 cents HK9.39 cents HK29.85 cents HK32.47 cents HK40.33 cents
iyl il el gl gl
Diluted BE HK6.34 cents HK9.39 cents HK29.85 cents HK32.47 cents HK40.33 cents
B4l &l el gl gyl
*  Restated * KRET
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Five Years' Financial Summary (Continued)

TFEMBBE(E)
Summary of Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
BANERARHME
As at 31 March
R3A318
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TEL FET TET AL
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE

Non-current assets ERBEE 61,964,453 64,954,963 64,328,859 59,080,150 59,867,531
Current assets mEEE 52,259,942 59,432,461 56,214,071 54,353,902 53,239,431
Total assets BEHE 114,224,395 124,387,424 120,542,930 113,434,052 113,106,962
Current liabilities mEAE 40,760,184 53,005,850 47,786,203 50,299,050 48,873,586
Non-current liabilities ERBaRE 30,779,209 26,291,602 31,460,177 28,252,482 28,083,549
Total liabilities AfEEE 71,539,393 79,297,452 79,246,380 78,551,532 76,957,135

Equity attributable to owners of BRAIEAA
parent JERHE 42,670,045 45,073,744 41,278,881 34,832,726 35,990,593
Non-controlling interests IR 14,957 16,228 17,669 49,794 159,234
Total equity BRE%E 42,685,002 45,089,972 41,296,550 34,882,520 36,149,827
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGEMENT

ESRFTEEEEBE

Co-Chairmen

Mr. LI Wenxiong, aged 54, has been appointed as a Co-Chairman of the
Group and a Non-Executive Director of the Company since 23 September
2022, and is primarily responsible for advising on the formulation of the
Group’s general business model, development strategies and major
business matters as well as leading the Board together with Mr. Cheng
Chung Hing. Mr. Li is currently the secretary of the Party Committee and
the chairman of Shenzhen SEZ Construction and Development Group Co.,
Ltd.* (RIITTEEEREREBERAQF]) ("SZCDG”, the single largest
shareholder of the Company) and a member of the second session of the
council of China Ocean Development Foundation* (FEI/& % EEE S
F-EIEELIEE). Mr. Li had previously served as the deputy secretary
of the Party Committee and the secretary of the Disciplinary Committee, a
director, the general manager of the SZCDG; and also served as the
deputy secretary of the Party Committee and the secretary of the
Disciplinary Committee of Shenzhen Yantian Port Group Co., Ltd.* (&3
MEEM B EE AR AF]). Mr. Li obtained a Bachelor's degree in Philosophy
from Sun Yat-sen University* (4 | K 2) and a Master’s degree in Law
from Xi'an Jiaotong University* (FAZ2 3 iBAER),

Mr. CHENG Chung Hing, aged 62, is our Co-Chairman and an Executive
Director. He is a co-founder of our Group and has been a Director since 2
August 2002. He acted as Co-Chairman of the Group from 30 September
2009 until he was re-designated as Chairman of the Group on 25 July
2017, then has been re-designated as Co-Chairman of the Group on
23 September 2022. He is primarily responsible for formulating the
overall strategies and assessing the performance of the Group as well as
providing leadership for the Board with Mr. Li Wenxiong. He has more
than 40 years of management experience in the manufacturing, wholesale
and distribution businesses. Mr. Cheng is the father of Ms. Cheng Ka Man
Carman, an Executive Director, and a younger brother of Mr. Cheng Tai
Po, a Non-Executive Director.

*  For identification purpose only

\\¥\

ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23 3§

BEXE

L E 545 0 B202F9A23BEZT AR
EEBMEEIERAARERTES  TEEERGIE
FEENBEEKER  EEXMEEAFTEREER
R WHBRESES NEEEEE - DEERAR
NmEEESERERERAR([FEREEEE]
RAARE—HBARR)EZERL  EFK ' FEHE
BEERESEF _EEEYEE  c FEEEERE
BEEEEZRIECRILEEL - EF - AL
URERTERAEEEARAAEZREESLRLE
Bt DEAEBAPLABERE TSN RFALRB
KEEEBE L EA] o

EAESLE - 625% MIEEFERWITES - WALSE
EEAIRAZ—  B2002F8A2AKETAEE -
200949 A30 AT EEEFE EFEE201747 A
5HAEREEEE - H1ER202269A238FER
REEMBFEER - WEETZAETH T AEENER
REEMAHEASEEREE - WHESERES NEE
EFRE c WERERIESHEB ST EEABI0FE
BIEE - BEERPTEETDR LT 2XE + EH
TEEBRREEZRS -



Biographical Details of Directors and Key Management (Continued)

EERTEEEERE (&)

Executive Directors

Ms. GENG Mei, aged 52, is our Executive Director and Chief Operating
Officer. Ms. Geng joined the Group as the Chief Operating Officer of the
Group since 1 April 2021, and she has been appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company and the Chief Operating Officer of the Group
with effect from 20 April 2021. She is primarily responsible for the overall
operation and management of the Group to achieve the long-term
development goals of the Group. Ms. Geng has more than 22 years of
experience in the operation and management of real estate companies.
Ms. Geng studied for an EMBA at Renmin University of China. Prior to
joining the Group, Ms. Geng served as a cadre of the International Hotel
Youth League Committee of the National Tourism Administration*, the
vice president of Beijing Xinhengji Group*, the vice president of Beijing
Huahan Group*, the managing director of the Northern Region of Ping
An Real Estate Co., Ltd. and the managing director of Headquarters
Construction and Operations Centre of Ping An Real Estate Co., Ltd..

Mr. WAN Hongtao, aged 44, has been appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company and the Group’s Vice President since 16 June
2022. Mr. Wan is primarily in charge of the Company’s operation
management, strategic coordination and new business development.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wan previously held various positions in
SZCDG and its certain subsidiaries, including a supervisor of Guangdong
Special Construction Development East Investment Co., Ltd.* (& R 45 &
R B E G R A A, a subsidiary of SZCDG; and the deputy director
of the Discipline Inspection and Supervision Office (Office of the Board
of Supervisors), the deputy director of the Office (Secretariat of the
Board of Directors), and the deputy director of the Office (Secretariat
of the Board of Directors) of SZCDG. Mr. Wan graduated from Nanjing
University of Science and Technology with a major in Economic Law and a
minor in Accounting in 2000, and obtained a Master’s degree in Business
Administration from Lanzhou University in 2016.

*  For identification purpose only
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Mr. QIN Wenzhong, aged 56, has been appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company and the Group’s Financial Controller since 16
June 2022. He is primarily in charge of the Company’s internal audit,
financial management, tax management and fund management,
coordinating the financing of the Company and is responsible for
coordinating domestic financing, etc. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Qin
previously held various positions in SZCDG and its certain subsidiaries,
including the head of the cost contract audit department and the head of
the financial management department of SZCDG. Mr. Qin is currently the
chairman of the board of directors of Shenzhen Special Construction
Development Asia Business Private Equity Investment Fund Management
Co,ltd* (RIIMEFRETEANLEREREEZSCERARLT), a
subsidiary of SZCDG. Mr. Qin obtained a Bachelor of Economics from
Peking University in 1988.

Ms. CHENG Ka Man Carman, aged 34, has been an Executive Director
since 4 May 2017. She is primarily responsible for the administration
and operations of the Group. Ms. Cheng graduated from the University
of London with a Bachelor of Science degree in Financial and Business
Economics. She also obtained a Master of Science degree in Management
from the Imperial College London and a Master of Philosophy degree in
Real Estate Finance from the University of Cambridge. Prior to joining the
Group, Ms. Cheng was an executive director of Man Sang International
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of The Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (stock code: 938). She had also worked in a leading investment
firm in Asia. Ms. Cheng is the daughter of Mr. Cheng Chung Hing, a Co-
Chairman and Executive Director and the niece of Mr. Cheng Tai Po, a
Non-Executive Director.

*  For identification purpose only
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Non-Executive Directors

Mr. CHENG Tai Po, aged 71, is a Non-Executive Director. He has been a
Director since 30 April 2010 and is primarily responsible for advising on
the formulation of the Group’s general business models, development
strategies and the resolution of major issues. Mr. Cheng has over 40 years
of experience in manufacturing, wholesale and distribution businesses.
Mr. Cheng is the chairman of Hong Kong Overseas Puning Sheshan
Clansmen Association and the permanent honorary president of Hong
Kong Association of Jie Yang Federation of Returned Overseas Chinese
Limited. He was a board member of the Zhanjiang Ocean University,
China and a general committee member of the Hong Kong Jewelry
Manufacturers’ Association. Mr. Cheng is an elder brother of Mr. Cheng
Chung Hing, a Co-Chairman and Executive Director, and is an uncle of Ms.
Cheng Ka Man Carman, an Executive Director.

Ms. SHEN Lifeng, aged 57, was appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director since 16 June 2022, then has been re-designated as a
Non-Executive Director of the Company with effect from 6 January 2023,
and is primarily responsible for advising on the formulation of the Group's
general business models, development strategies and the resolution of
major issues. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Shen served as the legal
director and deputy general manager of China Textile Import & Export
Corporation Hebei Branch Company* (#4530 Q B 1EE 5 A R)),
the executive deputy general manager of Shenglun Import & Export
Group Co., Ltd. (BB @i H O E B % B R A 7)), the vice chairman of
board of directors and the general manager of Shaanxi Kunzheng Mining
Co., Ltd.* (PR ETRE I (D AR A 7)), the chief executive officer of
Hong Kong Porda Havas International Financial Communication Group*
(BB EEEBE I EMEE). Ms. Shen is currently an executive
director of China Tianbao Group Development Company Limited (stock
code: 1427) and an independent non-executive director of Hebei
Construction Group Corporation Limited (stock code: 1727), shares of
both companies are listed on the Stock Exchange. She is also the deputy
secretary general of the Hong Kong State-owned Assets Investment
Association and an independent director of SZCDG. Ms. Shen has solid
basic professional knowledge of civil law, company law, financial law and
other civil and commercial law. She has worked in multinational
institutions in Hong Kong for 7 years and has 20 years of experience in
large state-owned enterprises, foreign companies, multinational
companies, and had been executives and independent directors of listed
companies. Ms. Shen obtained a Master’s degree in Sociology from the
University of Hong Kong, a Master’s degree in Economics from Hebei
University, and a Ph.D in Civil and Commercial Law from Peking University.

*  For identification purpose only
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Ms. LI Aihua, aged 35, has been appointed as a Non-Executive Director
of the Company since 16 May 2023. Ms. Li is primarily responsible for
advising on the formulation of the Group’s general business models,
development strategies and the resolution of major issues. Ms. Li is
currently the director of the financial management department of SZCDG
and the supervisor of Shenzhen Special Zone Construction & Development
Group, Marine Industry Development Co., Ltd. (RIS RE G FEE
LR AMRAF)) and Shenzhen Marine Expo Co., Ltd.* (FIIEFHEEREA
7)) (both of which are a subsidiary of SZCDG). Ms. Li previously served as
the deputy director of the financial management department of SZCDG
and the director of the financial management department of Shenzhen
Special Zone Construction & Development Group, Marine Industry
Development Co., Ltd.. Ms. Li obtained a Bachelor of Management from
the Shenzhen University with a major in Accounting in 2009, and
obtained a Master of Science in Real Estate from the University of
Greenwich in 2016.

Ms. DENG Jin, aged 32, has been appointed as a Non-Executive Director
of the Company since 16 May 2023. Ms. Deng is primarily responsible
for advising on the formulation of the Group’s general business models,
development strategies and the resolution of major issues. Ms. Deng
currently serves as the deputy director of the strategy and investment
department of SZCDG and a director of Shenzhen Infrastructure
Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd.* (FIITTERREREES TR
AR EEAF)) (a subsidiary of SZCDG). Ms. Deng obtained a Bachelor of
Economics from Northwest University in Xian City, the People’s Republic
of China in 2010 with a major in Finance, and obtained a Master of
Science in Management from Case Western Reserve University in 2011.

*  For identification purpose only
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. LEUNG Kwan Yuen Andrew, GBM, GBS, JP, aged 72, has been an
Independent Non-Executive Director since 4 September 2009. He has more
than 43 years of management experience in the textile manufacturing,
wholesale and distribution businesses. Mr. Leung was elected as the
President of the Sixth and Seventh Legislative Council of Hong Kong and a
member of the Industrial (First) Functional Constituency of the Legislative
Council of Hong Kong, he is also a member of the Thirteenth National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference.
Mr. Leung is currently the honorary chairman of Textile Council of Hong
Kong, the honorary president of the Federation of Hong Kong Industries,
a fellow member of the Textiles Institute as well as the Clothing and
Footwear Institute in the United Kingdom. He was a council member of
the Hong Kong Trade Development Council. In addition, Mr. Leung is
an independent non-executive director of Wharf Real Estate Investment
Company Limited (stock code: 1997) and Dah Sing Financial Holdings
Limited (stock code: 440), both are companies listed on the Main Board of
The Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
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Mr. LI Wai Keung, aged 66, has been an Independent Non-Executive
Director since 4 September 2009. Mr. Li has more than 45 years of
experience in financial management. Mr. Li graduated from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic and holds a Master degree in Business Administration
from the University of East Asia, Macau (currently known as the University
of Macau). He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Li was a standing member of the Twelfth Guangdong
Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference, the honorary president and director of Hong Kong Business
Accountants Association, a member of China Overseas Friendship
Association, the secretary of the Financial and Accounting Affairs Steering
Committee of the Hong Kong Chinese Enterprises Association and Advisor
of Management Accounting of the Ministry of Finance, PRC. Mr. Li is
an independent non-executive director of Shenzhen Investment Limited
("SZ Investment”), Hans Energy Company Limited (“Hans"”), Centenary
United Holdings Limited (“Centenary United”) and Midland IC&I Limited
("Midland IC&I"). SZ Investment, Hans, Centenary United and Midland
IC&I are listed on the Main Board of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock
codes: 604, 554, 1959 and 459 respectively). Mr. Li was an executive
director and chief financial officer of GDH Limited, an executive director of
Guangdong Land Holdings Limited (stock code: 124) and a non-executive
director of Guangdong Investment Limited (stock code: 270). Mr. Li had
worked for Henderson Land Development Company Limited (stock code:
12).
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Mr. HUI Chiu Chung Stephen, /P, aged 76, has been an Independent
Non-Executive Director since 11 April 2011. Mr. Hui has over 52 years of
experience in the securities and investment industry. He served as a council
member and vice chairman of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange, a member
of the Advisory Committee of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures
Commission, a director of the Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company
Limited, a member of the Listing Committee of the Hong Kong Exchanges
and Clearing Limited, an appointed member of the Securities and Futures
Appeal Tribunal, a member of the Standing Committee on Company Law
Reform and an appointed member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants Investigation Panel A, a member of the Committee
on Real Estate Investment Trusts of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures
Commission and a member of Government “Appointees” (independent
member) of the Appeal Panel of the Travel Industry Council of Hong Kong
for a number of years. Mr. Hui was appointed by the Government of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region a Justice of the Peace (JP)
in 2004 and was also appointed as a member of the Zhuhai Municipal
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
from 2006 to 2017. He is a fellow member of The Hong Kong Institute
of Directors and a senior fellow member of Hong Kong Securities and
Investment Institute. Mr. Hui also serves as a non-executive director
of Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited (stock code: 590) and an
independent non-executive director of Lifestyle International Holdings
Limited (former stock code: 1212 and was delisted), Gemdale Properties
and Investment Corporation Limited (formerly known as Frasers Property
(China) Limited) (stock code: 535), SINOPEC Engineering (Group) Co.,
Limited (stock code: 2386), Agile Group Holdings Limited (formerly known
as Agile Property Holdings Limited) (stock code: 3383), FSE Lifestyle
Services Limited (formerly known as FSE Services Group Limited) (stock
code: 331) and HK Acquisition Corporation (stock code 7841), of which
the shares are listed on The Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Since 30 April
1998, Mr. Hui has been an independent non-executive director of Zhuhai
Holdings Investment Group Limited (formerly under stock code: 908), the
shares of which were delisted from The Hong Kong Stock Exchange on 18
June 2021. Since 2009, Mr. Hui has served as a government-appointed
independent non-executive director of Hong Kong Exchanges and
Clearing Limited (stock code: 388) until his term expired in 2015.
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Ms. ZEE Helen, aged 55, has been appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company since 6 January 2023. Ms. Zee has
almost 20 years of experience in investment banking and corporate
finance, and held various senior positions including Deputy Chief
Executive and Managing Director in Haitong International Capital Limited
from 2013 to 2019. Ms. Zee has vast experiences in public services, she is
currently a member of the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Advisory
Committee, University Grants Committee and Cyberport Advisory
Panel. She is also a member of as well as chairperson of the Investment
Committee of the Hong Kong Deposit Protection Board, and a member of
the Police Children’s Education Trust Investment Advisory Board and the
Police Education and Welfare Trust Investment Advisory Board. She was
a former member of the Listing Committee of the Main Board and GEM
of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange from 2013 to 2019. In addition, Ms.
Zee is an independent non-executive director of Henderson Sunlight Asset
Management Limited (as the manager of Sunlight Real Estate Investment
Trust (stock code: 435), a real estate investment trust listed on The Hong
Kong Stock Exchange). Ms. Zee holds a Bachelor of Science, Business
Administration degree from University of California, Berkeley, and is a
member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Dr. LI Xu, aged 48, has been appointed as an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company since 16 May 2023. He obtained a Bachelor of
Economics with a major in International Business Administration from the
University of International Business and Economics in 1997. He obtained
his Master’s degree in Finance from Boston College in 1998 and his Doctor
of Philosophy (in Accounting) from Massachusetts Institute of Technology
in 2004. Dr. Li joined the School of Business of The University of Hong
Kong ("HKU") as an Associate Professor in Accounting in July 2012 and
he teaches accounting and finance related courses and conducts related
research there since then. Currently Dr. Li also serves as the Programme
Director of the Executive Master of Business Administration (EMBA)
Programme offered by the School of Business, HKU. Before joining HKU,
Dr. Li worked as an Assistant Professor in Lehigh University from August
2010 to June 2012 and The University of Texas at Dallas from July 2004 to
August 2010, respectively. In 1999, he worked as an associate manager
in Lucent Technologies, Inc., a strategic information technology consulting
firm, where he was primarily responsible for conducting financial analysis.
Dr. Li has obtained the Certified Financial Analyst (CFA) qualification from
the Association for Investment Management and Research (now known
as the CFA Institute) in October 2003. Dr. Li is currently an independent
non-executive director of China Tianbao Group Development Company
Limited (stock code: 1427), the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange, China Kangda Food Company
Limited, the shares of which are primarily listed on the Main Board of The
Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 834) and secondarily listed on
the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (stock code: P74) and
Pizu Group Holdings Limited, the shares of which are listed on GEM of
The Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 8035).

ZME L - 485% 0 B2023F5 16 HEZ T AL AR
BN TERFIERZEGRTNEEERKE -
FETM997FREINEEE H R EBEUSIKESRES
B - FEERCEEE - H1998F BUFIK LIEZEM
S BBE T2 - LARA2004FBUSiTE 12 T2
WESET2M(BFTFEE) - H2012F7A%L - FF
THEASERS([BREERIEEESRMEIK
B XEEEHRE ST R MEMRE RETHEBAM
7 o FETHATMABARLE R TSR Shkmile
BAREEAS IEEEE L (EMBA)RIZAES - A
BAR - FETHBIE2010868 A E2012F6 ANIE
/8 K2~ (Lehigh University) TE X B IE 1% - AKX B
20047 AE2010F 8 AN EREH KN EERNH
2 1 * (The University of Texas at Dallas)4& T B) 3 24
o PA19994F - i A Lucent Technologies, Inc.(—f#
B RRMHAARBERLE  FEABHET
RO o R2003F10A8 - FEITEFIEEFTIEMM
RIHERBEFSRAOMAB L) TSRO T
Big o TR APRRAREERRER A A (K
MREBHAERSBR AR (AR ERLET
MAARER - 1427) » FEIRARMER AR (KM E
TRABRZAERLET - BRHRSE : 834 REXRH
NERBETET - RS - P74) RELEBEEERE
RARN(EBRMHAERFIGEM T + BR{H5E - 8035)
BB IERITEE -

* EES)

II China South City Holdings Limited ZERHIZRER A A

67




68

Biographical Details of Directors and Key Management (Continued)

EERTEEEERE (&)

Key Management

Mr. Chan Mau Cheong Bryan, aged 44, is the Group's Chief Financial
Officer. Mr. Chan joined our Group as the Group’s Chief Finance Officer
since 15 November 2019 and also served as Company Secretary from
1 February to 15 August 2021. Mr. Chan is responsible for the overall
financial management of the Group, establishing and maintaining investor
relations and executing the Group’s capital market financing, mergers
and acquisitions, and business cooperation projects. Mr. Chan has 21
years of experience in financial management, specializing in auditing,
accounting, financial due diligence and investments management. Mr.
Chan graduated from The Chinese University of Hong Kong with a first
class honours degree in Bachelor of Business Administration. Mr. Chan is a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
Chartered Financial Analyst. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chan was the
chief financial officer of a Hong Kong based family office. Mr. Chan had
worked in Big 4 international accounting firms, Arthur Andersen & Co.
Hong Kong, PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd. and PricewaterhouseCoopers
Consultants (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. Shanghai Branch for about 15 years.

Mr. YU Mingming, aged 44, is the Group’s Vice President and Business
Management Division’s President, General Manager of Qianlong Logistics,
Secretary of Party Branch, currently in charge of Business Management
Division and Qianlong Logistics. Mr. Yu joined our Group in June 2017 as
the General Manager of Qianlong Logistics Group Limited, and was
appointed as the Group's Vice President in June 2021. He assists in overall
operation of the Group and is responsible for the overall operation and
management of Qianlong Logistics Group Limited. Mr. Yu graduated from
Shanghai Maritime University with a Bachelor degree in Logistics
Management and subsequently graduated from the Economics and
Management School of Wuhan University with an EMBA degree. Mr. Yu
was qualified as a Senior Logistician by /#it & A 1 &R ML € R [E =
(Hubei Provincial Department of Human Resources and Social Security*) in
2016. Mr. Yu has extensive experience in investment, operation and
management of logistics parks. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Yu was the
general manager of Southern Region of China Merchants Logistics Group
Limited and an assistant to the general manager of China Merchants
Logistics Group Limited (a subsidiary of China Merchants Group Limited
which is a state-owned backbone enterprise directly administered by the
central government of China with its head office based in Hong Kong).

*  For identification purpose only
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Biographical Details of Directors and Key Management (Continued)

EERTEEEERE (&)

Mr. CHEN Weiguo, aged 55, is the Group’s Vice President, currently in
charge of the Public Affairs Centre. Mr. Chen joined our Group as the
General Manager of CSC Nanning in February 2018. In December 2018,
he was appointed as the Business Management Division’s Executive
Vice President, and was then appointed as President of the Business
Management Division in April 2020. Mr. Chen graduated from Chemistry
Department, Hanshan Normal University. Mr. Chen has extensive
experience in merchants recruitment and management in the wholesale
market. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chen worked as managing director
of China Pearls and Jewellery International City Co., Ltd. (a subsidiary of
Man Sang International Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of
The Hong Kong Stock Exchange, stock code: 938). He had also worked
with Man Hing Industry Development (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd..

Mr. XU Lei, aged 42, the Group’s Vice President, responsible for the
development of business segments, and in charge Centre’'s of Cost
Procurement, Planning and Design, Engineering Management and
Marketing Management. Mr. Xu joined our Group on 5 September 2022
as Assistant President, then served as the Group's Vice President in March
2023. Mr. Xu has 14 years of experience in real estate development and
management, and has extensive experience in design, construction and
sales. Mr. Xu graduated from lJilin Jianzhu University with a Bachelor
degree. Before joining the Group, Mr. Xu served as the chairman of the
Northeast Region of CITIC Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“CITIC Real Estate”) and
worked in CITIC Real Estate for 12 years.

Mr. CHAN Hing Chau, aged 44, has been appointed as the Company
Secretary since 16 August 2021, is responsible for the offshore financing
of the Group, company secretarial duties and investor relations. He has
more than 18 years of extensive experience in financial management,
mergers and acquisitions, corporate governance, company secretarial
matters, and establishing and maintaining investor relations. Mr. Chan
obtained his bachelor’s degree of arts in accountancy and master degree
of Corporate Governance from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
in November 2004 and September 2018 respectively. He is a member
of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Prior to joining
our Group, Mr. Chan was a general manger of finance department of
Redco Holdings (Hong Kong) Co., Limited in March 2013, then served
as a company secretary of Redco Properties Group Limited (it is listed
on the main board of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange with stock code:
1622) from October 2013 to July 2021. Mr. Chan worked for the Big
Four international accounting firm — PricewaterhouseCoopers for about 9

years.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

The Board hereby presents this annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the fiscal year ended 31 March
2023.

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Group are developing and operating
largescale integrated logistics and trade centres in China, and has
developed and been operating eight projects located in Shenzhen,
Nanning, Nanchang, Xi'an, Harbin, Zhengzhou, Hefei and Chongging.
Adhering to its “trade and logistics+” model and focusing on real
business, China South City endeavors to provide an online-and-offline
combined logistics and trade integrated ecosystem for SMEs. Throughout
the years, the Group has evolved a diversified and flexible business model.
As the projects in various places are becoming mature, China South City
has actively been adding new industries and businesses in the respect of
innovation and technology on these project sites, apart from continuously
strengthening the provision and services on residential units, multipurpose
commercial properties, office buildings, commercial complexes, property
management, conference and exhibition facilities, warehousing and
logistics, outlets and financial services. The Group is striving towards the
world-class integrated trade and logistics centre, digital centre, innovation
centre and living centre, and aiming to “Integrating Industries into the
Projects, Building Beautiful New 'City’ Conducive to Work and Life"”.

Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out
under Management Discussion and Analysis as well as in note 1 to the
financial statements of this annual report respectively.

Results and Dividends

The Group's results for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2023 and the state
of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set out under
Chairman Statement as well as in the consolidated financial statements on
pages 168 to 316 of this annual report respectively.

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK2.0 cents
per Share in respect of FY2022/23 (FY2021/22: Nil). Subject to the
approval of the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) at the
forthcoming AGM to be held on 22 September 2023, the proposed final
dividend will be distributed on or before 29 December 2023 to eligible
Shareholders.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
BEEeRE(HE)

Closure of Register of Members

(i

(i)

For the purpose of determining Shareholder’s eligibility to attend,
speak and vote at the AGM on 22 September 2023 (or at any
adjournment of it), the register of members of the Company will be
closed as set out below:

Latest time to lodge transfer
documents for registration with
the Company’s share registrar .. ... .. At 4:30 p.m. on Monday,
18 September 2023

Closure of register of members . .................... Tuesday,
19 September 2023 to

Friday,

22 September 2023

(both days inclusive)

Record date, being the date for
determining Shareholders’ eligibility . .. .............. Friday,
22 September 2023

For the purpose of qualifying Shareholder’s eligibility to proposed
final dividend, subject to the approval of the Shareholders of the
Company at the AGM, the register of members of the Company
will be closed as set out below:

Ex-entitlement to dividend date . .. ...... ... ... ... .. Tuesday,
26 September 2023

Latest time to lodge transfer
documents for registration with
the Company'’s share registrar . ... At 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday,

27 September 2023

EEREROBFERFE

(i

(ii)

REERRHFE2023F9 A2 2 REFAF K
S(HEAMES) URE LETREENE
% RAAREEERERNMBPELFE &
BEFOT

B0 38 P Sk
KRR Z&MBP
BRRAEETH
RERR ... 20239/ 18H
(BH—)
T4K309 Bl
HEiHERmBPERD
FE. ... 202399/ 19H
(Ei—)=
202399 A22H
(EHHR)
(BIEERMX)
sk HEY - BT
BRRERZH. ... 2023F9A22H
(EHA)

AEERRNAERERNEZZRABRE -
RN R B R g /B RE IR KA
Big - ARAEEEREROBFERLFE
FBEHEIIT

BRERFRE ... 20234926 H
(BH—)
B 1B SR E
PN/NE] ) S
BRBEUEELH
BERR ... 2023%9H27H
(EH=)
TF4RF305 Bl

II China South City Holdings Limited ZERHIZRER A A




72

Report of the Directors (Continued)

BEEeRE(HE)
Closure of register of members . ................... Thursday,
28 September 2023 to
Wednesday,

4 October 2023
(both days inclusive)

Record date, being the date for
determining Shareholders’ eligibility . .. .. ........ Wednesday,
4 October 2023

Proposed final dividend
distributiondate. . ........... ... ... ... on or before Friday,
29 December 2023

During the above closure periods, no transfer of shares will be registered.
To ensure the relevant rights of Shareholders, all properly completed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged for registration with the Company's share registrar, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong no later
than the aforementioned latest time.

Business Overview

The business overview of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023
are provided in the Chairman’s Statement, the Management Discussion
and Analysis and the Environmental, Social and Governance Report of this

annual report.

Share Capital
Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the
Year are set out in note 34 to the financial statements.

Reserves

Details of the reserves are disclosed in note 36 to the financial statements.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out in the section headed “Consolidated
Statement of Changes in Equity” and in note 46 to the financial
statements, respectively.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
BEEeRE(HE)

Distributable Reserves

Details of the Company'’s reserves available for distribution as at 31 March
2023, calculated in accordance with Part 6 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), amounted to
approximately HK$307.1 million (31 March 2022: HK$336.7 million
was retained for daily operation of the Company), of which HK$228.8
million, subject to the adjustment with the number of shares which may
be allotted after the date of this report but before the date of book close,
has been proposed as final dividend for the fiscal year under review, are
disclosed in note 12 to the financial statements.

Debts Securities

Details of the outstanding senior notes issued by the Company during the
Year are disclosed in the section headed “Issuance of Notes” and note 30
to the financial statements.

Details of outstanding medium-term notes and domestic company bonds
issued by China South International, a subsidiary of the Company during
the Year are disclosed in the section headed “Issuance of Notes” and
notes 31 and 32 to the financial statements.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Year are set out in note 14 to the financial statements.

Donations
During the Year, the Group did not make donations to any charitable
organizations (FY2021/22: HK$0.02 million).

Subsidiaries
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2023 are
set out in note 1 to the financial statements.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
BEEeRE(HE)

Directors

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report are:

Co-Chairmen*

Mr. Li

Wenxiong (Non-Executive Director)

Mr. Cheng Chung Hing (Executive Director)

Executive Directors**
Ms. Geng Mei (Chief Operating Officer)
Mr. Wan Hongtao (Group’s Vice President)

Mr. Qin Wenzhong (Group’s Financial Controller)

Ms. Cheng Ka Man Carman

Non-Executive Directors***
Mr. Cheng Tai Po

Ms. Shen Lifeng

Ms. Li Aihua

Ms. Deng Jin

Independent Non-Executive Directors****

Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew

Mr. Li

Wai Keung

Mr. Hui Chiu Chung
Ms. Zee Helen
Dr. Li Xu

Notes:

* %

* %

* KKk

* Kk

Mr. Li Wenxiong has been appointed as Co-Chairman with effect from 23
September 2022.

Mr. Cheng Chung Hing has been re-designated from Chairman to Co-
Chairman and continues to serve as Executive Director with effect from 23
September 2022.

Mr. Wan Hongtao has been appointed as Executive Director and the Group's
Vice President with effect from 16 June 2022.

Mr. Qin Wenzhong has been appointed as Executive Director and the
Group's Financial Controller with effect from 16 June 2022.

Mr. Lei Ming resigned as Non-Executive Director with effect from 10 August
2022.

Ms. Shen Lifeng has been appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director
since 16 June 2022, then has been re-designated to Non-Executive Director
from 6 January 2023.
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***  Ms. Li Aihua has been appointed as Non-Executive Director from 16 May
2023.

***%  Ms. Deng Jin has been appointed as Non-Executive Director from 16 May
2023.

**%x Ms. Zee Helen has been appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director
with effect from 6 January 2023.

***% Dr, Li Xu has been appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director with
effect from 16 May 2023.

The Company’s Articles provide rotation and re-election for all Directors.
In accordance with the Articles, at each annual general meeting of the
Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or if their number
is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not
less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation. The Articles also
provide that any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy
on the Board shall hold office only until the next following general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible to offer for re-election,
and any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the Board shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible to offer for re-election.

The Board has received an annual confirmation of independence from
each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Rules governing the Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). The Board considers all Independent Non-

Executive Directors to be independent.

The list of names of all Directors who have served on the boards of the
subsidiaries of the Company up to the date of this report is available on
the Company’s website.
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Directors’ Service Contracts

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into service contract with the
Company while each of the Non-Executive Directors and Independent
Non-Executive Directors has entered into letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years. The service contract and the letter of
appointment may be terminated by either party thereto by giving not less
than one month’s prior written notice.

None of the Directors has entered into any service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts of Significance

None of the Directors had a material beneficial interest, whether directly
or indirectly, in any significant contract to which the Company or any
of its subsidiaries, its holding companies or a subsidiary of its holding

companies was a party during the Year or as at 31 March 2023.

Biographical Information of Directors and Key
Management

The biographical information of the Directors and Key Management of
the Company is set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors and Key Management” on pages 58 to 69 of this annual report.

Enforcement of the Deed of Non-Competition
Pursuant to the deed of non-competition dated 4 September 2009 (“Non-
Competition Undertaking”) entered into by Mr. Cheng Chung Hing has
undertaken with the Company (for itself and on behalf of each other
member of the Group) that so long as the Company is listed on the Main
Board of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange and so long as:

° in respect of Mr. Cheng Chung Hing, he remains as the controlling
shareholder or a director of the Company;
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
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that he shall not, and shall procure his associates not to, either alone
or jointly with any other person or entity, or for any other person, firm
or company, or as principal, partner, director, employee, consultant or
agent through anybody corporate, partnership, joint venture or other
contractual arrangement, be engaged, invested, or otherwise involved,
whether as a shareholder, director, employee, partner, agent or otherwise,
directly or indirectly, in the carrying on of any business in any form or
manner in China that is in competition or is likely to be in competition,
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group, unless those business
opportunities have been first offered to the Group upon terms which
are fair and reasonable and the Board has declined such opportunities,
in accordance with the provisions of the Non-Competition Undertaking,
Mr. Cheng Chung Hing or his respective associates may pursue such
opportunities.

The Company has received an annual confirmation from Mr. Cheng
Chung Hing confirming his compliance with the Non-Competition
Undertaking during the Year.

Directors’ Emoluments
Particulars of the Directors’ emoluments for the fiscal year ended 31
March 2023 are set out in note 8 to the financial statements.

Directors’ Interests in Competing Business

Save as disclosed above, the Company has received confirmations from
all Directors that none of them have engaged or were interested in any
business which were in competition or were likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group during the Year.
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests in
Securities

As at 31 March 2023 the interests and short positions of the Directors
in the shares of the Company (the “Shares”), underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO")) as recorded in the register maintained by the Company under
section 352 of the SFO or as notified to the Company and The Hong Kong
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") were as follows:

Long Position in the Shares and Underlying Shares
of the Company

EERFETHRAEREZNHES

M2023F3A31H « EERAR A EFAEHEE
(BERFHRBEEG([FEHRIEED ) EXVED)
WARRRG ([ARG]) - BEERG REEBFHEEH
ARRRIRIBEES RPEBRAEI2EBETHFENE
ot SRBE EMEITAESETESFRISNIREST
BI([Z2E<FRI ) ZBANS AR R REBH R ATE R &
KEIAT -

RAERXRARG REEARGHTRE

Approximate

Number of Shares held percentage of

ULV the Company's

Corporate Personal Family Share total number of

Name of Directors Class of Shares interest interest interest options Total issued Shares®

A

BE7

B

ESpE RAER! N fHAER RikER BhRE @t A

Cheng Chung Hing Ordinary Shares 2,306,553,791" - - - 2,306,553,791 20.16%
LN LRk

Cheng Tai Po Ordinary Shares 588,984,145 4,936,000 - - 593,920,145 5.19%
Ly ERER

Geng Mei Share Options - - - 30,000,009 30,000,000 0.26%
i Bihe

Cheng Ka Man Carman Share Options - - - 7,800,000%) 7,800,000 0.07%
BEX Bz

Li Wai Keung Share Options - - - 2,000,000 2,000,000 0.02%
% BiE

Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew Share Options - - - 2,000,000 2,000,000 0.02%
REE i

Hui Chiu Chung Share Options - - - 2,000,000 2,000,000 0.02%
AR Bz
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BEEeRE(HE)

Notes:

(1) Mr. Cheng Chung Hing is interested in 100% of the issued share capital of
Accurate Gain Developments Limited which in turn holds 2,306,553,791
Shares and is therefore deemed to be interested in the aforesaid
2,306,553,791 Shares. He is the father of Ms. Cheng Ka Man Carman and
the younger brother of Mr. Cheng Tai Po.

2) Mr. Cheng Tai Po is interested in 100% of the issued share capital of
Proficient Success Limited which in turn holds 588,984,145 Shares and is
therefore deemed to be interested in the aforesaid 588,984,145 Shares. He is
the elder brother of Mr. Cheng Chung Hing and the uncle of Ms. Cheng Ka
Man Carman.

(3) The relevant interests are share options granted to Ms. Geng Mei and Ms.
Cheng Ka Man Carman pursuant to the Company’s 2019 Share Option
Scheme adopted on 13 September 2019. Further details of the 2019 Share
Option Scheme are set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” in
this report.

(4)  The relevant interests are share options granted to Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen
Andrew, Mr. Li Wai Keung and Mr. Hui Chiu Chung pursuant to the
Company’s 2009 Share Option Scheme adopted on 4 September 2009.
Further details of the 2009 Share Option Scheme are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme" in this report.

(5) The percentage shareholding is calculated on the basis of 11,441,892,848
Shares issued as at 31 March 2023.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023 to the knowledge of
the Directors, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company
had any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be: (i)
notified to the Company and The Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which the Directors and chief executive were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO); (i) entered in the register kept
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or (iii) notified to
the Company and The Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code.

V//

Bt

(1) B 5 8842 B 55 4 # A Accurate Gain Developments
Limited 2 37T IR AR 100% B D455 - M2 A Al
52,306,553, 791 f&I& 17 - MBS ERR RFFHE Lt
2,306,553, 791 IR fn 2 #E % o (R mE TN T2 R
R EBR R 2 MR o

(2)  HPAER AR5 A A Proficient Success Limited 2 31T
FRZREI100% AR R %S - ek A FIFEE 588,984, 1450%
fefn - BUED SR A 4548 A5 B -3 588,984, 145 A% AR 17
ZAERS o BPASRE £ BEAEL A 2 iR R BB 5 &L
TZIAR -

() AHEZEZIEREAQRN2019F9A13REMNZ
20195 FE R ST 81 T 352 T BN 22+ IR BB 5 304 2 B AR
W 2019F R B 2 E— D BRHNAREZ
[RERRERT &I | —&0 A o

@) HBEZERIERERQAN2009F9H4H R
2009FERERBIMBE TREE AL - TERBEER
FEIR A ST A 2 B AR © 2000 IR AR B 2 — P FF
BENAIRE 2 [ B & —&A -

G5) ABEBDLTHIBENR2023F3A831BE #1772

11,441,892,848M B (515 -

B EXFT B ES 0 M20234F3831H  IBEEFT
- REEERARAFEBITIRABRER A ESE
Al FEE A (F 3 BB A R AR KA S XVER) RIAR D -
HEARGSEEZFRES - (VMRIEE S REEKRDIZE
XVEBE T R EB8H AME AR AR R B BH R AT
KR (PREEZREETRABREES LBEK
PIBR G E e R AR 2= EOKAE) (i)
RREIRIEE S R EE 05352 {5 B 50 8000 & 7o it
R SOAR SRR ETRIZANGARRIRE
PEEERZ P 2 (EfR i ER SR B ©
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Securities

As at 31 March 2023 to the knowledge of the Directors, the following
persons (other than a Director or chief executive of the Company) had or
were deemed or taken to have interests or short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares which were required to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or

FERRAEBSHNER

M2023F3A31H » BEEMA - U TAL(EFXK
ARBEBITBRAEBRIN RO SAABR O T HEE
FWRBHE EREARIEEF M EGRPIEXVERE2
R3DEMEXBRAARRRIRE - KBMARRARIRIEE
F B RDIFEIBHAETHFENECMAEE IR

which were recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to & :
Section 336 of the SFO:
Long Position in the Shares RIRBHEEFE
Approximate
percentage of
Number of the Company’s
Shares or total number
underlying of issued
Name Nature of interest Shares held Shares®
R G RN
EEl ERITROLH
wEEB EEME RIGEE AR
SZCDG Deemed interest in controlled corporation 3,350,000,000 29.28%
FEEEsE WRIER IS EE S
SEZCDHK Deemed interest in controlled corporation 3,350,000,000M 29.28%
FREEEE WARVER I A B e e
SEZCDIH Beneficial owner 3,350,000,000@ 29.28%
R AR EmEAA
Accurate Gain Developments Limited Beneficial owner 2,306,553,791® 20.16%
EmEAA
Tencent Holdings Limited Deemed interest in controlled corporation 955,936,666% 8.35%
fERIEIR B R AR WARVER I I EE e
THL H Limited Beneficial owner 955,936,666% 8.35%
EmEAA
Proficient Success Limited Beneficial owner 588,984,145 5.15%
EmEAA
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
BEEeRE(HE)

Notes:

(1) SEZ Construction & Development International (Hong Kong) LIMITED is
wholly owned by SZCDG (“SEZCDHK").

(2)  SEZ Construction & Development Investment Holding LIMITED is wholly
owned by SEZCDHK (“SEZCDIH").

(3 Mr. Cheng Chung Hing owns 100% of the issued shares capital of Accurate
Gain Developments Limited.

(4) THL H Limited is wholly owned by Tencent Holdings Limited.

(5) Mr. Cheng Tai Po owns 100% of the issued share capital of Proficient
Success Limited.

(6)  The percentage shareholding is calculated on the basis of 11,441,892,848
Shares issued as at 31 March 2023.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, to the knowledge of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company, no other person (other than
a Director or chief executive of the Company) had, or were deemed or
taken to have interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares
which were required to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the

register kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

Information on Share Options

Share Option Scheme

The share option scheme adopted by the Company on 4 September 2009
became effective on 30 September 2009 and expired on 29 September
2019 (the “2009 Share Option Scheme”). In light of the expiration of the
2009 Share Option Scheme, a new share option scheme was adopted by
the shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company held on
13 September 2019, after which the Company obtained a conditional
listing approval for such new share option scheme from The Hong Kong
Stock Exchange (the “2019 Share Option Scheme”).

No options can further be granted under the 2009 Share Option Scheme
which has been expired on 13 September 2019. However, for the
outstanding 48,000,000 share options granted and yet to be exercised
under the 2009 Share Option Scheme remain valid and exercisable
in accordance with the terms of the 2009 Share Option Scheme,
representing approximately 0.42% of the total number of issued Shares
of the Company as at the date of this report.

Bt

(1) HERERBEERER(FE)ARAFHFREEEES
A (IBaEsde]) -

2) HERERBRLEZBRERAFAHFREEEELE
wEe(FagirE) -

(3)  EBANEL S A A Accurate Gain Developments Limited
BEITIRAE100% R mH = o

(4)  THLH Limited BBERUZIRBR AR 2 EHEES -

(5) BB K¥R %A A Proficient Success Limited 2 277 A% /K
#1100% A& (5 i 2 o

6) BAEABEBDLLTIBIER2023F3A31BE#HTZ
11,441,892,848M (515 -

B EXFrIREESN - H2023F3A318 @ BEEHA
RRIEBITHRABA  HEEMA T (ESHAR
AlEZITIRA BRBRIN) ROAR 1) SAARA AR 17 7 A St
BRESEEERBIRIEFS LB GOIEXVIBE2 &3
DEZHBRMARRIREE - RIREES RS GG
FEIBCEHMARNRANFENE LM 2 ERIAE -

EEBERENER

R AEETE

ANA RIF20094F 9 A 4 B R 4 & B AR 4 5+ 21 ([ 2009 F
FERRMERTE])) A 2009F9 A30 A 44K + W HR20194F9
F298 B o 8520094 BEARME 5T &1 HAW - AR R
20199 A13HRITH AR RIRREAF NS HRMNFTHE
RIS EBEANBESEEH AR S ZN
FERRMERT B A A G LTt ([20194F AR &t
EIDE

7201949130 + 2009F BERAER BIE KR IE - HLE
HAB AR R — PR o AT - BE2009F FE AR =1
5B R M R ITE H48,000,000 % BE RS I (AL BB
B HERARBRARE BB EITRMDBEHL
0.42% - I AIARIE20094F FE AR =1 & A IEFRATIE -
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
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2009 Share Option Scheme

The major terms of the 2009 Share Option Scheme were summarized as

follows:

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme was to provide incentives
to eligible persons for their contribution to the Group and to enable
the Group to recruit high-calibre employees and attract human
resources that are valuable to the Group.

The Board may at its discretion grant options to Directors,
employees, officers, agents, consultants or representatives of the
Group.

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all share options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme must not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from
time to time. The total number of Shares in respect of which options
granted under the Share Option Scheme was not permitted to
exceed 10% in nominal amount of the issued Shares as at the date
of commencement of the listing of Shares on The Hong Kong Stock
Exchange unless with the prior approval from the Shareholders.
The Share Option Scheme limit was refreshed at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 21 August 2013. At the date
of this report, the maximum number of the Shares available for
issue upon exercise of all share option are granted under the Share
Option Scheme is 48,000,000 Shares, representing approximately
0.42% of the total number of issued share of the Company as at
the date of this report.

The total number of Shares issued upon the exercise of share
options granted under the Share Option Scheme (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding share options) to each grantee
in any 12-month period up to the date of grant should not exceed
1% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of
grant. Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is
subject to approval of the Shareholders.

The period during which a share option may be exercised would be
determined by the Directors at their absolute discretion, save that
no share option may be exercised more than 10 years after grant.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
BEEeRE(HE)

6. The consideration paid by each grantee for each grant of options is
HK$1.

7. The exercise price in relation to each share option would be
determined by the Directors at their absolute discretion and should
not be less than the highest of: (i) the official closing price of the
Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet of The Hong Kong
Stock Exchange on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing
prices of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets of The
Hong Kong Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Shares on the date of grant.

BEERAAX B TERATRERBRENK

EEM2RBNBERESBRENITEE  ET
BERTNSEENREE  (ROREFE L AH
HEHRBB T A REXRMIIETEHE i)
BOREZRLAMAMAEEXAERTBBR
Prig B3RERMIIFHEHE KGR RE
BB mEE o
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EEE®RE ()

The table below summarized the details of the movements in the share

RN EARRZF2009F A ERT 811X B &

options granted pursuant to the 2009 Share Option Scheme during the  FBRSHEN TR ZA :
Year:
Number of Share Options
BREHE
As at As at
Date of Vesting 1 April Cancelled/  31March  Exercise  Exercisable
Name Grant Period 2022  Granted Exercised Lapsed 2023 Price  Period
R20228F BHE/  R03F
£ RiAH BEH 4418 BEE B %% 3R31H RE s
HKS$
BT
Directors
Bz
Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew  13/4/2018 - 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 181 13/4/2018-12/4/2023
2EE 13/4/2018-12/4/2019 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 181 13/4/2019-12/4/2024
Li Wai Keung 13/4/2018 - 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 181 13/4/2018-12/4/2023
£t 13/4/2018-12/4/2019 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 181 13/4/2019-12/4/2024
Hui Chiu Chung 13/4/2018 - 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 181 13/4/2018-12/4/2023
R 13/4/2018-12/4/2019 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 181 13/4/2019-12/4/2024
Advisers 131120177 - 40,000,000 - - (40,000,000) - 152 3/112017-2/712022
il 3/712017-21712018 40,000,000 - - - 40,000,000 152 3/7/2018-2/7/2023
13/420182 - 1,000,000 - - (1,000,000 - 181 13/4/2018-12/4/2023
13/4/2018-12/4/2019 1,000,000 - - (1,000,000) - 181 13/4/2019-12/4/2024
Employees 22/8/2016 22/8/2016-21/8-2017 5,000,000 - - (5,000,000) - 175 22/8/2017-21/8/2022
B8 22/8/2016-21/8/2018 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 175 22/8/2018-21/8/2023
95,000,000 - - (47,000,000) 48,000,000
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
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Notes:

2019

Mr. Fung Sing Hong Stephen resigned as Vice Chairman of the Group and
Executive Director and has been appointed as Senior Advisor of the Group
with effect from 1 April 2020.

Mr. Yung Wing Ki Samuel was retired as Independent Non-Executive Director
and has been appointed as Honourable Advisor of the Group with effect

from 22 September 2020, until his term expired on 21 September 2022.

Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 35 to the financial
information.

Share Option Scheme

The major terms of the 2019 Share Option Scheme are summarized as

follows:

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives
to eligible participants to contribute to the Company and to enable
the Group to recruit high-calibre employees and attract human
resources that are valuable to the Group.

The Board may at its discretion grant options to Directors (including
executive and non-executive Directors), employees, officers, agents
or consultants of the Company or any subsidiary.

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all share options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and all outstanding options must not exceed 30%
of the Shares in issue from time to time. The total number of Shares
in respect of options which may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the issued Shares on
adoption date that is 810,722,884 Shares. At the date of this
report, the maximum number of the Shares available for issue upon
exercise of all share options which may be granted under the Share
Option Scheme is 730,422,884 Shares, representing approximately
6.38% of the total number of issued Shares of the Company as at
the date of this report.

B EE

1. BEMEAEB202054 81 BB BHIEB BT EFART
EE WEZTAAEERZERER -

2. Bk A E2020E9 B2 AR IETTE
F - WEZTARE ZEEEME202299A218F
HAE BT -

3. BRI B BN B IS5 B M FE35 ©

2019F BB R FEST B

2019 BRI AT Bl E 2 IR T

ZERET B E ERBAER2EEHAKE
EHERL - WEARRE A REBESES KK
AT e

EESARBBAARRREMHERRZE
Z(BRATIERTES)  EE SR
8 - RIEBskEMR D IEARE -

FRB AT 2 BEARAE R A B AR st EIIE T B
BHERARITER 2 A BREETEmA] T3
THRRDAEE - TMSHBBTREEITRMHEE
B)30% ° RIRFEARAE S &I P] T 1% 1 60 i IRAE Py
WRRDEE - NMFHRBRAABH2HE 8T
B 17 9 10% BN 4:810,722,884 fE i% 19 - 1R IEHE
MRS EITA T Al TR H B P BB IR (1T (2
3T IR (D 4281 5 730,422,884 J% % 19+ 48
ERARRRARRE BB EHITRG B EL
6.38% °
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The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon the
exercise of share options granted under the Share Option Scheme
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding share options) to
each grantee in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall
not exceed 1% of the number of shares in issue of the Company as
at the date of grant. Any further grant of share options in excess of
this limit is subject to approval of the Shareholders.

The period during which a share option may be exercised will be
determined by the Directors at their absolute discretion, save that
no share option may be exercised more than 10 years after grant.

The consideration paid by each grantee for each grant of options is
HK$1.

The exercise price in relation to each share option will be
determined by the directors at their absolute discretion and shall
be at least the highest of: (a) the closing price of Shares as stated
in the daily quotation sheets of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange
on the date of grant, which must be a business day; and (b) the
average closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation
sheets of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant.

No further options will be granted under the Share Option Scheme
after the date of expiration. In respect of the options granted and
accepted prior to the date of expiration and not then exercised,
they shall continue to be valid and exercisable subject to and in
accordance with the Share Option Scheme.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
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The table below summarized the details of the movements in the share ~ AZAREE NRE2010F BT 2R HEE AR &
options granted pursuant to the 2019 Share Option Scheme during the BN TR ZA ¢

Year:
Number of Share Options
BREH A
As at As at
Date of Vesting 1 April Cancelled/  31March  Exercise  Exercisable
Name Grant Period 2022  Granted Exercised Lapsed 2023 Price  Period
R2022% BHEE/  H03F
&R RiHAH BES 4A1R BEH Bt %% 3A318 RE s
HKS
BT

Directors
£
Geng Mei 29/6/2021 29/6/2021-28/6/2022 10,000,000 - - - 10,000,000 1.00  29/6/2022-28/6/2026
iig 29/6/2021-28/6/2023 10,000,000 - - - 10,000,000 100 29/6/2023-28/6/2026

29/6/2021-28/6/2024 10,000,000 - - - 10,000,000 1.00  29/6/2024-28/6/2026
Cheng Ka Man Carman ~ 7/2/2020 71212020-6/2/2021 2,600,000 - - - 2,600,000 100 7/2/2021-6/2/2025
B2 7/212020-6/2/2022 2,600,000 - - - 2,600,000 1.00  7/212022-6/2/2025

7/2/2020-6/2/2023 2,600,000 - - - 2,600,000 1.00  7/212023-6/2/2025
Employees 71212020 7/212020-6/2/2021 10,500,000 - - (3,000,000) 7,500,000 1.00  7/212021-6/22025
= 712/2020-6/2/2022 10,500,000 - - (3,000,0000 7,500,000 1.00  7/212022-6/2/2025

71212020-6/2/2023 10,500,000 - - (3,000,000 7,500,000 100 7/2/2023-6/2/2025

29/6/2021 29/6/2021-30/3/2022 25,000,000 - - (5,000,000) 20,000,000 1.00  31/3/2022-30/3/2026

94,300,000 -

(14,000,000) 80,300,000

Note: Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 35 to the financial ~ Bi&E @ BRI FHIBS NI (= B MI7E35 »
information.
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Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debt
Securities

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s
Interests in Securities” and “Information on Share Options” in this report
and in note 35 to the financial statements, at no time during the Year
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors or chief executives of the Company (including their
spouses or children under 18 years of age) to acquire benefits by means
of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

Continuing Connected Transactions

Continuing Connected Transactions in relation to
the Property Management Transactions

On 15 July 2022 (after trading hours), First Asia Pacific Group Company
Limited (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, the
“Vendor"), SZCDG (the “Purchaser”) and the Company entered into an
equity transfer agreement (the “Equity Transfer Agreement”), pursuant to
which the Vendor agreed to sell, and the Purchaser agreed to purchase,
50% equity interest in Shenzhen First Asia Pacific Property Management
Company Limited (the “Target Company”) at a consideration of
RMB1,256,600,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$1,457,656,000).
Completion of the Equity Transfer Agreement took place on 23 December
2022 and the Target Company has ceased to be a subsidiary of the
Company and its financial results are no longer consolidated into the
Group's financial statements.

Pursuant to the Equity Transfer Agreement, upon completion of the Equity
Transfer Agreement, the Company shall (i) engage the Target Company,
its subsidiary and branches (the “Target Group”) to manage all present
and future property projects owned by the Group and (ii) use its best
endeavours to procure the engagement of the Target Group in respect
of the property management of present and future property projects
developed by the Group. Accordingly, the Company and the Target
Company entered into a property management transactions framework
agreement (the “Property Management Transactions Framework
Agreement”) on 15 July 2022 (after trading hours) for the provision of
property management services by the Target Group for the period from
the date of completion of the Equity Transfer Agreement to 31 March
2025.

\\¥\
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Key terms of the Property Management Transactions Framework

Agreement, among others, are set out below:

Date:

Parties:

Term:

Subject matter:

15 July 2022 (after trading hours)

(1) The Company
(2)  The Target Company

Effective from the date of completion of the Equity
Transfer Agreement to 31 March 2025 (both days
inclusive), subject to termination as agreed by both
parties

Property management services from the Target
Group to the Group, including security, cleaning
service, customer service, maintenance of order,
parking management, equipment and facility
maintenance, pre-delivery consultancy services,
sales office coordination, gardening and road
maintenance and polishing services (the “Property
Management Transactions”).

The following table sets out the annual caps for the Property Management

Transactions:

YE RS R E B IEK(EP e &85 T

FIA977

HAMR -

(EEREE

202297158 (X 5 EEE)

(1 ARA
2 BEAA

B R A E A E2025
FIANB(BREREMR) LA
M RIKIE TR E R TAR L

BEEERASEREEERS -
BB - BPIRS - IR
FEERE  RBMREEERE
RIEAIN AFEH -~ SHERSEA -
& B A M S L E Y E B IR IR
(MERBRS]) -

TREINMERBRZNFE LR

For the year ended For the year ending For the year ending
31 March 2023

31 March 2024

31 March 2025

HZE20235F 8%20245% HZE20255
3A31BLLEE 3A31BLLEE 3A31BLLFEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT &L FHT
309,100 399,400 393,300

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the total amounts payable by the

Group to the Target Group under the Property Management Transactions

Framework Agreement amounted to HK$84,489,000, which was within
the annual cap of HK$309,100,000 for the same period.

HZE2023F3 310 IEFE - AEEREVE RS
HIEM B IZEE L N 4R%E 584,489,000/8 T © #ZE
AR B E BR 309,100,000 2 A °
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Upon completion of the Equity Transfer Agreement, the Target Company
became a subsidiary of the Purchaser, which is a substantial shareholder
of the Company. Accordingly, the Property Management Transactions
constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. As one or more of the applicable
percentage ratios in respect of the annual caps for the Property
Management Transactions exceed 5%, the Property Management
Transactions are subject to the reporting, annual review, announcement
and independent shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

Details of the above have also been disclosed in the circular of the
Company dated 24 August 2022. Independent shareholders of the
Company have approved the Property Management Transactions at the
extraordinary general meeting held on 9 September 2022.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the Independent Non-
Executive Directors of the Company have conducted an annual review of
the continuing connected transactions as disclosed above, and confirmed
to the Board that they have been entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms; and (i)
in accordance with the terms of the Property Management Transactions
Framework Agreement (including the relevant pricing policies) on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a

whole.

The Company’s independent auditor was engaged to report on the
Group's continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 "Auditor’s Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules" issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
The auditor has issued its unqualified letter containing the findings and
conclusions in respect of the Group’s continuing connected transactions
as disclosed above in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.
A copy of the independent auditor’s letter has been provided by the
Company to the Stock Exchange.
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Continuing Connected Transactions in Xi‘an

On 16 December 2022 (after trading hours), China South City Group Co.,
Ltd. (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, the “Seller”),
China South International Industrial Materials City (Shenzhen) Co.,
Ltd. (a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, “China South
International”), Shenzhen Shenji No.1 Industrial Park Investment and
Operation Co., Ltd. (the “Subscriber”) and Xi'an China South City Co.,
Ltd. (the “Target Company”) entered into an investment agreement (the
“Investment Agreement”), pursuant to which the Subscriber agreed to
subscribe, and the Target Company agreed to issue 2,262,938,726 new
shares in the Target Company at a consideration of RMB5,000,000,000.

On 21 December 2022, China South International and the Target
Company entered into supplemental agreements to each of a construction
project management agreement (the “Construction Project Management
Agreement”), a marketing management and brand licensing agreement
(the “Marketing Management and Brand Licensing Agreement”) and a
supporting services agreement (the “Supporting Services Agreement”)
(together, the Continuing Transactions Agreements”), such that the expiry
date of each of these agreements has been extended from 31 December
2023 to 31 December 2025.

() Construction Project Management Agreement
The principal terms of the Construction Project Management
Agreement, among others, are set out below:

Date: 25 February 2021 (as amended on 21
December 2022)
Parties: (i) China South International; and

(i) the Target Company.
Remaining term:  For the period from the date of completion of
the Investment Agreement to 31 December
2025
Subject matter: Construction project management and
consultancy services, including, among others,
authorisation to use the product design system
and the intelligent fine decoration design
and management system, construction cost
management, construction quality control,
construction technology management, full-cycle
customer management and other supporting
consultancy services related to the operation of
construction projects of the Target Company
(the “Construction Project Management
Services").

V//

AREERERS
R2022F 12 816 B (X SRFEE) » FEHEEAR

AR RERBOEEZENB AR -

[&75]) %

MERTERABCRIDBRAR (AR RANER
2EMBAR  [EFHERER])  FINTRESHRE
XERKEELARQR([REN ) BERERMK
BR2R(TBRAR DRI EREHHR(TRER

&) B

REITRAERBEMABERRR BT

BiZ A AIAY2,262,938, 726 ¥l 1D - REAARE

5,000,000,0007T °

M2022F12 4218 - EEBEBRHEBFERRIBER L
MEEIEE SR ([ 2EEE TR HR]) - EHEE
B AEEEE ([ EHEEERRERERR DK
EERBHZ(EERBHZ] (ERBIFEX S0
FDEEEIT THAME  CREHENIAER
202312 A31BEE E2025512H318

0

BEHEEER
BEBEBEEBENEZGER (AT EE)HT

T

HE:

RIAI77 -

RIGRHARR -

RHYFIA -

2021492 A25H (742022412
A21B&E7])

() EmEERK: &

(i) BREAR-

B R E B EAE = 20254
12 A31H I-8fE

BEABHEEREARS - &
FEEREEAEMRST RS
AR EBEREERITRERR
HoBIKAER BIEE
= EIEMERE - 2EH
BEFEFERREBIRARERLRIE
BiEEAHMEMRBERMR
B ([2EEE EERIE)) ©

China South City Holdings Limited ZERHIZRER A A

91




92

Report of the Directors (Continued)

EEE®RE ()

(I) Marketing Management and Brand Licensing Agreement

The principal terms of the Marketing Management and Brand

Licensing Agreement, among others, are set out below:

Date:

25 February 2021 (as amended on 21

December 2022)

Parties: (i)

(ii)

Remaining term:

China South International; and
the Target Company.

For the period from the date of completion of

the Investment Agreement to 31 December

2025

Subject matter: (i)

(ii)

ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23 3§

Marketing management and
consultancy services including,
among others, marketing and public
relations management, client and
partner management, marketing
training, marketing planning and other
consultancy services related to the
operation of construction projects of the
Target Company; and

Brand licensing services, including
the grant of (a) the right to use the
trademarks registered by China South
International for marketing purposes; (b)
the right to incorporate “China South
City” in the registered name of the
Target Company; and (c) the right to use
the achievements and recognitions of
China South International for marketing
and business negotiation purposes (the
“Marketing Management and Brand
Licensing Services”).
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(I)  Supporting Services Agreement

The principal terms of the Supporting Services Agreement, among

others, are set out below:

Date:

Parties:

Remaining term:

Subject matter:

25 February 2021 (as amended on 21
December 2022)

(i) China South International; and
(i) the Target Company.

For the period from the date of completion of
the Investment Agreement to 31 December
2025

Supporting consultancy services in relation to,
among others, human resources administrative
management, finance management, legal
management and risk management related
to the projects of the Target Company (the
“Supporting Services” and, together with
the Construction Project Management
Services and the Marketing Management and
Brand Licensing Services, the “Continuing
Transactions”).

The following table sets out the annual caps for the Continuing

Transactions:

) EWERKHZ
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For the
year ending
31 March 2023,

For the

nine months
from 1 April 2025
to 31 December

2024 and 2025 2025

BE H2025%F

20234 AATHREZE

20244 - 20255 20254

3A31HLEFE  12A31BEA

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T R ARETTT

Construction Project Management Services #2818 B &R 45,864 34,398
Marketing Management and Brand Licensing % & 38 K (& KR IR 1 AR 75

Services 93,413 70,059

Supporting Services BLERRTS 23,100 17,325
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The Subscriber is held as to 90% by Guangdong Shenji Huayuan Equity
Investment Limited Partnership, a limited partnership in which Shenzhen
Infrastructure Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen
Infrastructure Investment”) is a general partner and, through its direct
wholly-owned subsidiary Shenzhen Shenji Pengcheng Investment
Development Co., Ltd., is interested as to 100% of the equity interest as a
limited partner. Shenzhen Infrastructure Investment is a direct non-wholly
owned subsidiary of SZCDG. As a result, the Subscriber is also a connected
person of the Company by virtue of being an associate of SZCDG.

Upon completion of the Investment Agreement, the Target Company
would be held as to 69.35% by the Subscriber and 30.65% by the Seller,
respectively, and the Target Company would cease to be a subsidiary
of the Company and become a subsidiary of the Subscriber, which
is an associate of a connected person of the Company. Accordingly,
upon completion of the Investment Agreement, the Continuing
Transactions would become continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. As one or more
of the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the annual caps for
the Continuing Transactions exceed 0.1% but are all below 5%, the
Continuing Transactions would be subject to the reporting, annual review
and announcement requirements but exempt from the circular and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

Details of the above have also been disclosed in the circular of the
Company dated 17 January 2023.

As completion of the Investment Agreement had not taken place as at
31 March 2023, the Target Company was still a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, and the Continuing Transactions still did not constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules on that date.
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Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed Securities

During the Year, the Company only has repaid the senior notes with
an aggregated principal amount of US$100.305 million upon maturity.
Details are set out in the section headed “Senior Notes” and notes to the

financial statements.

Save as disclosed above and notes to the financial statements, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any
of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

Bank Borrowings
Details of the Group’s bank borrowings as at 31 March 2023 are set out
in note 29 to the financial statements.

Major Customers and Suppliers

The aggregate sales to the five largest customers of the Group accounted
for less than 10% (FY2021/22: 30%) of the Group’s total sales and
sales to the largest customer accounted for less than 10% (FY2021/22:
20%) of the Group’s total sales for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2023.
The aggregate purchases from the five largest suppliers of the Group
accounted for approximately 30% (FY2021/22: 22%) of the Group’s
total purchases and purchases from the largest supplier accounted for
approximately 12% (FY2021/22: 7%) of the Group's total purchases for
the fiscal year ended 31 March 2023.

None of the Directors, their associates, or any Shareholders which to the
knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company's total
number of issued Shares has any interests in the Group’s five largest
suppliers or customers.

Corporate Governance

The Company is committed to achieving high standard of corporate
governance. Detailed information on the Company’s corporate
governance principles and practices are set out in the Corporate
Governance Report as contained in this annual report.

Environmental, Social and Governance

The Group is committed to fulfilling its corporate social responsibility in
community affairs, environmental protection and corporate governance
during its business operation in order to achieve its sustainable
development. The Company’s Environmental, Social and Governance
Report is set out in this annual report.
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Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest practicable date
prior to the issue of this report, the Company has maintained a sufficient
public float as required under the Listing Rules.

Five Years' Financial Summary
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five fiscal years is set out on pages 56 to 57 of this annual report.

Management Contract

During the Year, no contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed.

Event after the Reporting Period
The event after the reporting period is set out in note 48 to the financial
statements.

Auditor

The financial statements have been audited by Messrs. Ernst & Young who
will retire and being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming AGM. A resolution for the re-appointment of Messrs. Ernst
& Young as auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming
AGM.

For and on behalf of the Board
LI Wenxiong and CHENG Chung Hing
Co-Chairmen

China, 29 June 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CEREABE

The Company recognizes the value and importance of achieving high
standard of corporate governance to enhance the corporate performance
accountability and is committed to doing so. To the best knowledge and
belief of the Directors, the Company has complied with the applicable
code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as
set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules during the Year.

The Board of Directors

Board Composition

As at 31 March 2023, the Board comprises twelve Directors, including five
Executive Directors, three Non-Executive Directors and four Independent
Non-Executive Directors.

Ms. Li Aihua and Ms. Deng Jin have been appointed as Non-Executive
Directors, and Dr. Li Xu has been appointed as Independent Non-Executive
Director with effect from 16 May 2023. Since then, the Board comprises
fifteen Directors, including five of each of Executive Directors, Non-
Executive Directors and Independent Non-Executive Directors.

The brief biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Biographical Details of the Directors and Key Management” on
pages 58 to 69 of this annual report.

Independent Non-Executive Director

During the Year, the Board has at all times met the requirements of
Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three Independent Non-Executive Directors and
representing at least one-third of the board with at least one Independent
Non-Executive Director possessing appropriate professional qualifications,
or accounting or related financial management expertise.

During the Year, all existing Independent Non-Executive Directors have
made an annual confirmation of independence in accordance with
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that each of the
Independent Non-Executive Directors to be independent.
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Role and Function

The Board is responsible for overall strategic formulation and performance
monitoring of the Group. It delegates day-to-day operations of the
Group to the Executive Directors and key senior management within the
control and authority framework set by the Board. In addition, the Board
has also delegated various responsibilities to the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. Further details
of these committees are set out in this annual report.

Relationship between Directors

Mr. Cheng Tai Po is an elder brother of Mr. Cheng Chung Hing and
the uncle of Ms. Cheng Ka Man Carman, whereas Ms. Cheng Ka Man
Carman is the daughter of Mr. Cheng Chung Hing.

Change in Information of Directors

The change in the information of Directors since the publication of the
2022/23 interim report up to the date of this annual report is set out
below pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules:

o Ms. Shen Lifeng has been re-designated from an Independent
Non-Executive Director to a Non-Executive Director and ceased to
serve as a member of each of the nomination committee and the
remuneration committee of the Company. She remains to be a
member of the audit committee of the Company with effect from 6
January 2023.

o Ms. Zee Helen has been appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director and a member of each of the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the Company with
effect from 6 January 2023.

o Ms. Li Aihua has been appointed as a Non-Executive Director with
effect from 16 May 2023.

o Ms. Deng Jin has been appointed as a Non-Executive Director with
effect from 16 May 2023.

o Dr. Li Xu has been appointed as an Independent Non-Executive
Director and a member of each of the Nomination Committee and
the Remuneration Committee of the Company with effect from 16
May 2023.
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Compliance with the Model Code for Securities BIFEEETESFR S ZBETA
Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as a code of conduct of AAREHMNIZESTE]  {EARRNBEZHETELR
the Company for Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific =~ ZHIZ%E « KRQRIE A2 EE S AEERE @ &
enquiry of all Directors, the Directors have complied with the required ~ EREZ2023F3A31A L BFERESREA—&H
standard set out in the Model Code throughout the relevant period of — ESFZESFRIFFE AR FE AR - A K AT sLEE GRF
the fiscal year ended 31 March 2023. Employees who are, or likely to be, ~ ANARIHEBR MDA R AMREHFHZE R EE TSR
in possession of unpublished price sensitive information in relation to the ~ ZEHIHIRE B AR TR °

Company or its Shares are required to prohibit from dealing in shares of

the Company during the black-out period.

Board Meetings EEgER
During the Year, four Board meetings were convened by the Company. WRAFERN @ AARHBANAEECSH  EFC
The attendance of the Directors at the Board meetings was as follows: FHERNESLEBEINAT
Number of
Attendance/
meeting held®
HE BT
Directors == BRXEO
Co-Chairmen BEEE
Mr. Li Wenxiong (Non-Executive Director) BN EGERTTEE)D 22
Mr. Cheng Chung Hing (Executive Director)? BRNIR S A (B 77 EE )P 4/4
Executive Directors HITES
Ms. Geng Mei (Chief Operating Officer) Bkige (B & 482 4/4
Mr. Wan Hongtao (Group's Vice President)® ERBRE(FEEEE) 4/4
Mr. Qin Wenzhong (Group’s Financial Controller)® BB (R A ) 4/4
Ms. Cheng Ka Man Carman BiF 3+ 4/4
Non-Executive Directors FHITESE
Mr. Cheng Tai Po B RRATAE 4/4
Mr. Lei Ming® EIS A 2/2
Ms. Shen Lifeng® FRREE 22 +© 4/4
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIYFHTES
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew REEFRE 4/4
Mr. Li Wai Keung EXEL P 4/4
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung PR A 4/4
Ms. Zee Helen® B3 0/0
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEERRE (H)

Notes:

Q)

(©)

)

(©)

(6)

@)

®)

Mr. Li Wenxiong has been appointed as Co-Chairman and Non-Executive
Director with effect from 23 September 2022.

Mr. Cheng Chung Hing has been re-designated from Chairman to Co-
Chairman and continues to serve as Executive Director with effect from 23
September 2022.

Mr. Wan Hongtao has been appointed as Executive Director and the Group's
Vice President with effect from 16 June 2022.

Mr. Qin Wenzhong has been appointed as Executive Director and the
Group's Financial Controller with effect from 16 June 2022.

Mr. Lei Ming resigned as Non-Executive Director with effect from 10 August
2022.

Ms. Shen Lifeng has been appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director
since 16 June 2022, and then has been re-designated to Non-Executive
Director on 6 January 2023.

Ms. Zee Helen has been appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director
with effect from 6 January 2023.

The attendance figure represents actual attendance/the number of meetings
such director is entitled to attend.

The Directors are provided with agenda and Board meeting materials

related to the agenda before the meeting. They can access to the senior

management and the company secretary of the Company at all time and,

upon

reasonable request, seek independent professional advice at the

Company'’s expense.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEERRE (H)

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into service contract with the
Company while each of the Non-Executive Directors and the Independent
Non-Executive Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years, subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at annual general meeting of the Company.

The Company's Articles provide retirement by rotation and re-election
for all Directors. In accordance with the Articles, at each annual general
meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being,
or if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation.
The Articles also provide that any Director appointed by the Board to fill
a casual vacancy on the Board shall hold office only until conclusion of
the next following general meeting of the Company and shall then be
eligible to offer for re-election, and any Director appointed by the Board
as an addition to the Board shall hold office only until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible to
offer for re-election/election. Accordingly, seven Directors, namely, Mr. Li
Wenxiong, Ms. Cheng Ka Man Carman, Ms. Li Aihua, Ms. Deng Jin,
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew, Ms. Zee Helen and Dr. Li Xu will retire
from office and are eligible to offer themselves for re-election/election at
the forthcoming AGM of the Company.

Chairman (Co-Chairmen) and Chief Executive Officer
To ensure a balance of power and authority, the roles of the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer are segregated. Since 23 September 2022,
Mr. Li Wenxiong has been appointed as Co-Chairman and Non-Executive
Director, Mr. Cheng Chung Hing has been re-designated from Chairman
to Co-Chairman and continues to serve as Executive Director that they
provided leadership for the Board jointly and ensured the proper and
effective functioning of the Board in the discharge of its responsibilities,
while Ms. Geng Mei, Executive Director and Chief Operating Officer of
the Group has taken up the daily operation management until a suitable
candidate to take up the vacancy of Chief Executive right after the
resignation of Mr. Zhao Lidong from 16 August 2021.

ZERERES
EPTEFCEARRTLRBEAD - MEIFRTE
ERBEUFHTEFCRIARTIEER - A=
F o HAREET  YRAARNRRAFAE LS
JBIB(E -

ARRERRAELREFTARFRERERET - &
BREMRE  NARAZERREAFAGL  ER=2
Z—HEFR(HMABLIF==MEH - ABRE
MERDPR=0 2 —HAR) BRFERE - ERTMR
EEMHEEERANEETER R ERESEREE
B REHEEERRR NABRRARGTE - B
NEERBRELT: MEMNHEFERENESIUE
REEFGMENRE  REHEEEARF TRERE
FRE  EREHEERERELT ER - Al - F
NEESLE - BRNALE - FEELL  BELLE R
BESE  HERLRFRELELREERRE
YHEEBRNARAEERREFRS EREE

FEBMEEXE) RITRAER
RERENRBETE  ERRTRARNBRERN
[E5 - B20229F9A23H » FELERZT BIEE
FREFRIIFPTES  MPRFTEREEATRBE
TRVEERETNTES  BEVENEEEES -
URREFSNBEITHEBEREERERUNEE -
SERTEERESBIINELTE2021F8A16H
RESEYREEBHIENBEEBER BEEEE
BERITRERNERILE -
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEERRE (H)

Board Committees

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, to handle particular responsibilities of the Board and the
Company’s affairs. All board committees of the Company are established
with specific written terms of reference which have been published
at the websites of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the Company
respectively. The board committees are provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is responsible for the review and supervision of the
Group's financial reporting process, risk management and internal control
system and review of the Company’s financial statements. The written
terms of reference are in line with the provisions under the CG Code and
the roles and the responsibilities delegated to the Audit Committee by the
Board, which include to determine the appropriate corporate governance
practices applicable to the Group’s circumstances and to ensure processes
and procedures are in place to achieve the Group’s corporate governance
objectives.

As at 31 March 2023, the Audit Committee consists of three Independent
Non-Executive Directors and one Non-Executive Director including Mr. Li
Wai Keung as chairman, Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew, Mr. Hui Chiu
Chung and Ms. Shen Lifeng. During the Year, two Audit Committee
meetings were held to review the FY2021/22 annual results and the
FY2022/23 interim results of the Group before submission to the Board.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEERRE (H)

During FY2022/23, the Audit Committee had reviewed the risk
management and internal control system, connected transactions, interim
results and annual results of the Group and the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group. The attendance of the Directors at the
Audit Committee meetings was as follows:

R2022/23BEE - ERZBECEHAKENR
BRARMEERL  BERS  hHEEREFEE
AEAREERANETRARED - BEZREEEH
MEFHFEBERDT

Number of
attendance/

meeting held?®

HE BT
Directors BEx BRRH?
Mr. Li Wai Keung (Chairman) RMERLE(FE) 2/2
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew REESRE 2/2
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung PR A 2/2
Ms. Shen Lifeng™ FRREEl 22O 2/2

Notes:

(1) Ms. Shen Lifeng has been re-designated from Independent Non-Executive
Director to Non-Executive Director with effect from 6 January 2023.

(2) The attendance figure represents actual attendance/the number of meetings
such director is entitled to attend.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making recommendations
on Directors’ and senior management’s remuneration and other benefits.
The remuneration of all Directors and senior management is subject to
regular monitoring by the Remuneration Committee so as to ensure that
the level of their remuneration and compensation are reasonable. The
specific written terms of reference are in line with the provisions of the
CG Code.

As at 31 March 2023, the Remuneration Committee consists of three
Independent Non-Executive Directors, one Non-Executive Director and
one Executive Director including Mr. Li Wai Keung as chairman, Mr. Leung
Kwan Yuen Andrew, Ms. Zee Helen, Mr. Li Wenxiong and Mr. Cheng
Chung Hing.

V//

(1) HEBEXZTHE2023F1 A6 EEBY IFRNITESAT
BIEWITES -

Q) HEEFREFERLFEHSENRBREEER
HEEZNHE

e B
FHEZESAERESRSRERABSHM KL MR
MRhER - FHEZE S THMEREBESTLSLE
BEASNHH  BRESOFHKEREEBSHE -
HEmBEaET e EaTRHE -

BZE2023F3A310 - FNEE 2B =B IIEHNT
B —HIIRTEETR—BITEREK - BEF
BREE(ER)  BREESRE BT - UK
BB IR A o
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The primary goal of the Group’s remuneration policy for Executive AEEBMRITEETHMEREZ BN AELRR AW
Directors is to enable the Company to retain and motivate Executive ~EEBHIEEFEEMNEARREAEENDEBZMN
Directors by linking their compensation with their individual performance A& ¥R - RINZEEAIALEMSEN © L%
as measured against the Group’s corporate objectives and operating B NMHBEIHITESE - ITEENFHFBIERIEE
results, taking into account also the comparable market conditions. The — AR¥r& BN NI TE L - L EBIRETZINMHE
principal elements of the remuneration package of an Executive Director ~ #if&7F|  FJEMITE R (BIEBI IFNITE S ) BN =
include basic salary, performance and/or discretional bonus, participation EBEEEHNEN2EBIETE YHEFELS
in the Share Option Scheme and other benefits. The remuneration of BESMNBENAIEALETSBEREETE -
Non-Executive Directors (including Independent Non-Executive Directors)

includes mainly the director’s fee and participation in the Share Option

Scheme which is a matter for the Board to decide by reference to their

duties and responsibilities and the comparable market conditions.

During the Year, one Remuneration Committee meeting was held to  RAFEER > GEA—XFHEESSH - UEHA
review the structure of the remunerations for Directors of the Company A REENHIEREARBEBREAZIRTESH
and the grant of share options under the Share Option Scheme to Director ~BIEEE - HFMEZESeZNESHFEBROT

of the Company. The attendance of the Directors at the Remuneration

Committee meeting was as follows:

Number of
attendance/
meeting held®

HE BT
Directors = BREREO
Mr. Li Wai Keung (Chairman) FMEWFE(FE) 7
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew REESLE 11
Ms. Shen Lifeng™ FRREEl 22O 0/0
Ms. Zee Helen®@ R L@ 0/0
Mr. Li Wenxiong S E 11
Mr. Cheng Chung Hing LN 1”1

Notes: MIE

(1) Ms. Shen Lifeng ceased to be a member of each of the Remuneration (1) HEEZTE2023F1 A6 THRIFMEE 2 KR
Committee and the Nomination Committee with effect from 6 January 2023. HEEGHE -

(2)  Ms. Zee Helen has been appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director ~ (2)  %®BEZ T E2023F1 A6 AREZE LB IFNTESE
and a member of each of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination FEMNEZEGRREEEERKE -
Committee with effect from 6 January 2023.

(3)  The attendance figure represents actual attendance/the number of meetings ~ (3) HESFAEFERLEEHESZNRBREEER
such director is entitled to attend. LEEENEA -
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The remuneration of the senior management (excluding Directors) by
band for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2023 is set out below:

HZE2023F3A3HILEHRFE aRERAE(T
BREER)ZHHSENENT

Number of

persons

Remuneration band E 0 E S| AE
Below HK$ 1,000,000 1,000,000 AT 1
HK$1,000,000 to HK$3,000,000 per annum 41,000,000/ 7T Z 3,000,000 7T 4

Further particulars regarding the directors’ emoluments and the five
highest paid individuals as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix
16 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the financial
statements.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is responsible for making recommendation
on the nomination of Directors with a view that the appointment of
suitable individuals with relevant expertise and experience to enhance
the constitution of the Board and to contribute to the Board. The specific
written terms of reference are in line with the provisions of the CG Code.

As at 31 March 2023, the Nomination Committee comprises three
Independent Non-Executive Director, one Non-Executive Director and
one Executive Director, including Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew as
chairman, Mr. Li Wai Keung, Ms. Zee Helen, Mr. Li Wenxiong and Mr.
Cheng Chung Hing. During the Year, the Nomination Committee were
reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board, including the
skill, knowledge, experience and diversity of background of its members,
and the re-designation of senior management of the Company. The
attendance of the Directors at the Nomination Committee meeting was as

ARESMERARERHALTZIEZFHE  BRE
MARRMER N2 RERE - WEN I RRMES
K9 e

REZES
REZESAENEFRBEMES - UZEAREAE
BAERMB M EROEE AR UR(CEFTERER
B REFSFLER HPAREEBESENAE
JASTRIME -

HZE2023F3A31H - RELZEGH=RBE N
B —HINTESR—BNTESFEK - BER
FESRE(ER)  TE®EE  HRELZT -  FTXHE
ERBNFEEE - RAFERN  REZERN TES
BHEE - ABRIBK  BEEFEXENRE A
B EBRRESHNEZEN  URARARSREERE
A - REZEGEZNEFTLRBEANT -

follows:

Number of
attendance/

meeting held®
HE BT

Directors = BRREO
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew (Chairman) REEFEFE) 11
Mr. Li Wai Keung TEBEE 11
Ms. Shen Lifeng® B Z O 0/0
Ms. Zee Helen® R 0/0
Mr. Li Wenxiong LA 11
Mr. Cheng Chung Hing NS 1”1
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Notes:

(1) Ms. Shen Lifeng ceased to be a member of each of the Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee with effect from 6 January 2023.

(2) Ms. Zee Helen has been appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director
and a member of each of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee with effect from 6 January 2023.

3) The attendance figure represents actual attendance/the number of meetings
such director is entitled to attend.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity by adopting a board
diversity policy which stipulates that when identifying individuals
suitably qualified to become Directors, the Nomination Committee will
consider the benefits of all aspects of diversity, including but not limited
to a number of factors, such as age, race, cultural and educational
background, professional and business-related experience, reputation of
candidates for integrity and his/her accomplishment, skills, knowledge and
length of service, in order to maintain an appropriate range of balance
of skills, experience and background on the Board. The appointments of
Directors will be based on meritocracy and take into account the aforesaid
factors as a whole for the benefits of the Company, as well as the
business model and specific needs of the Company from time to time.

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance

During the Year, the Company arranged appropriate Directors’ and
Officers’ liabilities insurance coverage in respect of legal action against its
Directors and officers.
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Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board is responsible for overseeing the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and reviewing its effectiveness.
A defined management structure with specified limits of authority and
responsibilities is developed for safeguarding assets against unauthorized
use or disposition, the maintenance of proper accounting records for
the provision of reliable financial information for internal use or for
publications and the compliance of applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Group has established an internal audit department to perform
regular financial and operational reviews and recommend necessary
actions to the relevant management. The works carried out by the internal
audit department ensure the risk management and internal control
systems are in place and function properly as intended. The results of the
internal audit and reviews are reported to the Executive Directors and
Audit Committee of the Company.

For the annual review on the risk management and internal control,
the Audit Committee considered the internal control report and risk
management report were satisfied as to effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems. There were no matters of
material concerns relating to financial, operational or compliance control.
The Board is satisfied with the adequacy and the effectiveness of the
systems of the risk management and internal control of the Group during
the Year.

Independent Auditor’'s Remuneration

The Group's independent auditor are Messrs. Ernst & Young. During
the last three years, the Group did not change any independent auditor.
For FY2022/23, the remuneration paid and payable by the Group to the
independent auditor in respect of audit and non-audit services provided
by them were as follows:

R\ B T ) R BR EE 4
EESREAEEZRERERENABEZERS - Uik
AMEAMIE - ARBEHERARMENEIRRE X
RIABERELBE A EAEEEERSEEE
E - RESZEGIRCE  WRHTEBERMH
WEMER L TIE - WETERED - RANOER -

REBRENEBEZE - AE T MBS R
o YAEREEABZZEMFTTE - REPEZEDM
FRETTE TIE S RERAREE R ARBERE R REE
HWAETT - WIREEREB RUESE - ARRER MEHM
BREAARFPTEEREZZEERS -

iR R AR B FEEMME - BREESER
MBS MARERRE - WEAREEER K
NEERARBERN - EXEFENE  ELHER
ERmAESERINER EFREMAREEREKEF
ERRBREIENMAREE RSB R AR BRI -

BB e
REBMABLAABE ALK GTMEBA - /A=
F o AEEREERELAZEAEN o #E2022/2381F
€ - NEB B ZBE R IR B RIEEX
RSN REMOBSOT

HK$'000
THAT

Audit and review services

3,680
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Directors’ Responsibility

Every newly appointed Director will receive briefings and comprehensive
induction on appointment to ensure understanding of the Directors’
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
regulatory requirements. Directors are encouraged to participate in
continuous professional development to refresh their knowledge and skills
and the Company would organize appropriate directors’ training to help
ensure they are apprised of the role, functions and duties being a director
of the Company.

The Directors are aware that they should give sufficient time and attention
to the affairs of the Company and they are continually adapted with
regulatory developments and business development of the Group to
discharge their responsibilities. The Directors’ knowledge and skills are
continuously developed and refreshed by, inter alia, the following means:

(1)  Attending training session organized by and/or reading materials
provided by the Company, which included but not limited to legal
and regulatory changes and matters relevant to the Directors in
discharging their duties, including the laws, rules and regulations
relating to the corporate governance;

(2)  Participating in continuous professional training seminars/
conferences/courses/workshops on subjects relating to directors’
duties and corporate governance, and rules and regulatory
changes, organized by the other companies, professional bodies or
government authorities; and

(3)  Reading news, journals, magazines or other reading materials from
time to time as regards legal and regulatory changes, economics
and matters relevant to the Directors in discharging their duties.
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RIBREE SRS - 8 22023F3A31H -
BEELEZEYIINT

According to the records provided by the existing Directors, the Directors
received the following trainings as at 31 March 2023:

Type of Training

Directors = EIER
Co-Chairmen BEERE

Mr. Li Wenxiong (Non-Executive Director) BN (FHITESE) (1) and X (3)
Mr. Cheng Chung Hing (Executive Director) BN ST (BT EE) (1) and X (3)
Executive Directors HITES

Ms. Geng Mei (Chief Operating Officer) Mgzt (#E&£8H) (1) and % (3)
Mr. Wan Hongtao (Group's Vice President) BRELE(EEEEE) (1) and} (3)
Mr. Qin Wenzhong (Group’s Financial Controller) B R EE (YA (1) and % (3)
Ms. Cheng Ka Man Carman B g+ (1) and%& (3)
Non-Executive Directors FHTESE

Mr. Cheng Tai Po BN ¥R (1) and % (3)
Ms. Shen Lifeng HERZT (1) and % (3)
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIYFHTES

Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew REERE (1), (2) and % (3)
Mr. Li Wai Keung TEEEE (1) andX (3)
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung SRR A (1), 2) and % (3)
Ms. Zee Helen Rt (1) and X (3)

Directors’ and Auditor’s Responsibilities for the EERAEARMBBRRAENEE
Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the — # % [ #Z S{Fl T 32 H ¥ /R U AN 62 [ 2022/23 0 I &
HRAMBHRENET  YEEBEATHRTLERG

EAmEL -

consolidated financial statements of the Group for FY2022/23 which
were prepared in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable
accounting standards.

RRRVBMIZBAE AN LGS M IEHREROBRET
HRFE161 2167 BB ZERHER -

The reporting responsibility of the independent auditor of the Company
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group is set out in the
independent auditor’s report on pages 161 to 167.
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Company Secretary

Mr. Chan Hing Chau has been the Company Secretary of the Company
since 16 August 2021. He is a full time employee of the Company with
professional qualifications and extensive experience, and has adequate
working knowledge on the Company to discharge his duty as the
Company Secretary. During the Year, Mr. Chan confirmed that he has
received relevant professional training of not less than 15 hours to update
his skills and knowledge.

Communication with Shareholders and Noteholders
The 2023 AGM of the Company to be held at Kowloon Room, Mezzanine
Floor, Kowloon Shangri-La, Hong Kong Hotel, 64 Mody Road, Tsim Sha
Tsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong on Friday, 22 September 2023 at 2:30

p.m.

The Company believes that effective communication with shareholders,
noteholders and other investment communities is essential. During the
Year, the Executive Directors, Chief Financial Officer and team of investor
relations of the Group held regular briefings, press conferences and
analyst meetings of interim and annual results, attended investor forums
and participated in roadshows, conducted meetings and visits to projects
of the Group with institutional investors and financial analysts in China,
Hong Kong and overseas to keep them abreast of the Group’s business
and development. Investors can also communicate with the Company
through email at ir@chinasouthcity.com.

The shareholders’ meeting provides a useful platform for the shareholders
to exchange views with the Board. The Directors and Chief Financial
Officer of the Group will attend the shareholders’ meetings to answer
the questions raised by the shareholders. Shareholders can also direct
their enquiries and proposals to the Company. The contact details of
the Company are set out in the “Contact Us” section of the Company's
website at www.chinasouthcity.com.

Shareholders’ Right

Pursuant to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), shareholders of the Company holding not less than 5% of the
total voting rights of all the members having a right to vote at general
meeting may request the Directors to call a general meeting. The request
must state the general nature of business to be dealt with at the meeting
and may be sent to the Company in hard copy form or in electronic
form and must be authenticated by the person or persons making it
in accordance with the provisions under sections 566 to 568 of the
Companies Ordinance and the Company's Articles.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EEERES (F)

The attendance of the Directors at the annual general meeting of the

BEEM2022F9A 2B 2 ARNRIREBAFTRER

Company which was held on 22 September 2022 was as follows: HREERAT -
Number of
Attendance/
meeting held®
HE BT
Directors = BRREO
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Cheng Chung Hing (Chairman)"” BN ST (/) 1”1
Ms. Geng Mei (Chief Operating Officer) Bigz+(#E &8 ) 17
Mr. Wan Hongtao (Group's Vice President) BRELE(FEEEEE) 1”1
Mr. Qin Wenzhong (Group’s Financial Controller) BN SE(EE BAEE) 71
Ms. Cheng Ka Man Carman B 52+ 11
Non-Executive Director FHTESE
Mr. Cheng Tai Po BN $ ST 1”1
Independent Non-Executive Directors BAFHTES
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew REESLE 11
Mr. Li Wai Keung FREEE 1”1
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung FTRRAR A 11
Ms. Shen Lifeng®? R 2 +@ 1”1

Notes:

(1

September 2022.

@)

(©)

such director is entitled to attend.

Published documents together with the latest corporate information and

news are available on the Company’s website at www.chinasouthcity.com.

Mr. Cheng Chung Hing has been re-designated from Chairman to Co- (1
Chairman and continues to serve as Executive Director with effect from 23

Ms. Shen Lifeng has been re-designated from Independent Non-Executive  (2)
Director to Non-Executive Director with effect from 6 January 2023.

The attendance figure represents actual attendance/the number of meetings  (3)
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

About this Report

This report is the environmental, social and governance report (the
"Report”) of China South City Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”, “China South City”, “we” or “us”). The
Group has been adhering to the sustainable development philosophy to
create and share sustainable values with its stakeholders in environmental,
economic and social aspects. The Report detailed China South City’s
contribution to sustainability management.

The Report was prepared in accordance with the “Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide” (the “Guide"”) set out by The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Report has
complied with all the “Comply or Explain” provisions of the Guide and
reported on all the recommended disclosures in the Guide.

Reporting Principles
The Group has considered the following reporting principles in preparing
the Report:

o Materiality: The Group identifies the material environmental
and social issues through interviews with the management and
questionnaire surveys targeted at internal and external stakeholders,
as well as evaluating the impact of various environmental, social
and governance issues on the operations of the Group. For more
information, please refer to the “Materiality Assessment” section.

o Quantitative: The Report would perform annual performance
comparison with suitable quantitative data recorded and estimated
by relevant departments of the Group when applicable, and state
the information on the standards, methodologies, assumptions or
calculations wherever appropriate.

o Balance: The information in the Report was mainly derived from
our internal statistical reports, documents and communications for
2022/23. We are committed to providing an unbiased picture of our
performance and fair disclosure of progress and ongoing challenges
in the most critical aspects for the Group’s performance.

o Consistency: The Group uses consistent reporting and calculation
methods, as far as practicable, to facilitate the comparability
of ESG performance between years. In case of any changes in
methodologies, the Group will present and explain in detail in the
corresponding sections.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Scope of the Report and Reporting Period

The Report covers the businesses which are financially significant and
operationally influential to the Group, including the five core services of
the projects in Shenzhen, Nanchang, Nanning, Xi'an, Zhengzhou, Harbin,
Hefei and Chongging in the PRC, including project investment and
development, business management and operation, property leasing and
management, logistics and warehousing services and outlet operations.
The above five core businesses accounted for over 90% of the Group's

revenue.

Reporting period: 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023, same as the financial
period of the annual report.

Cornerstone for Sustainable Development

The Group has always adhered to its business philosophy of “Innovation,
Integrity, Consensus and Collaboration”. While striving to develop its
business, the Group also pays attention to the demands, opinions and
expectations of various stakeholders and integrates the concept of
sustainable development into its corporate management, group culture
and operational strategies to continuously optimize its performance
and development in relation to environment, society and corporate
governance.

Statement on ESG Governance from the Board of
Directors

The Company believes that sound ESG governance is crucial to enhance
the value of our investments and bringing long-term returns to our
stakeholders and the Group. In order to implement and improve the ESG
management policy, the Company’s board of directors (the “Board”)
is responsible for ESG management and supervision, establishing
and reviewing the overall ESG vision, approach, strategy or initiative.
Various communication channels have been established to promote the
coordination and communication between various departments in the
Group. Regarding ESG-related risk management, the Board monitors the
risk evaluation process on sustainability and ESG related issues, focus on
the potential impacts of business operations on market trends, and seek
for improvements in ESG strategy, in order to reduce the negative impacts
on the Group's business.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRiR - HEHEREE(H)

To collect the opinions of the Group’s stakeholders on ESG issues,
the Board has engaged a third-party ESG consultant in conducting a
materiality assessment to identify issues that are likely to impact the
business operation and our stakeholders, especially to the environmental
and social aspects. The issues would be reviewed and prioritised, and
those with high significance to the Group and stakeholders are considered
as material. The Board has reviewed and approved the material ESG issues
identified by the ESG consultant. In order to formulate and implement
effective ESG measures, the Board regularly reviews the Group's ESG
performance and the progress of achieving its goals, and adjusts the ESG
management policy to lead the ESG process of the entire Group.

The Group’s management reviews the plans and implementation of ESG-
related work, as well as related goals and indicators at regular meetings.
The Company communicated with stakeholders on ESG progress, especially
through the Company’s annual ESG report. The Board will continue to
seek opportunities to improve ESG performance.

ESG Development Strategies

China South City combines considerations for the environment, society,
and governance to achieve sustainable business operations, while
maintaining transparency and accountability to stakeholders. The Group
has developed the environmental, social and governance policy (the
“Policy”), which outlines our environmental, social and governance
("ESG") commitments and related management practices as well as guides
the Group towards and achieves its vision of sustainable development
and its mission to become a premium logistics trade centre in China.
Our sustainability approach is divided into five core aspects, including
environment, employees, customers, supply chain and community, which
guide the overall ESG direction of the Group.

CSC Shenzhen launched a special training meeting on efficient execution
FRINEFBFRESARTHEESZIEE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRI HEH

ERRE (F)

ESG Policy Highlights of China South City
HEHWESGBURE 2

Environment
BRIE

Employees
8T

Customers

BEE

Supply chain
fpesE

Community
#HE

The Group is dedicated to using renewable energy and reusable materials while reducing emissions of air
pollutants, greenhouse gases, harmful and non-hazardous waste, and wastewater. We continuously monitor and
manage the significant environmental impacts of our operations and require all relevant departments to practice
and strengthen environmental management. Furthermore, we conduct climate risk assessments to identify
potential impacts of climate change on our business operations and develop appropriate response strategies.
REEBNRERA BERRMAERERNOME - AR ER5RY  RERLE - BENIEEREEDIA
KOFKEVHERL - RPISBEAMNE B EBTRNERIRELE - ZRAEEBAMBIIETRLIGRIRFERE « It
o - BPBETRIRRER S - ABFREZCHRMEBECNEETE  THIEEE N EERE -

The Group is committed to regularly reviewing employee compensation and welfare, and providing a safe
working environment that protects employees from occupational hazards. We actively encourage our employees
to pursue continuous learning and development, and provide them with training opportunities to enhance their
knowledge and skills in fulfilling their job responsibilities. Additionally, we strictly adhere to our company’s labor
standard guidelines to ensure that we do not employ child labor or engage in forced labor practices.
AEEFEHIE THEBMNEMNSHERBER  BEZ2OHITERS WREEIEXBERS - RMEBHET
TNEVERE - BERZHE T fm 8 TRT LERE O MBALRE o RN - RAISRRETAR R E S TE
AIEVIES]  AHERTSREMAEILNEITHRIASLE -

The Group is committed to continuously improving the quality of our products and services, ensuring that the
products we sell do not compromise the safety of our customers and users, and complying with standards and
regulations related to advertising, labeling, and other matters. Additionally, we prioritize the security of our
customers’ and any relevant employment-related personal data, and ensure that we collect, hold, use, and
process such data in a lawful and prudent manner.

REEBNRFHERSERTREME  BRAASHNERTETETFNARPNLE  RNETES - %
SHEMEEFER o o BMERELANEMEBEREAERNZE - WHRASEMZEN R
A - FRFEEEEER -

The Group upholds the principles of fair trade and works with suppliers to enhance sustainability performance
across all aspects of our operations. We also prioritize the importance of anti-corruption measures and strive
to strengthen employee awareness and ethics, preventing any bribery, extortion, fraud, or money laundering
activities.

REEZHATRZHRA - BEEFAARAAFERRRE - AN - RAERRESHEE - YBHREEE
THRMIEERT - R - BFR - MEFZOERENTR -

The Group makes appropriate community investments in the areas where we operate and provides financial or
other resource assistance to those in need.

AEEELERE RSN ERERDETEENHERE  ARHEFENALTRESEIEMERED -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

ESG Governance Structure

China South City believes that good ESG governance is an important
cornerstone for the sustainable development of our business. The Policy
sets out the management framework to enable us to deliver on our ESG
commitment. The Board of Directors undertakes overall responsibility
for the Group’s ESG strategies and oversees the implementation of the
Company'’s sustainability strategies. Meanwhile, the Board of Directors
has also appointed the ESG working group comprising representatives
from different departments to carry out ESG development work,
thereby enhancing the ESG governance framework and integrating ESG
management concepts into all aspects of corporate management from
top to bottom, so as to explore and grasp opportunities to promote
sustainable development.

Members of the ESG working group are selected from the management
of each business unit and are responsible for implementing ESG policies
and promoting their development. The working group reports regularly to
the Board of Directors on the ESG implementation and collects feedback
to further improve ESG governance and promote its development, so as
to achieve sustainable business growth.

The ESG governance structure of China South City is as follows:

ESGEREE

B E RITOESGE AR KB R MEBIIFELR
BRHOEZERLR - NECRITHAEIRER  EHMEEER
HIRE  MHeROEBTRFTENESE BEFSHAE
ERRE g REARKEAEERER  WEER
NRIAFEEERBEHNIT - AR  EFNERA
TRMPAIRKRAERIRE - g RERIIENEEM
BAITESGER I - MIRAESGEARE B LEE
THESGEERSMACELEEEMSERE - #
MERMICERE S ERROKE -

ESGT{EMERX BB EFAFIEEE P BRAMN -
BEAENNITESGIER L e H &R - T/ MEEH
AEFEHREESCGHITRARKERR - £E—Fx=
ESGEVARMBHEER - EETHENEBIER -

FERIRESGEVAZRIBINT ¢

Board Committees of China South City
L EHNEFZEE )
( ESG working group b
L ESGI{E/ME )
( Management of each business unit b
L BERBEMEIEE p
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Review, Reporting and Disclosure

Recognizing that stakeholders’ expectations are constantly changing,
the Group regularly reviews its business operations and proactively
communicates with stakeholders to identify and respond to emerging
issues as appropriate. In addition, the Group's Sustainability Committee
regularly reviews its performance and practices on corporate social
responsibilities and reports to the Group’s Board of Directors. The Group’s
performance on corporate social responsibilities is not only disclosed
through internal communication channels, but also truthfully disclosed to
the public through the Group's website, annual report and ESG report.

Stakeholder Engagement

The Group places great emphasis on communication with stakeholders
and strives to understand the ESG expectations, opinions and suggestions
that are of concern to stakeholders. The Group incorporates these
concerns into its operations and decision-making processes and always
seeks to maximize shared value with stakeholders. The Group’s key
stakeholders including customers, employees, shareholders and investors,
regulators, suppliers and local communities. The communication channels
are set out below:

B ERERKE
AEFEPROFNENRLESTEHNE - WEEHRR
HEBSEWRGEFNERE - ARSI HBROMHE
B WEHEYEE - 8% @ AEBENAHERRE
SeERCELSEERARED  YAAEE
EXgER - ARENCEHEEERBER TEBA
EBAREBETIE  TeEBAEEEAE FER
SRS HENEAMES  MEAINHE -

&SR
AEETHEEHHEOEE B TREMINR

%o e kEEOHE  BRMEE %F&a&%ﬁﬁ)\
AEBEMELIRKBRE  —HEREZRHNHEHR
BENGZAL AEEBNIZRZABEEP 1E

B BREKIEESE -
EBREHIMT

EEHRE  HERKENHE -

Stakeholder
group Communication channels
R EHER BBERE
Customers <> Customer evaluation form <> Questionnaire, industry exhibitions
BF BRHER MEHETERES
<> Telephone/email
B EFEF
< Customer visits and factory audits
BR2BRIKEZ
Employees < Regular meetings < Questionnaire comment box/mail/email
(== e MBRESRME 1=/ ESFBMH
<> Occupational health and safety training <> Performance appraisal
B ERET2E TERBRFZ

K3
o

Internal publications/memo boards

WEBTIH, & RIR

Shareholders and

K3
o

Annual and interim reports

investors F kP EmE
BRERREBREE 23 Annual and interim results announcements
TERPHZEERND
<> Company website
1AL

\\¥\
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Stakeholder

group Communication channels
BHEHER BERE
Regulators <& Official documents/meetings <> Supervision/inspection and evaluation
EEEWE DB EE RS KT
< Government websites
T 48
< Report paper/visits
NEREFH
Suppliers < Annual audit of suppliers 3 Questionnaire
HrEr HERFESEZ HEHE
< Telephone/email
Bt BTEMF
< Site visits
BihE R
Local communities Participation in community activities
Bt E SE RS
< Donation/sponsorship
BRL BB
Materiality Assessment BEMFAMA

The Group has been working to effectively assess and identify the issues
that are most important to its stakeholders. The materiality assessment
was carried out independently by professional consultants to understand
the expectations of our stakeholders and the challenges we face in global
sustainability. This will help us to develop our sustainability strategies and
identify core aspects to improve our overall sustainability performance for
inclusion in the Report.

During the reporting period, the Group has updated the materiality
assessment through questionnaires of the Board and stakeholders to
identify the sustainability issues that are most important to the Group
and its stakeholders. The list of materiality issues and the results of the
assessment have been submitted to the Board for confirmation and
approval.

AEE—ETEE S - BOIAE GRS K354
FNERRBEENHE - BEENFNE TFShEER
FE T TRENENHENRMERRAFE
BRFTELEVPEE o FEULA B EFIHIE T RERER
B - YREE L8NS - (e 2 E RS R IR AT A
REER - WRHAREES -

ERARERA - AEECERESTE MFNEREH
L BHMERMME  UESAEERERDER
REENAHERREE - SEUZBFEMTELE
RORREFSEALEL -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - EHEERRE (A)

Materiality Assessment Process

BRI BR

. To identify major ESG issues that are considered relevant and important to our businesses and stakeholders based on
| the ESG guidelines issued by Hong Kong Stock Exchange, company policies and management strategies,
i characteristics of the industry, and business risks and opportunities.

| BEBBYWRMESGIES| - ATBRERERER  TEEBREBNRREKES - MHARIHEBEBMENE
| SR EEMNEZRESGERA °

Opinion Collection W& =

| To conduct a questionnaire survey and invite stakeholders including the board, employees, suppliers and customers
1 to evaluate the importance of each issue from their own perspectives.
1
1
1

ETREHE  BRERESFE BT  HEBLEFPERNENAFARTESRENERERE -

@ Prioritization B %8t /F

To select the important issues, draw the materiality assessment matrix, and obtain the preliminary evaluation results,
so as to determine the strategic focus of sustainable development and improve the governance of sustainable
development.

FENEERE  TRANSEUNGER SHOLTEER  UMBEAFEERUBEY  TEAFER
‘&S -

[5]) Confirmation &2

The ESG working group will discuss about and identify the assessment result to get final results of the materiality
assessment. Final results are reported to the Board.

BESGTE/ MAYFHAERETH MR YRREBEEENTEERERCEFTS -

The Group identified the most relevant and important ESG issues to its ~ ANEBAXEBZAESGIES| - ITE B R EBHRAR
business and stakeholders with reference to the ESG Guide of the Stock  E2#iB - RAIRE R EEREE  UHBIE R E®EE
Exchange, industry characteristics as well as risks and opportunities of ~ #F#57%E R AN EZNESGHE - BBEITH
its business, corporate policies and management strategies. Through %5Ff#& > HBESFEEEE BT  HERLEFSSH
the questionnaire survey, stakeholders including the Board of Directors, M&ENESABETESEENEBRE - e L @R

employees, suppliers and customers were invited to evaluate the %78 @ WeHEEZHIHEER - BENLSTEE

materiality of each issue from their own perspective. The key issues were W MAET AJHHEEE R AZ0 o H1% - RESGT E
selected and a materiality assessment matrix was drawn up to produce  /NMAYTE BV EMARETIHANER - THES

preliminary findings, thus determining the core of its sustainability =~ &R -
strategies. The ESG working group then discussed and validated the
findings of the materiality assessment and reported to the Board.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RIE  HEHEERRE (&)
Materiality Matrix
o EE SRR
A
3
2
]
B
hil ¢
X 2J0)
HE
5= @
% EE @ @
S
£
L{%W Importance towards the Development of the Group Hi%gh
h HAEEBERNSEN
No. ESG Issues No. ESG Issues
W% ESGEE w¥ ESGEE
1 Exhaust emissions 12 Talent management and development
RERBER AT EBRER
2 Greenhouse gas emissions 13 Procurement and supply chain management
BEREEHER REBEG e E IR
3 Waste and recycling materials management 14 Product quality
REEY) KB E TR EmmE
4 Energy management 15 Product innovation
BEIRE IR PE Bl
5 Water management 16 Customer services
FKERE BF R
6 Packaging materials management 17 Information security and personal data protection
BEMHER Bz z REABRHMRE
7 Environment and natural resources 18 Protection of intellectual property rights
RERRAER RIEE 2B ERE
8 Climate change 19 Corporate governance and risk management
RIZEE EERRERETR
9 Employee benefits and welfare 20 Anti-competition
8 TR KR8 REFTR
10 Equal opportunities 21 Community involvement
FERE fad=E 3
11 Health and safety
[y

V//

China South City Holdings Limited ZEHIERAR A T
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

During the reporting period, the Group engaged an independent
consulting company to conduct an ESG-related questionnaire survey and
materiality assessment with stakeholders so that the Group can better
understand the concerns and expectations of various stakeholders. By
analyzing the results of the survey, the Group identified the following 3
issues as the most important among the 21 ESG-related issues:

Customer services

EP R

Health and safety

[FEbe

For more information on the above ESG issues, please refer to the relevant
sections of the Report.

Integrity and Compliance

The Group strictly enforces applicable laws, environmental codes of
practice and social standards in the jurisdictions in which it operates. The
Group has always adhered to the principles of “compliance and legality,
honesty and trustworthiness, and fair trading” and strictly prohibits any
acts of bribery and corruption during its business operation. The Group
strictly complies with national laws and regulations, and has prepared
an employee handbook in accordance with relevant requirements and
ethical requirements of the industry, which clearly stipulates the code of
conduct for employees’ integrity and self-discipline. The code illustrates
how to deal with employees’ business activities, part-time jobs, personal
investments, commissions, kickbacks, and bribes from trade associations.
In addition, the Group requires all suppliers, business partners and agents
to sign the Anti-Commercial Bribery Clause when signing contracts
with the Company to clarify the responsibilities of both parties in anti-
corruption. Besides, the Group also engages an external independent
auditor to conduct financial audits to objectively, fairly and accurately
reflect the company’s financial status.

\\¥\
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

The Board is the Group’s highest governance body responsible for
developing, reviewing and monitoring the Group’s corporate governance
policies and practices in compliance with the relevant law and regulations.
The Board strives to uphold the highest level of business ethics and
strictly prohibits and stands against any form of bribery, extortion,
fraud, or corruption in our business operations. To comply with the
applicable laws and regulations, the Group implements internal policies
and control mechanisms to strengthen the management practices and
prevent improper conduct and unethical behaviour. The Group has also
communicated the preventive measures on bribery and corruption to the
Directors and the Group’s employees.

If any employee of the Group commits any bribery and corruption, which
seriously affects the reputation and image of the Company, he/she will be
dismissed immediately and those suspected of committing crimes will be
referred to the judicial authorities. The Group also has a whistle-blowing
mechanism, where whistle-blowers can report in their real names or
anonymously through hotline, email, and mailbox (physical). If any of our
colleagues are found to have obtained commissions or rebates from our
customers without reporting to the Group, they shall report to the Group.
Those who fail to do so shall be punished accordingly to enhance the
deterrent effect.

To strengthen the anti-corruption culture, the Group held regular
education and training sessions on compliance with the law and integrity
in Business during the year. Special training sessions were held to teach
employees how to be clean and honest, and the consequences of
corruption and bribery were shared through case studies. All employees
are required to undergo induction training upon joining the Group. As
an important part of the Employee Handbook, the corruption prevention
policy must be trained and assessed on new employees, so as to enable
them to establish a culture of integrity. The directors of the Group also
received practical advice and tips through participation in the Directors’
Training Programme offered by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange to refresh
and enhance their knowledge and skills, and lead the Group towards
better anti-corruption governance. During the reporting period, the Group
had no litigation cases on corruption.

EFTeRAKERANERER  AEHE Ak
ERAEENTLERERBR L ER - BREETHEH
ERERBRS c ERENFRTRENHRERRE -
BRI WREBMEGE S P TN - B
= HFFRBY - RETERNERESR  AKEE
e T A RBBORANE SIS - AR EREE - PiET
BIRMTBRETR - AKENCRAEZRAKEER
TEEARBRNESNTANER

WAKER THEMBERIERTR  BEFERR
BENER > B AFER  YHSHEENETE
R RDEKRRIE - NEBTTRASTRS - 55

LA - AR - BFEAE - EH(ER)ETE
FRELRER - MERAEERELERAETP R
MEEH - MARRAEE AR - BRANEEER -
HMBETHRE - LEZZAENEEE - LIZRER 7 -

RINERBXIE - FRAREEERRTELTE K
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRiR - HEHEREE(H)

Protecting the Environment and Pursuing Green
and Low-Carbon Development

In order to achieve corporate sustainability development, China South City
has been fulfilling its corporate social responsibility to reduce its carbon
footprint, control carbon emissions, optimize the use of resources and
improve the management of pollutant emissions. We continue to innovate
and implement effective environmental measures to reduce the impacts
of our entire industry chain, including our activities and operations, on
the environment, community and governance. Meanwhile, we have been
doing our best to improve our environmental performance of the entire
industrial chain, from design to construction, by promoting a number
of recycling programs, in a bid to meet the national goal of “carbon
neutrality”.

Environmental Management

For the sake of avoiding irreversible damage to the environment, the
Group prudently complies with the relevant requirements of the Energy
Conservation and Emission Reduction Management Regulations that have
been prepared to ensure effective reduction of emissions in the course
of operation. The project management and property management teams
are responsible for introducing and evaluating energy-saving technologies
and equipment, managing and developing programs and data analysis
respectively. At the same time, the Group strictly complies with the laws
and regulations of local governments, including the regulations on waste
sorting, for example, the CSC Shenzhen complies with the Shenzhen
Municipal Regulations on the Management of Domestic Waste Sorting.

First quarter employee welfare birthday party
E-FEATEALAE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - EHEERRE (A)

The Group's emission targets and the measures taken to achieve these — ANEEAHEIR B 121 A EIH 5 L B Z M ER AU F5 i 40
targets are as follows: T

Environmental

targets Directional indicators Measures taken during the year

RREE T B iR FRBEE

Improve energy o Adopt energy-saving e Air conditioner was set to approximately 26-28 degrees Celsius
efficiency products and measures MAEHMETRERERALEK26-28E

R LR i R BEE fn M B Bt

o Adopted energy-saving products and measures
PR ETREEE o R e ie

o When purchasing electrical appliances and other equipment,
products with excellent energy efficiency were prioritized

MRS AN - EEERLREERNES

o Used LED lighting system
{2 FALEDERER K 4%

o The time for heating supply was adjusted according to the
season, geographical location, climate and other factors to save
unnecessary energy use
RIEZFE - IR E  RIFRZERABRHERGH S5 TBE
EREIR 152

o Posted environmental protection and energy saving slogans
and signs in each park to encourage employees to be
environmentally friendly and energy saving
& fE = [ SR B IR R B RE VIR 38 SR8 - FE AR B TIRIRER

Ed
Promote the use of e Establish the equipment e Installed a large solar water heating panel to supply hot water
renewable energy using renewable energy using solar energy
EBHEELIR INER B REIRER M Z2H T REVKESREEVKIR - R KIS RIR AR E

o Added new energy electric trucks for distribution to reduce
reliance on fossil fuels
ERFRORBEEEEITIE - B AR RRE

o Built charging stations for new energy vehicles in Shenzhen and
Nanning Qianlong Logistics Parks to facilitate and encourage
tenants to use new energy vehicles
wEYRAYIER  BEERSNERRANEZNERERTE
uh - T {E M EE P& AT e RS
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BB - HEHEER

Environmental
targets
RREE

HE(E)

Directional indicators

FEER

Measures taken during the year

FRNERE

Reduce air emissions e

B BERBEIL

Minimize the emission of
exhaust gases, so as to
reduce the emission of
direct greenhouse gas
BABERMES - BN
HEEAERENESE

Reduce the demands for
electricity, so as to reduce
the emission of indirect
greenhouse gas

KRB ENFTL  ER2RED
R ERBNES

Advocated employees to travel low-carbon and take public
transportation to reduce the direct generation of greenhouse
gases

BEETEMET  BERAHZIBIE - HUARLEEAER
BEEVEL

Applied 30 new energy electric trucks to replace fuel vehicles
and reduced emissions, such as nitrogen oxides
EA30AMELREBTE - REWHER  RPEEER - f
m: maElY)

Participated in annual vehicle review and regular exhaust
emissions inspections as required by the transportation
authorities to reduce the emission of direct greenhouse gas
BBAFIRE2MEWMFE - THRBERIW - #Fumd
HEREREBNES

Cement and other construction materials which are easily blown
into the air were sealed and stored, and construction waste
was discharged and transported through special airtight refuse
passages or containers to reduce air pollutants

ARMEAL S RGERZEM BT - I EERA
HEAERNICRBENHAATEDE - RS =R5RY

When purchasing electrical appliances and other equipment,
products with excellent energy efficiency were prioritized to
improve the efficiency of electricity consumption and thereby
reduce the emission of indirect greenhouse gas
REERERMER  BEEAZRERIGERNER  RABE
WL - FELROHEAERBHES

LED lighting system was established to optimize the efficiency of
electricity consumption and thus reduce the emission of indirect
greenhouse gas
HERIEDIREAA RS
EHE

BILRBIREL -

LR A REEOR ERER
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - EHEERRE (A)

Environmental

targets Directional indicators Measures taken during the year

BREE T EEIER FRREE

Reduce the use of o Reuse treated sewage to e The rainwater, sewage and wastewater from construction

water minimize the use of water sites were treated separately. Sewage went through technical

B K ERBEEBAIEK D treatment before being reclaimed. The remainder of processed
Rk water was discharged into municipal sewage pipelines

or recycled for greening and road flushing to reduce the
o Use water-saving facilities generation of sewage
{2 A E7KER METEMERK 57K~ BEIETHRERE o BKERITER
REWIER - EAATTE T AIHEA T BUS /K E 738 B A RER
e MBS - D AR T KESE

o Applied water-saving facility such as sensor-activated taps to

save water usage

EMEKERNE - 10 BREIUKEESE - AETEKEIRIE A

Reduce waste o Reduce the use of paper o Adopted OA system for daily office application processes and
RIKREEY) A AR promote paperless office
EAROAZRLUETTRE BW AN ZIHRFME - IRIEEMAHL
° Promote recycling
HEEEK . Created electronic files to reduce copying and printing

BB TR R EENFZIED

o Encouraged employees to use double-sided printing as much
as possible when printing and to use them for draft paper or
environmentally friendly printing paper
SEETIIREEEREEIE - WERAERKIIRRIT
EN4%

o Set up recycling bins to promote a recycling culture

RIZEYRE - HEEIREI UL

Moreover, in order to meet the national “carbon neutral” goal, the Group b5 * REESBEXKIHAFIBIE - AEEEELE
has set a quantitative carbon reduction target, and the carbon emissions ML BIZ - ARIREFOMBEMER E—EREFR
in this reporting year are reduced by 1% compared with the previous  2*1% ©

reporting year.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRiR - HEHEREE(H)

Responding to Climate Change

In recent years, climate change is one of the most important risks to
companies. Climate risks can be classified into acute risk and transition
challenge. Acute risks include natural disasters, such as increased
frequency of super typhoons and floods, or desertification. In the short
term, acute natural events can directly damage the Group’s assets and
facilities, hence affecting the progress of construction and logistics. In
the long term, chronic changes in climate can also gradually weaken the
Group's business areas and lead to asset impairment.

In addition to acute risks, climate-related business transition challenges
may have a negative impact on the business, operating results and
financial condition of the Group, and may be detrimental to the
reputation of the Group. It is particularly important to understand the
nature and scale of these potential risks in order to mitigate their impact.
Therefore, the Group regularly assesses and reviews the risk of climate
change and prepares for acute risks and transformational challenges.

Group leadership training
EEEZNE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

During the reporting period, the types of risks, descriptions and ~ AEBRE A RIEE(CAEGLER - f il & fE L

countermeasures for climate change of the Group are as follows:

BT

Type of risk Description Response measures

E R JoEL e A 3t T B P 4 e

Acute risk Natural disasters, including typhoons, The Group has formulated the Operational Emergency Plan
BNES 1 RS flooding and hot weather, can lead to and set up an emergency response team to direct emergency

disruptions in construction, suspension of
the supply chain and the risk of reduced
production capacity due to shutdowns in
engineering and logistics.

REEH  BERER  KIEREHRXR
% EEGE IR  HERTER
YR £ @I EY N7 biinb N= I 2
HEERE TN REH R ©

and disaster relief and rescue work. In addition, we also
reserve emergency equipment, provide disaster preparedness
and response training, as well as regularly purchase insurance.
REBRGIECEFRSREER)  [BERSIENEEES
TRES DA RRC IR T « thoh - RPITT S B ESRE
AR SR - AR E RIS B R -

To prevent flooding, we have carried out drainage design in
accordance with the relevant national laws and regulations,
and the drainage design has been approved by the relevant
government departments and is subject to the supervision
of the government departments; we have checked the
structural safety of the buildings in advance before the
arrival of typhoons and report any problems immediately
to the emergency response team; we also have purchased
the emergency equipment according to the Operational
Emergency Plan, such as spare emergency generators, water
pumping machines, sandbags, Tarpaulin, emergency medicine
boxes, medical kits, etc.

RIAHAORE - BIVRBEKBEEERERETHRERS
PR AT ES BT E BB PIRRT AT - B X BUR AP PT 6 B
EHERAIEMNRAMEREYNEELY  WERME
VAREREIENM - REBEGEFERSRRIER)E SR
BUIE =R - 0 - BARESEEE - KK - e BIk)
e EREN BERSE-
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRI HEH

Type of risk
E b RE

ERRE (F)

Description
[ B 4 ot

Response measures

[ P e 1R e

Chronic Risk
REAMERE R

The gradual transformation of the natural
environment caused by climate change
has made the virus increasingly strong,
causing a pandemic and affecting the
health of employees.

R IR TSR & AR RS -
SRR E AR - ERORRTT - HEE
TR -

The Group has implemented the Construction Plan for the
High-Temperature and Rainy Season and the guidelines of
local government departments on protection of outdoor
workers to perform temperature reduction and heat
dissipation, so as to ensure the safety of workers. Furthermore,
regular air circulation testing is conducted in the Nanning and
Zhengzhou regions respectively to provide a more comfortable
working environment.

REEEM(SRENEMIAR) - AREHIRAFEFIE I
THEAENRERBIESIMITRER  HESHENIE -
RIEABNLZ S - BE - EEMREENERTERETE
Rt - R R A Ee TIERIR o

In addition, the Group formulate a post-disaster improvement
plan in accordance with the proposals provided by the
government and the street to minimize the impact.

SEA - AN E TR R RBUN EATBRMN TR - HlE LB
E5tEl - BREERERE -

In response to the coronavirus (COVID-19), internally, the
Group strengthened cleaning and disinfection for the park
and all buildings, conducted temperature checks on all
people entering and leaving the mall, and implemented
masking and social distance measures, as well as posted
epidemic prevention messages and precautionary information.
Externally, the Group also strengthened communication with
other governmental and local organizations in response to the
government’s call, and implemented epidemic prevention and
control procedures in accordance with relevant regulations.
REBBEREFERES - NRERRAERENEZRES
THE- HAMBELAESABEITERRA  ARETHE
AE R REMEH - KM ESEXRIARGMH o Mo
B REETEEIAT A - EE BT & ith 5 e s
B AR T AT R RIERE -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - EHEERRE (A)

Type of risk Description Response measures
[ B A [ B 4 ot E R EH R

Policies and laws The progressive tightening of legal The Group has implemented various energy saving and

R ROER regulations related to climate change emission reduction measures for its businesses and strictly

in products, services and operations complied with relevant environmental regulations, striving
has resulted in higher operating costs, to enhance energy saving and emission reduction standards

including increased product development  while complying with laws and increasing production capacity.

and compliance costs.

FEEEm - R REETEARIEE(CE
B EREER SRR - AMBEEER
KEF - BIEEMFAE - ARG -

AEBNBEXEKHEITZENESERIHER - LEREST
HERFABAOER - BREN QAP RIGINERL DR -
DBETRTTERBERL R A K E -

Green Operations

The Group undertakes corporate citizenship responsibilities by
incorporating environmental considerations into its business activities, and
effectively reduced the impact of its business on the environment through
using new energy facilities. In addition, the Group has increased green
procurement and extended the concept of environmental protection to
the entire supply chain, thus promoting sustainable development in all

aspects.

Green Procurement

In order to expand its sustainability development, the Group places
great emphasis on the environmental performance of suppliers and
the impact of products on the environment during the procurement
process, so as to protect the environment and natural resources. We
continue to implement a green procurement policy, giving priority to
suppliers that obtained environmental certification, local suppliers and
purchasing materials and new energy equipment that meet the national
first-class energy consumption, such as electric forklifts, energy-efficient
appliances and biodegradable plastic bags. Moreover, the Group’s
contracts with suppliers clearly state the relevant rules and regulations
to ensure that the suppliers’ production, transportation, sales and after-
sales activities comply with national environmental laws. The Group also
regularly evaluates suppliers and project execution to review the suppliers’
compliance on environmental protection. In the meantime, the Group
strengthens communication with suppliers and continues to advocate and
support green procurement.

V//
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Green Buildings

In construction operations, the Group insists on adding green concepts
to our buildings to promote green buildings. Among the completed
green buildings, including Hefei “Qianlong E-Commerce Logistics Park
Warehouse Nos. 1-7" and “CSC Xi'an Logistics Park D Zone Warehouse
Nos. 11-12", we have applied eco-friendly construction materials such
as autoclaved aerated concrete blocks and ALC panels to reduce the
negative impact on the environment during and after the construction
of the buildings. We have also adopted an energy saving and emission
reduction plan in the CSC Hefei by installing large solar panels on the
top floor of the complex to store solar energy to provide warm water to
users. Besides, the architectural design of our park was designed by a
professional company and evaluated by the relevant national authorities.
During the year, all residential projects developed by China South City
were designed and built with gardens and green areas in order to meet
national requirements, thereby achieving the goal of optimizing the

environment.

The Group applied the national standards on energy-saving buildings to its
building design and construction in its projects. A number of projects of
China South City obtained the National Award for Green Building Design
(One Star & Two Star).

Fe gk

AEETERELET - BEFEENBESMAZINM
MELD  HEBREREE -  ERERNREEEE
T BRAREIEERERMREXE-7TREEIRIA
ZEMBYREDRI-125AE | - HFEHBRRFRE
IR N B DD SRORRE L 88 RALCIR F3RR ML
OB A2 BE R LR RERENEETE - &
EERWIRA THERE TR - REABIARRE
A KGR RUKIR - REF ARG e IR 2k 4
F - B% RANEREERAIHAERRARE
ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ@%ﬁﬁ%°%@ﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁ&%ﬁﬁ
VRFT W RRIEE - AL AR TRIEE K Z KT -
EEBCRENER -

REBMIEE Z2EYIRBERA
T o EREZEERB HEY
AR EREERRET IR o

EREREETR
SER—EN_ER

Construction scale

Subsidiary Project name (1,000 sq.m.) Certificate
TRF HEEB BEAE(TELK) ENEE
CSC Hefei 1668 Kaiyuan Plaza 100.9  Green Building Design Label (Two Star)
G ESE 16687 &% R eRERE
1668 Wealth Plaza 118.9  Green Building Design Label (One Star)
166881 = % B ERERE
1668 Times Square 281.7  Green Building Design Label (Two Star)
16685 L& 15 —ERREEERT
CSC Zhengzhou Kaiyuan Phase | (underground garage, 178.8  Green Building Design Label (One Star)
F1, F2, F3, F5)
EBINEE R P —EA(M e - 148 - 28 - 3 —ERRERERS
12 5i8)
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Green Construction

The Group is committed to handling construction emissions in a
responsible manner. We strictly comply with the regulations of competent
government departments on traffic, construction noise and production
safety at the construction sites, complete the relevant procedures in
accordance with the regulations and notify Party A and the supervisor in
writing. We also strictly have aligned with applicable laws and regulations
on environmental protection, and has formulated civilized construction
standards, including the Environmental Protection and Occupational
Health and Safety Management Standards, Management Standard for
Safe and Civilized Construction at Sites with Diagrams, Standard for Fire
Safety at Construction Sites, Management System for Safe and Civilized
Construction, Management System for Fire Safety in Construction, etc.

In respect of exhaust gas and dust pollution, we strictly abide by applicable
laws and regulations, including the Ambient Air Quality Standards.
Cement and other construction materials which are easily blown into
the air are sealed and stored; and construction waste is discharged
and transported through special airtight refuse passages or containers.
Construction sites are also equipped with enclosed waste stations where
construction waste and domestic waste are classified and stored.

In respect of sewage discharge, we comply with relevant laws and
regulations, including the Comprehensive Sewage Discharge Standard.
Sedimentation tanks have been built at the cleaning space for concrete
carrier vehicles for diversion of rain, sewage and wastewater from
construction sites. Sewage is treated through technical treatment before
being reclaimed. The remainder of treated water is discharged into
municipal sewage pipelines or recycled for greening and road flushing.
The oil, thinner and paint on construction sites must be placed in storage
rooms whose ground must have received anti-seepage treatment to
prevent any groundwater pollution.

In addition, the Group strengthens the environmental management
at the construction sites in strict compliance with the requirements of
environmental inspection and audit. We strictly implement measures
to prevent and control the pollution of dust and waste water as well as
ecological protection and soil and water conservation measures during the
construction process, striving to protect the surrounding environment.

V//
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRiR - HEHEREE(H)

Energy Management

The Group uses energy in a prudent manner, and manages electricity
conservation. Hence, through regular monitoring and evaluation of
electricity consumption, the Group is able to set energy saving targets and
promote more energy saving and low carbon measures.

We are committed to promoting the use of renewable energy. During
the year, Qianlong Logistics used 30 new energy electric trucks for
distribution and will continue to promote it. During the year, large solar
water heating panels were installed on the top floor of the complex in
the Hefei Company to supply warm water to users, thereby reducing the
consumption of electricity for water heaters by the users. In addition,
the Group also formulated and implemented the regulations related
to water and electricity consumption in the Management Regulations
on Energy Saving and Emission Reduction (Version 2020A). During the
year, we proposed to give priority to energy-efficient products based on
the energy efficiency label assessment provided by the manufacturers
when purchasing electrical appliances and other equipment; set the air-
conditioning temperature in offices at approximately 26 to 28 degrees
Celsius; and use LED lighting systems in most of Qianlong Logistics’
warehouses. In addition, the time for heating supply is adjusted according
to the season, geographical location, climate and other factors to save
unnecessary energy use. Besides, we also posted energy saving slogans
and signs in each park to encourage our employees to be environmentally
friendly and energy saving. In the future, the Group will strive to promote
energy saving and emission reduction measures and equipment to move
towards the national goal of “carbon neutrality”.

‘ CSC Zhengzhou green assembly building

BNEAREEREARE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Water Management

The Group adheres to and strives to implement a strict water resources
management system. We require water conservation in all its operations,
strictly regulate sewage treatment and optimize water resources
management. During the reporting period, the Group strictly complied
with national laws and regulations on water resources and applied
for relevant discharge permits in accordance with local government
regulations, and was subject to the supervision of local environmental
protection monitoring authorities. Besides, we also implemented water
conservation measures in accordance with the regulations on water and
electricity consumption as set out in the Management Regulations on
Energy Saving and Emission Reduction (Version 2020A) formulated by
the Group. We regularly reviewed the use of domestic water and the
effectiveness of water conservation, and strengthened the management
for water resources to protect water resources. During the reporting
period, our domestic wastewater was disposed of in the municipal
wastewater treatment plant through the municipal wastewater treatment
network. In respect of water saving, CSC Shenzhen and CSC Harbin have
applied water saving equipment and facilities, using sensor-activated
taps and pedal-enabled water-saving toilets, which effectively reduced
the water usage of the plazas and public areas. Administrative Tower
and Trade Centre Plaza 3 of CSC Nanchang and Trade Centre Plaza 2 of
CSC Xi'an have applied water saving equipment and facilities. During the
reporting period, the Group did not encounter any problems with water

sourcing.

Packaging Materials

The Group is mainly engaged in logistics, transportation and business
management, which are not manufacturing or retail industries and thus
does not involve any packaging process. As such, packaging materials are
not significantly related to our business. As a result, the Group does not
keep records for packaging materials and no relevant records are available
for the reporting period.

V//
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Waste Management

The Group attaches great importance to waste management and expects
to reduce waste generation and properly handle hazardous waste.
We classify hazardous wastes in accordance with the National List of
Hazardous Waste and comply with the Environmental Protection and
Occupational Health and Safety Management Standards to store toxic
and hazardous waste in qualified containers. During the reporting period,
we strictly prohibited the mixing of different types or incompatible toxic
and hazardous waste in the same container to avoid danger. Containers
containing toxic and hazardous waste shall be sealed, packaged and
properly marked for identification, and stored in designated storage
areas. Toxic and hazardous waste shall be handed over to units that have
the qualifications for the transportation of toxic and hazardous waste
issued by the environmental protection department for disposal, so that
hazardous waste can be safely and properly managed.

In addition, the Group has also implemented a series of waste reduction
measures for non-hazardous waste. For example, the OA system was used
for application processes in daily office to promote paperless office; the
document management team has established electronic files and scanned
all contract documents to reduce copying and printing; we encourage
employees to use double-sided printing as much as possible when
printing, and the blank side of non-confidential documents should be used
as draft paper or environmentally friendly printing paper; old stationery
was traded in for new ones to reduce waste; recycling bins were set up in
shopping malls to promote a recycling culture; environmental protection
slogans and signs were posted in each park to encourage employees to
make good use of resources, so as to effectively reduce non-hazardous
waste. The Group also sorts recyclable waste (e.g. waste paper, plastic
products, wooden boards, etc.) by cleaning staff and notifies professional
collectors for recycling.

Air Emission Management

During daily operation, the Group has strictly abided by the Law of the
People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Air Pollution and
the emission standards of different local governments. Furthermore, the
Group also tries to reduce the generation of air pollutant with advanced
technology.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRiR - HEHEREE(H)

The Group strictly controls emissions and implements emission reduction
measures to ensure that the emissions from each of its operations meet
the local government regulations. During the reporting period, the air
emissions from the Group’s operations were in compliance with the local
government regulations. The vehicles owned by Qianlong Group have
attended annual review as required by the transportation authorities,
with their air emissions meeting the national regulations and passing
annual inspections. We regularly review our exhaust treatment in order to

minimize air emissions.

In addition, the Group continued to promote the development of electric
vehicles during the year, with a view to gradually replacing the oil-fired
forklifts. During the reporting period, Qianlong Logistics basically replaced
fuel trucks with rechargeable trucks in its warehouses and will continue to
promote them. Besides, CSC Shenzhen and CSC Nanning built charging
stations for new energy vehicles in the park to facilitate and encourage
tenants to use new energy vehicles. As a result, roadside emissions were
greatly reduced and roadside air quality was improved.

People-Oriented, Diversity and Inclusion

The outstanding operation of our group’s business is achieved through
the talent, contributions, and innovation of our employees. This enables
us to ensure our talent strategy meets both immediate and long-term
operational needs in a fiercely competitive market. China South City
adheres to a “people-oriented” management philosophy and is committed
to protecting the legitimate rights and interests of our employees and
supporting their development. We are committed to providing an equal,
diversified, warm and inclusive platform for our employees, continuously
promoting their personal development and protecting the physical and
mental health of all employees, in order to enhance their happiness and
sense of belonging.

Employee Day interaction on 8 March Festival
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Talent Management

China South City strictly abides by the laws and regulations and relevant
practices such as the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Employment
Promotion Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Special Provisions
on Labor Protection of Female Employees, the Trade Union Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
the Protection of Minors and the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong.
In accordance with the above laws and regulations, we also constantly
improve the monitoring and protection system for employees’ rights and
interests to ensure fairness and impartiality in recruitment and promotion
as well as create an equal and diversified workforce. We prohibit any form
of discrimination and arrange working hours and holidays for employees
in a lawful and reasonable manner, striving to provide a healthy and
safe working environment for employees and promote the common
development of the enterprise and employees.

Talent Recruitment and Retention

China South City allocates human resources according to the actual
needs of business development and makes timely adjustments to the
team structure. We have a comprehensive and transparent recruitment
process to ensure that the entire recruitment process is fair, just and
open. For all job vacancies, we usually only consider the applicants’
working experience, talents and academic qualifications. In considering
the promotion of employees, we adopt the principle of “fit for purpose”
and make reference to the performance evaluation of employees,
their experience and personal abilities and potentials as the criteria for
promotion. During the year, the Group adopted a digital system in human
resources management and brought technology into the operation. Apart
from providing customers more convenience, the Group can reorganize its
job structure in line with its development demands.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Equal Opportunities and Diversity and Inclusion

By adhering to its philosophy of diversity and anti-discrimination personnel
management, the Group is dedicated to offering equal opportunities
to its employees. Our equal employment opportunity policy applies
to employment arrangements including recruitment, employment,
promotion, job replacement, layoff and dismissal, ensuring that all
employees and candidates are treated equally regardless of race, religion,
gender, family status, sexual orientation, physical disability or any other
reasons. During the year, the Group continued its efforts to regulate the
collaborative relationship among employees through effective allocation
of human resources and achieved a win-win situation for both employees
and the Company.

Welfare Benefit

We provide competitive compensation packages and employee benefits
to enhance the Group’s competitiveness in attracting and retaining
talent. The Group has established a set of objective and fair remuneration
guidelines. The remuneration of our employees is determined with
reference to the overall economic environment and the remuneration
levels of our peers, as well as taking into account factors such as position,
personal ability, performance, education and professional qualifications.
In addition, we enforce our labor system in strict compliance with
national and local laws such as the Labor Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Employment Promotion Law of the People’s Republic of China and the
Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong.

The Group has formulated its employee benefit system in accordance
with the requirements of the Ministry of Human Resources and Social
Security of the People’s Republic of China, including a reasonable leave
system for sick leave, casual leave, marriage leave, bereavement leave,
maternity leave, paternity leave, lactation leave, annual leave, injury leave
and statutory holidays. The employee benefit system is under constant
improvement to take better care of our employees and their personal
growth.

Care for Employees

The Group endeavors to cultivate a communication environment that
is sincere, open, and efficient, where employees are harmonious and
trustful to one another. We encourage two-way communication between
management and employees to build mutual trust, increase productivity,
and boost employee morale.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

The Group attaches great importance to caring for and helping
employees. Adhering to the concept of “The Company Has Love, Mutual
Assistance”, we raised charitable donations for employees who suffered
from family tragedies, providing care and economic support to them
and their families. Besides, we also care about the physical and mental
health of our employees. To this end, our factories regularly organize
diversified activities for employees to enrich their spare time, promote
their communication and teamwork, thereby enhancing friendship and
cohesiveness.

Talent Development

The key to the long-term prosperity of the Group are the continuous
development and personal growth of our employees. Therefore, in China
South City, we put more efforts to the career planning of employees,
including the balanced development between personal career and life.
We continue to enhance our employee training system and provide
training for all levels of employees, including orientation and training
for management development. We have extensive and diverse training
programs, including lectures and seminars, online learning, outward
bound courses and experience sharing programs. We hope to effectively
assist our employees in enhancing their skills through various types of
training, helping them to realize their career planning and fully utilize their
strengths and potentials in their respective positions.

New Talent Development

The Group provides orientation for new employees, covering corporate
culture, systems and procedures, to help them quickly integrate and
understand the working environment and culture of the Group. In
addition, it has been the talent management objective of China South
City to nurture the best young generation for the society. With diversified
businesses, China South City can provide graduates with a sound platform
to facilitate their integration into the workplace, so that outstanding
graduates can show and explore their talents and build their ideal career.

“CSC Talent Program”

The Group recognises the importance of cultivating an excellent
management team. The “CSC Talent Program” is a training program
specifically designed for the management to help them understand their
management responsibilities and roles, adapt to their management
positions and quickly improve their management standards, thus
establishing a highly qualified and professional management team with

vitality, creativity and commitment for China South City.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - EHEERRE (A)

Occupational Safety and Health Management BzRER

Occupational safety and health are the top priority of the Group to ensure Bt Z 2 HEF I AEEERE THERANE EETH -
our employees’ welfare. China South City endeavors to take various  ZEFBE RIS EEEE @ L& EREREE
preventive measures to minimize potential occupational safety risks in our ~ BtEZ2REBEERE - AETRHE—(ARERELZ 2
operations and to provide a healthy and safe working environment for 8 T{EIRIE - REBMIBIE AR AR (R E AR L
our employees. The Group's occupational health and safety policies are BB ZERMAE) RCE BB EL 2 REREH)HIET
formulated in accordance with laws and regulations such as the Law of — BEZERERLZEBUR -

the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Occupational

Diseases and the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance of Hong

Kong.

Park Safety Management HEZ2EE
In the daily operations, project inspections by the safety team are arranged £

to eliminate potential safety risks and proactively eliminate hazards, and &%

regularly inspect fire-fighting facilities and safety signs. As required by the ML 2IZHE - MAEB NS REBEREK - Bk
State Council, the Group also carried out the “Production Safety Month”  SEE[Z24EA |AEE) - DMEERIFETRERHEA
activities to promote safety management in places, including but not BA7 - BT R ZEBEIERN LT 2EEKFR
limited to, office premises, construction sites and the entire project area. Ft o

Construction Safety BIZZE

Although the construction works of China South City are completed by ~ B AZERIMA TREE THRARE TN - BRERE
contractors, in view of the relatively high occupational safety and health — SEEBEFAEBAMBLEER - SR MABRE#RZ
risks associated with the construction business, we require the main  FEIZER KIE B FTAEMBR L 2 XM TAERE 7
contractor to prepare an effective occupational risk management plan to  EXAREN  HRAEWNBERKREETE - LA
identify, assess and control potential sources of hazards on all projects Bl + FH&E RiEHIFTA T2ER EMEBEELCKRIR - 1FE
and to ensure the safety of the project works through control measures in =~ BESIRIEERER TRNTEH - AEBTEH
accordance with the national and project location regulations, rules and ~ ( TR AEBILERBAEENLT 2 EELE
contractual requirements on safe and civilized construction. The Group @ NIEBEEFL - THASEENLT2 XHETH#E
has also implemented the Project Inspection and Assessment Management 7T/ Bt & FIaT i - BB EHEFEE L EBEMR T
Regulations to regulate its safety management committee and project EREIIRHLZEMER  EEE T LWEETAXN
management centre to conduct regular inspections and assessments for 2L % o

the safe and civilized construction of each project on a regular basis, so

as to protect the health and safety of workers through a two-pronged

approach by strengthening the attention of the main contractor and the

supervisory unit to safety.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Health and Safety Culture

The cornerstone of a successful production safety system is safety
education and training. Therefore, the Group has established and
implemented a sound production safety education and training system.
We provided regular occupational safety education courses and training
to our employees, conducted multiple safety seminars and fire drills to
enhance the safety awareness of all employees and upgrade their safety
skills. Apart from accident prevention, we have also invested resources to
enhance the health awareness among employees. Moreover, in response
to the prevailing running trend in recent years, we have organized running
groups and hired professional coaches to give guidance. CSC Shenzhen
has its employee dormitories furnished with various fitness facilities such as
gyms and table-tennis tables, treadmills, multi-training machines, indoor
cycling accessories, etc.

In response to work-related accidents, the Group communicates and
reports to the Human Resources and Social Security Bureau immediately
and ensures adequate risk prevention and emergency response measures
by reviewing the accidents. The Group also delegates its labor union
personnel to visit the injured employees, console their family members
and seek for the best treatment plan from various aspects in cooperation
with medical institutions. During the reporting period, there is no lost day
due to work injuries. There was only one work-related fatality incident in
the 2020721, resulting in a workplace injury rate of 2.55% per hundred
employees.

Labor Standards

The Group conducts regular inspections to prevent child labor or
forced labor, and strengthens internal training to raise awareness of
its subsidiaries for laws and regulations, so as to achieve the goal of
prohibiting child labor and forced labor. During the reporting period, the
Group did not record any cases of child labor or forced labor. In case of
any violations, the Group will refer them to the law enforcement agencies
in accordance with the law. The Group also recruits in accordance with
the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong and the Labor Law of the
People’s Republic of China, which prohibit any form of forced labor and

compulsory overtime work.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Prevention of Forced Labor

The Group enters into employment contracts that meet the requirements
of local laws and regulations with employees before their official
employment, which clearly stipulate the rights and responsibilities of both
parties, protect the rights and interests of employees, prohibit any form
of forced labor, ensure that all employees work on a voluntary basis,
and prohibit the use of any forced labor or indentured labor, corporal
punishment, imprisonment, or threat of violence. If overtime work is
required for manufacturing operations or under special circumstances,
overtime work must be arranged with the consent of the employee
without affecting the employee’s physical condition and compensated by
overtime pay.

Prevention of Child Labor

To eliminate the occurrence of such incidents, we check and review
the identity documents, relevant certificates and work experience of
job applicants during the recruitment process to verify their age. Once
child labor is found, we will immediately stop their work and conduct
investigations to identify loopholes and implement remedial measures to
prevent the recurrence of such incidents.

The Group strictly complies with relevant laws and regulations on the
prevention of child labor or forced labor, including the Labor Law of
the People’s Republic of China, and there were no violations during the

period.

Quality Property and Considerate Services

China South City remains committed to its quality management policy,
which prioritizes continuous improvement, brand protection, and customer
satisfaction. To achieve this, the company continually enhances its internal
project quality management processes, ensuring that its customers enjoy a
comfortable and high-quality commercial and residential environment. We
are committed to enhancing the overall sustainability of our value chain
while maintaining our competitive edge. We proactively communicate
with and manage our suppliers and contractors to establish long-term
and mutually beneficial partnerships, thus creating synergies and bringing
positive impact to the society.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Customer Health and Safety

The health and safety of our customers is always the top priority for
the Group’s business. The Group has set up a Safety Management
Committee, which is responsible for formulating rules and regulations on
fire prevention, disaster prevention and epidemic prevention for various
areas from the safety office to construction environment, and to the
management of the entire project area, and all relevant departments
are required to comply with these rules and regulations. The Safety
Management Committee also inspects and prevents individual safety
matters. For example, it regularly checks the implementation of safety
measures of each construction unit and the project site, and reminds
employees and relevant units to beware of fire and theft before the long

leave.

In response to the coronavirus (COVID-19), internally, we strengthened
cleaning and disinfection for the park and all buildings, conducted
temperature checks on all people entering and leaving the mall, and
implemented masking and social distance measures, as well as posted
epidemic prevention messages and precautionary information. Externally,
the Group also strengthened communication with other governmental
and local organizations in response to the government’s call, and
implemented epidemic prevention and control procedures in accordance
with relevant regulations.

Establishing Relationships with Customers

China South City recognizes that the opinions of its customers are crucial
to the sustainable development of the company. As such, we actively
seek out and listen to feedback from customers through various channels,
such as satisfaction surveys and complaint handling. By doing so, we
continually improve the quality of our services and strive to enhance the
overall customer experience and satisfaction.

The Group has formulated the implementation rules of customer satisfaction
surveys. The Group would collect and analyze the extent of customer
satisfaction to China South City in respect of product planning and
design, property management, construction quality, business operation
and customer service through customer satisfaction surveys. Accordingly,
specific optimization policies would be developed based on the analysis
results to continuously improve customer management and services and
hence enhance customer satisfaction and repurchase rate.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

To ensure that customer complaints can be responded to and resolved
in a prompt, effective, fair and reasonable manner, the Group strictly
follows the policy for customer complaint management and handling
guidelines, which clearly define the responsibilities and authority of the
property service centres of the Group in the management of customer
complaints in every aspect. General complaints would be concluded
within two working days from the date of receipt in order to appropriately
address customers’ demands. During the Reporting Period, the Group
received and processed 784 customer complaints in accordance with the
regulations, with a completion rate of 100%.

Quality Assurance

Recognizing that product quality and safety are paramount to our
customers, the community, and our corporate reputation, China South
City places a high priority on ensuring these aspects are met. We
consider delivering exceptional product quality and fulfilling our product
responsibilities as the fundamental building blocks of our business. The
Group strictly complies with the Construction Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Regulations on Quality Control of Construction Projects,
the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of Consumer
Rights and Interests and the Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of
China, and other laws and regulations and industry standards related to
product quality and safety that have a significant impact on the Group.
During the reporting period, the Group has recorded no non-compliance
incident.

Project Quality Management

We have formulated the Project Management Manual of China South
City Holdings Group to regulate project management responsibilities and
quality management systems for the early, middle and later stages of
projects and project delivery and acceptance, such as management system
for project inspection and evaluation, management system for prevention
and control of common defects in project quality, management system for
safe and civilized construction, management system for emergency plan
for major engineering accidents, project inspection and reporting system,
management guidelines for project delivery and acceptance, etc. All these
systems have been designed to ensure the quality management in all
stages of projects.

The Zijingmingdu project of CSC Zhengzhou was awarded the
certification by the Construction Industry Branch of China Safety Industry
Association and the “Sanxia Cup Quality Structural Project” by Chongqging
Construction Engineering Quality Association, demonstrating our efforts
in project quality management.

AREREFER RSN - B AF - AEMNE
FERBRAR - AEERISIZRBE P RFERER REE
FEBIENTT - ZIES|IAERERNEENMERGE T O
EEAEFPRFEEIIETRRREEER - —RIEF
EZBRFAEMEATEANER @ BREVERR
Bk o RREHIR - AEEIRE IR ERIETEH
EPIREF784% - FTEKFE100% ©

B AR
EZERRBINERDENLZ2HEMHTS  HER
CEBEZMEER - At AMREERLBIER
EUESEFERR - HMRB AR S MAERRE N
BOUERBEIEASEEBOEN - AEEERE
T(REARKMBERZEE) (ERIREBEERRK
By - CREARAMBEIEEE EREE)R(PEA
RANMBES R SHASEFEAFEEREEN
REMHBHOOERERMEMITERE - HEPALRE
EeBEMEMFHELE -

ITRESERE

BAIBIE TCEMBEREBTRERETM) - HeR
BITRNEERE - TIREBR - PREHARZAR
WWEEERHE - flan - TRRXGRFTGHE - T1RY
BEERAERE  REXWRIEESNE  ZATE
FHESTARERYE - TIERENREHE - HE
RNBUETE TIEESI5 - MR TEER SHEENE
EEEHAEEARK -

AEBNEMNERREANZHARRSHTRLEE
EHBERETENENABLAEETERTIZEE
HEBEEN ZERMEE AR LI KRB - IR
SEEIREEEENS S -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - EHEERRE (A)

Operation Manual for Project Management Quality Control of

Before
commencing
construction

BT Al

During
the
construction

IREH

After
completion

BIH

Advertising Standards

China South City has consistently prioritized transparency and accuracy
when introducing new products and disseminating promotional
materials, ensuring that customers are well-informed and able to make
informed decisions. Our frontline employees are also required to provide
customers with complete and clear product descriptions, and misleading
advertising or sales practices are strictly prohibited. China South City

China South City Group
(EEREEIREHE EEEERHRETFM)

Regulate the preliminary management of project construction, carry out overall planning of the project management
process in the early stage of construction so that the construction layout, project progress, quality, safe and civilized
construction and other project management work can be more standardized, reasonable and efficient, and strengthen
the project pre-control management to ensure the smooth implementation of the project.
REHEZRMATHERE TN  BATEEZINPH T ETIRRIZETERRE  EETEATEME  TEEE
B8 TENHEISETREBANDENRE 512 S R(CTEREER - REHB B Fit -

Regulate the management of project construction process, clarify the control points and difficulties of project
management, ensure the management for the quality, progress, safe and civilized construction of the whole process of
project, continuously improve the level of project management, and finally achieve project development goals.

FREIRE ERBIRE IR R TRERAZHI SN  RRYTRAREE2BENEE  #E  Z2XHE
TEIE - PEHRATR2EIRKT - REKRBFERR -

Regulate the management of completion acceptance to ensure the smooth completion of the project completion
acceptance on schedule. The Project Management Department shall cooperate with the Project Department and the
Outreach Department to prepare the special acceptance plan, preliminary acceptance plan and completion acceptance
plan.

RERTHRIKNER - BRIZHIER TR IR TBRKTE - TREEIRE TIREMING B RAUFHEBYGEE -
R EIFIR TGS -

ERE

adopts responsible marketing strategies to ensure the compliance of — ARMMEEE XA EADER A o
all advertising and other promotional materials with applicable local

and national laws and regulations, including the Advertising Law of the

People’s Republic of China and other applicable regulations.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Protecting Customer Privacy and Intellectual Property
Maintaining the trust of our customers and employees relies on our
commitment to safeguarding personal data. The Group is committed to
maintaining and protecting the personal data privacy of our customers
and employees. We strictly comply with the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on the Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests and other
privacy-related laws and regulations, and require all employees who have
access to technical and trade secrets of the Group and its customers to
observe confidentiality obligations, so as to prevent leakage of information
and trade secrets and ensure the confidentiality of customer information.
To protect consumer information and privacy, customers’ personal data
has been uploaded to the Mingyuan system, which is equipped with the
latest firewall and anti-virus software and is protected by a dedicated
person responsible for the use of the system account. Access to customer
information is restricted to authorized persons on a need-to-know and
need-to-use basis.

We also emphasize originality and respect intellectual property rights.
Therefore, employees are not allowed to disclose or exploit any patents
and trademarks of the Group and its customers without authorization.
Moreover, the Group has signed a non-disclosure agreement with its
employees when they enter into employment contracts, which stipulates
that employees are obligated to prevent the disclosure of the information
of the Group and protect the interests of the Group and relevant
stakeholders. During the report year, the Group owns a total of 225
intellectual properties.

Supply Chain Management

The Group's strong business development hinges on the dependable
support of our suppliers, who are integral stakeholders in our business
value chain. To build a mutually beneficial partnership, China South City
is fully committed to working closely with our suppliers. We strive to
adopt environmentally and socially responsible practices throughout our
supply chain, gradually integrating environmental and safety standards
into our established procurement workflow. By doing so, we are better
equipped to meet the demands that may arise from future policy changes.
We remain vigilant of market trends and will respond proactively to any
specific circumstances.

REFFLBNMBERE

MR P B THETBURR HFIREEA BB A
o ARERNEERERF RIE & HEAE R
2o BAIBRET(PEARKMBIEE B RRE
EVELBMBERER  UBKMBRKBYAELE
REBFPHEMEEFREENE IR TRERY -
IHERARERTNRR - BRTPERRE - BIR
BB EEENRALE  EPEATLREES LEER
BB N R SR - I SRR RE R BR &R
B YARBEABBRSRKRFPNER - EPERR
AT IRAM LA RAFE -

BAT+0IERAMRESNRERE - BT TS
BARBEIFAAREEMERPOENENREE -
R AEEESTRILHERAK  SRLHEER
ek - T%%E%%EJZE\I%ETEKE&HKEIE%MI\E :
IREASE LA GSEIRENER - FAXNKESH
T?&ﬁZZSfI%HE&ETEIEH °

HEEEE
AEENRREBERBENHBENA T
PMREPIEBEEET T AIKROFEEBE - BT
BYBMHARNBHER  ERRBONEHRERE

BAE - HMBHEREARERDRALRENLE
BEENME  BEMERRENL 2R ERARKPIEE
ERRETERES » B E LR AR RBRE
{ERTBE R RMFE R - X YBETHBE - RIFASE
BRI TR EE -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Sustainable Supply Chain

In line with the Group’s vision and mission of sustainable development
and corporate citizenship, we also expect our suppliers to work together
with us to reduce the environmental and social impacts during business
operations. Therefore, when selecting suppliers, the Group also takes into
account their environmental awareness and social responsibility. We adopt
a collaborative approach throughout our supply chain and encourage
suppliers and other partners to explore and implement sustainable
business practices.

Supplier Selection System

The Group values product quality and cost control, also most of its
procurement would go through a tender process. The Group has
established standardized management practices for tender procurement,
which clearly specify the procurement methods and regulate the tender
procurement process, as well as provide for rewards and penalties for
procurement inspection and assessment, in a bid to enhance the efficiency
and quality of procurement and safeguard the legitimate interests of the
Group. During the reporting period, the above management policies and
employment practices were applied to 530 suppliers.

Supplier Management

The Group has established a supplier management process to strengthen
supplier management and ensure the quality of products and services
provided by suppliers.

AR REAERE
RTNAAEENAHERRBESMEGREEAR
MES - BfIbHEHERERM—ESS - BdE
HELHEHRENMLENTE - REEREHER
o ARETNERHERNRREE LT SEIRA
AZRHE - HAEREREERNBEDR - S8
HEBREMEERHFRENERATHENELR
% o

HrEmRERTE

AEBEREMNE S RANIES - K& RS
BEBRRET ARERARECHBRREERE
woE - Eh ARy RERED A RABRRRERE
FREFTARBUEERNES RS RBRELE
B HEAEENA AR RARSHA - AEE
AT Lt B IR BRSO ER 2K530%K

HEFEERRE
REBRMEREIRRIZ - AMBHEEREIERRE
HERMRENERLRRTHVEE -

Supplier sourcing  The Group sources suppliers through a variety of methods, including public solicitation and peer solicitation.

For suppliers through internal referrals, we require our employees to make referrals in real name to avoid

potential risks in the relevant supply chain.
rEEFBREERR - BRAFES  BiTEE
B - AR AR EENEERR -

HERSIR

F o MPRABERNHER - HMEERAFREIER

it

\r
b

Supplier admission Inspection teams from different departments of the Group will conduct inspections and professional

evaluations of suppliers.

o Goodwill verification: remove those suppliers with quality defects, illegal acts or bad reputation in the
past two years
o Preliminary vetting: verify supplier’s qualification, financial status and past performance
HIER A S HAEENERPURSZR/NERHERETER N FEMNTE -
. EEZE  JIRBEMFANFELESME - BETR  EETROMHER
o EEEE: REHERNES  MBRLKBERR
Performance We will conduct performance evaluation of our partner suppliers and manage them in a tiered manner to
evaluation monitor and evaluate their sustainable performance, so as to ensure the supply quality.
BRI E BMEEAEFHERETROMNE - WEHHERETOMDBEER - LERA G MM AT EHRER

RIEHELE -

\\¥\
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRiR - HEHEREE(H)

Communication with Suppliers

The Group promotes its concepts and experience in sustainable
development to the supply chain through supplier conferences, supplier
visits and on-site exchanges. Meanwhile, we learn from advanced
experiences and latest technologies at home and abroad to keep abreast
of the times.

Contributing to Society for Harmony and Inclusion
China South City has been actively engaged in charity affairs at
communities to create harmonious communities by giving back to the
areas it serves.

The Group operates in many parts of China and is closely involved in
the development of communities. We are always concerned about the
development needs of the community and are committed to making
contributions to the community. We are also deeply concerned about the
sustainable development needs of different operating regions, and we
must consider the interests of the community and give back to society
when conducting any business operations. Due to the ongoing pandemic
during this reporting period, we were unable to allocate resources to
community welfare affairs. In the future, as the pandemic subsides,
our group will actively continue to improve community welfare affairs,

creating a harmonious and inclusive community for our next generation.

CSC Chongging enhances environmental quality
EFEENRARERE

HEFER

AREBBHERAS  HEFED BHERIR
SHEACHEE FEEFERRESNER - R
TEIREE B RSN LB AR B - B R -

BERtE MEHLRE
EHHEELELEDHEY  DEFMRESOLE
HAITHALE -

AEEMEEMEBHRTEZ @) - B NEERET
AR - B —ERIHRMBRFR - BOREE
tERER - RITF+ DRI RS EM R A A AR
RBE  EETEMNEBSER  ELERIEHE
BAER - EMEEL S - AREHERIERHE - Bt
RERBERELRABZEH L - RE - BERBHE
B AEBSEBHETELEASER - BEMW
T—HREBEMEARAOME
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Sustainability at a Glance AREEREE
Energy Consumption
BERER 2022/23
Direct energy consumption kwWh 9,949,199.84
HEREREE TR
Intensity of direct energy consumption kWh/Employee 3,704.10
BEREREERE ThRE EE
Indirect energy consumption kWh 338,301,719.91
BiZEREE FRE
Intensity of indirect energy consumption kWh/Employee 125,950.01
R EE TRE &S
Total energy consumption kWh 348,250,919.75
HELRIEE TR
Intensity of total energy consumption kWh/Employee 129,654.10
BREREERE FTRE &E
Direct Energy Consumption
BEEREE
QOil fuel consumption kWh 1,199,512.07
PR FEE? TR
Intensity of oil fuel consumption kWh/Employee 446.58
REEEE ThRE EE
Gas fuel consumption kWh 8,749,687.77
AR TR
Intensity of gas fuel consumption kWh/Employee 3,257.52
WAERE ThRE EE
Indirect energy consumption
BiERRMEE
Electricity consumption kWh 338,301,719.91
BHEE TR
Intensity of electricity consumption kWh/Employee 125,950.01
BENREEEE FTRE &E
Water Consumption
FKE 2022/23
Water consumption m3 7,998,280.06
FkE K
Intensity of water consumption m3/Employee 2,977.77
FKEBEE MFKR/EE

WO R B IRV S SO

MEFEREREIENRAR
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Gas fuel consumption includes purchased natural gas
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The energy data referenced uses the low calorific value conversion provided by the National Energy Administration and is expressed in kWh
RERBE2ZRERERESRHNERERERTRE
Qil fuel consumption includes unleaded gasoline and diesel



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BR - HEHEREE(H)

Waste Generated Volume

BEYLES 2022/23
Hazardous waste tonnes N/A A~
BEEEY 48

Intensity of hazardous waste tonnes/Employee N/A e
BEEEDEE =]

Non-hazardous waste tonnes 234,337.40
BEREEY A

Intensity of non-hazardous waste tonnes/Employee 87.24
BEERYEE Wi, 18

Exhaust Gas Pollutant Emission Volume

BER B E 2022/23
Nitrogen oxides (NO,) kg 293.37
RED NI

Sulphur oxide (SO) kg 15.96
k=t NI

Particle (PM) kg 20.89
R NI

Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Emission

BERBHRC 2022/23
Direct emissions (Scope 1) tonnes of CO,e 1,857.09
BB (EE—)S AW tIRE 2

Energy indirect emissions (Scope 2) tonnes of COe 192,933.47
sEIRMEIE B (g E )7 AE_SLIRE S

Other indirect emissions (Scope 3) tonnes of CO,e 299.25
Hih B (HBE=)? A S LIRE £

Total GHG emissions tonnes of CO,e 195,089.82
BREREHNE AE—F(LIRE S

Intensity of total GHG emissions tonnes of CO,e/Employee 72.63

BREREHNERE

RS E B8

The government clears and transports hazardous waste for enterprises, and thus there is no relevant record
BN REREERSERY - U EHRE
The GHG calculations are based on the Environmental Key Performance Indicators Reporting Guide published by the Stock Exchange, the 2006

IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories, the IPCC Fifth Assessment Report, the China Grid Baseline Emission Factor for the

2019 Emission Reduction Projects

BERBEAE DERE B MARIRIEBREIUEE®REES] - 2006FIPCCRFAE RS

18 B o B 1 B AR A

HENSERABHEFAUAER - SORER - BENRAR - —RIEHOR AR

HE2BEEEE NNREETK
8 Scope 3 includes business travel

HERBEHBEIR

Scope 2 includes energy indirect emissions from purchased electricity

BB « IPCCERNFHETRS « 2019F FRHE

Scope 1 includes gasoline use from mobile vehicles, diesel use, purchased natural gas, carbon dioxide fire extinguishers
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - SHEERRE (A)

Number of Employees

by different categories RAEERE T HNEE AR 2022/23
By Gender EgE 3 E oo

Male ESla 1,448
Female egid 1,238
By Employment Type RERERES

Full-time g 2,666
Part-time Fe 0
Others EAtb 20
By Age Group RERARE D

<25 <255% 86
25-34 25% 3453 1,020
35-44 3554455 1,074
45-54 455545, 445
55-64 55Z645% 60
>65 >655%, 1
By Geographical Region Ry EE D

Mainland China E)EipN S 2,676
Hong Kong SAR BARRIITE R 10
Other Region E b= 0

CSC Harbin ite sfety nspection ‘ Asia Pacific Zhengzhou conducted a special training on Project Manager
RREERRBEE REARE Role Orientation and Cognition

HMTARRIEREEEAETENRBNERE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - EHEERRE (A)

Employee’s Turnover Rate

by different categories BRI B D Bk 2R 2022/23
(%)
By Gender BRI D
Male S 2.56
Female egi 2.23
By Age Group RERARE S
<25 <255% 5.62
25-34 25F 3453 2.92
35-44 3554455, 2.17
45-54 455545, 1.35
55-64 55E645% 1.1
>65 >655%, 0
By Geographical Region R EE 5
Mainland China GEpNES 2.41
Hong Kong SAR BARRIITE R 0.83
Other EAh 0

The Percentage of Total Employees Trained

by different categories BAEERETNZINETFHLEL 0 2022/23
(%)

By Gender BRI &5

Male St 54.24

Female 7t 45.76

By Employee Category RESERES

Senior management =g 7.81

Middle management g 37.56

General employees —MET 54.63

o Average monthly turnover rate of employees in a specific category = the full-year number of resigned employees in a specific category/12/

average monthly number of employees in a specific category x 100%
HEHARNEENEAFHRAR = BEHEAEENE2FHBAZ 12/ BEHEANRENET ATFHAZ X 100%

10 Calculation formula: Percentage of the number of trainees in a specific category = total number of trainees in a specific category/total number
of employees in a specific category x 100%

FELR  BERBIZIABBLY = FERIEENAZIIAZHERREENEAZ X 100%
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - EHEERRE (A)

The Average Training Hours Completed

per Employee by different categories BRIABERNES SR EENTFEZIIEEY 2022/23
(Hour)
(/]NBF)

By Gender BERIE S

Male St 4.76

Female gegi 4.26

By Employee Category RESERESD

Senior management =g 6.27

Middle management g 5.86

General Staffs —MET 3.83

Health & Safety
BEEZE 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in %/hundred 2.55 0 0
each of the past three years, including the reporting year ~ employee

BEAZF(PEERFE)RITHHAS KX %/ BAHEBTL

Lost days due to work injury Days 1 0 0
ETEEAIEAR H

Number of suppliers by region TEtEE D N EREE 2022/23
Shenzhen w 98
Nanning FE 36
Nanchang B 39
Xi‘an (i3 48
Harbin BEAE 4
Zhengzhou (N 67
Hefei e 58
Chongging BE 54
Other Hth 126

Anti-corruption
RES 2022/23

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices during the reporting period 0

RERANRE Y O EENETHARTEE

B Calculation formula: average training hours per employee = total training hours of employees in a specific category/total number of employees
in a specific category

FELAR  GRESTHZIINE = FEANEENBZIIRNEFEHEDIEE HEAS
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRI HEH

Index to the Environmental, Social and Governance

ERRE (F)

Reporting Guide of the Stock Exchange

A Environmental

A RE

Aspect A.1
FHA
KPIA.1.1

FEIZA 1.1
KPIA.1.2

EIEA. 1.2

KPIA.1.3

FEIZEA. 1.3

KPIA.1.4

FEIZA. 1.4

KPIA. 1.5

FEIZA 1.5
KPIA.1.6

FEIZA 16

Emissions
b2 3187

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

HERiE R AR R PEE

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).

HE(BE) RREE(BE2)RZEREHME (U E) R(ER)%E
(WA ESEEBA - BERGTE)

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

FEEEEREEYES (VAT E) R(ER ) &BE (MASES B -
HextE) -
Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate,

&
B

intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

FEEREEEYES A E) R(ER) BE (MASESEN - 517
HextE) -
Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

a
3

A PTETSZ VRN E B 1R R AE RS L B R P ERERE) 28R -

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a
description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
IR A = M EEREREYN X - AR PrRT SZARRE B iR R ARE RS B
SFTERER B2 BR o

BRI - 8 REBHEESDES

Section

8-

Environmental
Management
RIEER

Air emission
Management,
Sustainability at a
Glance

FEREIE - AIRHE
BERME

Waste
Management,
Sustainability at a
Glance
FEEYEIR - Al
BEREE
Waste
Management,
Sustainability at a
Glance
FEEYEIR - Al
BEREE
Environmental
Management
RIEER

Waste Management

BEEMERE

The government
clears and transports
hazardous waste
for enterprises, and
thus there is no
relevant record.

B RT¥5ER
FEEY - BORE
MR
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRI HEH

A Environmental

A RE

Aspect A.2
FHEA.2
KPIA.2.1

FE1FA2.1

KPIA.2.2

IEIRA2.2

KPIA.2.3

EFZA.2.3
KPIA.2.4

HEIFA.2.4
KPIA.2.5

FEIEA.2.5
Aspect A.3

JTEA3
KPIA.3.1

FEIZA3. 1

Aspect A4
FHA.4
KPIA.4.1

FEIZEAA.1

ERRE (F)

Use of Resources

EIR{E R

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil)
in total (kWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

REAEISMEER SEEER(NE
REE(MAGES BN - BHREAE) -

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).

BFKERERE(MASEEEN - BEREE) -

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

AL FTRT S RO BEIRE X aR B R N AE 25 L B IR PTRRRA) P8R -

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose,

water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

R SKEGERKR LT B ERER - ARMRI S AKNER B IR R AED)E L

B R FTERERHY 78], o

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if applicable,

with reference to per unit produced.

KRR BEMHRE (UMEETE) R(NER) BEEEM(LE -
The Environment and Natural Resources

RERRAER

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and
natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.

LR EBHRERRARERNEAZEREFNEEEFRTENT -

Climate Change

RAREE

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and
those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

RRBEERAEEHETAELETENEARKEREE - REHTE -
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- RO R E AT ETRETE)

Section

0]

Energy
Management,
Sustainability at a
Glance

BEIRETE - AT
ERME

Water
Management,
Sustainability at a
Glance
KREREIR » AlHF
BRRENE
Environmental
Management
BREE

Water Management

KEIRE R

Packaging Materials

e

During the
Reporting Period,
there was no
incident that had a
significant impact
on the environment

and natural
resources.
HNARBEHIRE R
RAB R E R
BHEH -

Responding to
Climate Change
FEH RIREME



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRI HEH

B Social

BHHE

ERRE (F)

Employment and Labour Practices

EREETER

Aspect B.1

JTHEB.1

KPIB.1.1

E1ZB. 1.1

KPIB.1.2

E1ZB. 1.2

Aspect B.2

7 THB.2
KPIB.2.1

E1ZB.2. 1
KPIB.2.2
EIZR.2.2

KPIB.2.3

151%B.2.3

Employment

(=

Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or part-time),
age group and geographical region.

IR EEEE(NERERE) - FRAR MRS DHRE AR -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region.

RIER - BRI RtEE D EBRAKLLE -

Health and Safety

fEREZ S
Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three
years including the reporting year.

BE=F(BRERFE)BFRTUHRNAZRBLE -

Lost days due to work injury.

EITEBARTIEAE -
Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how they
are implemented and monitored.

R FTER AR B R R R IR L 21806 - A RMBBIRIT RERIE -

II China South City Holdings Limited ZERHZRERA 7

Section

0]

People-oriented,
Diversity and
Inclusion
AARAR

Z AR

Our Team,
Sustainability at a
Glance

IR EE - AR
BERYE

Our Team,
Sustainability at a
Glance
HFIREER - ATH
BEREYE
Occupational
Safety and Health
Management
Bici2Ene
Occupational
Safety and Health
Management

B gl
Health and Safety
Culture
EEZ2XI(t
Occupational
Safety and Health
Management
BzfEeE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRI HEH

B Social

BHHE

Aspect B.3
J7THB.3
KPIB.3.1

75157B.3.1
KPI B.3.2

154%B.3.2
Aspect B.4
77 HB.4
KPIB.4.1

FE1ZB.4.1

KPI B.4.2

1EIEB.4.2

Operating Practices
& EE A
Aspect B.5

J7HEB.5
KPIB.5.1

E1ZB.5.1
KPIB.5.2

E1ZB.5.2
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ERRE (F)

Development and Training

e NS5

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g.
senior management, middle management).
RUERIREERI(ESRERE FREERB)EASNZIIEEBDL °
The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee
category.

RIERIREERFIZID - FRESTTHE TR -

Labour Standards

L TR

Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and
forced labour.

AR R IR E Bl AR B T R KIS T

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered.

R IR BRI H R A RIS LT IRER ) 22 5% o

Supply Chain Management

HpEEEE

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

il S D EEHE -
Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers
where the practices are being implemented, and how they are implemented and

monitored.
Haa e A A ER R - MEITABIERNMEEENEE - ARABEENT
MEER % o

\\¥\

Section

0]

Talent Management
AT ER

Talent Development

BEAT

Talent Development

BE AL
Labour Standards
45 TR
Labour Standards

& T AR

No violations during
the reporting
period.
TRERNREGE
BB

Supply Chain
Management
HrEEER
Supply Chain
Management
HpEEEIR
Sustainability at a
Glance, All new
have gone through
the relevant
assessment process
of the Group prior
to procurement.
Furthermore, all
suppliers in our
current partnership
have passed the
annual assessment.
AIRHER RIS
PRA #R e FEER
EREERAEE
EIRRERT(HRIR -
IR IE& 1ERI e
Eth A EE A -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRI HEH

B Social

BHHE

KPI B.5.3

#51ZB.5.3

KPI B.5.4

FE17B.5.4
Aspect B.6

J7TEB.6
KPIB.6.1

7EIZB.6.1

KPI B.6.2

#51ZB.6.2

KPI B.6.3

E1ZB.6.3
KPI B.6.4
7E1ZB.6.4

ERRE (F)

Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along the
supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.

A R RS ERGRE It gRRNES - AREREARTRESR
% o

Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products
and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

SRR (I PR (R (0 2 IR IREE ma AR HVIE B - DA RMBREBIT R BEE T
v e

Product Responsibility

EmEE

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and
health reasons.

EEdDEXERRRT AR ERFEAMACKRNBEOL -

Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are
dealt with.

BRI EE an RS HVIR AR B B A R HT70E o

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual property
rights.

i B v SRS AN E R G RA VI B -

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

il E S8 1B N E m B WGEFr o

Section

0]

Supply Chain
Management
HpEEEIR

Supply Chain
Management

e e

Quality Assurance
m B RE

No products were
recalled for safety
and health reasons
during the reporting
period.
REBNRGE
o A 22 & B 2 FR IR
A ZaEE Y o
During the
Reporting Period,
the Group received
and processed

784 customer
complaints in
accordance with the
regulations, with a
completion rate of
100%.
REHA - A&
ElbelNiZzeThal
B EPIRAFRT784
B EKE100% ©
Quality Assurance

mERE
Quality Assurance
m B RE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRI HEH

B Social

BHHE

KPI B.6.5

751ZB.6.5
Aspect B.7

JFEB.7

KPIB.7.1

FEIEB.7.1

KPIB.7.2

EIEB.7.2

KPIB.7.3

HEI7B.7.3
Community

HE
Aspect B.8

77 HB.8

KPIB.8.1

E1ZB.8. 1

KPI B.8.2

E1ZB.8.2
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ERRE (F)

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
il E B & B RHRIE RALRRBUR

Anti-corruption

F ARAERST REERTTE -

REF

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against
the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of the
cases.

RERMHASHBETASEESRHIEEENE
=200

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and how

TS EREATRITRVEN B KA ALA

they are implemented and monitored.

ity #E e SRR DA RMBRIRIT R BRI E -
Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff.

fatrEE R B TREMNRESHE -

Community Investment

HEIE

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour

needs, health, culture, sport).

EIRREE(IHE  BREFE  SIHFR #F Xt 85 -

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

EEIREMPAER (NS ERERE)

\\¥\

Section

0]

Quality Assurance

& R
Integrity and
Compliance
BIERRZ
AREE

No litigation cases
on corruption
during the reporting
period.
ABREHAREE
TEERAAERM -
Integrity and
Compliance

B IERROR
GREE
Integrity and
Compliance

& IERRR
BREE

Contributing to
Society for Harmony
and Inclusion
v

TR
Contributing to
Society for Harmony
and Inclusion
et @
A LR
Contributing to
Society for Harmony
and Inclusion
B R
HFE



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B 2B AR S

e
EYzx

To the members of China South City Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China South
City Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 168 to 316, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2023, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Material uncertainty related to going concern

We draw attention to note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements,
which indicates that as of 31 March 2023, the Group’s current portion
of interest-bearing debts amounted to HK$12,785 million, while its cash
and bank balances amounted to HK$2,525 million. This condition, along
with the current situation as set forth in note 2.1, indicates that a material
uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this
matter.

HERHERBRAFTZRE
(REBEMA L BIRAA])

=R
BMEEZEEBEREGRAR(ERAR]) RENE
AF([EEEDHRF168E316HHERA MTSHRE
EHREAR2023F3 A31 HMGATBRRE - RE
EZBIEFENGEABRER  FRAZEKER 74
ERXEHRNGEEERER  URGRAMBHREM
7 BREEEEHBORBE -

BIRE  ZERAVBEHRREBERSSMAE
([BEERAE ) BEHh s BENBEREEL([EH
PIEREE DEEMAAMKET H5ER2023
F3IA3MANGETBRAREBEEZZ A LFENES
PHRRRGARERE  YEBRBREB R AEHZ

RRzER

BAIRBEEE S MASRMIBERTER(EE
FRTEADETER - REZFEAUT  RANEE
WA E N B L & oA 2 B R BREZ BT
—HiE—TMA - RIBEE RN B ERES
g AI([<PR))) - BB BEEE - IR
BTRIETEMBREL - RIFUEE - HAAESS
ERRERRANBEE I ARMNEZE RRHEE

HESFEKERRANERTREM
EREIERAVBHRRME21  ZMEED - B
£2023F3A310 BB EBERNHYE
127.851248 7T » MR & RIBITHFRGE25.2588 T °
ZEEHRBEREREMEB (WM EE2.1AH) - &
RAFEEATHEEN Hotey SS5EFELE
HEE IR EAR R - ML ERLEREKMOE
ﬁJ °
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B BETHRE (&)

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

BREEZEE

RRFZFARBRMANERHE - RRYRMFR
$HHF'EJ@/\E7H“#&2%E7%E§Z$IE HEFHRRE
BAEGREMBHRRBEBETERLIRNBERAZER
TR - 3 \%ﬂﬂ%%%%lﬁ%f#%?%%ﬁ o HAFIH
TG —FIREE R R AAI IR < i TR AL R

=

= °

BRI ARS PEHME LA BRI EE
—EPRARMEE - BREAEREEREZET B
It BPINEZERENMTEERYESMBEHRRETR
BAERBARBREMREZRT ° BRIEFHAE
REREBATEENEF - SEMEENNEEE
BRENBZE R IRHER

Key audit matter BREZSE

Fair values of investment properties REYEZ LFE

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of investment properties # £2023F3 A31H - BEMENKREE A
was HK$53,430,054,000. Fair value gains on investment properties  53,430,054,000/8 7T « ¥ EWE v R FEWZE A

amounting to HK$151,588,000 were recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year then ended. The Group engaged
an external valuation expert to perform valuations of the Group's
investment properties to estimate their fair values as at 31 March 2023.
The fair values of investment properties were determined principally
using the income capitalisation method by capitalising the rental
income derived from the existing tenancies with due provisions for the
reversionary income potential of the properties. The determination of
application of the valuation technique, future rental income and rental
rate involved significant management judgement and estimates.

The related disclosures are included in notes 3 and 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our audit procedures included evaluating the valuation process and the
independence and expertise of the external valuation expert. We assessed
the related data of the properties used by the external valuation expert
as inputs for the valuations by comparing it to the historical data and
market index. We also involved our internal valuation expert to assist us
in evaluating the valuation methodology and the underlying assumptions,
which principally included the market unit rental rate and capitalisation
rate.

151,588,000/87C ' ERBEZFEILFEZGFREE
mRER . EXEZBEIIIGEERET X
BREYER2023F3A31BNMGE - REWER
FEEZERERABRNMOEEE  HERBRAHEE
FISmESBRAERE - WHMERNEETERK

AFTIREE BE - REHERMER - KRkE2
I R B 8 2 BB KRS 3R [ e St o

MR TR & B IS MR M T3 /15

ZEREF P TEE

BN EZREFBREFEGERFRINIHEER
B MEREEN - R BREL BB RTI5E
2 MmN BEEERARGETEENEE
FHEA - BAITFRERMANAREES %Tﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁ%
FHERIE  BEMSEMEE R RER X
TREMER -

\\¥\
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B BETHRE (&)

Key audit matters (Continued)

Key audit matter

AREZBE®G)

HAREEZER

Impairment of trade receivable balances

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of trade receivables
was HK$977,068,000. Assessment of the recoverability of trade
receivables involves a high level of management judgement. During
the year, management used a provision matrix to calculate expected
credit losses (“ECLs") for trade receivables. The matrix was initially
based on the Group’s historical default rates, and specific factors that
management considered in the estimation of the rates, including the
type of customers, ageing of the balances and recent historical payment
patterns. Management then calibrated the matrix for the historical credit
loss experience with forward-looking information, such as forecasted

economic conditions.

The related disclosures are included in notes 3 and 23 to the
consolidated financial statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We evaluated the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of
key internal controls which governed credit control, debt collection and
estimation of ECLs.

We assessed, on a sampling basis, whether items in the trade receivable
ageing report were classified with the appropriate ageing bracket by
comparing individual items in the report with the relevant sales invoices.

We assessed the adequacy of the ECL provision by: (i) evaluating
management’s assumptions used in establishing the ECL provision
matrix; (i) examining the information used by management to form such
estimation, including testing the accuracy of historical default data, and
evaluating whether the historical loss rates were appropriately adjusted
based on current economic conditions and forward-looking information;
and (iii) examining the actual losses recorded during the current financial
year.

FEW B 5 ARk Bl B

M2023F3A31H ERESEFEAEAR
977,068,000/ 7T © FEWE 5 MR &9 A] B U1 B R T 1
BREKFNEREHE - F1 BEECRER
FEAEERESERANEREEERE - EEEY
ERAEERLEORREREBEMGAREZE
NREERZ  BEEPHAE - SHRRERCIHES
SAER o Hig - EREFRARE SR (I
B KBS (A ) RS2 I 52 {5 FRIB RIS SR Y JBRE -

MERR BN AR A P ImA M 3 23 -

ZEREF P U EE

ﬁﬁ%ﬁTTﬁmﬁ?ﬂ WEMBERERRG
FHEVREER M ERE B ERET - BIETES BRI -

ﬁﬁLﬂmfﬁ¢¢mﬂﬂEEﬁH%%E%m
AT R R E SRR R E P HIAR 2
BIEERERIEDRR -

BHABBUA T AFEEREEBREROH TS
- ()FEEREERLENEEBERBERR
%ﬁ%%ﬁ“'@ﬁﬁ%@@%%%&%ﬁﬁ%%
ﬁﬂﬁﬁii%%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ'ﬁﬁﬁi
$Erﬂﬁamﬁﬂﬂﬁﬁmﬁﬁ1 1758
%*%'A&Mﬁﬁ$%ﬁ¢&ﬁ&%a%%ﬁ°
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B BETHRE (&)

Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s

report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing

to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the

consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations

or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

\\¥\
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B BETHRE (&)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

BREMBERARSMBRREARE2EE

BB R AU ERGEMBHRRED T FERANK
REERERRR M G B2 (M E A R R AMES A B IRE -
YHERLFERMEENZBEIRS - HPIRBEFER
AP 40515 - ERBBRR®RS - M AEEMLA
& o BT E 2 AR EHERE A A LA E
EEREE o

ARRBRFKTHRE - WREE BB EARS
ZEBRIETRRESERBATEZ EXERR
i SRR AT AR SR A - VIR A R TRRAN
RT AR B AERESAUNBER I ZEFRT
B - AR BB AL -

ERERBEENETERZBESD  KMERT
BXRHE - RIT T ERESER o AT

o BRI KA AR ERGEF IR AR TS BRI TR
REEERBRRE AR - REFRATEX
RFARHZERR  ARERTEMEE 2
BREE  EREMERZER - ARNKGFH
PR EBR B ERER  ERRLZ0E
BABREZEZIBEN - Bt RRE3R A RTEME
BZEARHERRA ARBAERMER 2 E
KRR AR R °

s THREZRZMEMIAMER  URFEEZE
TRERF - BEMLIFY BEEEAMERECE
MIEERBR -

o MEEEMRASHREZBEERELES
At MR R E 2 A2 -
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B BETHRE (&)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the

consolidated financial statements (Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going

concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23 43R \ \ N
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B BETHRE (&)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is M.L. Chau.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King's Road

Quarry Bay

Hong Kong

29 June 2023

BRBMHBERREMBBRRAREZRE
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REBZZEGERL FET  AMETHABEA
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
mEBR@ER

For the year ended 31 March 2023  #(%&2023F3A31HILFE

For the year ended 31 March

BZE3HA31MBLEE
2023 2022
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
FisE FET T
(Restated)
(rE5)
CONTINUING OPERATIONS BESEER
REVENUE KA 5 4,052,262 9,615,923
Cost of sales SHERAR (3.232,227) (6,768,284)
Gross profit EH 820,035 2,847,639
Other income and gains, net Htb A RWizs - 558 5 139,687 1,098,654
Fair value gains on investment properties REMELNTF AW 5 151,588 148,244
Selling and distribution expenses SHE R HRE (218,710) (369,156)
Administrative expenses G (846,710) (982,754)
Other expenses Eibfs (871,695) (443,537)
Finance costs BE AR 7 (769,426) (787,788)
Share of profits of an associate JE(RESE &N R 2 A 36,069 -
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX FROM REBECEER
CONTINUING OPERATIONS BiAT(&8),/FE 6 (1,559,162) 1,511,302
Income tax credit/(expenses) FrssimE(Ax) 10 3,856 (834,738)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM REFELSEERZ
CONTINUING OPERATIONS EEE(BR)/FIE (1,555,306) 676,564
DISCONTINUED OPERATION BRIEREEK
Profit for the year from a discontinued REDKIEEEER L
operation REEFHE 11 2,254,801 82,560
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REEFE 699,495 759,124
Attributable to TIE T R
Owners of the parent SREIEEA 699,984 760,200
Non-controlling interests FEFERR R (489) (1,076)
699,495 759,124
EARNINGS/(LOSSES) PER SHARE BERELATZER
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EEFEAZ
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT BRER(FB) 13
Basic HIK
— for profit for the year — A FEEFE HK6.34 centsi&fll  HK9.39 centsi# il
— for (loss)/profit from continuing operations ~ —REFHELLER
(E518), /& (HK14.10 centsi&fll)  HK8.37 cents/&fll
Diluted i3
— for profit for the year —AREERHE HK6.34 centsi&fll  HK9.39 centsi&ll
— for (loss)/profit from continuing operations ~ — R ERELLERS 2

(E518), /M8

(HK14.10 centsi&fll)  HK8.37 cents/&ll
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
e EEWaER

For the year ended 31 March 2023  #(%&2023F3A31HILFE

For the year ended 31 March

HE3H3MALLEE
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET T
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REEFHE 699,495 759,124
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME Ht2mE(E5E), WA
Other comprehensive (loss)/income that may R A e EN AR
be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent BamEMmEE(EBE)
periods: N
Exchange differences on translation of foreign BMEFINERFHE R 5
operations (4,974,716) 3,260,544
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME REERBEHEMEEE
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX €0 ON (4,974,716) 3,260,544
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME AEELZE(SE) WA
FOR THE YEAR (4,275,221) 4,019,668
Attributable to: TFI & T L
Owners of the parent ISYNEIEF=PN (4,273,950) 4,021,109
Non-controlling interests VTR (1,271) (1,441)
(4,275,221) 4,019,668
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mERBRRR

As at 31 March 2023 72202393 H31H

31 March 2023
202343 H31H

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BdsE FExT BT

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB R 14 716,799 817,380
Investment properties wEME 15 53,430,054 57,767,160
Right-of-use assets FREEE 17 497,759 543,937
Properties under development BERERAYE 16 1,456,194 1,578,157
Interest in an associate E’\Hﬁﬁ%@ﬂé’ﬂiéﬁ 18 1,471,483 -
Financial assets at fair value through profit BB AAFEIERZ

or loss SREE 19 5,668 3,325
Other long-term receivables H A R HIFEWNGRIA 20 896,447 560,758
Deferred tax assets REFIIRE B 33 3,490,049 3,684,246
Total non-current assets B EERE 61,964,453 64,954,963
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Properties held for finance lease FHEREHREMZ 21 126,888 135,251
Properties held for sale RHEHEME 21 45,628,055 46,693,652
Inventories FE 22 32,698 51,353
Trade receivables FEWE SRR 23 977,068 2,351,409
Prepayments, other receivables and other ~ J&/~FkIE + Eth fiE U 708 &

assets Hib&E 24 2,826,618 5,519,728
Amount due from a related party FENS A& T BB 27 143,541 -
Cash and bank balances R& RIBITFR 25 2,525,074 4,681,068
Total current assets mEEERE 52,259,942 59,432,461
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAEE
Trade and other payables f’f%&ﬁﬁﬁfﬁ K18 26 7,253,709 12,049,373
Amount due to an associate FE{TH N R)FIE 27 926,257 -
Amounts due to related parties FE1S Fﬁ}iﬁnA 27 2,474,573 -
Contract liabilities ERAE 28 13,413,366 15,543,565
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &2 4R7T R HMEE 29 11,862,881 8,530,761
Senior notes BERRE 30 922,065 9,622,708
Medium-term notes EP ﬂf@)@ 31 - 799,382
Financial liabilities at fair value through FHRBRARNTEIERZ

profit or loss ﬁmﬁaﬁa 19 8,489 14,231
Domestic company bonds BARAEIES 32 - 1,797,258
Tax payables FERTFS IR 3,898,844 4,648,572
Total current liabilities BB (ELREE 40,760,184 53,005,850
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEESE 11,499,758 6,426,611
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEABERTHER

LIABILITIES 73,464,211 71,381,574
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

e MBRR &R (&)

As at 31 March 2023 72202393 H31H

31 March 2023 31 March 2022
202343 H31H 202293 A31H

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BdsE FET BT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEAE
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5t BIR1T M EMEE 29 9,416,275 12,552,811
Senior notes BEZR 30 10,629,541 2,672,456
Other long-term payables HAb RHIFE /IR 17(ii) 15,828 15,413
Deferred tax liabilities EEFRIEAE 33 10,717,565 11,050,922
Total non-current liabilities ERBEREAHE 30,779,209 26,291,602
Net assets EEFHE 42,685,002 45,089,972
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners of the parent  FFARIEHB A FE(GIERS
Share capital &N 34 9,131,812 7,222,312
Other reserves EAbfEE 36 33,538,233 37,851,432
42,670,045 45,073,744
Non-controlling interests FEFERR MR 14,957 16,228
Total equity ERAE 42,685,002 45,089,972
CHENG CHUNG HING Zf#A & QIN WENZHONG EX &
Director &% Director %
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2023  #(%&2023F3A31HILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRFER ARLE
Statutory Share  Exchange Non-
Share surplus option ~ fluctuation Capital  Revaluation ~ Retained controlling Total
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
reksh  ERE  EXRY &% Eff R SRR s
KA Ffe i #E Fife Fifs it 3t & 2%
Note HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
fifsk Thn Tir  TEn TEn Thn Tin  TEn TEn TEn TEn
Note ()
fiE0)
At 1 April 2021 202154518 7222312 3,248,766 61,807 (93,102)  (250537) 286,45 30,803,179 41,278,881 17,669 41,296,550
Profit for the year TEEHE - - - - - - 760200 760,200 (1,076) 759,124
Other comprehensive ~ AFEEMZE
income for the year: WA
Fichange differences on ~ AE I EHH
trandation of foreign ~~ EXEE
operations - - - 3260909 - - - 3260909 (365) 3,260,544
Total comprehensive  AEFAZENA
income for the year - - - 3260909 - - 760200 4,021,109 (1.441) 4,019,668
Disposal of subsidiaries ~ EEHEL - ] - 9,755 - - - 9,753 - 9,753
Transfer of share option BB R
reserve upon the forfeiture & IE
orlapse of share options ~ F#f& - - (0479 - - - 20479 - - -
Fquity-settled share option  LEREEH
arrangements Bz 3 - - 6,758 - . - - 6,758 - 6,758
Final 2021 dividend BER0E
declared RERE - - - - - - Qs 42,750) - Qa5
Transfer from retained ~~ EEAREF|E
profits - 251,902 - - - - (251902 - - -
At 31 March 2022 2022538318 7222312 3,500,666* 48086%  3,177,562* (250537  286,456* 31,089,199* 45,073,744 16,228 45,089,972
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)
REERBEHR(E)

For the year ended 31 March 2023  #(%&2023F3A31HILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BATER AR
Statutory Share  Exchange Non-
Share surplus option fluctuation Capital Revaluation  Retained controlling Total
capital reserve  reserve  feserve  reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
tER  BRE  ENRD g4 Bf 8 FER B&

Bx Cid Cid Cid Cid Cid R it it ]
Notes ~ HKS'000  HKS'000 ~ HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
iE3 TR TR TR TR TEx  TEx  TEx  TExn  TExn  TEn

Note (i)
()

At 1 April 2022 202254718 7222312 3,500,666 48,086 3,177,562  (250537) 286,456 31,089,199 45,073,744 16,228 45,089,972
Profit for the year TEEHE - - - - - - 699,984 699984 (489) 699,495
Other comprehensive  AFEEMZE

income for theyear: ~~ JA:
Fichange differences on ~ AE I EHH

trandation of foreign ~~ EXEE

operations - - - (4973,934) - - - (4973,934) (782)  (4,974,716)
Totdl comprehensive ~ AEFAZEEE

loss for the year - - - (4973934) - - 699,984  (4,273,950) (1271)  (4,275,221)
Issuance of new shares  E{71R1A 31,909,500 - - - - - - 1,909,500 - 1,909,500
Disposal of a subsiciary ~ EEMBLE] 3 - = - (40409) = = - (40409) - (40,409)
Transfer of share option RS AM

reserve upon the forfeiture  MEZHENR 2

orlapse of share options & - - (19,795 - - - 19,795 - - -
Equity-settled share option LA EZEEH)

arrangements RRERY 3 - - 1,160 - - - - 1,160 - 1,160
Transfer from retained ~ ERSRBH|E

profits - 69,998 - - - - (69,998) - - -
M3IMach 203 RI023%3A31A 0131812 3SI0E6 2451 (183678 (SOSU)  286456* 31736080* M2670045 1495 42685002

& These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated other reserves of ~ * ZERERBEGEVUBRAXRMEANEZE H
HK$33,538,233,000 (31 March 2022: HK$37,851,432,000) in the it 5% % 33,538,233,000 4 7T (2022 F3 A 318 :
consolidated statement of financial position. 37,851,432,00077T) ©

II China South City Holdings Limited ZEmHIE R AR 2 7 173



174

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)
REERBEHR(E)

For the year ended 31 March 2023  #(%&2023F3A31HILFE

Note:

In accordance with the PRC Company Law, the Company’s subsidiaries
registered in the PRC are required to appropriate 10% of the annual
statutory profit after tax (after offsetting any prior years’ losses) to the
statutory surplus reserve. When the balance of this reserve fund reaches
50% of the entity’s registered capital, any further appropriation is optional.
The statutory surplus reserve can be utilised to offset prior years’ losses or to
increase capital. However, the balance of the statutory surplus reserve must
be maintained at a minimum of 25% of the registered capital after such
usages.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GEBHERNER

For the year ended 31 March 2023  #(%&2023F3A31HILFE

For the year ended 31 March

BE3A31HLFE
2023 2022
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
s FET FHIT
(Restated)
(2 571)
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax TR
(Loss)/profit before tax from continuing SECATAT(EER),/FE
operations (1,559,162) 1,511,302
Profit before tax from a discontinued BRI 48 RS R B AR
operation 2,607,342 118,558
Adjustments for: FEE
Finance costs BE A 7,11 778,991 788,901
Share of profits of an associate JE(EEE AT ZFE (36,069) -
Interest income F B A 5 (137,406) (192,567)
(Gains)/losses on disposal of property, BEYZ - BEREER
plant and equipment and right-of-use EREEE (W),
assets, net [E518 - JFER (23) 33,145
Gains on land resumption T e 5 - (856,425)
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BERREITE
equipment 123,828 140,572
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEENE 6 22,387 89,972
Changes in fair value of investment WEMENTEEE
properties 5 (151,588) (148,244)
Impairment of trade receivables JEWE B RFURE 21,431 72,369
Impairment of financial assets included ETATERFRIE - EAbRELR
in prepayments, other receivables FRIE I B & B e Bt
and other assets and other long-term REEUHIE CRVE
receivables ERE 6 217,372 264,357
Impairment of properties held for sale FHEHSYERE 6 517,103 85,556
Impairment of inventories FERE 6 2,892 -
Gains on disposal of subsidiaries EEMBARZ K 5 (2,553,014) (6,277)
Fair value (gains)/losses on financial assets/  # BB AN EHIERZ
liabilities at fair value through profit or CcREE BEQATE
loss, net 2z (Was) B8 - 5 5 (7,045) 2,130
Losses on disposal of financial assets/ BEHBEZEANTED
liabilities at fair value through profit or FEreméE afEz
loss, net &1 - JFEE 5 17,911 25,598
Equity-settled share option expense R A E MR RER 6 1,160 6,758
(133,890) 1,935,705
Change in properties held for finance lease  #H{ERIETHE RIHEME
and sale 21k 1,518,843 1,885,715
Change in inventories FE 281t 18,655 4,541
Change in other long-term receivables E bR HEURIE Bt (26,846) 89,440
Change in trade receivables JEURE SRR 2 Bt 890,452 (2,109,883)
Change in amount due to an associate JETES A BIRIE 2 B E 926,257 -
Change in prepayments, other receivables &1 7kI8 + Eith fiE U F0E &
and other assets HiBE 2 &1 699,780 (772,220)
Change in contract liabilities SHBEZ (2,130,199) (1,551,943)
Change in restricted cash ZREIEE 2 #L 1,704,537 941,554
Change in pledged time deposits in HE/EIR B AR E EHE
connection with cooperation projects HiFERE - 1,833,960
Change in trade and other payables B 5 R EMERFIE 2 #1b (1,878,412) 720,839
Cash generated from operations KETERIRE 1,589,177 2,977,708
Taxes paid [RENE2E! (203,564) (347,710)
Net cash flows from operating activities KEEHEERAFRE 1,385,613 2,629,998
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

ReERERER(E)

For the year ended 31 March 2023  #(%&2023F3A31HILFE

For the year ended 31 March

BE3A3MAILLEE
2023 2022
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Bt e FTHET FHT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REFHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BE%% - BE KE&E (82,702) (76,586)
Net cash inflow on purchase/disposal of BRBEEAAFESRZ
financial assets at fair value through profit HBE HESBEERS
or loss transactions WEFERA - 12,069
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant ~ BREW% - ME N RIEFS
and equipment FRIE 863 9,190
Proceeds from land resumption BB T EEFTS EOE 275,176 292,046
Advances from disposal of a subsidiary to [ HEHB AT
a related party TERTR 2,284,600 -
Net inflow on disposal of subsidiaries BEMBARBEERA
FRR 37 1,129,140 34,029
Additions of right-of-use assets FREEENE - (1,671)
Additions to properties under development B EFYERE (951,222) (53,776)
Interest received ERLE 58,530 152,266
Decrease in time deposits with maturity of  J& > #218 = (& A 2 HiAY
more than three months TEHATF K 271,260 93,166
Net cash flows from investing activities KREEERSMAFRE 2,985,645 460,733
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

ReERERER(E)

For the year ended 31 March 2023  #(%&2023F3A31HILFE

For the year ended 31 March

BE3A3MAILLEE
2023 2022
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
k=3 THET FT

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METBHRESRE

ACTIVITIES
Issue of senior notes BITBAEE 30 - 185,203
Payment of interest MBI (3.303,214) (3,064,698)
Repayment of senior notes EBEELEER (782,379) (4,023,957)
Repayment of medium-term notes BEFHERER (738,071) -
Repayment of domestic company bonds BEEFEANAES (1,616,435) -
Repurchase of domestic corporate bonds EERARRIES 32 = (14,452)
New bank and other borrowings FrERIT REMER 9,833,540 9,405,241
Repayment of bank and other borrowings ~ {BER1T R LM E (7.726,224) (7,568,049)
Changes in amount due to a related party  FE{ BB 5 RUE < 1L 189,973 -
Principal portion of lease payments SAHEN RS G 17 (14,891) (71,503)
Dividends paid HIRARE (242,757) -
Net cash flows used in financing activities BE RIS T R (4,400,458) (5,152,215)
NET CHANGE IN CASH AND RERREEEYFHRZ

CASH EQUIVALENTS 1 (29,200) (2,061,484)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning F#IHIRE LIRS EEY

of year 1,554,913 3,447,947
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [& R & 8)5 2558 (150,997) 168,450
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRNALREESZEY

THE END OF YEAR 1,374,716 1,554,913
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND R&RBSZEYEH DT

CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY 25 1,374,716 1,554,913
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% R AR B AE

31 March 2023 202343H31H

1. Corporate and Group Information 1. ATRRAEEEER
China South City Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited ERWEREBR AR ([ARRE ) ERBEMAK
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. The registered office VABRAT c ARAFEMPEEMRER
of the Company is located at Suites 3306-08, 33/F., Tower 5, The NBERY I ERE 15558 BN B 5 T FE331
Gateway, 15 Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong. 3306-08% °
During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively FA - RARBREMB AR (GBI AEE])E
referred to as the “Group”) were principally engaged in the ENEZERREERNIGEMREELZSH
development and operation of large-scale integrated logistics and D AERTRERE  MEEEURRERD
trade centres, the development of residential and commercial MR ERER « BRERETESE REFRHERE ©
ancillary facilities, property management and the provision
of logistics and warehousing services, outlet operations and
E-commerce services.
Information about subsidiaries MELARER
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: RARMEZMBARGFBHOT :
Nominal value of
issued ordinary/  Date of Percentage of
Place of incorporation/ registered share capital  incorporation/ equity attributable
Name registration and business asat31March 2023 registration to the Company Principal activities
AL/ R2023F3A31BERT KRR
8 SR &L LE/RMRAEE RMAL/ZMEH EEREAD L TEER
Direct Indirect
B 5t
% %
China South International Industrial Materials ~ The People’s Republic HK$2,200,000,000 18 December 2002 100 - Development and operation
City (Shenzhen) Company Limited (ii)(iv) of China ("PRC")/ 2,200,000,0007C  18-12-2002 of integrated logistics
("China South International”) Mainland China and trade centres
ERERTERER ORI BR D)) e/ REAKE FABEMIRARRS
(TEmER]) PLORERER
Nanchang China South City Company PRC/Mainland China Renminbi (“RMB") 16 November 2007 - 100 Development and operation
Limited (i)(iv) ("CSC Nanchang") HE/REARE 1,100,000,000  16-11-2007 of integrated logistics
HEEMAARRRWN) AEH1,100,000,0007T and trade centres
(e FREBMRRERZ ST
HURES
Nanning China South City Company PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000,000 28 August 2009 - 100 Development and operation
Limited (jil(iv) (" CSC Nanning") B/ RE AR AR1,000,000,000  28-08-2009 of integrated logistics
BEERAAR AR and trade centres
) FREBMRRERZHPL
FEREL
Xi'an China South City Company Limited (ii) ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000,000 12 November 2009 - 100 Development and operation
BREEHERD i) RE/REAR AEH1,000,000,000  12-11-2009 of integrated logistics

and trade centres
FEBHBEMRRARRSPL
RERES
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt R Rk B o ()

31 March 2023 202343H31H

1. Corporate and Group Information (Continued) 1. ATRRAEEEER @
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) MR A RIER (®)

Nominal value of

issued ordinary/  Date of Percentage of
Place of incorporation/ registered share capital  incorporation/ equity attributable
Name registration and business asat31March 2023 registration to the Company Principal activities
e,/ R2023F3A31RE %1 ARF
£7 EMREEHH EE/AMRAEE EMEL/ERAH EEREAD L TEEH
Direct Indirect
E# 3
% %
Harbin China South City Company Limited (iii) ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB1,500,000,000 9 January 2012 - 100 Development and operation
BEBERAARAR) RE/REAR ARE1,500,000,0007  09-01-2012 of integrated logistics
and trade centres
FREBMRRERZ ST
HERES
Harbin Baolitong Market Development PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000,000 22 December 2011 - 100 Development and operation
Management Company Limited (i) BE/REARE ARE500,000,000T  22-12-2011 of integrated logistics
LREE NRNSREERER ) and trade centres
FRBENRRARR AT
HERES
Zhengzhou China South City Company PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000,000 17 May 2012 - 100 Development and operation
Limited (jil(iv) (" CSC Zhengzhou") E/EAR ARH1,000,000,000  17-05-2012 of integrated logistics
BRI B R A A v) and trade centres
(T&msl) FREEMARERZHPL
RERES
Hefei China South City Company Limited (ii)(iv) ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB1,200,000,000 25 December 2012 - 100 Development and operation
("CSC Hefei") RE/REARE AR#1,200,000,000  25-12-2012 of integrated logistics
BEEEHER AW and trade centres
) =) FREBMRRERZHTL
RERES
Chongging China South City Company PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000,000 27 December 2013 - 100 Development and operation
Limited (iiiv) (" CSC Chongaing”) hE/REAR AR1,000,000,0007T  27-12-2013 of integrated logistics
EEERHMERA ) and trade centres
(rZEEm)) FRBEMRRARZHPL
FERES
Shenzhen Huasheng Commercial Development  PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 19 November 2010 - 100 Management of outlet
Company Limited (i) HE/hEARE ARE100,000,000C  19-11-2010 operations
YRR R R RAR AR ARREESELEE
Shenzhen China South City Digital PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 19 April 2012 - 100 Development, operation
Technology Company Limited (i) E /AR AR¥100,000,000  19-04-2012 and management of an
HmERAETREARA A E-commerce platform
EFHETORYE Ee
BB
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt R Rk B o ()

31 March 2023 202343H31H

1.

Corporate and Group Information (Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Nominal value of

1. QEIRAEEER

MEBARIER (@)

issued ordinary/  Date of Percentage of
Place of incorporation/ registered share capital  incorporation/ equity attributable
Name registration and business asat 31 March 2023 registration to the Company Principal activities
AL/ R2023F3A31RE %1 ARF
£ EMREEHH EE/AMRAEE SMEL/ERAH EEREAD L TEEH
Direct Indirect
E# 3
% %
Shenzhen China South City Logistics Group PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 11 November 2021 - 100 Provision of logistics services
Limited (i) e/ REIARE ARH10,000,000  11-11-2021 REMRIER
AYERA DR EARA )
Shenzhen HOBA Home Furnishing Chain Store  PRC/Mainland China RMB480,000,000 12 October 2001 - 983411 Furnishing market operation
Company Limited (i B/ RE AR AR480,000,000  12-10-2001 FEESEL
AT B EREEHRO AR i)
Shenzhen China South City Commerce Group ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 20 December 2018 - 100 Provision of commercial
Limited (i) B/ REARE ARE100,000,000T  20-12-2018 management services
RITERABZEEERAR) REEZERRS
China South City Management Company Hong Kong HK$1 9 November 2007 - 100 Provision of management
Limited % 1%1r 09-11-2007 services
ERHERERAA RAERRS
China South City Group Company Limited (i)~ PRC/Mainland China RMB300,000,000 20 July 2004 - 100 Investment holding
ERASEBRAR e/ REIAKE ARH300,000,00070  20-07-2004 RERR
Chongging Zhenzhong Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 24 May 2016 - 100 Development and operation
Development Company Limited (ii) T/ hEARE ARH50,0000000  24-05-2016 of residential and

SERTEHEREERA A

commercial ancillary

BERERIEARNES
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt R Rk B o ()

31 March 2023 202343H31H

1. Corporate and Group Information (Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Notes:

@

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Sino-foreign equity joint ventures under PRC law.
Wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law.
Limited companies under PRC law.

Pursuant to certain project and land related contracts signed by
the subsidiaries of the Group and the local governments, as well as
pursuant to the requirements of the local governments and the local
authorities related to the relevant public tender, auction and listing,
some parcels of the land acquired have sales restrictions on properties
built on them. The saleable area of the trade centres of China South
International is limited to 30% of the total buildable gross floor area
("GFA") of the properties built on the relevant parcels of land. The
saleable area of the trade centres and logistics facilities built on the
parcels of land acquired by CSC Nanchang and CSC Nanning in 2010
is limited to 60% of the relevant total buildable GFA. The saleable
area of trade centres or commercial properties built by CSC Hefei and
CSC Chongging is limited to 50% of their relevant total buildable
GFA. The saleable areas of trade centres or commercial properties
of phase | and future phases of CSC Zhengzhou are limited to 60%
and 50%, respectively, of the relevant total buildable GFA. Except for
the restrictions mentioned herein, there is no sales restriction on the
parcels of land acquired by the Group.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in

the opinion of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”),

principally affected the results for the year or formed a substantial

portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other

subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in

particulars of excessive length.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt R Rk B o ()

31 March 2023 202343H31H

2.1 REEE

2.1 Basis of Preparation

182

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, except for investment properties and
financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss which
have been measured at fair value. These financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Going concern basis

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s current portion of interest-
bearing debts amounted to HK$12,785 million, while its cash
and bank balances amounted to HK$2,525 million. In view of
the prevailing slow-down of the property market, coupled with
the unrecovered sentiment in the capital market, the Group may
take longer time than expected to realise cash from the sale of its
properties and/or have the cash from external financing to meet its
loan repayment obligations.

ZEMBHRRDREELEAMAG([HES
RS )R 2 BB RS ER ([ FEH
BHRELER D(EFBEMET BB MEE
Al - EEEHER(TEBEFER]) RBE) -
BERRBERANREE R BHEDZ 4R E MR
B WRELRANE RS EREVERESB
BRAAFEIIRZEREER A FEFER
BROM - BRE BRI - I EMBEMERIAETE
5 FTEREHEHERIAZREI TR -

FREKEER

M2023F3H318 - AEEMA S B EENEES
DHR12,785EEB T MAKBEMNE S K€
LEYR2,525A BB o ERIRITEHETIS
WA - N EBEARTIGEERARIRE - ANEET
BEREELTRHE Ry R E IR B &3
e RHERIINBRERCUBITHERER
BRI -

In view of aforementioned, the Directors have given careful ERZEBR  ARRER([EF])ERFTE
consideration to the future liquidity and performance of the Group AEEETEBES AN M IEERETREL
and its available sources of financing in assessing whether the ERBEZEREANEBMNRRREE S RFE U

Group will have sufficient financial sources to continue as a going
concern. The following plans and measures are formulated to
mitigate the liquidity pressure and to improve the financial position
of the Group:

(i)  The Group has identified targeted buyers for the disposal
of the Group's equity interest in certain property projects to
raise the level of liquid funds;
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt R Rk B o ()

31 March 2023 202343H31H

2.1 Basis of Preparation (Continued)
Going concern basis (Continued)
(i) Shenzhen SEZ Construction and Development Group Co.,
Ltd. (“SZCDG") has issued an operation support letter to the
Company for a period of twelve months from the date of
approval of these consolidated financial statements to make
reasonable efforts to enable the Group to meet its liabilities
as they fall due and to carry on business without a significant
curtailment of operations;

(i)  The Group has obtained back-up facilities of HK$23,290
million from the banks;

(iv)  The Group will continue to implement measures to accelerate
the pre-sales and sales of its properties under development
and completed properties, and to speed up the collection of
outstanding sales proceeds and other receivables;

(v)  The Group is actively reviewing its debt structure. In addition,
the Group is actively negotiating with several financial
institutions to obtain new loans at a lower cost; and

(vi)  The Group will continue to take active measures to control
administrative costs and maintain containment of capital
expenditures.

The board of directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow
projections prepared by management, which cover a period of
not less than twelve months from 31 March 2023. They are of the
opinion that, taking into account the above-mentioned plans and
measures, the Group will have sufficient working capital to finance
its operations and to meet its financial obligations as and when they
fall due within twelve months from 31 March 2023. Accordingly,
the directors are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

2.1 REEEE
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt R Rk B o ()

31 March 2023 202343H31H

2.1 REEEE)

2.1 Basis of Preparation (Continued)

184

Going concern basis (Continued)

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist as to
whether the Group is able to achieve its plans and measures as
described above. Whether the Group will be able to continue as a
going concern would depend upon the following:

(i) the successful and timely implementation of the plans
to accelerate the pre-sales and sales of properties under
development and completed properties, speed up the
collection of outstanding sales proceeds and other
receivables, and control costs and capital expenditure so as to
generate adequate net cash inflows; and

(i) the successful obtaining of continuous support by the banks
and the Group’s creditors.

Should the Group be unable to achieve the above-mentioned plans
and measures and operate as a going concern, adjustments would
have to be made to write down the carrying values of the Group’s
assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further
liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets
and non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities,
respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not been
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023. A
subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that
give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control.

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority
of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power

over an investee, including:

(@  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangement; and

(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt R Rk B o ()

31 March 2023 202343H31H

2.1 Basis of Preparation (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the
dates on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control described above. A change in
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i) the fair
value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt R Rk B o ()

31 March 2023 202343H31H

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first
time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

Reference to the Conceptual Framework

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before
Intended Use
Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative
Examples accompanying HKFRS 16,
and HKAS 41

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are described
below:

(a)

ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23 3

Amendments to HKFRS 3 replace a reference to the previous
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements with a reference to the Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting (the “Conceptual Framework”)
issued in June 2018 without significantly changing its
requirements. The amendments also add to HKFRS 3 an
exception to its recognition principle for an entity to refer to
the Conceptual Framework to determine what constitutes an
asset or a liability. The exception specifies that, for liabilities
and contingent liabilities that would be within the scope of
HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they were incurred separately
rather than assumed in a business combination, an entity
applying HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-
Int 21 respectively instead of the Conceptual Framework.
Furthermore, the amendments clarify that contingent assets
do not qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. The
Group has applied the amendments prospectively to business
combinations that occurred on or after 1 April 2022. As there
were no contingent assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
within the scope of the amendments arising in the business
combination that occurred during the year, the amendments
did not have any impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt R Rk B o ()

31 March 2023 202343H31H

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
(Continued)

(b)

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting
from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing
that asset to the location and condition necessary for it
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds
from selling any such items, and the cost of those items
as determined by HKAS 2 Inventories, in profit or loss. The
Group has applied the amendments retrospectively to items
of property, plant and equipment made available for use
on or after 1 April 2021. Since there was no sale of items
produced prior to the property, plant and equipment being
available for use, the amendments did not have any impact
on the financial position or performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the
cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that relate
directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to a contract
include both the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract
(e.g., direct labour and materials) and an allocation of other
costs that relate directly to fulfilling that contract (e.g., an
allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property,
plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract as well
as contract management and supervision costs). General
and administrative costs do not relate directly to a contract
and are excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to the
counterparty under the contract. The Group has applied the
amendments prospectively to contracts for which it has not
yet fulfilled all its obligations at 1 April 2022 and no onerous
contracts were identified. Therefore, the amendments did not
have any impact on the financial position or performance of
the Group.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt R Rk B o ()

31 March 2023 202343H31H

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

(Continued)

(d) Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details of the
amendment that is applicable to the Group are as follows:

o HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that
an entity includes when assessing whether the terms
of a new or modified financial liability are substantially
different from the terms of the original financial
liability. These fees include only those paid or received
between the borrower and the lender, including fees
paid or received by either the borrower or lender on the
other’s behalf. The Group has applied the amendment
prospectively from 1 April 2022. The amendment
did not have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt R Rk B o ()

31 March 2023 202343H31H

2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial

23 EREMEHRERZEBYBRE

—I—/\IJ

statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011)

Amendments to HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKFRS 17

Amendment to HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 12

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture®

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?

Insurance Contracts'
Insurance Contracts'>

Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9 -
Comparative Information®

(lassification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current (the “2020 Amendments”)*
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the "2022 Amendments”)?
Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

Definition of Accounting Estimates'
Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction'
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l Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective date of
the 2020 Amendments was deferred to annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2024. In addition, as a consequence of the 2020
Amendments and 2022 Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5
Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
was revised to align the corresponding wording with no change in
conclusion

As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in October
2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption
that permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for
annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023

An entity that chooses to apply the transition option relating to the
classification overlay set out in this amendment shall apply it on initial
application of HKFRS 17
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt R Rk B o ()

31 March 2023 202343H31H

2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)
Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that do not
constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction
is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of
the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture.
The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS
28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016 and a new
mandatory effective date will be determined after the completion
of a broader review of accounting for associates and joint ventures.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-
lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and
leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise
any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it
retains. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to
sale and leaseback transactions entered into after the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019). Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 March 2023 202343H31H

2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective Hong Kong 23 EEMERMRERZEBMBERE

Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities as
current or non-current, in particular the determination over whether
an entity has a right to defer settlement of the liabilities for at least
12 months after the reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to
defer settlement of the liability. The amendments also clarify the
situations that are considered a settlement of a liability. In 2022, the
HKICPA issued the 2022 Amendments to further clarify that, among
covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those
with which an entity must comply on or before the reporting date
affect the classification of that liability as current or non-current. In
addition, the 2022 Amendments require additional disclosures by an
entity that classifies liabilities arising from loan arrangements as non-
current when it has a right to defer settlement of those liabilities
that are subject to the entity complying with future covenants
within 12 months after the reporting period. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted.
An entity that applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to
apply simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The
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Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments and BRI T EHARNEB N BRREETMERNY
286 o

whether existing loan agreements may require revision. Based on a
preliminary assessment, the amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies require
entities to disclose their material accounting policy information
rather than their significant accounting policies. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together with other
information included in an entity’s financial statements, it can
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users
of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2
provide non-mandatory guidance on how to apply the concept of
materiality to accounting policy disclosures. Amendments to HKAS
1 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and earlier application is permitted. Since the guidance
provided in the amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is
non-mandatory, an effective date for these amendments is not
necessary. The Group is currently revisiting the accounting policy
disclosures to ensure consistency with the amendments.

V//

N

ARG ENEVRUSETR) BB REEE
REBBREHSRGABEER  MEHLEE
BETECR o Mg @ ECE AR B B SHRE
RATEMEMER —HZEER - AISEEHE
HE—RUBHRKREECRAERBEZSHBR
RIEHAVATE - BIZEHABEEHBEN - &
BRI R BIS A S FE 25 (IE5T48) B (]
HERMNBSEAR SRR RERRM T IF
SREINEIES - BAFFTEAE 15 (BRI A) R
202351 A Ak BRIHFEEEREER -
FHRAIER - BN BB BREXENEBAS
F25 (IEETA) iRk eV 5 2 IFaR Hl 8y -
MR ZEEFIWRTEEMBE - XEEE
A EEENES SR RBEARREZFE
AIRFF—E -

China South City Holdings Limited ZRHZRHRA 7

191




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt R Rk B o ()

31 March 2023 202343H31H

2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective Hong Kong 23 EEMERMRERZEBMBERE

192

Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)
Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes
in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies.
Accounting estimates are defined as monetary amounts in financial
statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty. The
amendments also clarify how entities use measurement techniques
and inputs to develop accounting estimates. The amendments
are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2023 and apply to changes in accounting policies and
changes in accounting estimates that occur on or after the start of
that period. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group'’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial recognition
exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer applies to transactions
that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences,
such as leases and decommissioning obligations. Therefore,
entities are required to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided
that sufficient taxable profit is available) and a deferred tax liability
for temporary differences arising from these transactions. The
amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2023 and shall be applied to transactions
related to leases and decommissioning obligations at the beginning
of the earliest comparative period presented, with any cumulative
effect recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained profits or other component of equity as appropriate at that
date. In addition, the amendments shall be applied prospectively to
transactions other than leases and decommissioning obligations.
Earlier application is permitted.

The Group has applied the initial recognition exception and did
not recognise a deferred tax asset and a deferred tax liability for
all temporary differences for transactions related to leases. Upon
initial application of these amendments, the Group will recognise
deferred tax for all temporary differences related to leases at the
beginning of the earliest comparative period presented. During the
year, the Group has performed a detailed assessment on the impact
of amendments to HKAS 12. The amendments are not expected to

have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long-term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights
and over which it is in a position to exercise significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

The Group's investments in associates are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the Group’s share of net assets
under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates is included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a change
recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains
and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments
in the associates, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from
the acquisition of associates is included as part of the Group’s

investments in associates.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant influence
over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence and the
fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is
recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held for sale, it is
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations .
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
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(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as

incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes
the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the
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that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, MEESXBBEREENA TZFEMKENA
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are Al o

assigned to those units or groups of units.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
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(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)
Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment

loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the
relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.
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Fair value measurement NFEFE
The Group measures its investment properties and financial assets/ $’§§B’\\Riﬁiﬁﬂﬁiiﬁ’&$@§+§ﬁ&§%¥
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss at fair value at the REBEBRUAFEIEZ cREE AfF -

end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either
in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of
a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset
or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants
act in their economic best interest.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits
by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest
and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorized within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
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measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly MEEREH
Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the F=R — REERNEE - MEATFEH=E

lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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198

(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
deferred tax assets, financial assets and investment properties), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit's value
in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-
generating unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of
a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an
individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-
generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not
to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset
is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant

accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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(Continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

or

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);
and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant
parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 3% to 9%
9% to 30%
9% to 30%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Motor vehicles

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
the leasehold property held as a right-of-use asset which would
otherwise meet the definition of an investment property) held
to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather
than for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of
business. Such properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions
at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in the statement of profit or loss in the year
in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year
of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties or inventories, the deemed cost of a property for
subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of change in
use. For a transfer from inventories to investment properties, any
difference between the fair value of the property at that date and
its previous carrying amount is recognised in the statement of profit

or loss.

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost comprises the land costs, construction
costs, capitalised borrowing costs and other costs directly attributed
to such properties during the period of construction.

Properties under development are initially classified as non-current
assets and transferred to current assets under the category of
properties held for sale when the construction of the relevant
properties commences and the construction period of the relevant
property development project is expected to complete within the
normal operating cycle.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or

contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract

conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a

period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee
The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach

for all leases, except for short-term leases. The Group recognises

lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets

representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land 40 years
Property 1 to 8 years
Machinery 2 to 3 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued) HE®)
Group as a lessee (Continued) AEBEREBEAGE)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEEE

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects
the Group exercising the option to terminate the lease. The
variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are included in trade and other
payables and other long-term liabilities.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c) Short-term leases
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to its short-term leases of property and machinery (that is
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option).

Lease payments on short-term leases is recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified
as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract
to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the
lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement of profit
or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease
term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for

as finance leases.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it
needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured
at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or
both. Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are
held within a business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets
classified and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the objective of both
holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group

BRERHEMEMEE @)
NHERRTE(E)
%ﬁ—&é@ﬁ?%%ﬁ%&%ﬁ%$%§%
BN EREEYE) TURR  —RESE

commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or a?ﬁzﬁ’i*ﬂﬁm%%EEEJZ’EW'JE*E,HJ%FEEJWQ
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery NEENESHEEES -

of assets within the period generally established by regulation or

convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement BETE

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their CREERSE#ITEEE - HEWT

classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains
and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when
the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair
value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments
which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair
value through other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity
investments classified as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss are also recognised as other income in the statement of
profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend
will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be

measured reliably.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under
a "pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration

that the Group could be required to repay.
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208

(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held
or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual
terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information. The Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 60 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is
unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

SREERE®)

General approach (Continued) —REEE)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under REBHEKATENERMEEER BRI AR
the general approach and they are classified within the following B REKRESERRAENEERR T XFFil
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and W EEIN - @ RBERA TR EAR

contract assets which apply the simplified approach as detailed

STERHIEERK -

below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not F—% — =RIANGEERRBIFERIA
increased significantly since initial recognition and for RIPAFEZRE N - BHEEREER
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount 128 AFEBEEBRASE =
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has E_HK — RMIANEERRE SRR
increased significantly since initial recognition but that REBEIL N - EXIHEERESR
are not credit impaired financial assets and for which EE - BEEERBREPERE
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to BiBAEE=E
lifetime ECLs

Stage3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the F=H — ABREAHBEBREERENSHE

reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach
in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific
to the debtors and the economic environment.
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(Continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings
or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, other long-term payables,
senior notes, medium-term notes and domestic company bonds.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated
upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are
incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This
category also includes derivative financial instruments entered into
by the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments in
hedge relationships as defined by HKFRS 9. Separated embedded
derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on
liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the statement
of profit or loss does not include any interest charged on these
financial liabilities.
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(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the initial date of
recognition, and only if the criteria in HKFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains or
losses on liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss, except for the gains or
losses arising from the Group’s own credit risk which are presented
in other comprehensive income with no subsequent reclassification
to the statement of profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the statement of profit or loss does not include any
interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, other long-term payables, senior notes, medium-term
notes and domestic company bonds are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation

is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially
as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee
contracts at the higher of: (i) the ECL allowance determined in
accordance with the policy as set out in “Impairment of financial
assets”; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit

or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there is
a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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(Continued)

Derivative financial instruments PTESETA
Initial recognition and subsequent measurement NS EAREZESNE

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward
currency contracts and interest rate swaps to hedge its foreign
currency risk and interest rate risk, respectively. Such derivative
financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date
on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the
fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives
are taken directly to the statement of profit or loss.

Properties held for sale and held for finance
lease

Properties held for sale and held for finance lease include
completed properties held for sale and held for finance lease and
properties under development expected to be completed within
the normal operating cycle. Properties held for sale and held for
finance lease are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost includes land costs, all development expenditure,
applicable borrowing costs and other direct costs attributable to
such properties. Net realisable value is determined by reference to
the prevailing market prices, on an individual property basis.

Inventories

Inventories comprise merchandise purchased for resale and are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of
merchandise is determined on the first-in, first-out basis. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.
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(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits,
and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within
three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash

management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which
are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.
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(Continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit
or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates, when the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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(Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

3 in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax
assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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(Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only
if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to the statement of profit
or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual installments or deducted from the carrying amount of the
asset and released to the statement of profit or loss by way of a
reduced depreciation charge.
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(Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a
significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of goods or services to the customer for more than one year,
revenue is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in
a separate financing transaction between the Group and the
customer at contract inception. When the contract contains a
financing component which provides the Group with a significant
financial benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under
the contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where
the period between the payment by the customer and the transfer
of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction
price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Sale of properties

Revenue from the sale of properties is recognised at the point
in time when the purchaser obtains the physical possession of
the completed property and the Group has a present right to
payment and the collection of the consideration is probable.

Property management service, E-commerce, logistics
and warehousing services

Property management service income, E-commerce income,
logistics and warehousing service income are recognised over

time when the services are rendered.

Outlet operations

In outlet operations, revenue from the sale of merchandise
and commissions from concessionaire sales is recognised at
the point in time when control of the goods is transferred to
the customer.

Some contracts for the sale of merchandise provide customers
with rights of return. The rights of return give rise to variable
consideration.

Rights of return

For contracts which provide a customer with a right to
return the goods within a specified period, the expected
value method is used to estimate the goods that will not be
returned because this method best predicts the amount of
variable consideration to which the Group will be entitled.
The requirements in HKFRS 15 on constraining estimates of
variable consideration are applied in order to determine the
amount of variable consideration that can be included in the
transaction price. For goods that are expected to be returned,
instead of revenue, a refund liability is recognised. A right-
of-return asset (and the corresponding adjustment to cost of
sales) is also recognised for the right to recover products from

a customer.
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(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms.

Finance lease income is recognised when the significant risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of the properties have been
transferred to the lessee.

Other income

Interest income and micro-credit services income are recognised on
an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,

when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Revenue from the provision of consulting services is recognised over
the scheduled period on a straight-line basis because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to

the customer).
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(Continued)

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories, property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs incurred to fulfil
a contract with a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the
following criteria are met:

(@  The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future.

(©)  The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to the
statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent
with the transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which
the asset related. Other contract costs are expensed as incurred.

Right-of-return assets

A right-of-return asset is recognised for the right to recover the
goods expected to be returned by customers. The asset is measured
at the former carrying amount of the goods to be returned, less any
expected costs to recover the goods and any potential decreases
in the value of the returned goods. The Group updates the
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measurement of the asset for any revisions to the expected level of BEAEAEINGD
returns and any additional decreases in the value of the returned

goods.

Refund liabilities BRREE

A refund liability is recognised for the obligation to refund some
or all of the consideration received (or receivable) from a customer
and is measured at the amount the Group ultimately expects it will
have to return to the customer. The Group updates its estimates of
refund liabilities (and the corresponding change in the transaction
price) at the end of each reporting period.
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(Continued)

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including Directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form
of share-based payments, whereby employees render services as in
exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants
after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair value
at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined
by an external valuer using an appropriate pricing model, further
details of which are given in note 35 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with
a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled in employee
benefit expense. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-
settled transactions at the end of each reporting period until the
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has
expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the
statement of profit or loss for a period represents the movement in
the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of
that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected
within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached
to an award, but without an associated service requirement, are
considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions
are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate
expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or

performance conditions.
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(Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied,
provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are
satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as
a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled
and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the
original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

IR B R
I;‘Fmieﬁixﬁl&/&ﬁﬁﬁ% fERIFARBE A T SR AR
BREB < RBY TR/ N - LEBEES™
SRR B IR - B S RIS IR R
BERITHEST - MAAEMER R SRS GG
YRR - AIRXZINERA—BRE -

B S EE MR RGBS HTa %
BRNERAGR - MEgERSEBRENRAS - B
AMERSOREIEBR © LSl » BEI BUARMD FZ AN
RO AFEEF AR X ERE BN
ERRE (ARSI E RGBS R

RS AERNEETE  SRRIERT
RS ARE - kIR RE RN TR F
LGRS ERR o LB ER A S B Sk E BT
M IEER B R R AR A RV (R 428 - #ATT -
— BTSRRI —EE R R E R
READEHEE - A LA - i RFTHE
BV & AR AR SRR E

MARITEERENE TS ERNTESRAT
R R AEINEHEE -

II China South City Holdings Limited ZRHZRHRA 7

223




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt R Rk B o ()

31 March 2023 202343H31H

24 EXRETHEHMES)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

224

(Continued)

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its
employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

HiteSFH

RIKEEE
AEERBERHERES A BRI SEMBEE
BREEZERGE B E([RESFE )
EE-AERHFGRESE o HFIRERE
AFEemETBEDLEL YR RIERESF
ZR AR ER A B RaE RN - BES
FTEMBEENEASEEEDRNBL EEE
ERE - AKEHBRESFEAFLOREEH
R EHKIEEREHRBES -

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in AEEETNERRKNELENHNE R ANE
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension 8 - AZHEAM TR EENTRAESE
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These gl - ZEMBRARIEREES BN HKAH

subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of
their respective payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension

scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed
in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.
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Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends
are disclosed in note 12 to the financial statements.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement
or translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item
whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss, respectively).
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(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If there
are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group determines
the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and
associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at
the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these
entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their statements of
profit or loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation
reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise
throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates

3.

B ARG HE R AT

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires ARSI ERERNEEEEELFENR
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions FHROWA - BR -  AERBEREBEME
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and BEEARSIABEZZHRSENHE  H5T

liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

KB o A - WERR R EFHHTHEAER
KoM E 2 BEXAEREEN S RHME
HERHAE -

3l

ERBAEENSABERNERESD - BREP
KAEFHESN - BEEC I T 5w KHE
R EBAEREATENHE :

Revenue from contracts with customers EFEHWE
The Group applied the following judgements that significantly REBRAUTHE  BEZEEZFPEHH
affect the determination of the amount and timing of revenue from AN SR EFEAEE

contracts with customers:

(i) Determining the timing of satisfaction of contracts

related to the sale of properties

The Group determined that the sales contracts with
customers require the Group to complete the development
of property before transferring the physical possession
of the relevant property to the customer. The Group also
determined that the Group does not have an enforceable
right to payment from customers for performance completed
to date before the transfer of the physical possession of
the relevant property to the customer. Consequently, the
Group concluded that the timing of transfer of properties is
at the point in time when the purchaser obtains the physical
possession of the completed property.

(i) FEELELEYFBBLEALWHEFE
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3. Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)
Judgements (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(ii)

Determining the method to estimate variable
consideration and assessing the constraint for the
sale of merchandise

Certain contracts for the sale of merchandise include a right-
of-return that gives rise to variable consideration. In estimating
the variable consideration, the Group is required to use
either the expected value method or the most likely amount
method based on which method better predicts the amount
of consideration to which it will be entitled.

The Group determined that the expected value method is
the appropriate method to use in estimating the variable
consideration for the sale of merchandise with rights of
return, given the large number of customer contracts that
have similar characteristics.

Before including any amount of variable consideration in
the transaction price, the Group considers whether the
amount of variable consideration is constrained. The Group
determined that the estimates of variable consideration are
not constrained based on its historical experience, business
forecasts and the current economic conditions. In addition,
the uncertainty on the variable consideration will be resolved
within a short time frame.

Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its

investment property portfolio. The Group has determined, based

on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements,

such as the lease term not constituting a major part of the

economic life of the commercial property and the present value of

the minimum lease payments not amounting to substantially all the

fair value of the commercial property, that it retains substantially all

the significant risks and rewards incidental to ownership of these

properties which are leased out and accounts for the contracts as

operating leases.
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Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Transfer from properties under development to
investment properties

Properties under development are transferred to investment
properties when there is a change in use with sufficient evidence.
The Group determines whether a change in use has occurred based
on an assessment of all relevant facts and circumstances, which
include but are not limited to: (a) a business plan that reflects the
future rental income generated by the property; (b) the resources
to hold and manage an investment property; (c) legal permissibility
for the change in use; and (d) the commencement of development
if the property requires further development for the change in use.
Any excess of fair value over the original carrying amount of such
properties at the date of transfer was recognised as current year
profit or loss.

Classification between investment properties and
owner-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making that
judgement. Investment property is a property held to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers
whether a property generates cash flows largely independent of the
other assets held by the Group. Some properties comprise a portion
that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another
portion that is held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes. If these portions could be
sold separately or leased out separately under a finance lease, the
Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions could
not be sold separately, the property is an investment property only
if an insignificant portion is held for use in the production or supply
of goods or services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is
made on an individual property basis to determine whether ancillary
services are so significant that a property does not qualify as an
investment property.
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Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are described below.

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

The Group engaged Savills Valuation and Professional Services
Limited (“Savills”), an independent professional qualified valuer,
to perform the valuation of the Group’s investment properties at
the end of the reporting period. Such valuations were based on
certain assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty. In making
the estimation, information about the market unit rental rate
and capitalisation rate is considered and assumptions that are
mainly based on market conditions existing at the end of each
reporting period are used. The carrying amount of investment
properties as at 31 March 2023 was HK$53,430,054,000 (2022:
HK$57,767,160,000). Further details are given in note 15.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables,
other receivables and other long-term receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss
patterns (i.e., by product type, service type, customer type and
rating).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e.,
gross domestic product) are expected to deteriorate over the next
year which can lead to an increased number of defaults in the
manufacturing sector, the historical default rates are adjusted.
At each reporting date, the historical observed default rates
are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analyzed.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23 43R \ \ N

BERETHE R &5

EET T RERE
BEARRNEBRIARRBEDRSFAE
ARBREHR T — BN R EHEER A EN
BREETEH EABRNO R E BibH THRER
SRR TSR -

BREWEATEMET
REBZRBIEXABRGEME —KATH
HHEERSEBRERAR([F—AFH%E
Hr ) T AR EIR B YR RS R A
B WEHEERE TAETREENRR
TEETETR - AlmISEAHESEMERL
EMEEERER  TAFREEENSHE
HRTFFE B Th 35 IR R YRR © 70202343 A 31
H - & YERIREE A53,430,054,0007% 7T
(20224 : 57,767,160,000/ 7T )  =E & &M
FE15 °

EHESZRRORREERRBE - Ak
WA R H b R B KRR
AEEEREEREAERNE SRR AL
EEEE - BEXTENEFBEUBRLES D -
WEMEL  REER  FPREMFRNE
B REDERBEIRE -

BiEEERTENEEELBRINEHE
RER B AR e LA A ATBE 1S SR E L
SEERER o flan - MRFEFHEEAA R (BN
NAERE) B ERFESL - EreEHEE
RKEOBEEN  AARBELENE - £EE
HEBH  EHELERINENEIL DA
WEMEARHERME L -



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt R Rk B o ()

31 March 2023 202343H31H

Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables,
other receivables and other long-term receivables
(Continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group's
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions
may also not be representative of a customer’s actual default in
the future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade
receivables is disclosed in note 23 to the financial statements.

The Group estimates loss allowance for expected credit losses
for other receivables and other long-term receivables resulting
from the expected cash shortfalls. The Group bases the estimates
on the information about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions. The Group'’s historical
credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may
not be representative of a customer’s actual default in the future.
If the above conditions were to deteriorate, actual provisions
would be higher than estimated. The information about the ECLs
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on the Group’s other receivables and other long-term receivables 20 °

is disclosed in notes 24 and 20 to the financial statements,

respectively.

Land appreciation tax =+ i IBEH

Under the Provisional Regulations on Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT")
implemented upon the issuance of the Provisional Regulations of
the PRC on 27 January 1995, all gains arising from the transfer of
real estate properties in Mainland China with effect from 1 January
1994 are subject to LAT at progressive rates ranging from 30% to
60% on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from
sales of properties less deductible expenditures including land use
rights, borrowing costs and all property development expenditures.
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Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Land appreciation tax (Continued)

The subsidiaries of the Group engaging in the property
development business in Mainland China are subject to LAT, which
has been included in income tax. However, the implementation of
these taxes varies amongst various Mainland China cities and the
Group has not finalised its LAT returns with various tax authorities.
Accordingly, significant judgement is required in determining the
amount of land appreciation and its related taxes. The ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
The Group recognises these liabilities based on management’s best
estimates. When the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, the differences will
impact the income tax and provisions for land appreciation taxes in
the period in which the determination is made.

Withholding tax arising from the distribution of dividends
The PRC New Corporate Income Tax Law, which became effective
on 1 January 2008, states that the distribution of dividends by a
foreign-invested enterprise established in Mainland China to its
foreign investors, from its earnings of 2008 or thereafter, shall be
subject to withholding taxes at an applicable rate of 5% or 10%.
The Group’s determination as to whether to recognise deferred
tax liability for withholding taxes from the distribution of dividends
from the subsidiaries in the PRC according to the relevant tax
jurisdictions is subject to judgement on the timing of distribution of
dividends. The Directors had assessed whether it is probable for the
Group's PRC subsidiaries to distribute dividends out of their profits
earned after 1 January 2008. Further details are given in note 33 to
the financial statements.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement
is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that
can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of
future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.
The carrying value of deferred tax assets relating to recognised
tax losses as at 31 March 2023 was HK$801,680,000 (2022:
HK$700,131,000). The amount of unrecognised tax losses as at 31
March 2023 was HK$3,600,399,000 (2022: HK$2,277,197,000).
Further details are contained in note 33 to the financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt R Rk B o ()

31 March 2023 202343H31H

Operating Segment Information

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group has changed
the structure of its internal management in a manner that changes
the compositions of its reportable segments mainly by disposing of
the property management business. As a result, the corresponding
information for the year ended 31 March 2022 has been restated.

For management purposes, the Group is organized into business
units based on their products and services and has three reportable
operating segments as follows:

(@ the property development segment engages in the
development of integrated logistics and trade centres and

residential and commercial ancillary facilities;

(b) the property investment segment invests in integrated
logistics and trade centres and residential and commercial
ancillary facilities; and

(©)  the "others” segment comprises, principally, the provision
of logistics and warehousing services, outlet operations,
micro-credit services, consulting service related to property

E-commerce services and other services.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax from
continuing operation. The adjusted profit/loss before tax from
continuing operation is measured consistently with the Group’s
profit/loss before tax from continuing operation except that
interest income, finance costs, fair value gains/losses from the
Group's financial instruments, head office, corporate expenses and
unallocated cost of sales are excluded from this measurement.

ResWPER

B E2023F3A31HIEFE - AEEEZRB
HEMEBREBRFENLEIREENRE - Mok
BREDEBK o Bt - EiE20225F3 A31
BIEFEMEERERSBEED

RERME  AEEBELESNREES S
SERLBHFT LB MTRREES S - 10
TF -

() MEBRIBUBBRGEVRLEMR
ZH O REEREELERE

(b) EERBHIPREGAMDRLERR ST
DRFEREEEERE &

(@ [EAIDHER EBFREMR LA R
% REHENES  EEFRY €
B IRTS ~ V)3 eh AR B AR S S B A AR
& o

EEESBUEREES D2 EEMELER
DEORTE RFTEHRRKR - HEREIBEAIZ2
HoEpAE,EiE (A B F B E AR A
FE ARG - BB ECHER AT
RN E B R AL SR AT ADEEE
FTEARN B ERBRA - BEKA - AE
EemTARNFEKS BIEARENHER -
NAIFS RAD L HER A EAEER -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt R Rk B o ()

31 March 2023 202343H31H

4. Operating Segment Information (Continued) 4., REFTER A
AEEETBFER e RRITERREMAKDE
ORERRATEE  BEARSEEREN

Segment assets exclude cash and bank balances and other

B~

unallocated head office and corporate assets as these assets are

managed on a group basis. BEEIE -

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other DESBETEEFERITREMEE - BAE
borrowings, senior notes, medium-term notes, domestic company B RHIEE - MARQRIES  BAHELE
bonds, tax payables and other unallocated head office and ARDERHERELARAEE  RARZEA
corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group basis. B B ER o

No geographical segment analysis is presented as the majority of BARAEB R AR D EE R &SR H B (15
the assets and operations of the Group are located in the PRC, RAEREELRRE R E RO EERRTN—E
which is considered as one geographical location in an economic HIRAIE) - NEEWEZSMIBD BT ©

environment with similar risks and returns.

There was no single customer from which the revenue amounted BiE2023F3A31HILFE - REE—BPE
to 10% or more of the Group's revenue during the year ended 31 TR S AEBULA10%8K A £ (20224 ¢
March 2023 (2022: HK$2,078,351,000). 2,078,351,000% 7T ) °
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Bt R Rk B o ()

31 March 2023 202343H31H

4. Operating Segment Information (Continued)

4, REFTWER )

Year ended 31 March 2023 B Z2023F3831HLEFEE
Property Property
development investment Others Total
NERR MERE Httr #@st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET THET TET
Segment revenue: YA
Sales to external customers HINFEPIHE 2,372,775 775,809 903,678 4,052,262
Segment results before increase BREMEATEEM
in fair value of investment properties Al /) P4 (95,662) 655,773 260,607 820,718
Increase in fair value of investment & MEATELN
properties - 151,588 - 151,588
Segment results after increase in fair ~ RAWERTEEL N
value of investment properties BpizE (95,662) 807,361 260,607 972,306
Unallocated cost of sales RATHERA (683)
Interest income FBMA 137,350
Fair value gains on financial assets/ ~ BBEFUAATFENEZ 7
liabilities at fair value through profit ~ B& /BEATEZ W -
or loss, net FE 7,045
Losses on disposal of financial assets/ & BBEZANFENERZ
liabilities at fair value through profit ~ £ &&E /BEZEE
or loss, net FE (17,911)
Unallocated income and gains, net KA EMRARME 558 49,272
Unallocated expenses RAEAZ (1,937,115)
Finance costs BMERK (769,426)
Loss before tax from continuing RERBECEER I HABE
operations (1,559,162)
As at 31 March 2023 202343A31H
Segment assets ITBEE 60,317,097 45,998,532 903,681 107,219,310
Reconciliation; -
Unallocated assets FOEEE 7,005,085
Total assets BESE 114,224,395
Segment liabilities PHEE 17,573,742 9,027,107 547,631 27,148,480
Reconciliation: #ik -
Unallocated liabilities KPR 44,390,913
Total liabilities BfEEE 71,539,393
Other segment information: Hih o &R :
Depreciation and amortisation TEREH 129,785 2,771 13,503 146,059
Capital expenditure* BARE* 1,027,363 172,353 6,489 1,206,205
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Bt R Rk B o ()

31 March 2023 202343H31H

4. Operating Segment Information (Continued) 4. REHFER )
Year ended 31 March 2022 BE202263 8316 ILFE
Property Property
development investment Others Total
MEER MERE HAh et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THT AL AT
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(L E=31) (R E31) (=31)
Segment revenue: DEBA
Sales to external customers %T?\”B%)Efél% 7,353,478 911,596 1,350,849 9,615,923
Segment results before increase BEME D FEE
in fair value of investment properties  FIDEEE 1,428,137 781,707 650,165 2,860,009
Increase in fair value of investment X &¥ERTFEEN
properties - 148,244 - 148,244
Segment results after increase in fair X & WE AT EEN
value of investment properties CEIES 1,428,137 929,951 650,165 3,008,253
Unallocated cost of sales RAOBHEMA (12,370)
Interest income FIBIA 192,444
Fair value losses on financial assets/  iEBBEAATETIR L 25
liabilities at fair value through profit ~ B& /BEATEZEE -
or loss, net 8 (2,130)
Losses on disposal of financial assets/ B2 E B BIEAURTETIHRZ
liabilities at fair value through profit @Eﬂﬁﬁé/ﬁ%z%ﬁ :
or loss, net FE (25,598)
Unallocated income and gains, net KA BURA R M 558 933,938
Unallocated expenses ADERX (1,795,447)
Finance costs R (787,789)
Profit before tax from continuing REFBLEEB  HAIME
operations 1,511,302
As at 31 March 2022 202243A31H
Segment assets IHEE 60,605,630 50,770,060 2,434,582 113,810,272
Reconciliation: B -
Unallocated assets FoEEE 10,255,480
Assets from discontinued operation ~ BARIHEEEK & 321,672
Total assets BERE 124,387,424
Segment liabilities AHEE 19,909,661 8,912,481 2,041,657 30,863,799
Reconciliation: Hik -
Unallocated liabilities xPEaE 47,945,559
Liabilities from discontinued operation T4 |HE%4 %7~ (& 488,094
Total liabilities =it 79,297,452
Other segment information: HipoE# :
Depreciation and amortisation HEREH 135,333 21,903 73,112 230,348
Capital expenditure* BARZ 1,902,220 351,333 1,152 2,254,705
& Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and * BARAZBEYE  BEERE  FRAEEE
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt R Rk B o ()

31 March 2023 202343H31H

5. Revenue, Other Income and Gains, Net, Fair 5. WA - HtARKE » FE &
Value Gains on Investment Properties BYEAFERE
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WALTTEAT -
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHBT
(Restated)
(sE:751)
Revenue from contracts with customers BEA O 3,037,675 7,730,589
Revenue from other sources E AR A
Rental income el A 775,809 911,596
Finance lease income REHEEWA - 579,892
Others EAtb 238,778 393,846
1,014,587 1,885,334
4,052,262 9,615,923
Above include amounts of HK$295,951,000 (2022 LA _E B BB R HEHTE & W A 295,951,000/ 7T
HK$358,688,000) related to income from outlet operations and (20224 : 358,688,000/ 7T ) ¥ & B AR 7S
HK$267,770,000 (2022: HK$436,284,000) related to income from g A 267,770,000 7T (2022 5 : 436,284,000
logistics and warehousing services. WBIT) °
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Bt R Rk B o ()

31 March 2023 202343H31H

5. Revenue, Other Income and Gains, Net, Fair 5 WA - Ht ARz - 58 - 1)
Value Gains on Investment Properties (Continued) BYIENFEKE 9
Revenue from contracts with customers EFEHAWE
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (i) DERAER
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BZE2023F3A31HLEFE
Property
development Others Total
MERRE Hity @t
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FaR THT FEx
Timing of revenue recognition 63l
Revenue recognised at a point in time X —HF 2L AR RETE 2,372,775 549,982 2,922,757
Revenue recognised over time R—ERESE R EREE - 114,918 114,918
Total revenue from contracts BERPANNE
with customers 2,372,775 664,900 3,037,675
For the year ended 31 March 2022 HZE2022F3A318IEFE
Property
development Others Total
MEER HAh et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THT FAT
(Restated) (Restated)
(FmE=31) (mE5l)
Timing of revenue recognition WA rER
Revenue recognised at a pointin time £ X — BB AURERETE 6,773,586 748,357 7,521,943
Revenue recognised over time R—BER RN ERETE - 208,646 208,646
Total revenue from contracts BEPEHINE
with customers 6,773,586 957,003 7,730,589
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Bt R Rk B o ()

31 March 2023 202343H31H

5. Revenue, Other Income and Gains, Net, Fair
Value Gains on Investment Properties (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were included
in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting
period and recognised from performance obligations satisfied
in previous periods:

WA -

Htt AR W - F8E - 1)

BYMRAFERE S

BEEEHWE®)
() PEBRAEER(E)

TRETARE PEERORESER - %
W BB eERSRINEHNEELZH
RAEFATERN SN BB HER

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Revenue recognised that was included BEEHREHINELEEZFH
in contract liabilities at the beginning Uz & %8 ¢
of the reporting period:
Sale of properties VI HE 1,262,583 2,195,883

(ii) Performance obligations
Information about the Group'’s performance obligations is

summarized below:

Sale of properties

The performance obligation is satisfied when the physical
possession of the completed property is obtained by the
purchasers and the Group has a present right to payment and
the collection of the consideration is probable.

Others

Others include the sale of merchandise and commissions from
concessionaire sales included in outlet operations, logistics
and warehousing services and E-commerce services. The
performance obligation of logistics and warehousing services,
consulting service related to property and E-commerce
services is satisfied over time as services are rendered. The
performance obligation of the sale of merchandise and
commissions from concessionaire sales is satisfied when
control of the asset is transferred to the customer.

(i)

BEHEE
BRAKEEORENERREERNT

WEHE
BHOEERE T EFERIMENERE
B RS EESIR R UGRE B AR AT AR
R ERETT -

Aty

H A B I RS RS i i B A5
RIHREHENT - WRMA R - W%
AR RS R EF R E RS - WRAAE
RIRELREFRHERENEOETSEE
ARFSHOTE LT Z BT o 78 o 85 B A4S 3
RIEAHEASNBENRTEEEENT
BB AT PRETT
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Bt R Rk B o ()

31 March 2023 202343H31H

5. Revenue, Other Income and Gains, Net, Fair 5 WA - Ht ARz - 58 - 1)
Value Gains on Investment Properties (Continued) BYIENFEKE 9
Revenue from contracts with customers EFEHAWRE®
(Continued)
An analysis of other income and gains, net is as follows: Ea A RS  SEFELOTINR ¢
2023 2022
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
{3 THx T
(Restated)
(s s5)
Other income HAWA
Interest income FMBWA 137,350 192,444
Government grants* BUR# AL * 9,776 54,643
Others HAth 12,375 47,329
159,501 294,416
(Losses)/gains (&18),
Gains/(losses) on disposal of property, plant BREYE - BB & #Ez ks
and equipment, net (FB18) 38 23 (33,140)
Gains on land resumption T Y - 856,425

Fair value gains/(losses) on financial assets/  BiBE A AFEFIIEZ 5
liabilities at fair value through profit or LE/BEATFEZNE

loss, net (B18) - 38 7,045 (2,130
Losses on disposal of financial assets/ BREFBEEUNATEIERZ
liabilities at fair value through profit SREE/BREZER  FE
or loss, net (17,911) (25,598)
Gains on disposal of subsidiaries REMBRR W - 6,277
Exchange (losses)/gains, net EH(E18), M - %8 (8,971) 2,404
(19,814) 804,238
139,687 1,098,654
Fair value gains on investment properties & W% A FEKE 15 151,588 148,244
@ Various government grants have been received from the relevant i ETBUS AL BB P 4G TASE » A
government authorities to foster and support the development of BAERRKEAEBRHRBIAREEBNER © %
the relevant projects of the Group in Mainland China. There are no SRR ARBIT 2GS HAEM -

unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

240 ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23 43R \ \ N



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt R Rk B o ()

31 March 2023 202343H31H

6. (Loss)/Profit Before Tax from Continuing 6. REFELEEKHA(EHE)
Operations F3E
The Group’s (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ REBHKEBEQLSLR Y B (ER) /7
LN BEAR, (LA FHIER -
For the year ended 31 March
BZE3A31ALFE
2023 2022
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
FisE THET FET
(Restated)
(&=51)
Cost of properties sold BEMEMAE 2,468,437 5,310,696
Cost of properties held for finance lease B EHEWER A - 614,645
Depreciation of property, plant and WE - BEREEINE
equipment 123,672 140,376
Less: Depreciation capitalised in respect of i : BLERE T Y ENERLITE
properties under development (312) (398)
123,360 139,978
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 17iii) 22,387 89,972
Lease payments not included in the Rt AHEGEHENHENRK
measurement of lease liabilities 17iii) 7,025 8,516
Auditor's remuneration %R Er A 3,680 3,500
Employee benefit expense (including EERAHAZ(RIEESHMN
directors’ remuneration (note 8)): (KI3x8)) -
Wages and salaries* TERF&* 261,975 378,614
Equity-settled share option expense A= EERERERS 1,160 6,758
Pension scheme contributions BRSFEHR 28,589 41,898
291,724 427,270
Impairment of trade receivables** W E 2 BRFORE ** 15,954 42,832
Impairment of financial assets included in AT AFE[FUE « EfbEUGIE
prepayments, other receivables and other K E & & E b K B fE W5 IA
assets and other long-term receivables** 7 & B EERE* 217,372 264,353
233,326 307,185
Impairment of inventories** FERE* 2,892 -
Impairment of properties held for sale**  #{ESE &Y ERE** 517,103 85,556
Contract cancellation costs** & RIEBUERAR 50,967 47,049
* Included an amount of HK$29,617,000 for the year ended 31 March e BEHE2023F3A31BIEFENE R
2023 (2022: HK$50,455,000), which was capitalised under properties 29,617,000/ 75 (20224 : 50,455,000/ 7T) *
under development. EFUREREETAZRAYE -
** Included in “Other expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit > HAGEBHERIEMAXIER -

or loss.
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31 March 2023 202343H31H

7. Finance Costs

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

B R
BARAZ AT :

For the year ended 31 March

BZE3A3MHLEE
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FBT
Interest on bank and other borrowings RITREMEER S (B2E
(including senior notes, medium-term BERRE  PHRER
notes and domestic company bonds) BARNEES) 3,100,645 3,408,011
Interest on lease liabilities HESENE 1,749 3,795
3,102,394 3,411,806
Less: Interest capitalised o BEAREFE (2,332,968) (2,624,018)
Total FEy 769,426 787,788
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Bt R Rk B o ()

31 March 2023 202343H31H

8. Directors’ Emoluments 8. EEME
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the IRIRE BB S AR EmRa]])
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Hong Kong Stock B A REHIZE383(1)@)  (b) ' (Q&MOIERA
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of A(RBESENRER)ROIFE2E - RAFER
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies EEMSETELT ¢
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is
as follows:
For the year ended 31 March
BZE3A31HLEE
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FAT
Fees ok 2,208 1,820
Other emoluments: HibM&
Salaries, allowances, and benefits in kind e R REWEF 13,143 15,497
Performance-related bonuses* HRIBHMN A (EAT* - 7,882
Equity-settled share option expense AR AR R IR 1,458 2,055
Pension scheme contributions RIS EIGER 54 60
16,863 27,314
* Certain Executive Directors of the Company are entitled to o RRATE FTHITESHREKEURZ IR EE B
performance-related bonus payments which are determined as a REHREYMHER T ER G RE THREZERNE
percentage of the Group’s consolidated net profit attributable to BRESHNIATEE ABEGRSFFEED
owners of the parent excluding adjustments on fair value gains on LhEE A BRI 2 FEAL (BR R BY B FEAL (40
investment properties and certain tax effects and impairment of B))e

goodwill, etc. (in addition to any discretionary bonus (if any)) of the
financial year.
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31 March 2023 202343H31H

8. Directors’ Emoluments (Continued) 8. EEMEw
(@) Independent Non-Executive Directors () BUKHITES
The fees paid to Independent Non-Executive Directors during FANTEYLIENTESTNESLT

the year were as follows:

Equity-settled
share option

Fees expense Total
DEREERN
we BB AR X et
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FTHERT FHET
2023 20234
Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew 2EE 380 - 380
Li Wai Keung EXEL] 380 - 380
Hui Chiu Chung FTHR A 380 - 380
Shen Lifeng* HREEJR > 295 - 295
Zee Helen** IREG*> 88 - 88
1,523 - 1,523
Equity-settled
share option
Fees expense Total
At A Y
ok RERR IR X et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT BT FAT
2022 20224
Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew REE 380 - 380
Li Wai Keung g 380 - 380
Hui Chiu Chung FTRRH 380 - 380
1,140 - 1,140
& Ms. Shen Lifeng has been appointed as an Independent & BB ZLR2022F6 816 HEZR T A
Non-Executive Director on 16 June 2022, then has been B IEHITES ¢« H1EM2023F1H6H
redesignated as a Non-Executive Director of the Company on FAERIERITES o
6 January 2023.
**  Ms. Zee Helen has been appointed as an Independent Non- ** RBRER2023F 1 A6 B ER T AB
Executive Director on 6 January 2023. FEITES -
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31 March 2023 202343H31H

8. Directors’ Emoluments (Continued) 8. EEMEw
(b) Executive Directors and Non-Executive (b) MITEERFHITES
Directors
Salaries,
allowances  Performance-  Equity- settled Pension
and benefits related  share option scheme
Fees in kind bonuses expense  contributions Total
a1 BRAG  URREED BREHE
e RENEF PN JRIRERE X #3 @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AR TAR TAR TAR TAR AT
2023 2023%
Co-Chairmen: SEER

Li Wenxiong* (Non- ~ ZE 3 - - - - - -
Executive Director) (JEf1ES)

Cheng Chung Hing BNE - 5,850 - - 18 5,868
(Executive Director) (9178%)

- 5,850 - - 18 5,868
Executive Directors: HiTEE!
Geng Mei Big - 5,793 - 1,319 18 7,130
Wan Hongtao** ERR - - - - - -
Qin Wenzhong*** By e+ - - - - - -
Cheng Ka Man Carman B/ - 1,500 - 139 18 1,657
- 7,293 - 1,458 36 8,787
Non-Executive Directors:  3FHI{TEE -
Cheng Tai Po iy 680 - = - = 680
Shen Lifeng**** B Fr 5 - - - - 5
Lei Ming***** E Ak = - - - _ _
685 - - - - 685
685 13,143 - 1,458 54 15,340
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31 March 2023 202343H31H

8.
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Directors’ Emoluments (Continued) 8. EEM<£w
(b) Executive Directors and Non-Executive (b) BITEERIHTES(H)
Directors (Continued)
Salaries,
allowances Performance-  Equity- settled Pension
and benefits related share option scheme
Fees in kind bonuses expense contributions Total
e EH BRBE  AEREED YR
ik REMER fEA BRIRIER 3% &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T AR T T T
2022 20226
Executive Directors: g%
Cheng Chung Hing LN - 5,850 6,568 - 18 12,436
Zhao Lidong****** GRS Skl - 2,117 - - 6 2,123
Cheng Ka Man Carman~ BIE5X - 1,500 1314 380 18 3212
Geng Mei Mg - 6,030 - 1675 18 7723
- 15,497 7,882 2,055 60 25,494
Non-Executive Directors:  3FHI{TEE :
Cheng Tai Po Elyd 680 - - - - 680
Lin Chlﬂg Hug*#x#kxx Mg\%ﬁ******* _ _ _ _ _ _
Lei Ming***** ’E:u/%****k _ _ _ _ — _
680 - - - - 680
680 15,497 7,882 2,055 60 26,174

* %

* K kK

* %k KKk

Mr. Li Wenxiong has been appointed as Co-Chairman and
Non-Executive Director on 23 September 2022. Mr. Li will not
receive any director’'s emolument, annual performance bonus
and/or share options granted from the Company.

Mr. Wan Hongtao has been appointed as an Executive
Director and the Group's Vice President on 16 June 2022.
Mr. Wan will not receive any director’'s emolument, annual
performance bonus and/or share options granted from the
Company.

Mr. Qin Wenzhong has been appointed as an Executive
Director and the Group’s Financial Controller on 16 June
2022. Mr. Qin will not receive any director’s emolument,
annual performance bonus and/or share options granted from
the Company.

Ms. Shen Lifeng has been appointed as a Non-Executive
Director on 6 January 2023.

Mr. Lei Ming resigned as a Non-Executive Director on 10
August 2022 and decided not to receive any director’s
emolument from the Company, including a director’s fee of
HK$380,000 per annum since his appointment.

***x%%\r. Zhao Lidong resigned as an Executive Director of the

Company on 16 August 2021.

*xxkxxk Mr. Lin Ching Hua resigned as a Non-Executive Director of the

Company on 27 October 2021.
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31 March 2023 202343H31H

9. Five Highest Paid Individuals

The five highest paid individuals during the year included three

(2022: four) Directors, details of whose remuneration are set out in

note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of the five highest paid

individuals for the year are as follows:

AfuBBHFAL

FR - ANBREHFALSNCE=LES
(2022 « %) - HBMSEHR LXK S -
ERRARBFALMENFHBENT :

For the year ended 31 March

BZ3A31BILEE
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FBT FH&T
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e RMEEWER 18,214 17,540
Performance-related bonuses HARIRAMAMIELL 1,195 7,882
Equity-settled share option expense LA s A E M RER 1,641 3,537
Pension scheme contributions RIRESET B 90 90
21,140 29,049

The number of the five highest paid individuals whose remuneration

fell within the following bands is as follows:

NFUTHENAEESFATABAOT

Number of employees

HK$2,000,001 to HK$10,000,000
HK$10,000,001 to HK$20,000,000

2,000,0017&7T 210,000,000/ 7T
10,000,001;8 7T 220,000,000/ 7T

BEAH
2023 2022
5 4
- 1
5 5

During the year and in prior years, share options were granted to

non-director, highest paid individuals in respect of their services to

the Group, further details of which are included in the disclosure in

note 35 to the financial statements. The fair value of those options,

which is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

over the vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant and

the amount included in the financial statements for the current year

is included in the above five highest paid individuals’ remuneration

disclosures.

FAMBEFE  FEERESHFALHRER
REBERENR 2 R MERBELRE  HE—FF
BN B IR M FESS - ZEFBRRNATFE
(ERFBHREN GRS IBARER) DRREA
HIEE  MERAFEMHERINSHRD R
REXAEZZSHFALTHENRKEER -
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10. Income Tax Credit/(Expenses) 10. FR8HER (%)

ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23 3

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2022: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong during the year. No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has
been made as the Group had no assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong during the year (2022: Nil).

Taxes on profits assessable in Mainland China are calculated at the
rates of tax prevailing in the provinces in which the Group operates.

Under the relevant income tax law, the PRC subsidiaries are subject
to corporate income tax (“CIT") at the statutory rate of 25% (2022:
25%) on their respective taxable income during the year.

The PRC LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to
60% on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from
the sale of properties less deductible expenditures including land
costs, borrowing costs and all property development expenditures.

The major components of income tax (credit)/expenses for the year
are as follows:

FR - BEFEHIBREREBEENGTE
SR 16.5% (20224 : 16.5% ) K& R &t
R FR  BRASERERE B BRERT
FE - T IR B S TSR 5 (20224 -
) o

AR B A ) JRE AR Tt it Rt 18 T R AR S [ 2 B T
FEEDERITRERGHE

RIEBEHRBHAEHE R FEKNBARA
P B EARBWMAILEER E25% (20224 :
25% ) BN FEFTE R -

B R E B HE30% 2 60% T F B 2T X
h A3 (E (B (BN ¥ 2 35 & TS SR IRR B35 T A
K AEERARABMERRFAXEAN A
IS ) IR (A -

FR - AEH(EE),  AXEERHOT

For the year ended 31 March

HE3IAMBLEE

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET T

(Restated)

(& 55)

Current ENEA (224,685) 830,786

Deferred RIE 220,829 3,952
Total tax (credit)/charge for the year from FERBFBBECEEBHTIA

continuing operations (E#),/ X A% (3.856) 834,738
Total tax charge for the year from FRER IS R BIAR S

a discontinued operation FEE 352,541 35,998

348,685 870,736
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31 March 2023 202343H31H

10. Income Tax Credit/(Expenses) (Continued) 10. FIEHEE (FAX) @
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to (loss)/profit before AR RN EBANT A (EE),/FIEHE
tax at the statutory rate to the tax expense at the Group's effective TH 7 % SR AN SR B AN 2 B IR R S A B IR
income tax rate is as follows: FZRHERAT ¢

For the year ended 31 March

BZE3A3MBLEE
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHT
(Restated)
(=51)
(Loss)/profit before tax from continuing REFHEREER 2
operations Firn(E18),/ (1,559,162) 1,511,302
Profit before tax from a discontinued REDRIEREEBH 2
operation 75t A ) 2,607,342 118,558
1,048,180 1,629,860
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5% 1216.5% % E B R EHTIE 172,950 268,927
(Lower)/Higher tax rates enacted by local Hh 75 RE I E A (BRIK)
authorities BafER (16,975) 148,385
Income not subject to tax BAGBA (54,290) (98,814)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR R & 206,915 150,416
Tax losses utilised from previous years BRBTFEMNRIEEE (34,130) (2,430)
Tax losses not recognised RIERBBIEEE 330,405 109,583
LAT, net of current and deferred tax effects j:imiﬁfﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂ B B3R SRR 7%
E 2=t (250,817) 288,187
Profit attributable to an associate Hﬁ%M’“ A& A (9.017) -
Effect of withholding tax on the distributable % ZISE /Y BIFT A R
profits of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries HEFEmE EIBATE
E’\J%% 3,644 6,482
Tax charge at the Group's effective rate BRAEEERBEAENTIE
i3 348,685 870,736
Tax (credit)/charge from continuing REBRHRFECEEBOBIE
operations at the effective rate (E#), X (3.856) 834,738
Tax charge from a discontinued BE BRI R HIR
operation at the effective rate (553 352,541 35,998
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11.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23 3

Discontinued Operation

On 18 July 2022, the Company announced the decision of its board
of directors to dispose of a 50% equity interest in Shenzhen First Asia
Pacific Property Management Company Limited (“First Asia Pacific
Group”), a limited liability company established in the PRC. First Asia
Pacific Group engages in the provision of property management
services. Such transaction was completed on 23 December 2022.

As at 23 December 2022, First Asia Pacific Group was classified as
an associate and as a discontinued operation. With First Asia Pacific
Group being classified as a discontinued operation, the provision of
property management service is no longer included in the note 4
for operating segment information.

The results of First Asia Pacific Group for the year are presented
below. The comparative figures in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss have been restated to re-present the business of First
Asia Pacific Group as a discontinued operation.

11.

ARIEREER

M2022F7 7188 ' REIBEMH AL  EFER
EHEEFBRKIHEREEARIRINE—T
AMEEEBRAF([E—EASE])50%H)
Mt - F—DASERFREVEETER -
R HM2022612 A23H5EK °

20225128238 » E—E AEEE D AR
BRARIRERIEREETR - BIRNFE —EAKE
WEBERRIERERET  MEEERBORH
THERELLEDEE DM AT

F-TAKERARFENREZIMT - 56
BRANEBREFELES  UWHE—FAE
EHERBEIRD RILKRLEET

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FT
Revenue WA 372,539 695,705
Expenses Fsk (308,646) (576,034)
Financial Cost RE KR (9,565) (1,113)
Profit from the discontinued operation REABKIEEEB 2 FE 54,328 118,558
Gain recognised on disposal of the HEBRIEEEER 2 W
discontinued operation (note 37) (Ff5E37) 2,553,014 -
Profit before tax from the discontinued KB BRI T 2 R AT
operation AE 2,607,342 118,558
Income tax: FriS%E -
Related to pre-tax profit EARRT A K AE RS (71,859) (35,998)
Related to gain recognised on disposal of B E B AR R E S 2 s
the discontinued operation — current 1E8 — BN AR (140,341) -
Related to gain recognised on disposal of B E B AR R E S 2 s
the discontinued operation — deferred HERE —IEE (140,341) -
Profit for the year from the discontinued RECKRIELEEF I AFE
operation FI) 2,254,801 82,560
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31 March 2023 202343H31H

11.

Discontinued Operation (Continued) 1.
The net cash flows incurred by First Asia Pacific Group are as

follows:

ERIEEEERK (B

F-DAKEEENRSREFENOT

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHBT
Operating activities EES) 14,160 26,140
Investing activities AR (231) (28,611)
Financing activities BEEE (9,594) (1,113)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) FIRERA Gt 4,335 (3,584)
2023 2022

Profit per share BRER
Basic and diluted, from the discontinued EARAREE  REDKRIEEE HK20.44 cents HK1.02 cents
operation Eq BAL AL

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share from the
discontinued operation are based on:

AERACDRIERERE 2 EREAREER

MITER :

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FT
Earnings Z
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders KRB B4 KA £ 2 AT
of the parent from the discontinued TmEREA ARG
operation 2,254,801 82,560
Number of shares
B2
2023 2022
Shares B4
Weighted average number of ordinary shares FARFTEERERLEERFZ
in issue during the year used in the basic FABETE BRI INETY
and diluted earnings per share calculation Z(FIEE13)
(note 13) 11,028,879,149 8,091,892,848
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31 March 2023 202343H31H

12. Dividend

13.

12. RE

For the year ended 31 March

BZE3A3MBLEE
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHT
Proposed final dividend — HK2.0 cents per ERARE - SREER
ordinary share (2022: Nil) 2.07811(20224F - ) 228,838 -

At a meeting of the Board held on 29 June 2023, the directors
resolved to propose a final dividend of HK2.0 cents per ordinary
share to shareholders (2022: Nil).

The proposed final dividend is subject to the approval of the
Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

Earnings/(Losses) Per Share Attributable to
Ordinary Equity Holders of the Parent

The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on the
profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
11,028,879,149 (2022: 8,091,892,848) in issue during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per share
amounts presented for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 in
respect of a dilution as the impact of the share options outstanding
had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic earnings per share amounts
presented.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23 43R \ \ N

ARATINR2023F6 A2 BTHEET S E;
£ EERAEZARERN SR T @205
Iz RHEAAR B.(20224F = #) ©

R R HARR B AR AN 2R B IR SR A B JE AR R B
REHAER - FAEE -

13. EEREBAREERERFEAZ
BRER (EE)
BRERBFTRES AL BRERFEA
FEMLEAFE RF AL ET711,028,879,1490%
(20224 : 8,091,892,8480% ) & @AXHY ANkE F 15
HETE o

HRARITE 2 B IRES FT 27| 8 TR E AR A F
SHAARBEYE  WUEREZ2023F Rk
2022F3 A3 BILEFEMZ7 2 GREREF
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13. Earnings/(Losses) Per Share Attributable to 13. FENEBATEEREREEAZ
Ordinary Equity Holders of the Parent (Continued) BRERN(EE) @
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based BRERNREERFAGETDER
on:

For the year ended 31 March

BZE3A3MBLEE
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
TExT FHET
(Restated)
(& =51)
Earnings 2R
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the IR EHE G E A K E 7
parent, used in the basic and diluted earnings per 2 & A R E @IS H A
share calculation: FEEFIE
From continuing operations BB LR (1,554,817) 677,640
From a discontinued operation BRIEEEES 2,254,801 82,560
699,984 760,200
Number of shares
[
2023 2022
Shares ®R&
Weighted average number of ordinary shares FR T E SRR K #5827
in issue during the year used in the basic ZEFERNEEITE BRI NE
and diluted earnings per share calculation T 11,028,879,149 8,091,892,848
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment

31 March 2023

14. Y% BERRE

202343 H31H

Furniture,
fixtures and Motor
Buildings equipment vehicles Total
B HE
gF PET RE @t
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(i FET FET FET FET
At 1 April 2022: #2024 718 :
Cost H#N 1,527,326 362,245 70,869 1,960,440
Accumulated depreciation ZEE (852,466) (227,251) (63,343) (1,143,060)
Net carrying amount REFE 674,860 134,994 7,526 817,380
At 1 April 2022, net of M2022%4718
accumulated depreciation EGREFTE 674,860 134,994 7,526 817,380
Additions NE 93 81,934 675 82,702
Disposals RE - (428) (409) (837)
Disposal of a subsidiary RERBAF 37 - (1,063) (626) (1,689)
Depreciation provided during ~ FE I E&E
the year (75,467) (46,496) (2,177) (124,140)
Exchange realignment R (50,081) (6,132) (404) (56,617)
At 31 March 2023, net of R2023F3A31H
accumulated depreciation EHBRRNE 549,405 162,809 4,585 716,799
At 31 March 2023: M2023%F3A318 ¢
Cost H#N 1,416,058 413,649 60,285 1,889,992
Accumulated depreciation ZETE (866,653) (250,840) (55,700) (1,173,193)
Net carrying amount REFRE 549,405 162,809 4,585 716,799
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued) 14. Y% - BERZE®)
31 March 2022 20229 3A31H
Furniture,
fixtures and Motor
Buildings equipment vehicles Total
Bl RE
BF PEL e 5t
Note HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(i TET TET TET TET
At 1 April 2021: 202154 A18
Cost N 1,633,760 290,538 72,523 1,996,821
Accumulated depreciation ZEE (796,524) (188,423) (62,545) (1,047,492)
Net carrying amount REFE 837,236 102,115 9,978 949,329
At 1 April 2021, net of M202154818 -
accumulated depreciation EGREFTE 837,236 102,115 9,978 949,329
Additions NE 1,291 74,637 658 76,586
Transfer from properties HRBRHEHENE
held for sale 6,838 - - 6,838
Disposals KB (37,766) (3,543) (802) (42,111)
Disposal of subsidiaries REMBAR 37 (66,760) (5 - (66,765)
Depreciation provided during ~ FETERE
the year (97,455) (40,879) (2,636) (140,970)
Exchange realignment B 5 A% 31,476 2,669 328 34,473
At 31 March 2022, net of M2022%3A318 -
accumulated depreciation EHBRENE 674,860 134,994 7,526 817,380
At 31 March 2022: $202243A318 ¢
Cost 2N 1,527,326 362,245 70,869 1,960,440
Accumulated depreciation ZEITE (852,466) (227,251) (63,343) (1,143,060)
Net carrying amount HREFE 674,860 134,994 7,526 817,380
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued) 14. V¥ - BERRZRE®

256
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Certain of the Group’s buildings with an aggregate carrying value
of approximately HK$4,720,000 as at 31 March 2023 (2022:
HK$6,285,000) were pledged to secure general banking facilities
granted to the Group (note 29).

As at 31 March 2023, certificates of ownership in respect of certain
buildings of the Group in the PRC with an aggregate carrying value
of approximately HK$579,241,000 (2022: HK$649,567,000) had
not been issued by the relevant PRC authorities. The Group is in the

process of obtaining the relevant certificates of ownership.

M2023F3A31H  AEBEBAED
4,720,000 7T, (2022 4F : 6,285,000/ 7T ) B9 &
TFEFERAELAEEER —RBTHEN
R (F7E29) o

M2023F3H31H - AEBERPEEELZES
#£#9579,241,0007% 7t (2022 £ : 649,567,000
VI ) e TEFRIEARRE P B B P A 4
B o ANEBE IFEERUERAM G HE ©

15. Investment Properties 15. BREWE
2023 2022
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt E THET FHT
Carrying amount at the beginning of ~ F¥IAEREE

year 57,767,160 55,695,354
Additions NE 172,281 142,303
Transfer from properties held for sale ¥ B iFEIE S - 1,082,820
Transfer to properties held for sale B S IREHE Y (411,910) (1,641,805)

Fair value gains on investment REREMFERG 2 A TE
properties 5 151,588 148,244
Exchange realignment S (4,249,065) 2,340,244
Carrying amount at the end of year FIRAREE 53,430,054 57,767,160

The Group's investment properties were revalued on 31 March
2023 by Savills at RMB46,774,100,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$53,430,054,000) (2022: RMB46,850,900,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$57,767,160,000)), on an open market, existing
use basis.

The Group's investment properties with an aggregate carrying value
of approximately HK$38,948,531,000 as at 31 March 2023 (2022:
HK$37,003,006,000), were pledged to secure general banking
facilities granted to the Group (note 29).

\\¥\

F-RKFEHAEHN2023F3A31BEGBEE
EnREYE RARTSHEERARESE
W{EE A AR 46,774,100,000 ¢ (16 & R
#753,430,054,000 7 jT ) (2022 F : AR #
46,850,900,0007T (#8557 #157,767,160,0007%
JT)) °

M2023F3A318  AEEERABLEYD
38,948,531,000/%t.(20224F : 37,003,006,000
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31 March 2023 202343H31H

15. Investment Properties (Continued) 15. BEWE®)

The Group's investment properties with an aggregate carrying value M2023F3A31H ASEREHAEBELD
of approximately HK$46,198,039,000 as at 31 March 2023 (2022: 46,198,039,000/8 7T (20224F : 49,681,269,000
HK$49,681,269,000) are subject to sales restrictions (note 1(iv)). BIT) KR E Y RSEER B (FFE1Gv)) o
The Group’s investment properties consist of trade centres, REENREYEBELETRBIOIZHN - B
commercial and other ancillary facilities in Mainland China. Each ¥ REHMEERE -  AEENERETFRE
year, the Group’s management decides to appoint which external ZEBRERNEEYZEEITINBEERIINE (G
valuer to be responsible for the external valuations of the Group's BRVAE - ERERERIBREMSANHE B2 B
properties. Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation, S AREREFEZEZREKT - gt REE
independence and whether professional standards are maintained. SRS EITHER - NEES MM E
The Group’s finance department has discussions with the valuer MR FFHHRFERERAERERAELS
on the valuation assumptions and valuation results twice a year REITRIRET® ©

when the valuation is performed for interim and annual financial

reporting.
Fair value hierarchy NERER
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy REBEREVMENAFEFTEERIANTE

of the Group’s investment properties:

Fair value
measurement

as at 31 March
2023

using significant
unobservable
inputs

(Level 3)
R2023F3H31H
FREARTAHE
WABEE
RF¥E

(%E3#4%)

HK$°000

FHET

Recurring fair value measurement for: HATEENEEUE AT ETE
Trade centres, commercial and other ancillary facilites XS0 BE R HMWERERE 53,430,054
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15. Investment Properties (Continued) 15.

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

REWME®)
NEEEHE

Fair value
measurement

as at 31 March
2022

using significant
unobservable
inputs

(Level 3)
202263 H31H
ERAEATAER
BABIEETE
~HE

(£3%)

HK$'000

T

HATHIENEE
oL EE

Recurring fair value measurement for:

Trade centres, commercial and other ancillary facilities

1 AFEEE

NEMEER 57,767,160

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3
(2022: Nil).

Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the key
inputs to the valuation of investment properties:

FR - FIREF2H 2 EMEREENFER
ENEE  F3GNMEATFEFEEASE L
(20224 : #E) »

AT BREMEGHEMBNGEERTEEET
MR :

Valuation Significant
technique unobservable inputs Range
fh{E i EXTABREBARE gE
As at As at

31 March 2023 31 March 2022

7202353H31H

R202243/31H

Trade centres, commercial
and other ancillary facilities
RSP0 BEREMEE

Income capitalisation
method
WA BRI %

Market unit rental rate
(RMB/sg.m./month)
mHEMES

(AR® 7K/ R)

23-161

Capitalisation rate 4.00%-8.25%

B EE

27-161

4.00%-8.25%
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15. Investment Properties (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The fair values of investment properties are determined principally
using the income capitalisation method by capitalising the rental
income derived from the existing tenancies with due provisions for
the reversionary income potential of the properties. The fair value
measurement is positively correlated to the market unit rental rate
and negatively correlated to the capitalisation rate. For the portions
which were under construction, the expended construction costs
and the costs that are expected to be expended to complete the
properties have also been taken into account in arriving at their fair

15.

REWE®)

NEEEBR
REMERNTEEIERRASMUEETE - 5
FERERERERENESRAERL L3t
YMEMEEAESRAHREERE - ATE
SEETEESRELBRENMEERRRL o
MIEEREY 55 - ERTATER - O XM
MR SRR A e STk BB IE B TA ST S ST SRR A
IREAE BIER ©

values.
16. Properties Under Development 16. BRPYIE

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET T

Carrying amount at the beginning FRREE
of year 1,578,157 2,499,166
Additions NE 951,222 2,035,022
Transfer to properties held for sale B SIS EEE Y (954,387) (2,237,526)
Disposal of subsidiaries BREWBAT - (894,478)
Exchange realignment B 5, (118,798) 175,973
Carrying amount at the end of year FRAREE 1,456,194 1,578,157

Certain of the Group’s properties under development with an
aggregate carrying value of approximately HK$1,353,296,000 as at
31 March 2023 (2022: HK$1,166,998,000), were pledged to secure
general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 29).

The government grants related to supporting infrastructure
construction and development activities in connection with the
Group's property development projects were previously deducted
from the additions of properties under development. Among
the balance of cost of properties sold during the year ended
31 March 2023, approximately RMB21,064,000 (equivalent
to HK$24,002,000) (2022: RMB297,100,000 (equivalent to
HK$361,036,000)) were related to these grants previously deducted
within properties under development.
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M2023F3A318 - ASEEEKRALELD
1,353,296,0007 7T (20224 : 1,166,998,00075
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt R Rk B o ()

31 March 2023 202343H31H

17. Leases

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of property,
machinery and other equipment used in its operations. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire the leased land from the
owners with lease periods of 40 years, and no ongoing payments
will be made under the terms of these land leases. Leases of
properties generally have lease terms between 2 and 8 years. Other
equipment generally has lease terms of 12 months or less.

(i) Right-of-use assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and
the movements during the year are as follows:

17. #HE

REBE/FEBRA
AEBARANERBLENYE R H M
REZERBNEESK - ERAMEL —RIE
IR AM 3 E W ABAE E 3t - B R409F - B
BREREZS T EENETFHFENK - B
ENAIERE R2FE8F - HibRENHEIAE
FBR12MEAIAT °

0) EAREE
AR B FRAE 2 REENRARER
2 BB :

Leasehold land Property Total

HE LT LS CHI

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000

FET THERT FET

As at 1 April 2022 K2022F4 711 538,945 4,992 543,937
Addition NE - 16,360 16,360
Depreciation charge WEMX (14,215) (8,172) (22,387)
Exchange realignment PE 3% (39,680) 471) (40,151)
As at 31 March 2023 72023F3H31H 485,050 12,709 497,759
Leasehold land Property Total

HETH ES A&t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000

T FHET T

As at 1 April 2021 20214 °71H 910,495 83,316 993,811
Addition A= 1,671 1,510 3,181
Disposal BE (282,151) - (282,151)
Disposal of subsidiaries BEMBAR (99,114) (18,198) (117,312)
Depreciation charge WERX (25,911) (64,061) (89,972)
Exchange realignment PE H A 33,955 2,425 36,380
As at 31 March 2022 202243 H431H 538,945 4,992 543,937
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31 March 2023 202343H31H

17. Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(ii) Lease liabilities

17. HE®

The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included under trade

and other payables and other long-term payables) and the

AEBERAEBA®E

(i) HEaE
HEEE(RESEIE S REMEMXK
T8 O E R HARE 20 ) > AR EE A R

movements during the year are as follows: RAF A2 EEINT -
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHT
Carrying amount at 1 April 4AR1B ZRHEE 25,271 88,874
New leases wiEE 16,360 1,510
Accretion of interest recognised RANFEZ R A 2IE0
during the year 1,749 3,795
Payments INES (14,891) (71,503)
Exchange realignment BTk (1.719) 2,595
Carrying amount at 31 March 3A31MAZREE 26,770 25,271
Analyzed into: DT
Current portion BIHAER 10,942 9,858
Non-current portion JERNERER 15,828 15,413

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 45

to the financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt R Rk B o ()

31 March 2023 202343H31H

17. Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
(iii) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases
are as follows:

17. HE %)
AEEEAERBA@®
(i) AEXBREMESEHESENT -

2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FBT
Interest on lease liabilities HEAERNE 1,749 3,795
Depreciation charge on right-of-use ~ {FREAETE
assets 22,387 89,972
Expense relating to short-term S REBEAE
leases and leases of low-value assets ~ TAEABEAIF X 7,025 8,516
Total amount recognised in MBS ERNE SR
profit or loss 31,161 102,283

(iv) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 38(c) to
the financial statements.

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 15) under
operating lease arrangements. The terms of the leases generally
require the tenants to pay security deposits and provide for
periodic rent adjustments according to the then prevailing market
conditions. Rental income recognised by the Group during the year
was HK$775,809,000 (2022: HK$911,596,000), details of which
are included in note 5 to the financial statements.

At 31 March 2023, the undiscounted lease payments receivable by
the Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating leases
with its tenants are as follows:

(iv) FtARRERMRDIRLEBRNTBER
FRIFFE38(IRER

AEBEREHEA
REBRIFBAEHE BN IR E Y (MsE
15) o ZEHEM K —MINESHEEAZ R
B WREERFOMISAREPFAERRS - &
SERAFERERNES A R775,809,000/%
JL(20224F : 911,596,000 7T ) » #EBIRER
MIaEs o

R2023F3H31H ' BEASEBREREAF
2 7RI HRSH A & 1 B Y B UK R BA ER AR & - Fkan
—F 2

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTET FAT

Within one year —F A 745,613 1,045,442
After one year but within two years —FREMFNRN 594,585 790,035
After two years but within three years MFERE=FNRN 510,340 634,407
After three years but within four years = FEENFR 464,618 575,824
After four years but within five years MFERERFA 434,819 541,781
After five years A& 3,204,794 3,750,301
Total a5t 5,954,769 7,337,790
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31 March 2023 202343H31H

18. Interest in an Associate 18. REtE A RS
2023
HK$'000
FET
Share of net assets EIREESE 218,479
Goodwill on acquisition Wk 2 1,276,507
Exchange realignment M 3, F5 B (23,503)
1,471,483
Particulars of the associate are as follows: B N RIFIBAT ¢
Percentage of
Aok
Place of
registration Ownership Voting Profit
Name and business interest power Sharing Principal activity
o B A
=g it 2 hEER RERE FEAE FEER
First Asia Pacific Group PRC/ 50* 40 50 Property
Mainland China management
FE—KREE FRE B A RE YEER
3 In the opinion of the directors, notwithstanding that the Group has S BEERE BEASEEEFE DAKH

50% ownership interest in First Asia Pacific Group, the Group has
been able to exercise significant influence over First Asia Pacific Group
because the Group has appointed two of five directors of First Asia

Pacific Group for the year ended 31 March 2023.

50% HIXHE - (BARRELE2023F3 /8318 1EF
B AEETRE S AEERZFHORES
EE  ARASEEREHE D ASERNE
A E -

II China South City Holdings Limited ZRHZRHRA 7

263
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31 March 2023 202343H31H

18. Interest in an Associate (Continued) 18. MEFE A RIMNRER (#)
First Asia Pacific Group is considered an associate of the Group and is F—DAEERRASAREBMEE AR - W
accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial HREVBRRPRAEREEE - TRITT
statements. The following table illustrates the summarised financial FDAEBRR SRR ER AR EERSH
information of First Asia Pacific Group adjusted for any differences BHR&REREEETASTENVBEERE

in accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements:

2023
HK$'000
FET
Summarised statement of financial position of the B AR FBRARBE -
associate:
Current assets MENVEE 2,335,848
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,884
Current liabilities BB E (1,900,773)
Net assets BEFE 436,959
Reconciliation to the Group's interest in the Bk QL kNS = ol i
associate:
Proportion of the Group’s ownership EE R 50%
Group's share of net assets of the associate, SEEBERRIFEENGRE  TEEHE
excluding goodwill 218,479
Goodwill on acquisition WiE 2 e 1,276,507
Exchange realignment HE 5 R B (23,503)
Carrying amount of the investment RAREE 1,471,483
Revenue WA 244,366
Profit and total comprehensive income RN R B2 72,138

264 ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23 43R \ \ N



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 March 2023 202343H31H

19. EBRERULATFEIRz2E/ME

19. Financial Assets/Liabilities at Fair Value

Through Profit or Loss EafE
31 March 2023
202343 H31H
Assets Liabilities
BE afE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FExT
Unlisted investments I EmiRE 5,668 -
Interest rate swaps Tl AR 5) = 8,489
Total #EEt 5,668 8,489
Current portion BNEAER 1D - (8,489)
Non-current portion FEBNERFL D 5,668 -
31 March 2022
20223 A31H
Assets Liabilities
BE afE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHT
Unlisted investments I EmiRE 3,325 -
Interest rate swaps Fltm AR 5) - 14,231
Total #Et 3,325 14,231
Current portion BNEAER 1 - (14,231)
Non-current portion FERNEA B 1 3,325 -

FETREDBREBBENURFEIRZE
BEE  REAARKERAEREBEMEME

recognise the fair value gain or loss through other comprehensive Was ARER A FEIE% o

The above unlisted investments were classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss as the Group has not elected to

income.
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Bt R Rk B o ()

31 March 2023 202343H31H

19. Financial Assets/Liabilities at Fair Value 19. EBBERUATFEIRZEME
Through Profit or Loss (Continued) - Y4 -V-{€)
The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward AEEFERTHESRTIE  fIREBHATE
currency contracts and interest rate swaps with maturity period of R+ (B A M INERBE O R ERBAR 5 A
twelve months or less, to hedge its foreign currency risk and interest $moNER R KA R o  EEITESHTA
rate risk. These derivative financial instruments are not designated PREERTEHRER  MUAFEAEEE
for hedge purposes and are measured at fair value through profit or o
loss.
20. Other Long-term Receivables 20. HitRHEAEWKIE
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Other long-term receivables H b = BAfE W GRIA 998,147 246,600
Loans receivables* R E SR 269,625 456,492
Impairment A (371,325) (142,334)
896,447 560,758
* The amounts represent loans made to customers of the Group's 3 ZeEARNEE N BEEREZEFPREENE

micro-credit services. All loans receivables are interest-bearing at
rates ranging from 1.5% to 26% (2022: from 1.5% to 26%) per
annum with repayment terms from 3 months to 5 years (2022:
from 3 months to 5 years). Certain loans receivables amounting
to HK$199,337,000 (2022: HK$215,165,000) are secured by the
properties of the borrowers.

As at 31 March 2023, the loss rate of other long-term receivables
applied was 30% (2022: 30%) and the loss rates of loans
receivables applied ranged from 1.5% to 60% (2022: 1.5% to
30%).
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31 March 2023 202343H31H

21.

Properties Held for Finance Lease and Sale

21. FFRMEHEERHEENR

2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Completed properties held for finance lease  #{EREETRE R T 126,888 135,251
Completed properties held for sale FEHER T 15,218,838 16,634,524
Properties under development expected to ~ FEERRAIE & 2B EEINE TH
be completed within the normal operating ~ ZEE %
cycle 30,409,217 30,059,128
45,628,055 46,693,652
Properties under development expected BRAYETEIET R
to be completed and ready for sale AIESHE
Within one year —FR 18,332,471 16,524,011
Beyond one year —F1& 12,076,746 13,535,117
Total wBE 30,409,217 30,059,128

Certain of the Group’s properties held for finance lease and
properties held for sale with aggregate carrying values of
HK$1,712,000 (2022: Nil) and HK$16,523,247,000 (2022:
HK$13,227,962,000) at the end of the reporting period,
respectively, were pledged to secure general banking facilities
granted to the Group (note 29).

The values of completed properties held for sale and properties
under development expected to be completed within the normal
operating cycle are assessed at the end of each reporting period. An
impairment exists when the carrying value of the property exceeds
its net realisable value. As at 31 March 2023, impairment losses
on the Group's properties held for sale with an aggregate carrying
amount of approximately HK$525,311,000 (2022: HK$85,556,000)
were recognised.

RIRERARE - AEENE THERERE
ERFHEHEMEREABED A/&1,712,000%
T (20224 : #) }216,523,247,0007% 7t (2022
F 1 13,227,962,000% 70 ) EEBE AR EEE
B—RRITRLE R (FTFE29)

NS ERA RN FEHERTIMERTE
HIRIE# &8 zﬁﬂﬁmlﬁlm?ﬁ@ﬂ?m%m{ﬁﬁ
BTG - EVENRRER BRI R FE
W REBEEEL - HE20234F3A318 -
SEOFHERE YR RE A (E47525,311,000
7570 (20224 : 85,556,000/8 7T ) HER A RER
5o

]]

II China South City Holdings Limited ZRHZRHRA 7

267




268

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt R Rk B o ()

31 March 2023 202343H31H

22,

23.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23 3

Inventories 22. FE&
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Merchandises Bl 47,341 63,104
Impairment VERIEL (14,643) (11,751)
32,698 51,353

The value of inventories are assessed at the end of each reporting
period. An impairment exists when the carrying value exceeds its net
realizable value. As at 31 March 2023, the Group's inventories with
an aggregate carrying amount of approximately HK$14,643,000
(2022: HK$11,751,000) recognised impairment losses.

FEREBNSERS BRETTM - EREE
EiB:EEH A #3R FER - BIFERE - 722023
F3A31MH  AEENFERAEABNR
14,643,000/ 7T (20224F : 11,751,000%7T) E
TR ERE -

Trade Receivables 23. EWE S RM
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FBT
Trade Receivables EE SR 1,307,359 2,773,572
Impairment B (330,291) (422,163)
977,068 2,351,409

Trade receivables represent sales income, rental receivables and
service income receivables from customers which are payable on
issuance of invoices or in accordance with the terms of the related
sale and purchase agreements. The Group generally allows a credit
period of not exceeding 60 days to its customers. The Group seeks
to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables and
closely monitors them to minimize credit risk. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of this and the
fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate to a large number of
diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of credit
risk. The Group generally does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables
are non-interest-bearing.

\\¥\

BB 5 iR R AR R R ESIR IR
BEEHAGHREREPNHELA - BEES
RIRBEWA - REE—RIBHTEBBOREER
HTEP - AEEBRNHREERBEKES
BRI REZENEERARERERE - 5
REEESETHENBHER FERILREA
SENERESEFEARETRAETFLER - &
VEEAKFEERR - AEE—KRM =108
BHREWEZRFFEEMEREMER
2% REBZERARE



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 March 2023 202343H31H

23. Trade Receivables (Continued) 23. EWEZRR@®)
An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at 31 March 2023 20234 %20226F3 A318 - RIFEM 5 EH
and 2022 based on the payment due date, net of loss allowance, is B EWEZEXRNREEBBEENRRS T
as follows: WA
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT T
Within 3 months 31E A AR 880,321 2,127,284
Over 3 months FAB31E A 96,747 224,125
977,068 2,351,409
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade FEWE SERRABESIEREZ ST

receivables are as follows:

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FHT

At the beginning of year FHEEH 422,163 450,117
Impairment losses B 1R 21,431 72,369
Disposal of a subsidiary HEHE QA (39,160) -
Amount written off as uncollectible R B FRIE M 8 (47,327) (119,268)
Exchange realignment RS (26,816) 18,945

At the end of year FIREER 330,291 422,163
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date NEE e 1 T (E R B4 o A5 R 58 R RSB B e
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The LEr2EHEEEBE - BEXENAFHEMUE
provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various KRS AR PR D 1 a0 B R B (IR E @
customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by product type, A RBSEE  BPERMTR) - LT E
service type, customer type and rating). The calculation reflects [RERT BEEMNEER - ERREEENARSRE
the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and AERIEGEN AR B ESH - BRI TARR
reasonable and supportable information that is available at the KEMRATBARN SR ZFENES o —f&m
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts = EWEZERNeHABERE —FIBRE %

of future economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables are HRE AT 1 TEN A BI T AN EE o

written off if past due for more than one year and are not subject
to enforcement activity.
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31 March 2023 202343H31H

23. Trade Receivables (Continued) 23. EWE SRR
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on TR EAREEERE SRR EERR
the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix: FREEERENER
As at 31 March 2023 72023%3H31H
Past due
ot
Less than Over
Current 1year 1-2years 2-3years 3 years Total

BE DME 1225 2ZE3F @E3F Fohy

Expected credit loss rate BHEEEEX 6% 8% 48% 86% 100% 25%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) RERESZ(FHET) 859,606 144,156 67,070 35418 201,109 1,307,359
Expected credit losses (HK$'000)  TEEMEEEE(THEIT) 54,892 11,399 32,279 30,612 201,109 330,291

As at 31 March 2022 7202243A31H
Past due
Less than Over
Current 1year 1-2years 2-3years 3 years Total

g AE 1226 2E3F  BiR3F st

Expected credit loss rate EHEEEEE 2% 12% 46% 85% 100% 15%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) RERE€E(FHm) 2,017,250 332,184 117,191 60,641 246,306 2,773,572
Expected credit losses (HK$'000)  TBER=EEE(THEL) 30,461 39,782 54,279 51,335 246,306 422,163
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31 March 2023 202343H31H

24. Prepayments, Other Receivables and Other 24, ENRE - HttEWREREME
Assets E

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTExT T
Prepayments TERTFRIR 835,484 1,028,101
Capitalised contract costs* BAREBE KR A+ 196,444 258,150
Land resumption due from the government  FEUER FF 1 3t 7k 18 670,468 945,644
Deposits and other receivables Re M EAEKGRIE 1,049,458 3,241,547
Current portion of loans receivables (note 20) FEUWE 7 BIEAER (7 (FT5E20) 81,999 65,140
2,833,853 5,538,582
Impairment allowance B ZER (7,235) (18,854)
2,826,618 5,519,728

Capitalised contract costs relate to the incremental sales commissions
whose selling activities resulted in customers entering into sale and
purchase agreements for the Group’s properties which are still under
construction at the reporting date. Contract costs are recognised as
part of “selling and distribution expenses” in the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which revenue from the related property sales is
recognised. The amount of capitalised contract costs that is expected
to be recovered after more than one year is HK$56,026,000 (2022:
HK$54,146,000).

As at 31 March 2023, the loss rate of other receivables applied
ranged from 0.1% to 1.5% (2022: 0.1% to 1.5%) and the loss
rates of loans receivable applied ranged from 1.5% to 3% (2022:
1.5% to 3%). Except for the loans receivables, other receivables are
unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable on demand.

& BREMEHNKRAREEEEEBELAS
EEREBINERRTNMERTE B iHEN
HEHERASAR - 8 O ARERBEY
¥HEERANBERESRBERAIHERD
HAXZ |IB—5 - BB —FR I ER
B AR A #IPK AN 556,026,000 7T (2022 4F -
54,146,000/ 7T) °

202363 A31H - ERRH A EWRAIE R
ZNF0.1%ZE1.5%(20224F : 0.1%ZE1.5%) *
FE AR EUE SR BRENT1.5% £3% (2022
F 1 15%E3%) o REWERIN - H bRk
BREERR 2B REERER -
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31 March 2023 202343H31H

25. Cash and Bank Balances

5. RERBITER

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FAT

Cash and bank balances e RIRITFR 2,525,074 4,681,068
Less: Restricted cash* B R (1,150,358) (2,854,895)

Time deposits with maturity of more than Bim =18 A 2 AAm E B

three months T - (271,260)

Cash and cash equivalents HeMReEEY 1,374,716 1,554,913
& Restricted cash mainly comprises: (i) guarantee deposits for the @ XRHReEEZRE  \HEERNEEYEZ

mortgage loan facilities granted by the banks to purchasers of the
Group's properties; (i) guarantee funds of construction projects to
meet local authorities’ requirements; (iii) certain amounts of pre-
sale proceeds from properties placed as guarantee deposits for the
construction of related properties; (iv) certain amounts of proceeds
from lease of properties which have been placed as guarantee
deposits for the borrowings; and (v) pledged deposits to secure
general banking facilities granted to the Group.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to HK$2,519,451,000
(2022: HK$4,675,315,000). RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted
to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorized to
conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods
of between one day and three months depending on the immediate
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective
short term time deposit rates. The bank balances and restricted cash
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

Certain of the Group’s bank deposits with a carrying amount of
HK$282,736,000 as at 31 March 2023 (2022: HK$551,203,000),
were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the
Group (note 29).
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RBERR AEEAAREREMNNIRS
N R1T1F 3£ 2,519,451,000 7% Jr (2022 F
4,675,315,00087T) - AR B A %R
REMEE - A - BIRP BEAREERINEE F
B R AEE - HEREERTE - AEE S
BEEEITINEZBHRITIEARE LIRS HE
fhEH o

FRRITZASRESBRITERNEX ZFH
MEERBA L - EHEHFRNERHAER -
H—RE=ZEATE  RFAKENENRE
FERME - WA S ANIRE B 2 E BRI E
R - ROTEREZRHRSHIFERREER
4 BT B0 SR R RAEER Y ERTT

M2023F3A31H  ASBEEBAEAR
282,736,000 7T (20224 : 551,203,0007% 7T )
BETEREBIEAREBER —RIRITR
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26. Trade and Other Payables 26. EZRHMENRIE
31 March 2023 31 March 2022
2023F3A31H 2022%3A31H
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BisE TET FAT
Other payables and accruals HAh e FRIE R ERTIEE 2,727,735 3,647,999
Notes payable [ER S 1% 0) 893,175 2,378,031
Rental and other receipts in advance TAUE & e EoAh 08 1,029,846 2,306,925
Lease liabilities HEaE 17(ii) 10,942 9,858
Construction fee and retention payables — EffEEEARRES (ii) 2,592,011 3,706,560
7,253,709 12,049,373
(i)  An ageing analysis of the Group’s notes payable presented () RFEEHRTEBEEREZR ZENRR
based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period is HIRREC DATEAT :
as follows:
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Within 3 months AR 642,813 356,239
Over 3 months HBiB31E A 250,362 2,021,792
893,175 2,378,031
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31 March 2023 202343H31H

26. Trade and Other Payables (Continued)
(i) An ageing analysis of the construction fee and retention
payables as at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

26. ESRHEHMENSRE®R)

(ii)

RIRE BR RN SR B R BB S B BRER
DITET

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FH&T

Within 1 year 15K 1,727,870 2,774,755
Over 1 year BiE1F 864,141 931,805
2,592,011 3,706,560

All the notes payable have maturity dates within 365
days. As at 31 March 2023, notes payable amounting
to HK$822,339,000 (2022: HK$1,077,642,000) were
discounted by these note holders.

The construction fee and retention payables are non-interest-
bearing and repayable within the normal operating cycle or
on demand.

The other payables are non-interest-bearing.

27. Amounts due to Related Parties/Amount due to

FT A e R IE¥97 365 B M EHR - 722023
F3A31H « 5% /822,339,000 7T
(20224 : 1,077,642,000/8 7T ) 80 fE 1+ 2=
EBEBREITE AR -

EIZEERMRES /RS REAR—R

HARNFAERRE

27. BB A RE EABE QTR

an Associate/Amount due from a Related Party 18,/ PE W B B 5 TR IE
2023 2022
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
BiaE TER FHT
Amount due to an associate: FEE N EIFUE ¢
First Asia Pacific Group F—TAEE (1 926,257 -
Amounts due to related parties: JE A~ REEA 5 RIE
Shenzhen Zhenhua Investment and  SFIIIEZEZE IR EHEBRR AT
Development Co., Ltd (2) 189,973 -
Shenzhen Shenji No. 1 Industrial Park &I R ESHEEE R
Investment and Operation Co., Ltd  REEZAR AT (3) 2,284,600 -
2,474,573 -
Amount due from a related party: UK BFH% 5 70 ¢
SZCDG HEREEEE (4) 143,541 -
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31 March 2023 202343H31H

27. Amounts due to Related Parties/Amount due to
an Associate/Amount due from a Related Party

(Continued)
Notes:

Q)] As at 31 March 2023, the amount due to First Asia Pacific Group was
unsecured and repayable on demand or expected to be settled within
one year. The aggregate amount of HK$926,257,000 was interest-
free.

2) As at 31 March 2023, the aggregate amount of HK$189,973,000
due to Shenzhen Zhenhua Investment and Development Co., Ltd (a
company controlled by SZCDG) was unsecured and interest bearing at
a rate of 6%-8% per annum.

3) As at 31 March 2023, the amount due to Shenzhen Shenji No. 1
Industrial Park Investment and Operation Co., Ltd (a company
controlled by SZCDG) of HK$2,284,600,000 was unsecured and
interest-free. Further details are given in note 48.

(4) As at 31 March 2023, the amount due from SZCDG of
HK$143,541,000 was unsecured and interest-free. Further details are
given in note 37.

The Group's outstanding balances of amount due to an associate
are trade in nature and the outstanding balances of amounts due to
related parties and amount due from a related party are non-trade
in nature.

28. Contract Liabilities

Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

27.

28.

FEBEEE T FIE A E A TR
18 e Y BE B 5 T ()

(1)  M2023F3A31H ' BNE— D ASEREE
IR B ZBIRE R EE BN —FREE -
42%85926,257,000/8 T A% 8. -

(2) H2023F3A318  BNRIEZERELES
RAR(EARFEEZEFEEESEEEH) &
FIB 45189,973,00078 T A AR T - Wi FF|
R6%-8%xT 5 °

(3) M2023F3A31H - BRI GFEESHESE
BEEEEELEARAR(EAREEHERE
ZEE PR H|) FIE 52,284,600,0008 7T © AE
HHRERE o E— SN R HIE48 -

(4) HA20239F3A318  BUWEEEZEEERES
143,541,000 7T * AEEKERES - #—F
HERFE R MIRE3T ©

AEFRMNBERARFRNREHRERE DT
& - T e A BRI T3 SR IR AN e Ak R B 0T TR IR Y R
TBREARRIEABESIEE -

BRER
AWAERAFIRET ;

31 March 2023
202343 H31H

31 March 2022
202243 HF31H

HK$'000 HK$'000
FET BT
Advances received from customers WA FHIFE 5018
Contract liabilities related to sales of EIHEYEMENENAG
properties 12,409,581 14,364,275
Value-added tax related to sales of properties B Us A 1 EE$4E Y 5 A RIH
as included in pre-sales proceeds 1R ETL 1,003,785 1,179,290
Sale of properties HEME 13,413,366 15,543,565

Contract liabilities include advances received from customers in
relation to the pre-sale of properties.

BHEBERRERAEENERIREFMENEMNK
g
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29. Interest-Bearing Bank and Other Borrowings

29. GTESBITREMEE

2023 2022
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
(%) (%)
BRAI= Maturity HK$'000 BT Maturity HK$'000
(%) L) T#x (%) 5|8 T
Current 4
Bank and other borrowings  $E1TREMEE
- unsecured —~EH7 4.20-15.00 2023-2024 198,499 6.53-15.00 2022-2023 483,289
Bank and other borrowings BT R EMEE
- secured ~ B 3.35-15.00 2023-2024 3,059,856 3.85-11.00 2022-2023 2,635,213
Current portion of long-term &8R4 R EffE BRI
bank and other borrowings:  E§&H%
Bank and other borrowings ST R EE
- secured —FER 2.80-12.00 2023-2024 8,604,526 3.75-12.00 2022-2023 5,412,259
11,862,881 8,530,761
Non-current JERNHR
Bank and other borrowings  $R{TREEE
~ secured —FER 2.80-12.00 2024-2038 9,416,275 3.90-12.00 2023-2036 12,552,811
21,279,156 21,083,572
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31 March 2023 202343H31H

29. Interest-Bearing Bank and Other Borrowings 29. FTERITRHEMEE @)

(Continued)

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET T
Analyzed into: DN -
Bank and other borrowings repayable: AR T B EERIRIT R A
fiEE :

Within one year —F A 11,862,881 8,530,761
In the second year EF 1,725,349 5,941,635

In the third to fifth years, inclusive FoZFhF(BEER
EER) 2,617,039 2,178,202
Beyond five years AF% 5,073,887 4,432,974
21,279,156 21,083,572

Certain of the Group's bank and other borrowings are secured BARFEE14 ~ 15~ 16 ~ 21 R 25FFE - AKEH T

by the Group’s buildings, investment properties, properties under RITREMEBERAERET  REME - %

development, properties held for finance lease and sale and bank BHZE  FIEREHERBEMERRITTE

deposits as stated in notes 14, 15, 16, 21 and 25. AR o

As at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022, all interest-bearing bank 202343 HA31H KX2022F3A31H » A&£E

and other borrowings of the Group are denominated in HK dollars, STRRITREMEESABE ARBRET

RMB and US dollars. REAL

Bank and other borrowings with a total amount of 4 1£ 21,080,657,000 & JT ( 2022 £

HK$21,080,657,000 (2022: HK$20,600,283,000) are secured by: 20,600,283,0007% 7T, ) HY R 1T R E A tE B LA T 5]

HIGHEA -

(i) Certain of the Group’s buildings with an aggregate carrying (i) 202343 A31HRMAZEAI4,720,000
value of approximately HK$4,720,000 as at 31 March 2023 BT AEEE T &F (2022 F ¢
(2022: HK$6,285,000) (note 14); 6,285,000/ 7T) (Fi5E14)

(i) Certain of the Group's investment properties situated (i) 7 20234F 3 A31HKM@HELD
in Mainland China with an aggregate carrying value of 38,948,531,000 & T &) AN & E L R
approximately HK$38,948,531,000 as at 31 March 2023 B K RER) S THRE Y (20225 -
(2022: HK$37,003,006,000) (note 15); 37,003,006,000/ 7T ) (M5 15) :

(i) Certain of the Group's properties under development iy 7 2023F3 A31HE®@BMAEDY
situated in Mainland China with an aggregate carrying value 1,353,296,000 /& 7T B 2N & E i 5 A
of approximately HK$1,353,296,000 as at 31 March 2023 ABERE TR FP Y E (20225 -
(2022: HK$1,166,998,000) (note 16); 1,166,998,0007& 7T ) (Hi5116) :
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29.

30.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23 3

Interest-Bearing Bank and Other Borrowings

(Continued)

(iv)  Certain of the Group’s properties held for finance lease
and properties held for sale with aggregate carrying
values of HK$1,712,000 (2022: nil) and approximately
HK$16,523,247,000 (2022: HK$13,227,962,000) respectively
as at 31 March 2023 (note 21); and

(v)  Certain of Group’s bank deposits with a carrying amount
of HK$282,736,000 as at 31 March 2023 (2022:
HK$551,203,000) (note 25).

All interest-bearing bank and other borrowings of the Group were
denominated in HK dollars, Renminbi and US dollars with interest
rates ranging from 2.80% to 15.00% (31 March 2022: 3.75% to
15.00%) per annum.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank and other borrowings
approximate to their fair values, which have been calculated by
discounting the expected future cash flows at the prevailing interest
rates.

Senior Notes

The Company issued the following senior notes, which are listed on
the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited, in the current
and prior years:

(i) On 20 November 2017, the Company issued senior notes
with an aggregate principal amount of US$300,000,000
(the “2017 November Notes”). The 2017 November Notes
carry interest at the rate of 7.25% per annum, payable semi-
annually on 20 May and 20 November in arrears, and was
originally scheduled to mature on 20 November 2022, unless
redeemed earlier. The offering price was at 97.96% of the
principal amount of the 2017 November Notes.

In August 2022, the Company obtained the consent from the
note holders that the maturity date of the 2017 November
Notes has been extended from 20 November 2022 to 20
July 2024 and the Company may at its option redeem the
2017 November Notes, in whole or in part, at a redemption
price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2017
November Notes plus the applicable premium and accrued
and unpaid interest, if any, as of (but not including) the
redemption date. The interest rate of the 2017 November
Notes changed from 7.25% per annum to 9.0% per annum.

During the year, the Company has repaid the principal
amount of US$13,825,000.

\\¥\

29.

30.

SFERITRAEMEE @)

(iv) H2023F3A31HAALEE FTHIEM
BHEMERBIFHEMENERETDZ
E5 5 A&1,712,0007%8 7T (2022 4F : )
K #916,523,247,000 7 7T ( 2022 F
13,227,962,000/87T) (BisE21) & K

(v R2023F3 A3 HE®ERALMEID
282,736,000 ST AN B T i3RI
(20224 : 551,203,000 7% ) (Ff7525) °

AEEFAEEMERITREMEEY S
B ANRERFETLABN  WIZREF280%E
15.00% B F| &= 5+ 2. (202243 A31H : 3.75%
%£15.00%) °

AKE BRI R EE HREERLAT
EIRE - TEE R IR R AR IR
Rt -

BAR
ARDBRAE BB EFERITAT RIS E
$RSFARAR LHELRE -

()  M2017F11H20H @ KRARIBITAE LA
#6300,000,0003E e MBS ZHR ([ 20174
1MAEE]) - 2017F 11 BRBIRFFE
7.25%T 8 - BF¥EFR5H208 & 11820
Bt WRER2022411 H208 I
(PRIFIRFEM) - HEBR/2017F11 A
FBASEFENIT.96% °

2022488  ARRIEESEEREE AR
EE2017F 11 ARBREIEIE E 82022
F11 5208 K E20244%7 208 kA&
N AIEBSER2017F11 AZBEARE &
FE100% WIEEE - SMNEZEER A
(BT 8EZHE)2017F11 B ZiE/EA
WEAR R RARNHE(E) - BEZ
ek EpH2017F 11 AEH - 2017F11A8
ZERNRARETFT 25%EFF9.0% °

FA - AQRIBEEARE 13,825,000
7TE, o
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31 March 2023 202343H31H

30. Senior Notes (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

On 12 December 2019 and 21 January 2020, the Company
issued senior notes with the aggregate principal amounts
of US$150,000,000 and US$200,000,000, respectively,
(collectively known as the “2019 December Notes”). The
2019 December Notes carry interest at the rate of 11.50%
per annum. Interest will be paid on 12 August and 12
February of each year, commencing from 12 August 2020,
and was originally scheduled to mature on 12 February
2022, unless redeemed earlier. The offering prices were at
97.396% and 98.791% of the principal amounts of the 2019
December Notes of US$150,000,000 and US$200,000,000,
respectively. In January 2022, the Company has obtained the
consent from the note holders that the maturity date of the
2019 December Notes has been extended from 12 February
2022 to 12 August 2022. In August 2022, the Company
further obtained the consent from the note holders that the
maturity date of the 2019 December Notes has been further
extended to 12 April 2024. The Company may at its option
redeem the 2019 December Notes, in whole or in part, at a
redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of
the 2019 December Notes plus the applicable premium and
accrued and unpaid interest, if any, as of (but not including)
the redemption date. The interest rate of the 2019 December
Notes changed from 11.50% per annum to 9.0% per annum.

During the year, the Company has repaid the principal
amount US$41,760,000.

On 26 February 2020 and 26 June 2020, the Company
issued senior notes with the aggregate principal amounts
of US$225,000,000 and US$125,000,000, respectively,
(collectively known as the “2020 February Notes”). The
2020 February Notes carry interest at the rate of 10.875%
per annum, payable semi-annually on 26 June and 26
December in arrears, commencing from 26 June 2020, and
was originally scheduled to mature on 26 June 2022, unless
redeemed earlier. The offering prices were at 97.073% and
93.092% of the aggregate principal amounts of the 2020
February Notes of US$225,000,000 and US$125,000,000,
respectively. In January 2022, the Company has obtained the
consent from the note holders that the maturity date of the
2020 February Notes has been extended from 26 June 2022
to 26 October 2022. In August 2022, the Company further
obtained the consent from note holder that the maturity date
of the 2020 February Notes has been further extended to 26
June 2024. The Company may at its option redeem the 2020
February Notes, in whole or in part, at a redemption price
equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2020 February
Notes plus the applicable premium and accrued and unpaid
interest, if any, as of (but not including) the redemption date.
The interest rate of the 2020 February Notes changed from
10.875% per annum to 9.0% per annum.

During the year, the Company has repaid the principal
amount US$24,220,000.

V//

30. BEEEE®

(ii)

(iii)

R2019412 128 %20204£1 8218 -
NA R Bl 172N & 42 %8 150,000,000
2 75 }.200,000,0003 T H 8 £ 24 (£
HAI2019F 12 AEE ]) - 2019F 12 8
ERBRFEMNMERI11.50%: 8 0 B H
2020F8 128 #E » K RINEF8A12H
K2R 128X WERER202292812
BEH(BRIEIRTHER) - BEEBH A
20194 12 A 2% 2 150,000,000 3 7t &
200,000,000 T AR ¢ 4858 H)97.396% &
98.791% ° 1A2022F 1 A - AR BB EE
ZEEEARSIE2019F12 AZ BN E
HHEH2022F2 A 12BIERE20224
8H12H ~ 120224 8A ' ARwl#E—F
MEERFAEADRGREE2019F12AE
BEHREEBEE2024F4 8128 - AR
A IRIEER2019F 12 AE B A 258
100% R EERIE - SMEZEER B (B
TEHEZE)2019F12 A ZEMNEARE
AR BT EARMFE () @ BB 2K
2201912 ARE - 2019F 12 A RE
AR FAEABFE11.50% 2 FHF9.0% °

FA - RQARIBEEARE41,760,000%F
7_E o

7202092 A26H %2020 6 A26H -
RAaE DRI EEITAE 8 %H225,000,0003
70 % 125,000,000 JT A S =45 (47718
A12020F2 A& ) - 202092 A ik
BEF)E10.875% 5T B + F B #2020
Fe6HA268E ' DRREF6A268 K
12826 B X1+ - WIRERN2022F6 A26
BRI H(BRIEIRTHER) - BEEBH R A
20204 2 A Z #& 2 225,000,000 3= JT &
125,000,000 ST A & 4258 /97.073% &
93.092% ° 202241 8 - ARRBEEE
EREE AREIE2020F22 AZERNE
HIHE H2022F6 A26 HE R E20224F
10H26H ° M2022%8H » AR AlE—
FRIEEFE ABFREIL202062 8%
BRI E R BEE 20246 268 ° A&
AR AIERZEN20204F2 A 2R A4S 4058
100%KFERIE - SiNEEER B HE (R
TEFEZH)2020F2 AEE N ERRE
AR Bt BORNALE (fnF) @ BEE 25k
28202042 A =4 - 20202 A ZiEF|
KA ABEE10.875% 2 FF9.0% °

FR - ARQAEEEEAE24,220,000%
7TE o
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30. Senior Notes (Continued)

(iv)

(v)

ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23 3

On 11 September 2020 and 13 January 2021, the Company
issued senior notes with aggregate principal amounts
of US$250,000,000 and US$120,000,000, respectively
(collectively known as the “2020 September Notes”). The
2020 September Notes carry interest at the rate of 10.75%
per annum, payable semi-annually on 11 April and 11
October in arrears, commencing from 11 April 2021, and
was originally scheduled to mature on 11 April 2023, unless
redeemed earlier. The offering prices were at 96.521% and
99.845% of the aggregate principal amounts of the 2020
September Notes of US$250,000,000 and US$120,000,000,
respectively.

In August 2022, the Company obtained the consent from the
note holders that the maturity date of the 2020 September
Notes has been extended from 11 April 2023 to 11 December
2024 and the Company may at its option redeem the 2020
September Notes, in whole or in part, at a redemption
price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2020
September Notes plus the applicable premium and accrued
and unpaid interest, if any, as of (but not including) the
redemption date. The interest rate of the 2020 September
Notes changed from 10.75% per annum to 9.0% per annum.

During the year, the Company has repaid the principal
amount US$9,250,000.

On 9 March 2021 and 22 March 2021, the Company
issued senior notes with aggregate principal amounts
of US$175,000,000 and US$50,000,000, respectively
(collectively known as the “2021 March Notes”). The 2021
March Notes carry interest at the rate of 11.95% per annum,
payable semi-annually on 9 September and 9 March in
arrears, commencing from 9 September 2021, and was
originally scheduled to mature on 9 February 2023, unless
redeemed earlier. The offering prices were at 96.081% and
96.081% of the aggregate principal amounts of the 2021
March Notes of US$175,000,000 and US$50,000,000,
respectively.

In August 2022, the Company obtained the consent from
the note holders that the maturity date of the 2021 March
Notes has been extended from 9 February 2023 to 9 October
2024 and the Company may at its option redeem the 2021
March Notes, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal
to 100% of the principal amount of the 2021 March Notes
plus the applicable premium and accrued and unpaid interest,
if any, as of (but not including) the redemption date. The
interest rate of the 2021 March Notes changed from 11.95%
per annum to 9.0% per annum.

During the year, the Company has repaid the principal
amount US$11,250,000.

\\¥\

30. BEEEE®

(iv)

(v)

R2020F9 A 11 H &20214F1 138 -
NAR)7D B EEIT A% 48 %8250,000,0005
70 % 120,000,000 Je B S =45 (4778
A12020F9 B &1 ]) ° 20209F9 A Ei&
BEFE10.75%5T 8 @ F B 45 H2021
FARNMBRE  2HREF4A1MBR
108 MBEX  WERER2023F4811
BEE(BRIEIRFHER) - HEEBH A
20204 9 A 2 # ~ 250,000,000 3 Jt &
120,000,000 T A & AR REA796.521% K
99.845% ©

R2022F8 A - ARARBEEBEEIFEA
REE2020F9 A ZEAEIHIH 2 R2023
FARNMBERZ2024F12811MB A
N B A HEAER2020F9 AZE A& %8
100% B IERIE - SMEEER B H (|
TEIEZB)2020F9 A EHME A R E
AR 25 RAMFIE(IE) © BRIZEEK
85202059 A E & ° 202059 A ZiE A
RAEASEF10.75%EFF9.0% °

H

FR - ARRIEEEARSE9,250,000 7T °

M2021E3H9H K2021463 228 » &
A A) 9 Bl # 17 AN & 4258 175,000,000 £
70 550,000,000F T B L EZE (HRE A
[2021F3AEE ) - 2021 F3 A ZEIZ
FFE11.95%T B FIEEH20215F9
AoHR ' DAINEFIAIH K3AIHA
£ WERER202352 A9 H B HI (KR IER
FiED) - B#EE5 R A2021F3 8 RE
Z.175,000,0003 7t % 50,000,000 jt A&
£ #2%ER)96.081% 52 96.081% °

R2022498 A » AARIEEMEBEEZEA
EEIL2021F3 AR EMEIEIH E H2023
F£2A9HIERZE2024F10 498 R AR
A IRBER 2021 F3 A ZE ARG H5E
100%KIERE - SNEEER B (R
TBEFEZE)2021FE3 A ZEMNERRE
AR ZFRAAFE(E) - BE2Isk
2202163 A2 - 202193 A ZiEF|
KA BEE11.95%2FF9.0% °

el

FA - AQRIBEEZEAE 11,250,000

7T
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30. Senior Notes (Continued)
At the end of the reporting period, 2017 November Notes, 2019
December Notes, 2020 February Notes, 2020 September Notes
and 2021 March Notes (collectively named as the “Senior Notes”)

contained liability components and early redemption options as

follows:

0]

(ii)

The liability component represented the present value of
the contractually determined stream of future cash flows
discounted at the prevailing market interest rate at that time
applicable to instruments with comparable credit status that
provided substantially the same cash flows, on the same
terms, but without the embedded derivatives.

Interest charged for the year was calculated by applying
effective interest rates of approximately 9%, 12%, 13%,
11% and 12% per annum to the liability components of
2017 November Notes, 2019 December Notes, 2020 February
Notes, 2020 September Notes and 2021 March Notes,
respectively, since they were issued.

Early redemption options were regarded as embedded
derivatives not closely related to the host contracts. The
Directors consider that the fair value of the above early
redemption options was insignificant on initial recognition
and as at 31 March 2023.
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FIRZR(HBAMELZRE]EE THEED
DK FiiR T E D

() BEBIEAVMEERTESRERA
B AL REE TR RARETRER R
HHERRSRERERATETANTA
BRERNRITHSMETRNEAE -

HAMFEERTR2017F 1M1 ARE
2019F 12 A &% - 20202 A £ -
20206F9 B EEM2021 63 AEE - ZiE
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30. Senior Notes (Continued)
The Senior Notes recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position were calculated as follows:

30. BEEEE®

EREGRE MBI R ERNBARETENT ¢

2023 2022

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Current portion RNERFR1A 922,065 9,622,708
Non-current portion JERNHREB (D 10,629,541 2,672,456
11,551,606 12,295,164

The fair value of the Senior Notes as at 31 March 2023 amounted
to HK$9,466,793,000 (2022: HK$9,515,210,000). The fair value
was calculated by using the quoted market price of the Senior
Notes on 31 March 2023.

31. Medium-Term Notes
The Group issued the following medium-term notes in the current
and prior years:

(i) On 18 April 2019, China South International completed the
issuance of the first tranche of medium-term notes of 2019
(the “2019 First Tranche MTN") with a total principal amount
of RMB600,000,000 in the national inter-bank market of the
PRC. The 2019 First Tranche MTN carried interest at the rate
of 8.5% per annum, were payable annually on 18 April in
arrears, and have a term of up to 3 years at maximum. The
amount was fully settled in April 2022.

The medium-term notes recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position were calculated as follows:

31.

202343 HA31H ' BEZERN A TFEE
9,466,793,0005 7T (20224 : 9,515,210,0005%
7T) o AETIEREBEZEEN20234F3 4318
RWTIBER 2 RETH -

FHIRE
AEBERAFEFBEFERTUTHNAR
7% -

() ZEmEER2019F4 8 18H A EHR R
TREEIT2019F 5 — P HZE - A€
#%8 & AR %600,000,0007T ° 201958
—HAR EIRIR G FR B8.5% « BFN4A
18AXM - HIRERA3ZF - ESFTERN
2022FARZH I -

ERERE MBI R R P BAREF N T

2023 2022

HK$°000 HK$'000

THERT FAT

Carrying amount at the end of year REFLRHEREE - 799,382

The fair value of the medium-term notes as at 31 March 2022
amounted to HK$797,524,000. The fair value was calculated by
using the quoted market price of the medium-term notes on 31
March 2022.

282 ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23 43R \ \ N

R2022F3A31H P HEENATES
797,524,000 7T - AFETIFER P BHEER
20223 A31 B MIBER ZRETE -



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt R Rk B o ()

31 March 2023 202343H31H

32. Domestic Company Bonds

The Group issued the following domestic company bonds in the

current and prior years:

0]

On 2 August 2019 and 5 August 2019, China South
International completed the issuance of the first and second
tranches of domestic company bonds of 2019 (collectively
known as the “2019 First and Second Tranches DCB")
with a total principal amount of RMB1,400,000,000 on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange of the PRC. The 2019 First and
Second Tranches DCB carry interest at the rate of 8.00%
per annum, are payable annually on 1 August and 5 August
in arrears respectively, and have a term of up to 3 years
at @ maximum. In July 2021, China South International
repurchased part of the domestic company bonds at an
aggregate principal amount of RMB12,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$14,452,000) from the open market. The remaining
balance was fully settled in August 2022.

The domestic company bonds recognised in the consolidated

statement of financial position were calculated as follows:

32.

BAREES
ARBERAEE RBEFEETATHEAR
A -

() =MEES5HIR201948H2H &X2019
F8ASHERNRINEBESRRZ ZAEITA
& & H4azE A AR 1,400,000,0007T A
2019 E— R E—HEANFIES -
2019 F— MR F RN A RIEHF
F%&58.00% * A RIGFR8A1H KRS8 A
SEXf IR &K AB3IF - BR202147
B EREBERARTSEEIHEAA
AESF A SE LS A AR 12,000,000
JC(HBE 14,452,000/ 7T) - AL T L5
ER2022F8 A2 HH T °

ERG A B RRERG SN A TE S
m

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

THERT FAT

Carrying amount at the end of year REROEREE - 1,797,258

The fair value of the domestic company bonds as at 31 March 2022
amounted to HK$1,675,964,000. The fair value was calculated by
using the quoted market price of the domestic company bonds on
31 March 2022.

20223 A318 F BRARIEFN AT EE
1,675,964,000/87C © AFETMFEAERNRARIE
A1R2022F3 A31 B THISEIR 2 HETE -
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31 March 2023 202343H31H

33. Deferred Tax 33. EEHIE
The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year FNELEHEABEREE ZZFHIT ¢

are as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities ELEHEAE
Fair value
adjustments
Costs to Accelerated Revaluation Revaluation of Capitalised arising from
obtain tax  ofinvestment  Withholding property, plant interest  remeasure of
contracts  depreciation properties taxes  and equipment expense an associate Total
HENR
E¥fitE
b EErl ¥ BER EE2AYE
BA  MERERE  RENEER 2 REEM EALHE #E @3t
Note HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
(iEd TET THR THT THT THT THR TET THT
At 31 March 2022 R202253A318 64,538 1,237,032 8,535,598 456,885 91,841 665,028 - 11,050,922
Deferred tax charged/(credited)  ERRGAERER
to the consolidated statement ¥ /(5 \EERE
of profit or loss during the year 8 10 (8.122) 147,355 45131 3,644 - 126,627 140,341 454,976
Disposal of a subsidiary HERBAR = = = (6:922) = = = (6.922)
Exchange differences ERZE (4,767) (90,635) (597,389) (33,600) (6,756) (48,609) 345 (781,411)
Gross deferred tax liabilities at 7202353 A3184)
31 March 2023 EEEREEE 51,649 1,293,752 7,983,340 420,007 85,085 743,046 140,686 10,717,565
Deferred tax assets BEHEEE
Provision for Change in fair
Losses  impairment Provision for value of
available oftrade,  Taxeffect of impairment of financial
for offsetting otherand  government inventories  assets at fair
Tax effect ~ against future long-term  grants relating Accrued  and properties  value through
of LAT taxable profits receivables to assets expense  held forsale  profit or loss Total
FEARSE -
THEE  HARRE  EEEEZ FER  BBEEN
IHIRER  ARERH -6 O Vit RENEHEE  AVEIRZ
HhKyE  NENEE HERE HiBxe FERtBX BERE SREEZHE st

Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Wik TER TR Thn TiEn TR ThR TR TER

At 31 March 2022 2022437318 1,637,229 700,131 163,551 1,085,058 70,351 24,639 3,287 3,684,246
Deferred tax credited/(charged) FMRGABRERA

to the consolidated statement 51 A,/ (1889

of profitor loss during the ~ {EXEFIA

year 10 (200,050) 152,676 42,29 (7,985) (3917 111,963 (1,171) 93,806
Disposal of a subsidiary HERBLA = = (9.786) = = = = (9.786)
Exchange differences EXZE (120,927) (51,127) (11,927) (87,269) (5,185) (1,537) (245) (278,217)
Gross deferred tax assetsat 20233 A31R4]

31 March 2023 BETRIELE 1,316,252 801,680 184,128 989,804 61,249 135,065 1871 3,490,049
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31 March 2023 202343H31H

33. Deferred Tax (Continued) 33. EZEBE @)
Deferred tax liabilities EEHEAE
Costs to Accelerated Revaluation Revaluation of Capitalised
obtain tax  of investment Withholding ~ property, plant interest
contracts depreciation properties taxes  and equipment expense Total
| EEE ER
MRA  NERUERE  RAWEER il Y EGE BXEAIE &5t
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$:000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR L TR TR TR
At 31 March 2021 202153318 04,218 1,022,789 8,264,192 432120 88,132 560,007 10,431,458

Deferred tax charged/(credited) tothe  ERRAERR IR/
consolidated statement of profit (Br AR

or loss during the year (2,418) 168,723 (54,305) 6,482 - 80,276 198,758
Exchange differences ERER 2,738 45520 325,711 18,283 3,709 24,745 420,706
Gross deferred tax liabilties at 20223 A31 BAERTE

31 March 2022 HEaE 64,538 1,237,032 8,535,598 456,885 91,841 665,028 11,050,922

Deferred tax assets EEHRIEBEEE
Provision for Change in fair
Losses impairment Provision for value of
available of trade, Tax effect of impairment of financial
for offsetting other and government inventories  assets at fair
Taxeffect  against future long-term ~ grants relating Accrued  and properties  value through
of LAT  taxable profits receivables 10 assets expense held forsale ~ profit or loss Total
A EfRRH BHAEL FER BEBRN
TiEfER RIRERD FEdEE HATHRE) BEMREE  ATEIRZ
HiETE BRI RERE it et HERE eREEsHE @it

HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T THTL TR ThL THTL TR ThRL

At 31 March 2021 2021934318 1,535,848 611,922 128,752 997,457 74,018 6,498 4,492 3,358,987
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to - ERNGABEEREA/

the consolidated statement of (3% )EVEIEH A

profit or loss during the year 36,208 61,552 28,956 58,538 (6,684) 17,610 (1,374) 194,806
Exchange differences EHER 65,173 26,657 5,843 29,063 3,017 531 169 130,453

Gross deferred tax assets at 1#2020F3R318KE

31 March 2022 BEREEE 1,637,229 700,131 163,551 1,085,058 70,351 24,639 3,287 3,684,246
At the end of reporting period, the Group has unrecognised RBEERE  KEEBREAELENARER
tax losses arising in Hong Kong of HK$1,154,660,000 (2022: i I8 B B A 1,154,660,000 7 7T ( 2022 4F :
HK$1,150,010,000) that are available indefinitely for offsetting 1,150,010,000/ 7T, ) » AJ #E PR HA 458 - LA 84
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses EH BB D BRI ERT = A o
arose.
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31 March 2023 202343H31H

33.

Deferred Tax (Continued)

At the end of reporting period, the Group also has unrecognised
tax losses in Mainland China of HK$2,445,739,000 (2022:
HK$1,127,187,000) that will expire in one to five years for
offsetting against future taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these
losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-
making for some time and it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the
foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland China.
The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to
earnings generated from 1 January 2008. A lower withholding
tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland
China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is therefore liable for
withholding taxes on dividends distributed by subsidiaries established
in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January
2008. In the current year, the Group accrued withholding tax
of HK$3,644,000 (2022: HK$6,482,000) for those subsidiaries
established in Mainland China.

As at 31 March 2023, the aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised was
approximately HK$9,721,467,000 (2022: HK$8,904,505,000). No
liability has been recognised in respect of these differences because
the Group is in a position to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that such differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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33. EZEBE )

RIREBIRE - AEBE AP BEIAREEERR
TR BB E 18 A 2,445,739,0007% 7T (2022 4F
1,127,187,000/8 7T) - R —ERFAER
A] FA AR S AR SR FE SR B R A

AR ZEERAEHREBERE -—REHNMER
BIEL - BRRBAIL A 8EHE 7B AR BUE T
NEHZ SR SHANTIRERE - S ERZE
EEERRLERIAEE °

BIEPBEBEMERE - LRRBEAMA
INEIRE R ERIEINEE BT RIS BN
10%TEFIPA1S TR © 7% 4R 7E 520084F1 A1 BE4E
o WiEAR2008F1 A1 BBFTEE 2 AF) o
firi o B £ )G IME B 25 FTBE RlVARE [ =] 8 B 5 15
% BIPIRAREEINAMEHE - AEE/E
AR ER5%10% ° FEt - ANEEAEFHF E
MK 37 BT BB A B 9K 200845 1 A 1 B 12 Pk
AR RS MBRIBIAER - RARFE -
7N & B 5T 12 T8 1 AT 15 B 3,644,000 7% 7T (2022
4 : 6,482,000/87T) °

720233 A31H © BEAR ZKREMRH
MEAERAECHEAGEZEREEZEE
A H Y A9,721,467,000 78 JT (2022 F
8,904,505,000% 7T ) © B & 3t A B = SR
15 75 R A 7 5= B A 42 I 485 2 B M 22 B 7 BRE ]
RER R A TE B 2 i8R AT e N ] o
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31 March 2023 202343H31H

34. Share Capital 34. RA&
Shares dni)
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FA&T
Issued and fully paid: BEEITRAZ
11,441,892,848 (31 March 2022: 11,441,892,848 % (202243 H
8,091,892,848) ordinary shares 31H :8,091,892,848%) &
=] d 9,131,812 7,222,312
A summary of the movements in the Company’s share capital is as RABHRAZEBFHENT ¢
follows:
Number of
shares in issue Share capital
ERTRAOHE &N
HK$'000
FAxT
At 31 March 2021, 31 March 2022 2021938318 ~ 20224
and 1 April 2022 3A31H K2022F4A81H 8,091,892,848 7,222,312
Issuance of new shares (Note (a)) BATE R (H7E(a)) 3,350,000,000 1,909,500
At 31 March 2023 720233 A31H 11,441,892,848 9,131,812
Note: BZE
(@  On 16 May 2022, an aggregate of 3,350,000,000 new shares were (@) M2022%5H168 @ AR BB EBISIRERR
issued and allocated under the specific mandate and in accordance BB R R G AR R EE T RA
with terms and conditions of the subscription agreement by the %4 #£3,350,000,000 % 37 % © REEAEK
Company to SZCDG at a subscription price of HK$0.57 per share. 0.5787T °
Share options BB AE
Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share R R el BB 8 RN EI T E #E1TH
options issued under the scheme are included in note 35 to the HE IR B SF N A IS SRR OB 5235 o

financial statements.
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31 March 2023 202343H31H

35. Share Options 35.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 4 September
2009 (the “2009 Share Option Scheme”) to provide incentives
and reward to selected eligible persons which include directors,
employees, officers, agents, consultants or representatives of
the Group for their contribution or potential contribution to the
Company or its subsidiaries. The 2009 Share Option Scheme
became effective on 30 September 2009 and, has expired on 13
September 2019.

Another share option scheme (the “2019 Share Option Scheme”)
was approved by the shareholders in annual general meetings and
became effective on 13 September 2019 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that
date. Pursuant to the terms of the 2019 Share Option Scheme, the
Company may grant options at its discretion, to any eligible persons
which include executive and non-executive directors, employees,
officers, agents or consultants of the Company or any subsidiary for
their contribution or potential contribution to the Group.

The following share options were outstanding under the 2009
Share Option Scheme and 2019 Share Option Scheme during the

B

A EE R 200949 A 4 B % 4 8 IR 7 51 &
([20094F FE R HERT &1 1) » MM AR A RS H TS
AREL RSB EERNEEESERALT
(PREASEES B8  SABE 1B FE
IR R ) IR ERE R B3R -+ 2009F B AR#E AT
£/ 520094F9 A30H RBAER * REFM201949 A
138 EIE -

IR B ([ 2019F BAUERT &I )
REFRG LRGERERIE - XHN2019F9A
13EAEM - BARZARERTF(FRIFBUARK
TEHERT) » RIZE2019FBARME R 2 AV 155K
ARBARBER(ARABREMHBARZES
(BEHTIFNTES) - BE - RARE -
RIBRER) AR EBA LR THBERE - Y
P ARERNEREEETRL

RE AR IZ2009F FE AT BIM2019FRB AR
FHEIMARTTEE Z BAELT

year:
For the year ended 31 March
BZ3A3ALERE
2023 2022

Weighted Weighted
average exercise Number of  average exercise Number of
price per share options price per share options

BRmE R E
FHTHEE BREZA B RIS
HK$ ‘000 HK$ '000
B T BT S
At the beginning of year R 1.2817 189,300 1.3855 203,795
Granted during the year FREN - - 1.0000 55,000
Lapsed during the year FEREHR 1.7960 (58,000) 14719 (53,495)
Forfeited during the year FRIEN 1.0000 (3,000) 1.0000 (16,000)
At the end of year NGRS 12117 128,300 1.2817 189,300
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31 March 2023 202343H31H

35. Share Options (Continued)

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options

outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2023

Number of options Exercise price

35. [BRE®)
RIREHAR « R ITIERERRIE M0 7T (58 AT 15 28
NS
20234

Exercise period

BIRERE 1TEE 1TEHA
‘000 HK$ per share
TR sRET
2,000 1.75 22-08-2018 to 21-08-2023
201858 H22HE2023%8H21H
40,000 1.52 03-07-2018 to 02-07-2023
2018%7H3H%E2023%7H2H
3,000 1.81 13-04-2018 to 12-04-2023
20184138 E2023F4H12H
3,000 1.81 13-04-2019 to 12-04-2024
2019%4H13H £2024%4H12H
10,100 1.00 07-02-2021 to 06-02-2025
202152H7H%2025%2H6H
10,100 1.00 07-02-2022 to 06-02-2025
202242 A7H £2025%52H6H
10,100 1.00 07-02-2023 to 06-02-2025
202352 H7H%E2025%2H6H
10,000 1.00 29-06-2022 to 28-06-2026
202256 H29H £2026%6 A28H
10,000 1.00 29-06-2023 to 28-06-2026
2023456 H29H £20266 528 H
10,000 1.00 29-06-2024 to 28-06-2026
202456 H29H £2026%6 H28H
20,000 1.00 31-03-2022 to 30-03-2026
202253 HA31HZE202653H30H
128,300
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31 March 2023 202343H31H

35. Share Options (Continued)
2022

Number of options

Exercise price

35. [BRE®)
20224

Exercise period

fER S B 1T iRt
‘000 HK$ per share
Th& BT
5,000 1.75 22-08-2017 to 21-08-2022
201748 A22H=E202248A21H
2,000 1.75 22-08-2018 to 21-08-2023
201898 A22HZE202348H21H
40,000 1.52 03-07-2017 to 02-07-2022
201747 A3B 5202247 H2A
40,000 1.52 03-07-2018 to 02-07-2023
201847 A3B £2023F7H2H
4,000 1.81 13-04-2018 to 12-04-2023
2018448 13H%2023%4A12H
4,000 1.81 13-04-2019 to 12-04-2024
201944 B 13HE2024F4812H
13,100 1.00 07-02-2021 to 06-02-2025
202192 7B E2025%2 A6H
13,100 1.00 07-02-2022 to 06-02-2025
20222 A7HZE2025%2 A6H
13,100 1.00 07-02-2023 to 06-02-2025
202392 A7H%2025%2A6H
10,000 1.00 29-06-2022 to 28-06-2026
202246 A29H E20264%6 A28H
10,000 1.00 29-06-2023 to 28-06-2026
20236 A29H %2026 6 H28H
10,000 1.00 29-06-2024 to 28-06-2026
202446 A29H £202646 A28H
25,000 1.00 31-03-2022 to 30-03-2026
202243 A31HZ2026%3A30H
189,300

ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23 3

\\¥\



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt R Rk B o ()

31 March 2023 202343H31H

35.

36.

Share Options (Continued)
The Group recognised a share option expense of HK$1,160,000
(2022: HK$6,758,000) during the year ended 31 March 2023.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 128,300,000
share options outstanding under the Share Option Scheme, which
represented approximately 1.12% of the Company’s shares in
issue as at that date. The exercise in full of the outstanding share
options would, under the present capital structure of the Company,
result in the issue of 128,300,000 additional ordinary shares of the
Company and additional share capital of HK$155,460,000 (before
issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company
had 125,300,000 share options outstanding under the Share
Option Scheme, which represented approximately 1.10% of the
Company'’s shares in issue as at that date.

Other Reserves

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
for the current year and the prior year are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 172 to 174
of the financial statements.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for Sino-foreign
joint venture enterprises, a portion of the profits of the Group's
subsidiaries which are established in the PRC has been transferred
to the statutory reserve which is restricted as to use.

The capital reserve represents additional contribution made by the
shareholders of the Company’s subsidiaries and, in the case of an
acquisition of an additional equity interest in a non-wholly-owned
subsidiary, the difference between the cost of acquisition and the
non-controlling interests acquired.

The revaluation reserve represents the difference arising from
the change in use from owner-occupied properties to investment
properties carried at fair value.

35.

36.

BBARAE (®)

HZE2023F3A3MHILEE  AEERERER
RS £1,160,00078 7T (20224F : 6,758,000/
JL) ©

R EEARE - RIZERESSE - XAFHF
128,300,0007 RITEIEARE - HERARARE
HEETRNA.12% ° RIBANAFIRRHE
REEMS - 2BITERTEERESSEHR
N F)E17128,300,0000% 58 51 2 53 A% K2 ZEINAR
78155,460,0007% 7T (F0BR BEATHSZ AL ©

NZERBHREIL ESZ B - RIEERETE
KA RAE125,300,00010 ARITIEEAE - HER
AARE HEEITIRMHAI1.10% °

HAtof
BRARERAFREAFHREEREEHES
SR HREE 17221 74BN G A RRED
A o

%

REPINEBERBBERRER - AKEIE
THERERINMBATNONEEEREE
REZREINEEREE

BAEEIEA D RME A R 2 BERVE L BV ERSN
TE  ARERB-FIEREMB AR MR
Pt - B AN BT IR HI R N 2
R o

EbHEEEERZEEMRBEAMEE /AR
FEIRNREMEMELNER -
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31 March 2023 202343H31H

37. Disposal of Subsidiaries 37. EEMIB AT

292

On 18 July 2022, the Company and its substantial shareholder
SZCDG, a company directly owned 29.28% equity interest in
the Company entered into one investment agreement (the
“Agreement”). Pursuant to the Agreement, SZCDG agrees to
invest, by way of share subscription and/or share sale, in the then
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, namely First Asia Pacific
Group, at a consideration (the “Consideration”) of approximately
HK$1,435,414,000 (the “Transaction”). The Transaction was
completed on 23 December 2022 and SZCDG became a holder
of 50% equity interest in First Asia Pacific Group. Since then, First
Asia Pacific Group ceased to be a subsidiary of the Company and its
financial results was not be consolidated into the Group’s financial

statements.

Pursuant to the buy-back clause contained in the Agreement, upon
the occurrence of the certain triggering events during the three-
year investment period, the Company has a contractual obligation
to buy-back the 50% equity interest in First Asia Pacific Group from
SZCDG at an exercise price set out in an announcement of the
Company dated 18 July 2022. The Company has reassessed the
fair value of the put option as at 31 March 2023 and regarded fair
value of the put option as insignificant.
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29.28% BIEMARRFRBZEEEMET T —H
KE&EmZE (Rl - BEZHE  FRERS
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RARF—H2EMBARSE —AEE @ £
B(TRIE])#5E1,435,414,0008 T([25]) °
ZRXFH2022F12 A238 =K - HEEREE
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31 March 2023 202343H31H

37. Disposal of Subsidiaries (Continued) 37. REMB AR @)
The aggregate assets and liabilities in respect of the above disposals A FREBNEELTNE BRI
were as follows:

2023
HK$'000
FTHET
Net assets disposed of: FEEZRE
Current assets MEEE 1,220,870
Non-current assets ERBEE 3,326
Current liabilities nEBEE (865,973)
358,223
Exchange fluctuation reserve b HOR B (40,409)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary BEKNBARZEF 2,553,014
2,870,828
Satisfied by: XA
Consideration receivables R 5 EWGRIE 143,541
Cash B 1,291,873
The fair value of the remaining equity of a subsidiary R2022F12A23BEENBARIEZ
after the Disposal as at 23 December 2022 FlepEm N T E 1,435,414
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and bank balances in respect EHEE—WBARMNE S RRITFEIFRA
of the disposal of a subsidiary is as follows: pax in N
2023
HK$'000
FET
Cash received from disposal of subsidiary o B B A FIFTURERER € 1,291,873
Cash and bank balances disposed of FTERIRIR & RIRITIFAX (162,733)
Net inflow of cash and bank balances in respect of EiE BB AR ARIR S RIRIT
the disposal of subsidiaries FRFERA 1,129,140
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31 March 2023 202343H31H

37. Disposal of Subsidiaries (Continued) 37.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group disposed its 100%
interest in certain subsidiaries to independent third parties at a
consideration of HK$68,967,000 together with a waiver of debt
amounting to HK$50,319,000.

The aggregate assets and liabilities in respect of the above disposals

were as follows:

BEEMB QT (@
HZE2022F3A318LEE » AEBEMN
68,967,000/ 7T A B #5752 F1100% B =
HERBIE=7 - £EINRHE50,319,0007%
TTHESER R o

HALREMNEEATMBEADT

2022
HK$'000
FHET
Net assets disposed of: FEEZRE
Current assets MENEE 17,505
Non-current assets FEREEE 190,187
Current liabilities mEaE (195,029)
12,663
Exchange fluctuation reserve RNl (292)
Waiver of debt BEEEE 50,319
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries BEMBAR AT 6,277
68,967
Satisfied by: ZRAR
Cash receivables IR e W EE 33,291
Cash Re 35,676

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and bank balances in respect
of the disposal of subsidiaries is as follows:

HEENBRARMNE S MIBITERFERAD
T

2022

HK$'000

FT

Cash and bank balances disposed of FTRIRIR & RIRITIFAX 1,647
Net inflow of cash and bank balances in respect EEEWB ARG AMNRS RIRITE

of the disposal of subsidiaries FERA 34,029
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37. Disposal of Subsidiaries (Continued) 37. REMB AR @)
For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group disposed its 100% B ZE202F3A31HILEFE AEEEETHE
interest in subsidiaries, which mainly held completed properties TEERAL - RESMNSEERIALE
held for sale in Xian, Hefei and Zhengzhou. Therefore, the Group YIERHIB AR 100%89%Ex o Atk - NEBF
regarded these disposals as sale of properties and the related cash EREEREDELE BERL2EHRER
inflow as cash generated from operations. A e
The aggregate assets and liabilities in respect of the above disposals A FRENEEATME BRI

were as follows:

2022
HK$'000
FHIT
Net assets disposed of: FEEZRE
Current assets MENEE 738,537
Non-current assets EMENEE 901,987
Current liabilities VinE A=Y (1,323,839
316,685
Exchange fluctuation reserve & H B 10,047
Waiver of debt EEE#R 1,495,009
Satisfied by: AR
Cash receivables I & EMRIE 1,494,296
Cash Re 1,013,376
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and bank balances in respect EERENBARMNIERES RBETEIFRAD
of the disposal of subsidiaries is as follows: ManT -
2022
HK$'000
FHT
Cash and bank balances disposed of FTRIR IR & RIRITIER 49,780
Net inflow of cash and bank balances in respect EEE B ARG AR S RRITE
of the disposal of subsidiaries FOFRA 963,596
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38. Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash 38. MEBEERERME

Flows
(a) Major non-cash transactions (a) FEHFRERS
During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right- R - AEEEBEREHREESBNE
of-use assets and lease liabilities of HK$16,360,000 (2022: RiEEEREEAEZIFESEMS R
HK$1,510,000) and HK$16,360,000 (2022: HK$1,510,000), /16,360,000 7T (2022 4 : 1,510,000
respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for property. 7 70 ) & 16,360,000 78 7 ( 2022 & :
1,510,000/ 7T) °
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) BMEETHELANEEES
activities
Interest
payable
Interest- Amounts included in
bearing bank due to trade and
and other related Senior Medium- Domestic other Lease
borrowings parties notes  termnotes companybonds  payables liabilities
ESREM
THERTR JEf BRARE  EAFER
HiEE  BEARE BEEE HHRE &%  HNEATE HERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL THEL THEL THEL THEL THEL THEL
At 1 April 2022 #2022F4 718 21,083,572 - 12,295,164 799,382 1,797,258 199,857 25,271
Changes from HaReNE
financing
cash flows 2,107,316 189,973 (2,088,122) (796,186) (1,742,965) (1,812,826) (14,891)
New leases Mg - - - - - - 16,360
Interest expense R - - 1,344,564 3,050 47,187 1,720,440 1,749
Exchange realignment [ 3 5% (1911,732) = = (6,246) (101,480) (3,282) (1,719)
At3IMarch 2023 B\023%3A318 21,279,156 189973 11,551,606 - - 104,189 26,770
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38. Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash 38. REHEREXRMKT @
Flows (Continued)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) MEETHEENAGEEH 9
activities (Continued)

Interest- Interest payable
bearing bank included in
and other Senior Medium- Domestic trade and Lease
borrowings notes termnotes ~ company bonds  other payables liabilities
BARH M
SERTR VNG JEfTFIBA
A ErZR hHRE (&5 il pplst HEAR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TR TAL TATL TAL TATL
At 1 April 2021 M202154A18 18,898,973 15,947,709 765,622 1,733,137 45,267 88,874
Changes from financing &% & E%
cash flows 1,837,192 (5,299,918) (61,975) (150,554) (1,405,457) (71,503)
New leases g - - - - - 1,510
Interest expense FlERS 1,647,373 63,489 142,010 1,556,252 3,795
Disposal of subsidiaries B EMEA ) (632,647) - - - - -
Exchange realignment B 5 % 980,054 - 32,46 72,665 3,795 2,595
At 31 March 2022 12022837316 21,083,572 12,295,164 799,382 1,797,258 199,857 25,271
(c) Total cash outflow for leases () HEABRESRK
The total cash outflow for leases included in the consolidated AGERERERNEERREMH M
statement of cash flows is as follows: N
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Within operating activities A EHA 7,025 8,516
Within financing activities STABE RSN 14,891 71,503
21,916 80,019
39. Pledge of Assets 39. EEEH
Details of the Group’s assets pledged for the Group’s bank and NAEENEEERRNRITREMEESE
other borrowings are included in notes 14, 15, 16, 21, 25 and 29 BRI TSR KR MIFE14 - 15~ 16 ~ 21~ 25K%29 °

to the financial statements.
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40. Contingent Liabilities

At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not
provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

40. SAREE

RBEBF - BHEREAFREREORAEE
T

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET T
Guarantees given to banks in connection AT & ERABE M
with facilities granted to: IRITHRAEA IR -
Third parties E=7 8,275,671 10,939,159

The Group has provided guarantees in respect of banking facilities
granted by certain banks to the purchasers of the Group's
properties held for sale and held for finance lease. Pursuant to the
terms of the guarantees, if there is default of the loan payments by
the purchasers and lessees, the Group is responsible for repaying
the outstanding loans together with accrued interest thereon and
any penalty owed by the defaulted purchasers and lessees to banks.
The Group is then entitled to take over the legal titles and usage
rights of the related properties. For trade centre units and residential
properties sold, the guarantee periods commence from the dates
of grant of the relevant loans and ends when the purchasers obtain
the building ownership certificates which will then be pledged to
the banks. For residential and commercial properties under finance
lease, the guarantees will be released upon the full repayment of
loan principals by the lessees.

The Group did not incur any material losses during the financial
year in respect of the guarantees provided for mortgage facilities
granted to the purchasers and lessees of the Group’s properties.
The Directors consider that in case of default on payments, the net
realisable value of the related properties can cover the repayment of
the outstanding mortgage loans together with any accrued interest
and penalty, and therefore the fair value of the guarantees is not
significant.
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41. Commitments 41. A
The Group had the following commitments at the end of the REERIRERAE TIEE
reporting period:

2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FH&T
Contracted, but not provided for: BETAVB AR -
Properties under development ERPYIE 9,808,395 13,512,507
42. Related Party Transactions 42. BERRXS
(i) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these (i) BAPBBRREMBHFRBZTSHIN - &
financial statements, the Group had the following transactions SERFREFREEEERENBAT
with SZCDG and its subsidiaries (collectively “SZCDG Group”) (R EEEE s EB D RE—TA
and First Asia Pacific Group during the year: SEHEITUTRS :
2023
Notes HK$'000
BdaE FET
First Asia Pacific Group F—DAEHE
Property management services YEER RS (1) 84,489
SZCDG Group FeEEsEs5F
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 37) BEWE AT (M 37) 1,435,414
Advances from disposal of a subsidiary BEEKBARMIERN
(note 48) (Pf93E 48) 2,284,600
Interest-bearing loans FFEER ) 189,973
Interest expense FMEFAEZ 9,601
3,919,588
Notes: fI5E
(1) The rates and conditions of the services are similar to those (1)  BREMERMEHFERBE =M
offered to independent third parties. RIARTSREML o
(2)  Interest-bearing loans were provided from a subsidiary of (2) HEEREEEZNBRRNGEER
SZCDG based on mutually agreed terms. SRR AT 2SS -
Save as disclosed above and the balances detailed in note e FSCFRIEEE R B SRR FT st 27 555t 19
27 to the financial statements, the Group had no material 4EEAHN B 2202343 831 H IFEE REL
transactions and outstanding balances with related parties 2202243 H31 8 ILEE - A& E R
during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 balances H AR E AR S A A & BRREES T
with related parties. 4EER o
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42. Related Party Transactions (Continued) 42. BERRS (#)
(i) Compensation of key management (i) XEEETEEE ASFHMH

personnel of the Group

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Short term employee benefits HHEB R 15,351 25,199
Post-employment benefits B2 1B 54 60
Share-based payments LARE 2= 4 B ) BE IR F <2 1,458 2,055
Total compensation paid to key XN TFEEEEABNT LR
management personnel 16,863 27,314
Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note EEMEME— T FIEHN T mK T
8 to the financial statements. 8°
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43. Financial Instruments by Category
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

43. €T EDE
RIS - SES BT ANEEENT -

2023

Financial assets

2023
SREE

Financial assets
at fair value
through profit
or loss
EREBHEUNTLE
FIlRz e RMEE
Designated as
such upon initial

Financial assets
measured at

recognition amortised cost Total
EOLSRAR  REBHERANTE
EER ZEMEE @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
T FTERr THET
Trade receivables FEWE 5 8RR - 977,068 977,068
Other long-term receivables H iR MR RIE - 896,447 896,447
Financial assets included in prepayments, st ATBfT 8 « E b fEUFIE
other receivables and other assets REMEE SREE - 1,481,862 1,481,862
Amount due from a related party JEUS FiE N RIROE = 143,541 143,541
Financial assets at fair value through FEBBRIARTEVE 2/
profit or loss BE 5,668 - 5,668
Cash and bank balances B RBITER - 2,525,074 2,525,074
5,668 6,023,992 6,029,660
Financial liabilities c@as
Financial liabilities
at fair value
through profit
or loss
BEREFUATE
IRz emERE
Mandatorily Financial liabilities
designated measured at
as such amortised cost Total
REHER A
BEEER HEZEREE st
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
T TiEx THET
Financial liabilities included in trade and 5T AE 5 & E b fERT FUIER
other payables cHAR - 6,553,557 6,553,557
Amount due to an associate FERE & R AR - 926,257 926,257
Amounts due to related parties [EREERRIRIA - 2,474,573 2,474,573
Financial liabilities at fair value through B iBIEZUAFENIERZ
profit or loss SHEE 8,489 = 8,489
Interest-bearing bank and other FRSRITRAMBEE
borrowings - 21,279,156 21,279,156
Senior notes BEFE - 11,551,606 11,551,606
Other long-term payables Hih REENFIR = 15,828 15,828
8,489 42,800,977 42,809,466
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43. Financial Instruments by Category (Continued)

2022

Financial assets

43. 2RI ESE %)

20224
SHEE

Financial assets
at fair value
through profit
or loss

BRBEARTE

Designated as
such upon initial

Financial assets
measured at

recognition amortised cost Total
FENFSERN  IREERARHE
BER ZEMEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT
Trade receivables U E 5 8RR - 2,351,409 2,351,409
Other long-term receivables Hib REAEMRIE - 560,758 560,758
Financial assets included in STATBFUE - HAbEYGKIE
prepayments, other receivables REMBEZ EHAERE
and other assets - 3,849,726 3,849,726
Financial assets at fair value through BRERARTESIR 28
profit or loss BE 3,325 - 3,325
Cash and bank balances e RBITHER - 4,681,068 4,681,068
3,325 11,442,961 11,446,286
Financial liabilities SEas
Financial liabilities
at fair value
through profit
or loss
BRBRARTFE
SRR SR E
Mandatorily  Financial liabilities
designated measured at
as such amortised cost Total
TREESHARA
REEER  ATEZERERE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT
Financial liabilities included in trade and T AZ 5 & E fth fE (1 5B K
other payables THER - 9,742,448 9,742,448
Financial liabilities at fair value through B iBIEZE U AFEIERZ
profit or loss cHAR 14,231 - 14,231
Interest-bearing bank and other FERITREMEE
borrowings - 21,083,572 21,083,572
Senior notes BERE - 12,295,164 12,295,164
Medium-term notes HHEIZE R - 799,382 799,382
Domestic company bonds BRARES - 1,797,258 1,797,258
Other long-term payables HEREEM R - 15,413 15,413
14,231 45,733,237 45,747,468
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44. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial 44. $BTEZAFERAFESHE
Instruments B

REE 2T A2 BREERATEREER

AN HEREATERINAT

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that
reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

Carrying amounts Fair values
BRMEE AFE

2023 2022 2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FAT FET FAxT
Senior notes BhLEE 11,551,606 12,295,164 9,466,793 9,515,210
Medium-term notes FRERER IR - 799,382 - 797,524
Domestic company bonds BRNRARMES - 1,797,258 - 1,675,964
11,551,606 14,891,804 9,466,793 11,988,698

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and bank EEEETER S RIRITER - BRER - €

balances, trade receivables, financial assets included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets, financial liabilities included in
trade and other payables and the current portion of interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings, approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The Group’s management is responsible for determining the
policies and procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The management reports directly to the Directors
and the audit committee. At each reporting date, management
analyzes the movements in the values of financial instruments and
determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation
is reviewed and approved by the Directors. The valuation process
and results are discussed with the audit committee twice a year for
interim and annual financial reporting.

BMEESERNIR RERFREREME
E SREEeRE S EMENRIENE
RITRAEMEENANRID BERE ZREE
HE - T2RRZSETARENAIIE -

AEEEREREETEMTARNFEFELZ
BREREF EEEEXRAEENERZES
HE - RNERESEH  BEEEITEMIAZ
BEEZEPHUBEHETERNEIRTE - HE
HEFEEZRIE - HEBERERBELR
EEEFFWMA - WEER T AR FEY
BIRE °
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44.

Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial
Instruments (Continued)

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced
or liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were
used to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of the other long-term receivables, other long-term
payables and non-current portion of interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings have been calculated by discounting the expected
future cash flows using rates currently available for instruments
with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The Group's
own non-performance risk in interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings as at 31 March 2023 was assessed to be insignificant.
The fair values of the other long-term receivables, other long-term
payables and non-current portion of interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings are not materially different from their carrying

amounts.

The fair values of senior notes were calculated by using the quoted
market prices on 31 March 2023.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s financial instruments which
comprised financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss were measured at fair value. The Group’s financial assets/
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss comprised unlisted
investments and interest rate swaps. The fair values of the
unlisted investments have been estimated using the valuation
methodology according to the price of recent investments. The
Group signed interest rate swaps with banks in Mainland China.
These agreements were measured using valuation techniques
including the net present value of the cash flow model. The models
incorporate various market observable inputs including the credit
quality of the financial institution, risk-free interest rate, interest
rate and spot prices.
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44. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial 44. $BTEZAFERAFESHE

Instruments (Continued) B
Fair value hierarchy AEEER
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy AEEZSRTEMNRATEFEERIANTE -

of the Group's financial instruments:
Assets measured at fair value RAVEFEZEE

Fair value measurement using

ERARATEE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs

RS EATER EAFUBE
ZHE LPN ¢ BARE

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(18R) (%28%) (538) ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THT FHT TET
As at 31 March 2023 ©2023%3A318
Unlisted investments ELmRE - - 5,668 5,668
As at 31 March 2022 72022434311
Unlisted investments ELmEE - - 3,325 3,325
Liabilities measured at fair value BATENECERE
Fair value measurement using
ERANATENE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
ERETS EXABE EXTUEE
ZHE BARE BAHE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(S14) (%288) (5838R) ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
THET THT AT AT
As at 31 March 2023 202334318
Interest rate swaps FEEHLS - 8,489 - 8,489
As at 31 March 2022 ©202243A31R
Interest rate swaps FIxBHER 5 - 14,231 - 14,231
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44. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial 44. €@ T A AFERAFESRE
Instruments (Continued) B
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) AFEER )
During the year, there were no transfer of fair value measurements AERN - sREEEBEBENATETER
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfer into or out of Level 3 FNRPIELE 24 R 2 N B A [ 48 A 583
for both financial assets and financial liabilities (2022: Nil). HEE3HBI(20224F « ) -

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed EREAFECERAR
As at 31 March 2023 7202343 H31H

Fair value
measurement
using quoted

prices in

active markets
(Level 1)
ERANERN S Z
WRENAFETE
(BB—4)
HK$'000

THET

Senior notes BEEEE 9,466,793

As at 31 March 2022 202243 H31H

Fair value
measurement
using quoted

prices in

active markets
(Level 1)
ERARERTS
WEHAFETZ
(B—#%)

HK$'000

FAxT

Senior notes BRER 9,515,210
Medium-term notes FEARIE 797,524
Domestic company bonds RARAMES 1,675,964

11,988,698
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45. Financial Risk Management Objectives and

Policies

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise bank and
other borrowings, senior notes, medium-term notes, domestic
company bonds and cash and short-term deposits. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the
Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial assets
such as trade receivables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and foreign exchange risk.
The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarized below.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to interest rate risk relates primarily to the
Group'’s borrowings. The interest rates and terms of repayment of
the Group'’s borrowings are disclosed in notes 29, 30, 31 and 32 to
the financial statements. The Group's policy is to obtain the most
favourable interest rates available for its borrowings.

The Group constantly assesses the interest rate risk it encounters to
decide whether it is required to hedge against the possible interest
rate risk that may arise.

On 31 March 2023, if the interest rate of bank borrowings had
increased/decreased by 0.5% and all other factors remained
unchanged, the profit after tax for the year of the Group would
have decreased/increased by approximately HK$7,561,000 (2022:
HK$39,348,000).
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45. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 45. B EKREEBBERBER®)
Policies (Continued)
Credit risk EERR
Maximum exposure and year-end staging BEatBENFELDH
The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum TRERTERASEEEERNEELEN
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which EaEERRERE  RIEEMITBEELTE
is mainly based on past due information unless other information EEINRARIINT - ZIEEBRREZERNBE
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging HEE  UREEIANBMFR N -

classification as at 31 March.

As at 31 March 2023 7202338318
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8AH (@R
AHEEER AHEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
e — = &= it 5% ok ]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tax FEx TER FEx TET
Other long-term receivables Hih REEYWIA 1,267,772 - - - 1,267,772
Trade receivables* JEWE ZBRa0 - - - 1,307,359 1,307,359
Financial assets included in STATRRFIE - AfhfE
prepayments, other receivables WHRIE R At B
and other assets SREE 1,489,097 - - = 1,489,097
Cash and bank balances R RFTER 2,525,074 = = - 2,525,074
5,281,943 - - 1307359 6589302

308 ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23 4 3 \ \ N



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt R Rk B o ()

31 March 2023 202343H31H

45. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 45. BIEEREEBERBEE )

Policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)
As at 31 March 2022

EEEBE)
7202243 A31H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 A& il
BHEESE EHEEEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
PEE— (15 BER= flapz &5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
THT AT TH THET TAT
Other long-term receivables H ity RHEAE MR 703,092 - - - 703,092
Trade receivables* JEUE Z R - - - 2,773,572 2,773,572
Financial assets included in FTABNFOE - AffE
prepayments, other receivables WeBRIE R Bt B A Y
and other assets TREE 3,868,580 - - - 3,868,580
Cash and bank balances BeRFIER 4,681,068 - - - 4,681,068
9,252,740 - - 2,773,572 12,026,312
@ For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified * HAEBIRAM T ERENERE S IRK -

approach for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is
disclosed in note 23 to the financial statements.

To manage the risk, deposits are mainly placed with banks with
high credit quality. The Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. For the sale of properties, the Group
has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to buyers with
appropriate financial strength and appropriate percentage of down
payments. The Group would not release the property ownership
certificates to the buyers before the buyers fully settle the payment.
It also has other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews regularly the recoverable amount of each individual trade
receivable to ensure that adequate provisions for impairment losses
are made for irrecoverable amounts. With exposure spread over
a number of counterparties and customers, the Group has no
significant concentration of credit risk.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 23 to
the financial statements.

HARENBEEER D BIR B MK M 235

%8 -

REERR  AKBEIZRERFAREEE
RMIRIT - AREERNERAFENE=T
TR S - MHEVMETE - AEREEETK
RERAEAEEMBENRINEZENL
ERNFONERELEE - EEX2HEEN
KA ARETERHEBFLEER - AKET
A B Atb B AR Fr AR (R SR X BR A 45 h K 21 80
HIZOR © WO AEEEREMSREANE
ZEMERFRA AT @ £ 58 - PARELR BL N AT IR =]
SRELRANBEERIR - ARELEL
MEREHEERR - MAESNRRDBE
SRXGHFREP °

B R 5 AR R A0 {2 B AR RS
PR A — 5 R BRI SR M 237
W -
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31 March 2023 202343H31H

45. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 45,

Policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity
of funding and flexibility through the use of bank and other
borrowings, lease liabilities, senior notes, medium-term notes and
domestic company bonds.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted

payments, was as follows:

BEEREEEERBEK®)

TENE & E R
AEENEBLEBEARTRAMER  H
SRE BERE PHRERENAFRE
% BRASHEEREIEZNOTE -

AEERHFERRFEH SR E BN (%
RERARFENTOMT

2023
Within One to Two to Beyond
On demand one year two years five years five years Total
EER - $-E-F  $CERE nE#R @3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn
Interest-bearing bank and other SRR RAMEE
borrowings - 13,431,068 2,419,290 3,183,828 5,447,812 24,481,998
Senior notes BEER - 2,012,195 11,002,507 - - 13,014,702
Medium-term notes RHZE - - - - - -
Domestic company bonds BRARES = = = = = =
Financial liabilities included in trade ~~ FF AJENI B 2 REMERFE
and other payables (excuding lease K& BEE(TEHERR)
liabilities) - 6,542,614 - - - 6,542,614
Lease liabilities HEEE - 12,386 10,450 6,425 - 29,261
Financial quarantees granted to HE=ARTHBER
third parties 8,275,671 - - - - 8,275,671
Tota 3t 8275671 21998263 13432247 3190253  SAAT812 52,344,246
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31 March 2023 202343H31H

45. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 45. BIEEREEBERBEE )
Policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBESREE )
2022
Within One to Two to Beyond
On demand one year two years five years five years Total
EE% —FR  F-R°F E°ZRF il &5t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT TR TR TR

Interest-bearing bank and other SRR REAMEE

borrowings - 10242747 6960923 2715030 4792931 24711631
Senior notes BEZE - 10,405,246 3,041,123 - - 13446369
Medium-term notes HEER - 802,683 - - - 802,683
Domestic company bonds BRARES - 1848316 - - - 1,848,316

Financial liabilities included in trade T AR E S REMENFE
and other payables (excuding lease K& BEE(TEHEEE)

liabilities) - 9,732,589 - - - 9,732,589
Lease liabilities HERRE - 11,112 5317 11,905 - 28,334
Financial guarantees granted to HE=RRTHBER

third parties 11,353,881 - - - - 11,353,881
Total ek 11,353,881 33,042,693 10,007,363 2,726,935 4,792,931 61,923,803

Foreign exchange risk SMNE L B

The Group only conducts business within Mainland China. REEEEFRBEARRELEER - BREMNFE
Except for interest payables, repayment of foreign currency loans REEFEE 2 EMS MESHINEERAE
obtained to finance the Group’s operations and any potential 3K AR ELBS I A B AT A 1) EL AR 3R S K & A fa]
future dividends of its subsidiaries that might be declared to their BEREIN  AEBREHBA - EXREER
shareholders, the bulk of the Group’s revenue, capital investment FAXHAUARE BB - REB@wKRIER
and expenses are denominated in RMB. At the date of approval H - REBEERERN X EINERE ST
of the financial statements, the Group has not experienced any FE RS L ERRE -

difficulties in obtaining government approval for its necessary
foreign exchange purchases.
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31 March 2023 202343H31H

45. Financial Risk Management Objectives and

Policies (Continued)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the RMB
exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s
profit/(loss) before tax (due to changes in the fair value of monetary
assets and liabilities).

5. BIREREEEERBE®)

471 BEE JRL B (4
TRBEREMEE S ERBTENBERT -
AEBMBAFE, (BB RBRERRYARE
B AL BEHOGBE - AERAFE
MEBHEESSEERBENATELRES
FRER -

Changes in Increase/(decrease)
RMB rate in profit before tax

BLATFIE
ARBEZSE i,/ (D)
% HK$'000
FAT

2023 20234

If Hong Kong dollar weakens against RMB BT E AR BEsS 9)
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against RMB AT AR KSR 5 9
2022 20224

If Hong Kong dollar weakens against RMB BT AREESS 5 )
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against RMB BT E AR B ER 5 9

Capital management EXEHE

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximize shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The
Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.
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SEERIBREERL RN UAIFEE
BEIEREREABRIERE

R BIRR BB LB & B AR & = 5 R b
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 March 2023 202343H31H

45. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (Continued)
Capital management (Continued)
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio (net debt to total
equity) and total liabilities to total assets ratio. Net debt includes
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, senior notes, medium
term notes and domestic company bonds, less cash and bank
balances. The gearing ratios and total liabilities to total assets ratio as
at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

45. BIKEREEEERBEK @)

BEREEE)

AEBRAEARE B E(EHFERER R
BNEEYEELRERERER - EHFH
BESTERTRAMEE  BEZE =
BRENQRBESRESRETER - NS

HIR BARBLERRABEHEELRDT

2023 2022
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bz FET FET

Interest-bearing bank and FTRRITREAMEER
other borrowings 29 21,279,156 21,083,572
Senior notes BERE 30 11,551,606 12,295,164
Medium-term notes FEAZRIE 31 - 799,382
Domestic company bonds RARRES 32 - 1,797,258
Less: Cash and bank balances B e MIRITE 25 (2,525,074) (4,681,068)
Net debt B FEE 30,305,688 31,294,308
Total equity TS AAER 42,685,002 45,089,972
Total assets 1R E 114,224,395 124,387,424
Total liabilities BEE 71,539,393 79,297,452
Net debt/Total equity ERBELX 71% 69%
Total liabilities/Total assets BEHEELR 63% 64%
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31 March 2023 202343H31H

46. Statement of Financial Position of the Company

46. DR BARRT

31 March 2023
202343 H31H

31 March 2022
202243 A31H

HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment YIE - BB Nkt 839 2,960
Investments in subsidiaries B AR E 3,246,707 3,246,707
Total non-current assets IERBEERT 3,247,546 3,249,667
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Due from subsidiaries FEUR BT B A R FRIE 19,987,041 20,347,815
Prepayments, other receivables and other TERIRRIE  Eofth fE WOFRIE K
assets Hitv&E 656 53
Cash and bank balances e MIBITFER 2,952 4,165
Total current assets MEVEEMRTE 19,990,649 20,352,033
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Other payables, accruals and deposits EAhEAFIE - JERTIAER Kk
received Blze 264,189 632,543
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5B E{TREMEE 1,954,028 460,000
Senior notes BEEE 922,065 9,622,708
Total current liabilities ik =K FE 3,140,282 10,715,251
NET CURRENT ASSETS FEEEBE 16,850,367 9,636,782
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES &2 @8RS & 20,097,913 12,886,449
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Senior notes BEEE 10,629,541 2,672,456
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings T ERITREMEE - 2,606,880
Total non-current liabilities JEmBAERTE 10,629,541 5,279,336
Net assets EEFE 9,468,372 7,607,113
EQUITY Es
Share capital &N 9,131,812 7,222,312
Reserves (note) HAb R E () 336,560 384,801
Total equity G e 9,468,372 7,607,113
CHENG CHUNG HING ER#A 8 QIN WENZHONG E X &
Director Z% Director %
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31 March 2023 202343H31H

46. Statement of Financial Position of the Company 46. 2@ #iRR &K (4)

(Continued)
Note: MisE -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RNRIZFEELEFBOT ¢
Share option Retained
reserve profits Total
BRERE {REEFIH wat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHTT
At 31 March 2021 M202143H31H8 61,807 351,108 412,915
Profit for the year FRFHE - 207,885 207,885
Equity-settled share option arrangements  bAfEzE 45 E RIBEIRAE L HE 6,758 - 6,758
Transfer of share option reserve upon B AR 2 W sk R 3m
the forfeiture or lapse of share options ERERER (20,479) 20,479 -
Final 2021 dividend paid BEEIR2021F AR E - (242,757) (242,757)
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 20229 3A31H &
2022F4A1H 48,086 336,715 384,801
Loss for the year FAEE = (49,401) (49,401)
Equity-settled share option arrangements — bAtEzS 45 E RIBE RS 20 BE 1,160 - 1,160
Transfer of share option reserve upon HE A g )2 WL sk R R i
the forfeiture or lapse of share options RS (19,795) 19,795 -
At 31 March 2023 $2023%3A318 29,451 307,109 336,560
The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share options granted BRERERESEELERTEZBRENRTE -
which are yet to be exercised, as further explained in the accounting policy HEBURG AERE 2 @5 BURE 8RN SRR
for share-based payments in note 2.4 to the financial statements. The H24R - EERBRERITR - LB EARE
amount will either be transferred to share capital when the related options NEERABRERR  heEeEEREAE -
are exercised, or be transferred to retained profits should the related options
expire.
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31 March 2023 202343H31H

47.

48.

49.

Comparative Amounts

The comparative statement of profit or loss has been re-presented
as if the operation discontinued during the current year had been
discontinued at the beginning of the comparative period (note 11).

Event After the Reporting Period

On 16 December 2022, pursuant to the agreements entered into
between Shenzhen Shenji No.1 Industrial Park Investment and
Operation Company Limited, which is owned by SZCDG, it was
agreed that the disposal of 69.35% equity interest in Xi‘an China
South City of the Company was made at a total consideration of
RMB5,000,000,000, of which RMB2,000,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$2,284,600,000) has been paid at the end of the financial year.
Up to the report date, the transactions have been completed.

Approval of the Financial Statements
The financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by
the Board of Directors on 29 June 2023.
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47.

48.

49.

RS E
BRERZLLBOENIIR  HIMAFEZRIED
RIS TR LB (1) -

HWEHEREER

M2022%12A 168 * BREFEEZESEE
TRINTAESREXEEREEEERA
AENGE  EFREAAREHEARR
HERIMA69.35% R EEELRBERARK
5,000,000,0007T + E A A K% 2,000,000,000
TL(FEE 14 2,284,600,0007 7T ) B A AN U 5
AZf - HERER - ZRHETK °

4% B A R 3k
EEEMN2023F6 829 B HEE K5 HE T 1%
]k o
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